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> > > Looking Back on Fiscal 2005

To Our Shareholde‘(rs

We are pleased to present our first annual report as a public company and share with
you the important developments that occurred at Accentia dur;ing fiscal 2005. We have
spent the last several years working to build an innovative platform for the development
and commercialization of late-stage product candidates in the;respiratory and oncology
fields. This activity primarily consisted of business acquisitionis and the in-licensing of
products. Fiscal 2005 presented us with challenges, yet we wefre able to accomplish our
key objectives and lay a solid foundation for the future. We belgieve that Accentia is now
positioned as a young and dynamic publicly held biopharm’aceutical company with
remarkable product candidates. In particular, we are optimistic about our SinuNase™
product for the treatment of chronic sinusitis and our Bic,)vaxlDTM product for the
treatment of follicular non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. We look foriward to working on your

behalf to harvest the potential value of these product candidates, as well as the other

products in our pipeline.

Fiscal 2005 was an important year for Accentia, as we accomplished the following

key objectives:

Financial Foundation

During fiscal 2005, we expended considerable effort toward the completion of our initial
public offering (IPO). Although the IPQ was not finalized until|after the end of the fiscal
year, the arduous process consumed much of aur time and focus throughout the year.
In the biotechnology and pharmaceutical sectors, the market conditions for such
offerings have been unfavorable, impacting the size and pricejof our [PO. Nevertheiess,

we were able to achieve IPO status at a time when other biotech companies in the

industry could not, and Accentia is now traded on the Ni/-\SDAO National Market.
Divergent from the traditional biotech business model, Accenftia is a commercial-stage
enterprise with growing revenue in its two operating segr!nents, Biopharmaceutical
Products and Services, and Specialty Pharmaceuticals. Our Bi}opharmaceutical Products
and Services division primarily focuses on the development o‘f our product candidates,
while the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment directs the marketing and sale of products

licensed from our development partners. These are the two core competencies that
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drive success and position us as an attractive partner for late-stage products in the
respiratory and oncology markets. We consolidate our financials with our majority-
owned subsidiary, Biovest International, Inc. (OTCBB:BVTI), which is spending heavily on
its pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for BiovaxID. We are also developing SinuNase, and have
established a variety of partnerships with third-party drug developers that are paid
based on milestones achieved. Accordingly, additional financing will be necessary to
continue our development programs, and losses will continue to be incurred for the
foreseeable future; but we believe the completion of our IPO affords us more financial

options and better situates us to attract investors.

Product Development Programs

We made significant advances in our product-development program during fiscal 2005,
principally in regard to the development of SinuNase and BiovaxID. We filed the IND
for SinuNase, a potential blockbuster product, and partnered with Pharmaceutical
Product Development, Inc., a major Accentia investor and a leading clinical-research
organization with a successful track-record of conducting clinical trials. As for
BiovaxiD, we completed the development of AutovaxID™, a highly automated
production unit. This technology is equipped to produce BiovaxID, and other customized
proteins. In addition, after the transfer of the IND from the National Cancer [nstitute
{NCI), we expanded the number of U.S. clinical investigative sites from 5 to 22. We also
reported the long-term follow-up results of the NCI Phase 2 study of BiovaxID, which

produced an encouraging overall survival rate of 95% at a median follow-up of 9.2 years.

Accentia Product Pipeline Highlights
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From within our Specialty Pharmaceuticals pipeline, two products, MD Turbo™ and
Emezine™, are expected to be launched in fiscal 2006. Our|development partner
received FDA clearance for our MD Turbo product, a unigue host device intended to
provide breath-activated, reliable delivery of most metered dose inhalers (MDIs) used for
treating asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Additionally, our
development partner BioDelivery Sciences International filed anlNDA for Emezine, the

first and only buccal tablet in the U.S for the treatment of severe nausea and-vomiting

related to influenza, chemotherapy, migraines, surgery, etc. We anticipate launching

these, our first truly unique products, this fiscal year. (

{
Looking Forward :
(
'
|

Fiscal 2005 was a year of substantial accomplishments folr Accentia, yet many
challenges lie ahead. We will continue to navigate the compl'ex regulatory approval
process for our product candidates, as well as secure additional financing to meet our
objectives. With the expected launch of MD Turbo and Emezine and the successful

development of SinuNase and BiovaxID, we believe Accentia has never been in a better

position.

We would like to note the extraordinary efforts throughout fiscal 2005 of our

management team and employees. They continue to build valuye for Accentia, and we

appreciate their dedication to the Company. We also thank yofu, our shareholders, for
. . |

your ongoing commitment and support. We are pleased to ha\'ve you as a part of the

Accentia family. (

Sincerely,

. £ U’Mﬂimo

Francis E. O'Donnell, Jr., M.D.,

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Forward-Looking Statements

Statements in this annual report on Form 10-K that are not strictly historical in nature are forward-looking statements. These
statements include, but are not limited to, statements about: the timing of the commencement, enrollment, and completion of our
clinical trials for our product candidates; the progress or success of our product development programs; the status of regulatory
approvals for our product candidates; the timing of product launches; our ability to protect our intellectual property and operate
our business without infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others; and our estimates for future performance,
anticipated operating losses, future revenues, capital requirements, and our needs for additional financing. In some cases, you can
identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,”
“plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “projects,” “should,” “will,” “would,” “goal,” and similar expressions intended to identify
forward-looking statements. These statements are only predictions based on current information and expectations and involve a
number of risks and uncertainties. The underlying information and expectations are likely to change over time. Actual events or
results may differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements due to various factors, including, but not
limited to, those set forth under the caption “Risk Factors” in “ITEM 1. BUSINESS” and elsewhere in this annual report on
Form 10-K. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PARTI
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

&

In this annual report on Form 10-K, unless the context indicates otherwise, references to “Accentia,” “the Company,” “our
company,” “we,” “us,” and similar references refer to Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries. All references to
years in this Form 10-K, unless otherwise noted, refer to our fiscal years, which end on September 30. For example, a reference to

*2005” or “fiscal 2005” means the 12-month period that ended September 30, 2005.
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of late-stage clinical products in the
therapeutic areas of respiratory disease and oncology. We have two product candidates entering or in Phase 3 clinical trials. Our
first product candidate, SinuNase™, has been developed as a treatment for chronic rhinosinusitis, also commonly referred to as
chronic sinusitis, and is based on a novel application and formulation of a known therapeutic previously approved for other
indications. Chronic rhinosinusitis, or CRS, is a long-term inflammatory condition of the paranasal sinuses for which there is
currently no FDA-approved therapy. Our Investigational New Drug Application, or IND, for SinuNase was accepted by the FDA
in May 2005, and we expect to initiate clinical trials for the product in early 2006. Our second product candidate, BiovaxID™, is
a patient-specific anti-cancer vaccine focusing on the treatment of follicular non-Hodgkins lymphoma. BiovaxID is currently in a
pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial. In addition to these product candidates, we have a growing specialty pharmaceutical business with a
portfolio of ten currently marketed products and a pipeline of products under development by third parties. Our goal is to utilize
our vertically integrated business structure to cost-effectively and efficiently develop and commercialize innovative therapeutics
that address significant unmet medical needs.

Our Business Strategy

Our goal is to acquire, develop, and commercialize innovative late-stage biopharmaceutical products that offer the potential for
superior efficacy and safety as compared to competitive products and that address significant unmet medical needs. To achieve
this goal, the key elements of our strategy include:

s Completing clinical development and obtaining regulatory approval for SinuNase and BiovaxID. We intend to initiate
clinical trials for SinuNase and continue our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials for BiovaxID. We also plan to aggressively
pursue regulatory approvals for both products.

+  Exploiting our specialty pharmaceutical business and its product pipeline to help commercialize SinuNase, BiovaxID,
and future late-stage product opportunities. We are building a specialty pharmaceutical business based on our currently
marketed products and also on new product candidates being developed by third parties that we believe can be
approved and introduced to the market more quickly than SinuNase and BiovaxID. We intend to exploit our specialty
pharmaceutical business to provide a platform upon which to commercialize SinuNase, BiovaxID, and other innovative
therapeutics. However, we will continue to evaluate our strategy for our specialty pharmaceutical business in light of
market conditions, our future financial requirements and our long-term objectives related to our lead products such as
SinuNase.
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*  Identifving and acquiring additional late-stage clinical products and technologies with an emphasis on respiratory
disease and oncology. We intend to pursue the acquisition of late-stage products that could increase the value of our
development pipeline and complement our existing products and product candidates. We intend to screen product
opportunities and focus on products for which substantial clinical evidence of safety and efficacy has already been
demonstrated. We also intend to screen potential product opportunities based on their pharmacoeconomic proﬁles and
their payor reimbursement prospects. Although our primary emphasis in acquiring new products will be in the
resp1rator}q and oncology therapeutic areas, we will consider products in other therapeutic areas if they satisfy our
screening criteria. On November 29, 2005 we announced the commercial introduction of a patented non-invasive test,
CRSFungal Profile, to assist in the dlagn051s of Chronic Sinusitis in-licensed from IMMCO Diagnostics Inc. On
December 6, 2005 we announced the in-licensing from Collegium Pharmaceuticals of a branded intranasal steroid
intended for treatment of seasonal and perennial allergic rhinitis. Collegium is preparing to submit its Supplemental

New Drug| Application (sNDA) in 2006, and the Company has exclusive rights to the US market for the intranasal
steroid. i

»  Leveraging our broad range of internal capabilities to support our ongoing development' and commercialization
efforts. We believe that our broad range of in-house service capabilities provides a strong platform on which to develop
new biopharmaceutical products. We plan to leverage our development and commerc1al1zat1on services, biologics
productlon\capabﬂltles and dedicated sales force to pursue, attract, screen, and develop new therapxes to increase the
size of our development pipeline and commercialize our products.

*  Pursuing strategic relationships on a selective basis for product development or distribution, We may from time to
time consider entering into strategic relationships with third parties in order to facilitate the development of new
products and to market and distribute our approved products. Such strategic relationships could be in the form of
licensing, distribution arrangements, or joint ventures. In some cases, the acquisition of new products could be effected
through the acquisition or licensing of individual products or technologies or the acquisition of an entire business.

We evaluate on a continuing basis, and as appropriate, adjust, our business strategy as discussed above in light of market
conditions and other relevant factors such as available financing, opportunities for strategic relat10nsh1ps and opportunities for
our current and futurelproducts and product candidates.

i
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Our Product Development Pipeline

We currently have 14 product candidates in various stages of clinical development. Of these product candidates, we have direct
primary responsibility for the development and regulatory approval of our late-stage biopharmaceutical products, SinuNase and
BiovaxID, while various third-party development partners have primary responsibility for the development and approval of our
specialty pharmaceutical product candidates. The following table summarizes our current product candidates:

Biopharmaceutical Products

Product Indication Current Status Milestones
SinuNase Chronic Rhinosinusitis IND submitted in April 2005 and Completion of Phase 3 trials
(CRS) accepted in May 2005; Phase 3 trials expected in 2006
expected to commence in early 2006
BiovaxID Follicular B-Cell Non- Phase 3 in progress Completion of enrollment
Hodgkin’s Lymphoma expected in calendar year 2007
(NHL)
Specialty Pharmaceutical Products
Product Therapeutic Area Current Status Development Partner
AllerNase Seasonal and perennial sNDA expected to be filed in 2006 Collegium Pharmaceutical,
allergic rhinitis Inc.
MD Turbo Asthma and Chronic 510(k) clearance received in June Respirics, Inc.
Pulmonary Obstructive 2005
Disease
Emezine Nausea 505(b)(2) submitted in April 2005 Arius Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

and oral notification of acceptance for
filing received from the FDA in June

2005
Pain Products Pain/Oncology Six ANDAs filed in 2005 and three Argent Development Group,
(9 products) ANDASs expected to be filed in 2006 LLC, Acheron Development

Group, LLC, and Mikart, Inc.
SinuNase

We are developing a product for the treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis, or CRS, based on an intranasal formulation of
amphotericin B, and we intend to market and sell this product under the name SinuNase. Rhinosinusitis is an inflammatory
condition of the paranasal sinuses, which are air cavities within the facial bones that are lined by mucus. Rhinosinusitis occurs
when the mucus membrane in the nose and the paranasal sinuses becomes inflamed and swells, thereby blocking the nasal
passage or limiting drainage from the sinuses into the nose and throat and causing pressure and pain in the sinuses. Rhinosinusitis
results in a variety of symptoms, including nasal congestion, facial pain and pressure, nasal discharge, and headaches.
Rhinosinusitis is generally categorized into two types: acute rhinosinusitis, which is a temporary short-term condition commonly
associated with colds and other viral infections, and chronic rhinosinusitis, which is an ongoing condition that lasts for three or
more months but often continues for years. The FDA has advised us, and we concur, that chronic sinusitis, or CS, should be
considered to be the indication for SinuNase rather than CRS, although there is a growing belief in the medical community that
the terms are interchangeable.

SinuNase is an intranasal antifungal suspension formulated for the treatment of CRS. SinuNase’s active ingredient is
amphotericin B, which is an antifungal medication currently used as an intravenous formulation to treat a wide variety of systemic
fungal infections. As a result of research and studies performed at Mayo Clinic in Rochester, Minnesota, it has been discovered
that a hypersensitivity to airborne molds plays a significant role in CRS and that the condition could be substantially relieved
using an intranasal application of low-dose antifungals. Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research has been issued a
U.S. patent relating to this treatment method and has filed a European counterpart patent application for the therapy. In February
2004, we acquired a license from Mayo Foundation that, as amended, gives us the exclusive worldwide license to commercialize
this therapy using amphotericin B. Our license from Mayo Foundation also includes the use of amphotericin B solution as a
topical therapy for asthma. In December 2005, we entered into an Option Agreement with Mayo Foundation giving us the
exclusive right until December 2006, without obligation, to seek to negotiate a license for all anti-fungals in addition to
Amphotericin B.
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Amphotericin B in other formulations has been approved for many years in the U.S. and the European Union for other
indications. We selected amphotericin B, rather than another antifungal agent available for our CRS therapy, for the following

reasons: !
: i

. Amphoteribin B is the only antifungal used to date by Mayo Clinic and others in their reported: clinical studies relating
to the therapy, and such studies have demonstrated that an intranasal application of amphotericin B reduces paranasal
inflammation in CRS patients.

. Amphoteri:cin B is classified as fungicidal, meaning it is powerful enough to kill the Mgi, whereas most other
approved antifungals are fungistatic, meaning that they can impair growth of the fungi but not k;ill them.

|
{

+  Amphotericin B, when applied topically, has minimal absorption into a patient’s mucus membrane, which makes it
possible toiapply an effective dose to the fungi in the mucus with a low risk for systemic exposv‘ire to the patient.
‘ i
»  Amphotericin B is generally recognized as being very unlikely to induce drug resistance amorlg fungi, as there are not
any published studies reporting such induced resistance. 1
*  There is d significant body of historical safety data available for the topical application: of amphotericin B, as
amphotericin B has been prescribed as an anti-fungal for other indications for over 40 Years. Additionally, the
published clinical studies with intranasal amphotericin B have not disclosed any serious adversc% events to date.

Market Opportunity ' k

Rhinosinusitis is one of the most commonly reported chronic diseases in the U.S., affecting an estimated 14% of the population.
Approximately 35 million Americans suffer from rhinosinusitis every year, and an estimated 90% of all|rhinosinusitis cases are
chronic. According to the March 1999 Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, overall health care expenditures attributable
to rhinosinusitis were iestimated to be $5.8 billion in direct costs during 1996. A primary diagnosis of acut%: bacterial rhinosinusitis
or chronic rhinosinusitis accounted for 58.7% of all expenditures, or $3.5 billion, for 1996. CRS also res;ults in indirect costs for
Americans, such as greater than 70 million lost activity days and reduced social and physical functioning. As set forth in the

December 2004 Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, at least 30 million courses of antibiotics are prescribed each year

for CRS, and it is oneiof the leading forms of chronic disease. The U.S. Department of Health and HumaniServices estimated that,
during a 12-month period ending in 2000, CRS accounted for 9.2 million primary care office visits, 1.1 million surgical specialty
office visits, 951,000 medical specialty office visits, 1.3 million outpatient department hospital visits, and 693,000 emergency
department visits. The U.S. Department of Health & Human Services also estimates that approximately 500,000 people resorted

to sinus surgery in 1996. ‘

Causes and T, reatmel;t of CRS

Currently, there is no FDA-approved therapy for CRS. The lack of an effective treatment for CRS has historically been due to an
inability of the medical community to identify the underlying cause of the condition. Due to lack of knowledge regarding the
cause of CRS, most treatment methods for CRS have focused only on the symptoms of the disease. |

As a result of studies begun by Mayo Clinic, researchers have discovered that airborne fungi play a major; role in triggering CRS.
Like pollen, fungi are/present in the air in every region of the world, and Mayo Clinic’s studies have demonstrated that fungi are
normally present in the mucus of the nasal passages and the sinuses of most everyone, including those without CRS. Mayo
Clinic’s research has also shown that, in patients with CRS, the production of certain key mediators that mediate the inflammation
in CRS result from aniabnormal immune system response to certain airborne fungi. In CRS patients, the presence of this normally
innocuous fungi in the mucus triggers an immune response that results in the activation of esonophils, \%vhich are immune cells
that are predominantly involved in the body’s defense against parasites and foreign organisms. In the mucus, the activation of
esonophils triggers an immune defense response and leads to a release of highly destructive and toxic c%lefensive proteins. One
such protein is eosinophilic major basic protein, or MBP, which is a substance that attacks fungi but also severely damages the
nasal and sinus membrane tissue. Over time, this damage typically leads to inflammation, modification, and blockage of the nasal
and sinus drainage passages, as well as polyps and small growths in the nasal passage and the sinuses% Because the damaged

tissue is vulnerable to invasion by bacteria and viruses, this damage can also lead to secondary infections. }

Prior to the research done at Mayo Clinic, the presence of fungi in the nasal mucus of CRS patients wgls theorized but largely
undetected due to the lunavailability of effective and accurate methods to detect the presence of the fungi. A study published by
Mayo Clinic in 2002 described a new technique for detecting the fungi in mucus, and using this technique, researchers found that
96% of patients with CRS had fungi in their mucus. These results were confirmed in a European study that was published in 2003
in Laryngoscope by the American Laryngological, Rhinological and Otological Society, which reported that the presence of
fungal organisms in b:oth healthy and CRS patients was demonstrated by positive fungal cultures in 91% of individuals in each

4 |
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group. A study by the University of Mainz in Germany published in 2004 in the American Journal of Rhinology reported that
fungal DNA was detected in 100% of mucus samples from CRS patients.

Historically, the treatment of CRS has largely focused on the use of antibiotics, intranasal or orally administered corticosteroids,
and sinus surgery. While antibiotics are useful in treating the acute exacerbations that result from the bacterial invasion of the
damaged paranasal tissue of CRS patients, no antibiotic has proven effective in eradicating the underlying cause of CRS.
Intranasal and orally administered corticosteroids, which are potent anti-inflammatory hormones, have been used to reduce the
inflammation and immune response that play a role in CRS, but oral corticosteroids can cause serious side effects and must be
avoided or cautiously used with patients that have certain conditions, such as gastrointestinal ulcers, renal disease, hypertension,
diabetes, osteoporosis, thyroid disorders, and intestinal disease. Surgery is frequently used in CRS patients to improve the
drainage of their sinuses based on the assumption that the disease can be reversed by identifying and correcting the obstruction
associated with the condition, but while such surgery usually offers temporary relief of symptoms, studies have shown that it is
typically not curative.

Clinical Studies on Amphotericin B Therapy

In several published studies, an intranasal administration of amphotericin B has been shown to reduce paranasal inflammation in
CRS patients by suppressing the population of fungi in the nasal cavity and mucus, thereby reducing or preventing the immune
system response that causes CRS. The following is an overview of some of these studies:

Number of
Study Nature of Study Patients Results
2002 Mayo *  Open label study 51 *  75% demonstrated improvement in
Clinic Study »  Twice daily intranasal application of 20 sinus symptoms
millimeters of amphotericin B in each 35% demonstrated elimination of
nostril signs of paranasal inflammation
Formulation: 100 micrograms of (endoscopic evaluation)
amphotericin B per milliliter of solution 39% showed improvement of at
least one disease stage (endoscopic
evaluation)
2002 Geneva Open label study 74 48% of patients with stage I or 1I
University Study Four weeks of twice daily of 20 millimeters nasal polyposis had complete
of amphotericin B in each nostril disappearance of nasal polyposis.
»  Formulation: 100 micrograms of
amphotericin B per milliliter suspension
2004 Mayo »  Double blind, randomized placebo 24 +  Statistically significant reduction in

Clinic Study mucosal inflammation and reduction

in inflammatory markers.

controlled study

*  Twice daily intranasal applications of a
20 milliliter solution with a concentration of
250 micrograms of amphotericin B per
milliliter

2002 Mayo Clinic Study. In this prospective open-label clinical trial conducted at Mayo Clinic and published in 2002 in the
Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 51 patients were given a twice-daily intranasal application of an amphotericin B
solution in each nostril in the amount of 20 milliliters per application per nostril. Generally, in an open-label trial, both the
researchers and participants know the drug and dosage that the participant is taking. The concentration of the administered
solution was 100 micrograms of amphotericin B per milliliter of solution. The study reported that the therapy resulted in symptom
improvement and a reduction in nasal obstruction and discharge, as assessed by endoscopic evaluation and/or CT scan. In this
study, patients received the intranasal amphotericin B solution for 3 to 17 months (at an average of 11.3 months), and following a
three-month or longer treatment course, improvement in nasal obstruction and nasal discharge symptoms was demonstrated in 38
of 51 of patients, or 75%, as demonstrated by a patient questionnaire. Endoscopic evaluation found 18 of 51 patients, or 35%, to
be free from signs of paranasal inflammation at the conclusion of the trial, and an additional 20 patients, or 39%, had
improvement of at least one disease stage. CT scans were available for 13 patients and demonstrated significant reduction in nasal
mucosal thickening and occlusion of the paranasal sinuses.

2002 Geneva University Study. In this prospective open-label study conducted by Geneva University in Switzerland and
published in 2002 in the Journal of Laryngology & Otology, 74 patients were administered four weeks of twice daily intranasal
application of an amphotericin B suspension. The dosage regimen and amphotericin B concentration used in this study were the
same as in the open-label Mayo Clinic study. The endpoint of the study was a determination of whether there was complete
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disappearance of nasal polyposis after endoscopic examination. Of the 74 patients in the study, prior to treatment, 13 had stage I,
48 had stage II, and 1‘3 had stage I of nasal polyposis. Following four weeks of treatment with amphot]erlcln B, the number of
patients with stage I, II, and III of the disease was 5, 21, and 13, respectively. This represented a complete disappearance of nasal
polyposis in 48% of the combined number of patients with stages [ or II of the disease, although none of the patients with stage III
of the disease experlenced a complete disappearance. Partial disappearance of nasal polyposis or other 1mprovements in condition

were not a part of the reported outcomes in this study. i

2004 Mayo Clinic Study. In this double-blind study of 24 patients conducted at Mayo Clinic and pubhsﬁed in the January 2004
Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, amphotericin B was shown to be effective in decreasing mucosal thickening
associated with CRS. Generally, in a double-blind trial, neither the subjects of the study nor the rese%irchers know the drug,
dosage, or other critical aspects of the study in order to guard against bias and the effects of the placebo. In this study, the patients
were given twice daily intranasal applications of a 20 milliliter solution with a concentration of 250 micrograms of amphotericin
B per milliliter. Theiprimary outcome measure, which was a reduction in mucosal thickening meas:ured by CT scan, was
statistically signiﬁcant at six months with an approximate 9% reduction in mucosal thickening in patients treated with
amphotericin B versus a slight worsening of mucosal thickening in placebo-treated patients. Endoscopic eyaluation of the patients
demonstrated statistically significant improvement at three and six months. Eosinophil-derived neurotoxm and other markers of
inflammation were decreased in the mucus of patients treated with the amphotericin B. 4

: I

Development Status ]\

We submitted an IND with the FDA for SinuNase in April 2005, and the IND was accepted by the FDA in May 2005. Our
IND for SinuNase was initially assigned to the FDA’s Division of Special Pathogens and Transplant Prodhlcts (DSPTP), although
we were notified in November 2005 by representatives of DSPTP that our IND for SinuNase may be transferred from their
division to the FDA’s Division of Pulmonary and Allergy Products (DPAP). Based on our commumcatllons with the FDA, we
understand that this transfer has not yet occurred and that there is currently uncertainty as to whether al transfer will ultimately
occur. We currently believe that this uncertainty will be resolved during the first calendar quarter of 2006. j

‘ 4
Upon the filing of our IND in May 2005, the FDA gave us permission to proceed directly to Phase 3 clinical trials for
SinuNase, and we originally intended to commence two concurrent Phase 3 clinical trials for SinuNase in|late calendar year 2005
in patients who have recurrent CRS despite a history of sinus surgery. In September 2005, we originally sl‘ubmitted a request for a
Special Protocol Assessment, or SPA, to the DSPTP regarding our first planned Phase 3 clinical trial for SinuNase. The SPA
process provides for official FDA evaluation of a Phase 3 clinical trial and provides a product sponsor with a binding agreement,
unless circumstances change, confirming that the design and size of the Phase I1I study will be appropriate to form the primary
basis of an effectiveness claim for an NDA if the study is performed according to the SPA. However, anl SPA is not a guarantee
than an NDA for SinuNase will be approved. In August 2005, the DSPTP advised us orally and | dn a non-binding draft
communication that it agreed in principle with the principal terms that we had proposed to include in our SPA for SinuNase. In
particular, as a part of our August 2005 communications with the DSPTP, the DSPTP advised us that the proposed primary
endpoint consisting of the major, or cardinal, symptoms of chronic sinusitis for our SinuNase Phase 3 tri:als was agreeable to the ‘
division. Our proposed endpoint for these studies was the measurement of improvement in the symptoms associated with CRS,
namely sinus headachies, facial pain or pressure, post-nasal drip, and nasal congestion. We proposed that this endpoint would be
measured with an independently developed published patient questionnaire. These endpoints, together‘ with other suggestions
made by the DSPTP concerning our Phase 3 primary endpoints and validation of the measurements used to confirm these
endpoints, were reflected in our request for an SPA that we filed with the DSPTP in September 2005. j

Upon the notification in November 10, 2005 that our IND may be transferred by DSPTP to DPAP, We voluntarily withdrew
our request for an SPA from DSPTP. We currently intend to consult with DPAP and DSPTP concerning the potential submission
of a SinuNase SPA request to the appropriate division of the FDA once the uncertainty regarding the transfer is resolved. Because
an SPA is not necessary in order to commence and complete the clinical trials and to submit an NDA for ’SlnuNase we may elect
not to submit an SPA ifor SinuNase. As a consequence of the uncertainty regarding the potential transfer of our IND between FDA

divisions, we did not commence our Phase 3 clinical trials during calendar year 2005. }

I

If we ultimately request and receive an SPA for our Phase 3 SinuNase clinical trials, any change by us to the terms of the

SPA or to the protocol for our Phase 3 trial included in the SPA would require FDA approval, which cc;])uld delay our ability to

implement such change Also, the SPA generally could not be changed by the FDA without our permission except where the

director of the reviewing division at the FDA discovers a substantial scientific issue essential to determining the safety or
effectiveness of SmuNase after testing has begun. i
|

We are currently negotiating with manufacturers for production of amphotericin B suspension that will be used for purposes

of the IND and clinical trials. We anticipate that the SinuNase NDA will be filed as a 505(b)(2) application, which is a type of

NDA that will enable us to rely in part on the FDA’s previous findings of safety and efficacy for an oral suspension of

amphotericin B and on previously published clinical studies of intranasal amphotericin B for CRS. |
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We filed an application for Fast-Track status with the FDA in April 2005 for SinuNase. Products with Fast-Track
designation are eligible for approval based on surrogate endpoints that are not well-established and generally would not be an
acceptable basis for approval and for early or rolling acceptance of the marketing application for review by the agency. In June
2005, the FDA informed us in writing that the agency needs additional information to evaluate whether SinuNase satisfies the
criteria for Fast-Track designation. We cannot predict the ultimate impact, if any, that Fast-Track designation would have on the
timing or likelihood of FDA approval of SinuNase, and we cannot guarantee that Fast-Track status will be formally granted.

Our initial IND for SinuNase is for an amphotericin B suspension that is self-administered by squirting the suspension from
a plastic applicator through each nostril in order to bathe the nasal cavity. We expect to subsequently file a supplement to the IND
to add a second product consisting of an encochleated version of the amphotericin B. Encochleation is a proprietary process in
which a phospholipid, a phosphorous-containing fatty acid, is used as an excipient, an inert additive used as a drug delivery
vehicle, to extend the shelf-life of the product in an aqueous, or water-based, medium. We anticipate that the encochleated version
of SinuNase, if successfully developed and approved, will be administered with a pump spray and will be indicated for
maintenance treatments in patients whose CRS is less severe. The encochleated version of the product is being developed by us
under a license agreement with our affiliate BioDelivery Sciences, under which we have been granted exclusive worldwide rights
to BioDelivery Sciences’ encochleation technology for amphotericin B used in CRS and asthma treatments.

Even though SinuNase is not approved by the FDA for treatment of CRS, based on available research and scientific articles,
a number of physicians currently prescribe a compounded formulation of amphotericin B solution to treat CRS. Our
representatives educate physicians about Mayo Clinic’s research and studies relating to the causes and potential treatment
methods for CRS, and the availability of compounding services. These compounded formulations are custom-produced solutions
made by pharmacists for individual patients and their needs because commercially available dosage forms are not available.
While we are not permitted to market SinuNase unless and until the therapy is approved by the FDA, we currently sublicense our
rights to the compounded variant of the therapy to compounding pharmacies in exchange for a royalty. However, if SinuNase is
approved by the FDA, these sublicenses will terminate, and compounding pharmacies will be unable to compound copies of the
approved solution without individual medical need for a compounded variation, such as substitution of an inactive ingredient to
which a patient is allergic.

Proprietary Rights

In February 2004, we entered into a license agreement with Mayo Foundation under which we acquired an exclusive license in
the U.S. and European Union to Mayo Foundation’s patent rights relating to intranasal amphotericin B therapy for CRS. In
December 2004, this license agreement was amended to add asthma as a licensed indication and to also expand the geographic
scope of the CRS license to give us worldwide exclusive rights. In December 2005, we entered into an Option Agreement with
Mayo Foundation giving us the exclusive right until December 2006 without obligation, to seek to negotiate a license for all anti-
fungals in addition to Amphotericin B. Mayo Foundation holds an issued U.S. patent that will expire in 2018 and a European
Union counterpart patent application for the use of intranasal antifungals for the treatment of CRS. It also holds a U.S. patent for
the use of muco-administered antifungals for the treatment of asthma, and it has filed an additional U.S. patent application
relating to this family of patents.

Under our license agreement with Mayo Foundation, we have the exclusive right under Mayo Foundation’s patents to use, sell,
develop, manufacture, and have manufactured amphotericin B and its derivatives for use as a therapeutic for CRS on a worldwide
basis. This includes the exclusive right and duty to pursue FDA approval and commercialize one or more therapies based on the
patents using amphotericin B. Prior to FDA approval of any licensed therapies, we have the right to sublicense the therapy to
compounding pharmacies that are approved by Mayo Foundation, provided that such licenses are granted only on a year-to-year
basis and the sublicensees agree not to seek FDA approval for the therapy. If we receive FDA approval of the therapy, we are
prohibited from sublicensing the therapy in the U.S. and can only sublicense it in the European Union with Mayo Foundation’s
written permission. Under the license agreement, we are required to pay Mayo Foundation royalties based on our net sales of the
products and on any sublicense revenue. In addition, the agreement provides for the payment by us to Mayo Foundation of
minimum royalties, milestone payments for SinuNase that will become due upon the achievement of various milestones relating
to FDA approval and commercial launch of the product, and other fees.

Our license agreement with Mayo Foundation terminates upon the last-to-expire claim contained within the licensed patents.
However, Mayo Foundation may terminate the agreement earlier if we commit a material breach of the agreement and fail to cure
such breach within 30 days of written notice of the breach. Mayo Foundation may also terminate the agreement if we fail to file
the NDA for SinuNase on or before February 10, 2009 or do not pay Mayo Foundation $10.0 million, exclusive of previously
paid royalties or fees, by February 17, 2009. Additionally, Mayo Foundation may terminate the agreement if we, before we
become a publicly held company, are acquired without Mayo Foundation’s written consent, experience a change in ownership of
a majority of our voting securities, or enter into a material reorganization in which our core competency is no longer the
commercialization of pharmaceutical products in the U.S. Additionally, Mayo Foundation will have the right to convert the
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license to a non-exclusive license if we fail to meet various milestones that are specified in a developmeqt schedule included in
the agreement and if the parties cannot agree on a modified development schedule within ten days of notiﬁc;ation of such failure.

H
i

Under our April 2004 license agreement with BioDelivery Sciences, BioDelivery Sciences granted us an exclusive license to
make, use, or sell its encochleated formulation of amphotericin B for topical treatments for CRS and asthma in the U.S. and
European Union. The agreement originally provided for royalties to BioDelivery Sciences in the amount of 14% of our net sales
of any FDA-approved antifungal products for CRS or asthma that utilize BioDelivery Sciences’ technology, and 12% of our net
sales of any unapproved antifungal CRS products that are based on the license from Mayo Foundatlon The agreement also
provided for a sublicense royalty equal to the greater of 50% of our sublicense revenue on licensed products (after deduction of
any royalties payable by us to Mayo Foundation) or 8% of our sublicensees’ net sales (regardless of royalty amounts payable to
Mayo Foundation), provided that we are not permitted to sublicense the technology except for in the|European Union with
BioDelivery Sciences’:prior written consent. In September 2004, we entered into an asset purchase agreement with BioDelivery
Sciences under which we paid BioDelivery Sciences a fee of $2.5 million to expand the geographic scope of the license to make it
worldwide and to reduce the royalty percentages to 7% on approved antifungal CRS therapies (but not {asthma therapies) that
utilize BioDelivery Sc1ences technology and 6% on any unapproved antifungal CRS therapies based on{the Mayo Foundation
license.

Our license agreement with BioDelivery Sciences provides that we will conduct and bear the full expeﬁ‘nse for the regulatory
approvals and clinical trials of the licensed products. The license agreement will expire upon the last-to-expire claim contained in
any of BioDelivery Sciences’ patents covering its encochleation technology, provided that either party may terminate the
agreement earlier if the other party materially breaches the agreement and fails to cure the breach within 60 days after written
notice of the breach. In addition, BioDelivery Sciences may terminate the entire agreement if we have not filed an NDA for a

licensed product within five years of the agreement date or if our license agreement with Mayo Foundation is terminated. Also,
BioDelivery Sciences has the right to convert our exclusive license to its encochleation technology to a non-exclusive license if

our rights under the Mayo Foundation license agreement become non-exclusive. ‘
Sales, Marketing, and Manufacturmg

If the FDA approves SinuNase for the initial indication of recurrence of CRS after sinus surgery, we anticipate that we will
market and sell the product through our own sales force directly to otolaryngologists (ear, nose, and throat surgeons) who are
treating CRS patients. There are approximately 10,500 ear, nose, and throat specialists in the U.S., and we currently market other
products to these spec1ahsts We anticipate that the labeling for SinuNase will be indicated spec1ﬁca11y or “chronic sinusitis,”

which is a more w1dely used name for the condition than “chronic rhinosinusitis.”

We anticipate that the j1mt1a1 SinuNase suspension will be self-administered by patients, who will use a slingle-dose, disposable
plastic applicator to administer the suspension into the nasal cavity through each nostril. We expect that the product will be
manufactured by a third- -party contract manufacturer that will be selected by us in the near future, and we beheve that there are a
variety of qualified contract manufacturers that could be suitable for this purpose. ‘

On June 30, 2005, we entered into an exclusive commercialization agreement with IMMCO Dlagnostlcs Inc. under which we
have been granted the exclusive right in the U.S. to market IMMCO’s proprietary diagnostic test for determmmg the level of
major basic protein, or MBP, in a patient’s mucus. MBP is an esonopbhils-derived protein that we believe can be used to diagnose
CRS by measuring thejconcentration of it in a patient’s mucus. The proprietary test involves taking a mucu‘é sample of the patient
and delivering it to ann IMMCO clinical reference laboratory for testing. It is not sold as a diagnostic k1t This test has been
patented by Mayo Clinic and has been exclusively licensed to IMMCO. We began marketing this test in November 2005 under
the name CRSFungal Profile™, and we have filed a federal trademark registration application for this name. We believe that the
CRSFungal Profile could be used to complement the marketing of SinuNase if SinuNase is approved by the" FDA.

BiovaxID

BiovaxID is an injectable patient-specific vaccine that we are developing in conjunction with the NCI to treat the follicular form
of non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, or NHL. BiovaxID is a customized immunotherapy that is derived from a patient’s own cancer cells
and is designed to utilize the power of each patient’s immune system to recognize and destroy cancerous|lymphoma cells while
sparing normal cells. BiovaxID is currently undergoing a pivotal Phase 3 clinica! trial with patients diagnosed with the indolent
follicular form of B- cell NHL. BiovaxID is being developed by Biovest International, Inc., our pubhcly held, majority owned
subsidiary. ‘




The Human Immune System

The immune system is the body’s natural defense mechanism for recognizing and combating viruses, bacteria, cancer cells, and
other disease-causing organisms. The primary disease fighting functions of the immune system is carried out by white blood cells.
In response to the presence of disease, white blood cells can mediate two types of immune responses, referred to as innate
immunity and adaptive immunity. Innate immunity refers to a broad, first line of immune defense that occurs as a part of an
individual’s natural biological makeup. Adaptive immunity, on the other hand, is specifically generated by a person’s immune
system throughout the person’s lifetime as he or she is exposed to particular pathogens, which are agents such as bacteria or other
microorganisms that cause disease. In contrast to the broad but unspecific response of innate immunity, the adaptive immune
response generates a highly specific, long-lasting, and powerful protection from repeated infection by the same pathogen. This
adaptive immune response facilitates the use of preventative vaccines that protect against viral and bacterial infections such as
measles, polio, diphtheria, and tetanus.

Adaptive immunity is mediated by a subset of white blood cells called lymphocytes, which are divided into two types: B-cells and
T-cells. In the bloodstream, B-cells and T-cells recognize molecules known as antigens, which are proteins or other substances
that are capable of triggering a response in the immune system. Antigens include toxins, bacteria, foreign blood cells, and the
cells of transplanted organs. When a B-cell recognizes a specific antigen, it secretes proteins, known as antibodies, which in turn
bind to a target containing that antigen and tag it for destruction by other white blood cells. When a T-cell recognizes an antigen,
it either promotes the activation of other white blood cells or initiates destruction of the target cells directly. A person’s B-cells
and T-cells can collectively recognize a wide variety of antigens, but each individual B-cell or T-cell will recognize only one
specific antigen. Consequently, in each person’s bloodstream, only a relatively few lymphocytes will recognize the same antigen.

In the case of cancer, cancer cells produce molecules known as tumor-associated antigens, which may or may not be present in
normal cells but may be over-produced in cancer cells. T-cells and B-cells have receptors on their surfaces that enable them to
recognize the tumor associated antigens. While cancer cells may naturally trigger a T-cell-based immune response during the
initial appearance of the disease, the immune system response may not be sufficiently robust to eradicate the cancer. The human
body has developed numerous immune suppression mechanisms to prevent the immune system from destroying the body’s
normal tissues, and because all cancer cells are originally normal tissue cells, they are often able to aberrantly exploit these
mechanisms to suppress the body’s immune response, which would normally destroy them. Even with an activated immune
system, the number and size of tumors can overwhelm the immune system.

In the case of cancer and other diseases, immunotherapies are designed to utilize a person’s immune system in an attempt to
combat the disease. There are two forms of immunotherapy used to treat diseases: passive and active. Passive immunotherapy is
exemplified by the intravenous infusion into a patient of antibodies specific to the particular antigen, and while passive
immunotherapies have shown clinical benefits in some cancers, they require repeated infusions and can cause the destruction of
normal cells in addition to cancer cells. An active immunotherapy, on the other hand, generates an adaptive immune response by
introducing an antigen into a patient, often in combination with other components that can enhance an immune response to the
antigen. Although active immunotherapeutics have been successful in preventing many infectious diseases, their ability to combat
cancers of various types has been limited by a variety of factors, including the inability of tumor antigens to elicit an effective
immune response, difficulty in identifying suitable target tumor antigens, inability to manufacture tumor antigens in sufficiently
pure form, and inability to manufacture sufficient quantities of tumor antigens. Nevertheless, there are many active
immunotherapeutics for cancer in the late stages of clinical trials, and some are demonstrating encouraging results.

There are two features of B-cell follicular NHL that make it a particularly attractive form of cancer for treatment with an active
immunotherapeutic approach. First, the malignant B-cell lymphocytes in follicular NHL have a unique, identifiable tumor-
specific antigen domain that is expressed on the surface of each and every cancerous B-cell in a particular patient and not
expressed on any other cells. This is in contrast to other solid cancer tumors, such as prostate, pancreatic, or lung carcinomas,
which have a heterogeneous expression of different kinds of antigens on their cell surfaces and for which identification and
inclusion of all tumor-specific antigens is very challenging. Second, in cases of relapse after conventional treatment, the
malignant B-cells in follicular NHL represent the original cancerous clone. Consequently, the cancer cells that survive treatment
of NHL seem to always represent tumor cells with the same antigen idiotype as the original tumor. An idiotype consists of the
characteristics of an antigen that make it unique. In follicular NHL patients, the idiotyps antigen protein expressed on the tumor
cell’s surface is not functioning as an antigen because of its failure to elicit a sufficient immune response to the presence of the
tumor cells, and the goal of our BiovaxID active immunotherapy is to trigger the body’s immune system to recognize such protein
as an antigen by introducing a purified version of the idiotype antigen, modified by conjugation to a foreign carrier protein, into
the patient’s system in conjunction with an immune system stimulant, as described more specifically below.

Non-Hodgkin’s Lymphoma

NHL is a cancer of the lymphatic system, which is a part of the immune system and serves as the body’s primary blood
filtering and disease fighting tissue. In NHL, specific cells in the lymphatic system become abnormal and multiply in an
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uncontrolled manner,, outhvmg their normal programmed lifespan, and spreading through the body.. NHL can occur in both
B-cells and T-cells. |

|
NHL is the sixth most common cancer and the sixth leading cause of death among cancers in the U.S. |Approxjmate]y 85% of
diagnosed cases of NHL are in the form of B-cell NHL, while 15% are T-cell NHL. There are approximately 55,000 new cases of
NHL diagnosed each year in the U.S. with a comparable number estimated in Europe, and an estimated 1J2 500 of the U.S. cases
each year are a type of B-cell NHL known as indolent follicular NHL. Qur IND and Phase 3 clinical tr1a1 for BiovaxID are for

indolent follicular NHL

NHL is usually classifled for clinical purposes as being either “indolent” or “aggressive,” depending on how quickly the cancer
cells are likely to grow and spread. The indolent, or slow-growing, form of NHL has a very slow growth rate and may need little
or no treatment for months or possibly years. Aggressive, or fast-growing, NHL tends to grow and spread quickly and cause
severe symptoms. Indolent and aggresswe NHL each constitute approximately half of all newly draghosed B-cell NHL, and
roughly half of the indolent B-cell NHL is follicular NHL. Follicular NHL is a form of NHL that is derrved from a type of cell
known as a follicle ¢enter cell. Despite the slow progression of indolent B-cell NHL, the disease is ,‘almost invariably fatal.
According to the American Cancer Society, the median survival time from diagnosis for patients with indolent B-cell NHL having
stage III or IV follicular B-cell NHL is between seven and ten years. Unlike indolent B-cell NHL, approx1mately 30-60% of

aggressive B-cell NHL cases are cured by standard chemotherapy. 1
|

Chemotherapy is widely used as a first line of treatment for NHL. Although chemotherapy can substarj‘utially reduce the tumor
mass and in most cases achieve a clinical remission, the remissions are generally short-lived. Indolent B-cell NHL patients
generally relapse within a few months or years of initial treatment, and the cancer usually becomes 1ncreasmgly resistant to
further chemotherapy treatments. Eventually, the patient’s response to therapy is so brief and weak that further chemotherapy
would offer no cllnrcal benefit. i

|
|

A number of passive limmunotherapies, such as Rituxan, Bexxar, and other monoclonal antibodies, are approved by the FDA for
the treatment of indolent B-cell follicular lymphoma. These therapies have been used as primary treatment and also as part of
combination treatment including chemotherapy. A monoclonal antibody is a type of antibody produced|in large quantity that is
specific to an antrgen that is expressed by tumor cells but may also be expressed by at least some normal cells. These NHL
antibody therapies target an antigen that all B cell lymphocytes, both normal and cancerous, have on their surface. As such, the
effects of therapy include a temporary reduction in normal B-cell lymphocytes, which can predispose patients to the risk of
infection. Generally, ;‘these therapies alone have failed to provide unlimited remissions for most patients, and their cost and side-
effects are often significant. Moreover, as passively administered antibodies, they do not elicit a sustaified immune response to
tumor cells. Nevenheless, some recent studies suggest that sustained remissions might be possible withithe use of these passive
immunotherapies at or near the time of initial diagnosis, either alone or in combination with chemotherapy, and we do not believe
that the use of passive and active immunotherapeutics are necessarily mutually exclusive. Rituxan is used in approximately 85%
of all new cases of NHL per year, and U.S. sales of Rituxan exceeded $1.5 billion in 2004.

Development of Patiént-Speciﬁc Vaccine for NHL }

During the late 1980s, physicians at Stanford University began development of an active immunotherapy for the treatment of
indolent B-cell NHL) and the work was thereafter continued by Dr. Larry Kwak and his colleagues at the NCI. In 1996, the NCI
began a Phase 11 clinical trial and selected our Biovest subsidiary to produce the vaccine for the trial. In 2001, Biovest entered
into a cooperative research and development agreement, or CRADA, with the NCI under which we Jomtly conducted the Phase 3
clinical trial. The NCI filed the Investigational New Drug application, or IND, for BiovaxID in 1994 and in April 2004,
sponsorship of the IND was formally transferred from the NCI to us. t
Studies have shown that treatment with an active immunotherapy should allow a patient’s own immune¢ system to produce both
B-cells and T-cells that recognize numerous portions of the tumor antigen and generate clinically significant immune responses.
These studies have been published in the October 22, 1992 issue of The New England Journal of Medicine, the May 1, 1997 issue
of Blood, and the October 1999 issue of Nature Medicine. With respect to follicular NHL and other cancers, tumor cells
remaining in the patient after completion of surgery, radiation, and chemotherapy are the cause of tumor relapse. These residual
tumor cells cannot be detected by imaging, but their destruction may be feasible by active 1mmunotherapy With a patient-specific
active vaccine, patrents receive their own tumor rdlotype, as the vaccine is customized for the tumor target of the individual
patient. Repeated vaccination with such a tumor vaccine provides the patient’s immune system with an ]addmonal opportunity to
be effectively actrvated by the tumor cell itself. t

§
Our research has focused on the indolent form of follicular NHL, which accounts for about 90% of newly diagnosed cases of
follicular NHL. In about 40-70% of the indolent cases, there is transformation of the indolent form to a more aggressive
lymphoma such as large-cell follicular NHL. This transformation is typically an early event in the course of the disease, usually
occurring before thei sixth year after diagnosis, and it is mainly observed in patients with known adverse prognostic factors. It is
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the goal of BiovaxID to intervene in the transformation process by treating newly diagnosed patients in their first clinical
remission with the hope of inducing indefinitely prolonged remission and thereby eliminating the possibility of transformation to
a more aggressive form of the disease.

BiovaxID Treatment and Production Process

BiovaxID is designed to utilize the power of each patient’s immune system and cause it to recognize and destroy cancerous
lymphoma B-cells while sparing normal B-cells. Typically, all of a patient’s cancercus B-cells are replicate clones of a single
malignant B-cell, and, accordingly, all of a patient’s cancerous B-cells express the same surface antigen idiotype which is absent
from non-cancerous cells. BiovaxID is designed to use the patient’s own antigen idiotype from the patient’s tumor cells to direct
the patient’s immune system to mount a targeted immune response against the tumor cells. In general, the therapy seeks to
accomplish this result through the extraction of tumor cells from the patient, the culturing and growing of a cell culture that
secrets idiotype proteins found in the patient’s tumor cells, the production and enhancement of a purified version of the cancer
idiotype antigen, and the injection of the resulting vaccine into the patient. By introducing a highly-concentrated purified version
of the cancer antigen into the patient’s system, the vaccine is designed to trigger the immune system to mount a more robust
response to the specific antigen, in contrast to the comparatively weak and insufficient pre-vaccination response. Because the
antigen is specific to the cancerous B-cells and not found on normal B-cells, the immune response should target the cancerous B-
cells for destruction and not cause harm to the normal cells.

The BiovaxID production and treatment process begins when a sample of the patient’s tumor is extracted by a biopsy performed
by the treating physician at the time of diagnosis, and the sample is shipped refrigerated to our manufacturing facility in
Worcester, Massachusetts. At our manufacturing facility, we identify the antigen idiotype that is expressed on the surface of the
patient’s tumor cells through laboratory analysis. The patient’s tumor cells are then fused with an exclusively licensed laboratory
cell line from Stanford University to create a hybridoma. A hybridoma is a hybrid cell resulting from the fusion of a patient tumor
cell and a murine/human heterohybridoma myeloma cell, which is an antibody-secreting cell created from a fused mouse and
human cell. The purpose of creating a hybridoma is to create a cell that secretes antibody proteins bearing the same idiotype or
antigen as the patient’s tumor cells. The hybridoma cell can be used to produce the vaccine because the tumor-specific antigen
expressed on the surface of the patient’s tumor cells is itself an antibody.

After the creation of the hybridoma, we determine which hybridoma cells display the same antigen idiotype as the patient’s tumor
cells, and those cells are selected to produce the vaccine. The selected hybridoma cells are then seeded into our hollow fiber
bioreactors, where they are cultured and where they secrete an antibody bearing the same idiotype antigen as the patient’s tumor
cells. The secreted antigens are then collected from the cells growing on the hollow fibers. After a sufficient amount of antigen is
collected for the production of an appropriate amount of the vaccine, the patient’s antigen idiotype is purified using an affmnity
chromatography column. Affinity chromatography is a technique used to separate and purify a biological molecule from a
mixture by passing the mixture through a column containing a substance to which the biological molecule binds.

The resulting purified idiotype antigen is then conjugated, or joined together, with keyhole limpet hemocyanin, or KLH, to create
the vaccine. KLH is a foreign carrier protein that is used to improve the immunogenicity, or ability to evoke an immune response,
of the tumor-specific antigen. The vaccine is then frozen and shipped to the treating physician. At the treating physician’s office,
the vaccine is thawed and injected into the patient as an antigen.

We expect that the initial vaccination will typically commence six months after the patient eaters clinical remission following
chemotherapy. The vaccine is administered in conjunction with GM-CSF, a natural immune system growth factor that is
administered with an antigen to stimulate the immune system and increase the response to the antigen. The patient is administered
five monthly injections of the vaccine in the amount of /2 milligram of vaccine per injection, with the injections being given over
a six-month period of time in which the fifth month is skipped. Through this process, the patient-specific antigens are used to
stimulate the patient’s immune system into targeting and destroying B-cells bearing the same antigen idiotype.

To our knowledge, BiovaxID is the only NHL vaccine currently in development under an IND that is produced through a
hybridoma process. The hybridoma process is different from the recombinant processes being used by other companies that are
currently developing an active idiotype immunotherapeutic for NHL. In the recombinant process, the patient’s own tumor cells
are not fused with lymphocytes, but instead the vaccine is produced by introducing genetic material bearing certain portions
(known as the variable light and variable heavy chains) of the tumor-derived idiotype protein into mammalian or insect cells.
Whereas the hybridoma method will produce high-fidelity copies of the antigen that, through clonal reproduction, exactly
replicates the original gene sequences of the tumor specific idiotype of the parent tumor cell, the recombinant method gives rise to
protein products that have combinations of gene sequences different from those of the patient’s tumor.

We use a method known as “hollow-fiber perfusion” to produce the cell cultures used in the manufacture of BiovaxID. Hollow-
fiber perfusion, as compared to other cell culture methods, seeks to grow cells to higher densities more closely approaching the
density of cells naturally occurring in body tissue. The hollow-fiber perfusion method involves using hair-like plastic fibers with
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hollow centers which are intended to simulate human capillaries. Thousands of these fibers are inserted m a cartridge, which we
refer to as a bioreactor. The cells are grown on the outside of the hollow fibers while nutrient media used to support cell growth is
delivered through the hollow centers of the fibers. The fiber walls have small pores, allowing nutrients to pass from the hollow
center to the cells. The fibers act as filters and yield concentrated secreted products. Because the cells‘are immobilized in the
bioreactor, the concentrated product can be harvested during the ongoing cell growth process. We bel1eve that hollow-fiber
technology permits the harvests of cell culture products with generally higher purities than stirred-tank fermentanon a common
alternative cell culture method, thereby reducing the cost of punﬁcatron as compared to stirred tank fermentauon Additionally,
the technology associated with the hollow-fiber process generally minimizes the amount of costly nutnen‘u media required for cell
growth as opposed to other cell culturing techniques.

We believe that our vaccine’s anti-tumor effect could exceed that of non-targeted traditional therapy, such as chemotherapy, as
our therapy arises from the immune system’s defense cells’ innate ability to selectively target tumor antrgen while not attacking
the normal healthy B-cells. The immune response triggered by our vaccine against the cancerous trssue is a natural disease-
fighting mechanism without causmg the side-effects associated with chemotherapy and radiation used to t}radmonally treat NHL.

We also believe that our vaccine’s effectiveness could exceed that of passive immunotherapies, such as Rituxan, Bexar, and other
monoclonal antibodies. Unlike BiovaxID, these therapies do not target the unique antigen idiotype that is found on the surface of
the patient’s tumor cells. Instead, they target an antigen that is common to all B-cells, known as the CD- 20 antigen, which results
in the undesirable desttuction of normal B- cells |

Manufacture of BiovaxID ;
We manufacture BiovaxID at Biovest’s own manufacturing facility in Worcester, Massachusetts. If we receive FDA approval of
the vaccine, we may continue to manufacture the vaccine at our existing facility in Worcester, although we will likely need to
develop additional facilities or utilize third-party contract manufacturers to fully support commercial product1on for the U.S.
markets. To penetrate ‘markets outside of the U.S., we may enter into agreements such as collaborations with well-established
companies that have the capabilities to produce the product, licenses, joint ventures or other arrangements to produce and/or
market the product in such countries. To facilitate commercial production of the vaccine, we are developing proprietary
manufacturing equipment, for which we have filed “AutovaxID™ as a trademark. AutovaxID integrates fand automates various
stages of vaccine production. We believe that the AutovaxID system will reduce the space and staff|currently required for
production of the vaccine. We are also considering the future potential to commercially manufacture and sell AutovaxID
instruments. !
Because we use KLH in the BiovaxID manufacturing process, we have entered into a supply agreement with BioSyn Arzneimittel
GmbH, or BioSyn, to supply us with KLH. Under this agreement, BioSyn is obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to
fulfill all of our orders of KLH, subject to certain annual minimum orders by us. However, BioSyn dogs not have a specific
obligation to supply us with the amounts of KLH currently being supplied and necessary for our current clinical trial purposes or
for commercialization. The supply agreement specifies a purchase price for the KLH and also provides for a one-time licensing
fee payable by us in installments. The agreement expires in December 2007 but will automatically renew fofr unlimited successive
terms of five years each unless we provide notice of termination to BioSyn at least 6 months before the éxpiration of any term.
The agreement can be 'terminated prior to expiration by either party upon the winding-up or receivershiﬂn of the other party or
upon a default that remains uncured for 60 days. Also, the agreement can be terminated by BioSyn if we cease to develop
BiovaxID. l

I
Development Status i
In April 2004, the NCI!formally transferred sponsorship of the IND for BiovaxID to our Biovest subsidiar}ll, which gives Biovest
the right to communicate and negotiate with the FDA relating to the approval of BiovaxID and to conduct the clinical trials for the
vaccine. BiovaxID is in a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial which was started in January 2000 by the NCI. As of September 30, 2005,
there were 23 clinical sites and 200 patients enrolled in the clinical trial. |
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The following summarizes the results and status of our ongoing, recently completed, and currently planned clinical trials for
BiovaxID as of September 30, 2005:

No. of Patients

Treated with Median
Clinical BiovaxID or Time-to-Disease
Trial / Indication Phase Study Design Control Progression Status
Trial No. BV301 Phase 3  Randomized, double 375 planned Treatment Enrolling
) blind with KL H-treated Phase In patients to

Indolent‘folhcular B-cell NHL control group progress treatment

patients in first complete remission phase; 200

following chemotherapy; have been

5 immunizations over 24 weeks enrolled (150
of which have
been
randomized to
receive
BiovaxID or
control)

Trial No. T93-0164 Phase [  Open label, single arm 20 Followup Treatment

period phase

Indolent follicular B-cell NHL exceeded 8 completed;

patients in first complete remission years as of patients in

following chemotherapy; September, long-term

5 immunizations over 24 weeks 2005: follow-up

45% of

patients were
disease free at
that time and

95% of
patients were
alive at that
time

The objective of our Phase 3 clinical study is to measure the efficacy of the active idiotype vaccination in regard to prolongation
of the period of disease-free survival when compared to treatment with a control vaccine consisting solely of KLH in patients
with B-cell indolent follicular NHL. The patients being treated under this protocol have been diagnosed with previously untreated
Stage 3-4 follicular NHL, Grades I-1Ila, which are the indolent slowly progressing forms of the disease that historically have been
incurable. Of the 375 patients in a complete remission planned to take part in the BiovaxID or control arm of the study, 250
patients are scheduled to be randomly selected, or randomized, for the BiovaxID treatment arm, and 125 are scheduled to be
randomized to the control arm. Of the 250 patients who are scheduled to be randomized to the BiovaxID treatment arm, we
estimate that approximately one third have completed the series of vaccinations and are in the follow-up phase of the trial. The
patients being treated with BiovaxID have received or are receiving a series of five vaccinations administered over a six-month
period. Each vaccination is accompanied by a series of four injections of GM-CSF. PACE chemotherapy (prednisone,
doxorubicin, cytoxan and etoposide) is administered until patients achieve their best response, which is a minimum of six cycles
over six to eight months. Those patients achieving a complete remission are then randomized to receive vaccination with either
BiovaxID or the KLH control in a 2:] ratio, respectively. After a six-month waiting period while the patient’s immune system
reconstitutes, the patient initiates the vaccination series. The primary endpoint is a comparison between treatment groups of the
median duration of disease-free survival measured from the time of randomization to the point of confirmed relapse. Data from
the trial are reviewed periodically (at least annually) by an independent safety data monitoring board, and at the June 2005
meeting of this board, no safety concerns regarding the trial were identified. We are seeking to complete enroliment for our Phase
3 clinical trial in calendar year 2007. To complete enrollment in calendar year 2007, we will need to continue our efforts to
significantly increase the rate at which we are currently enrolling patients. To accomplish our desired rate of enrollment, we are
considering various opportunities, such as enrolling patients in international venues and adding additional domestic sites.
Following the completion of enrollment, we will continue to monitor the participating patients and analyze resulting data. At such
time that an interim analysis of the data confirms a statistically significant difference between the active and control groups in
relation to our clinical endpoint, the data will be assembled for submission of a Biologics License Application requesting the
FDA’s approval for commercialization of BiovaxID. The time it takes to reach the clinical endpoint following the completion of
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|
enrollment, which may take several years, will depend on a variety of factors, including the relative efﬁéacy of the vaccine, the
magnitude of the impact of the vaccine on time-to-tumor progression, drop-out rates of clinical trial pat1ents and the median

follow-up time subsequent to administration of vaccine or control. |
|

The objective of the NCI’s Phase II clinical investigation was to study the ability of an idiotype vaccine tolcl1c1t tumor-specific T-
cell immunity in follicular B-cell NHL patients, as measured by the ability of the patient’s T-cells to spec1ﬁcally destroy their
own tumor cells in vitro and to exert anti-tumor effects as measured by the elimination of cells from thle perlpheral blood of a
uniform group of patients. In this study conducted by the NCI, 20 patients who had achieved complete remission following
chemotherapy received a series of five BiovaxID and GM-CSF injections over a six-month period. Of thc 20 patients, 11 had a
molecular marker in their lymphoma cells considered a hallmark of follicular NHL. As assessed by clearance of this marker from
their blood, eight of these 11 patients (73%) totally cleared all residual tumor cells post vaccination (molecular remission). The
molecular remission was sustained for as long as the patients were followed, for a median follow up of 18 months, with a range of
eight to 32 months. In the Phase II study, 75% of the patients treated with BiovaxID developed antibodies to their individual
tumor cells and 95% developed T-cell immune responses specific for the patient’s NHL idiotype. At an interim study assessment,
18 of 20 patients remained in continuous complete remission for a median 42 months, with a range of 28 té 52 months. After long
term follow-up at nine years post vaccination, as reported by the NCI in 2005 to the American Society of Hematology, 19 of 20
patients remained ahve and 9 of 20 patients remained in complete continuous remission. |

We have applied to the FDA for orphan drug designation for the use of BiovaxID for the treatment of cexltain forms of follicular
B-cell NHL. Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat a “rare disease or
condition,” which generally is a disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States. Orphan drug
designation must be requested before submitting a Biologics License Application, or BLA. Orphan drug designation does not
convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval process. If a produfct which has an orphan
drug designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the indication for which it has such designation, the product is
entitled to orphan exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not approve any other applications to market the same drug for the
same indication for a period of seven years, except in limited circumstances. Even though we have appliedlfor orphan drug status,
BiovaxID may be deemed by the FDA not to be eligible for orphan drug status. Even if designated as an brphan drug, BiovaxID
may not be approved before other applications or granted orphan drug exclusivity if approved. Even if :we obtain orphan drug
exclusivity for BiovaxID, we may not be able to maintain it. For example, if a competitive product is ‘shown to be clinically
superior to our product, any orphan drug exclusivity we have obtained will not block the approval of such c%ompetitive product.
Proprietary Rights to BiovaxID l
1

Our proprietary position in the BiovaxID vaccine and production process is based on a combination of batent protection, trade
secret protection, our d\evelopment relationship with the NCI, and our ongoing innovation. Although the composition of matter of
the BiovaxID vaccine is not patentable, we have filed a PCT patent application relating to the type of cell media that is used to
grow cell cultures in the production of our vaccine. In addition, we have filed a PCT patent application relaltmg to certain features
of an integrated product1on and purification system that we are developing to produce and purify the vdceine in an automated
closed system. Our proprietary production system will use fully enclosed and disposable components for each patient’s vaccine.
We believe that, without the availability of an automated production and purification system, the methbds used to produce a
patient-specific immunotherapy are time-consuming and labor-intensive, resulting in a very expensive process that would be
difficult to scale up. We also hold a patent on the cycling technology that is used in the vaccine productlon machinery, although
this patent will expire in 2006. An application has also been filed for the registration of the trademark BlovaxIDTM

Our CRADA with the NCI provides that we will have exclusive ownership rights to any inventions that anse under the CRADA
solely through the efforts of our employees, and we will have a first option to exclusively license any otherl technology within the
scope of the CRADA that may be developed under the CRADA by the part1es jointly or solely by the NCI. The specific scope of
the CRADA is the cl1n1cal development of hybridoma-based idiotypic vaccines for treatment of follicular B-cell lymphoma. In
light of the recent transfer of the BiovaxID IND to us, we believe that any future developed patentable inventions under the
CRADA will likely be| developed solely by our own employees. The CRADA also provides for confidentiality obligations with

respect to any new data, technology, or inventions that may be patentable.

Under the CRADA and for the duration of the CRADA, we are obligated to provide the NCI, at no chargel to the NCI, sufficient
quantities of the vaccirie to enable the NCI to complete its ongoing studies relating to the vaccine. The CRADA will continue to
remain in effect for so long as the development efforts under the CRADA are ongoing, provided that the CRADA can be
terminated by either us or the NCI at any time upon at least 60 days prior written notice. If we terminate the agreement, we would
be obligated to continue to provide vaccine to the NCI at no charge for purposes of the NCI's studies that are within the scope of
the CRADA. Also, if we terminate the development of BiovaxID, then we are obligated to grant the NCI ainonexcluswe royalty-

free license to any invention relating to BiovaxID that was developed under the CRADA, unless we transfer our development

efforts to another party. The CRADA obligates us to commit 50 to 60 persons per year to permit the execution of the CRADA
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study plan, and the agreement also obligates us to reimburse the NCI approximately $580,000 per year for the duration of the
CRADA for the NCI'’s expenses in carrying out the study plan.

In September 2004, we entered into an agreement with Stanford University giving us worldwide rights to use two proprietary
hybridoma cell lines that are used in the production of BiovaxID. These are the same cell lines that have been used by researchers
at Stanford and the NCI to perform their studies of the hybridoma idiotype vaccine in NHL. This agreement gives us exclusive
rights to these cell lines through 2019 in the fields of B-cell and T-cell cancers, and it gives us non-exclusive rights in such fields
of use at all times after 2019.

The agreement also gives us the right to sublicense or transfer the licensed biological materials to collaborators in the licensed
fields. Under our agreement with Stanford, we paid Stanford an up-front license fee of $15,000 within 30 days following the
execution of the agreement, and we are obligated to pay a yearly maintenance fee of $10,000 per year thereafter, The agreement
also provides that we will pay Stanford $100,000 within one year following FDA approval of BiovaxID or five years following
the agreement date (whichever occurs first), and following approval we will pay Stanford a running royalty of the higher of
$50.00 per patient or 0.05% of the amount received by us for each BiovaxID patient treated using this cell line. This running
royalty will be creditable against the yearly maintenance fee. Our agreement with Stanford obligates us to diligently develop,
manufacture, market, and sell BiovaxID and to provide progress reports to Stanford regarding these activities. We can terminate
this agreement at any time upon 30 days’ prior written notice, and Stanford can terminate the agreement upon a breach of the
agreement by us that remains uncured for 30 days after written notice of the breach from Stanford.

Sales and Marketing

If we obtain regulatory approval for BiovaxID, we plan to build a small, highly-focused sales and marketing force to market
BiovaxID to oncologists. We believe that a relatively small but highly trained sales force can serve the oncology market in North
America due to the limited number of oncologists. There are approximately 8,400 medical oncologists in the U.S. To penetrate
oncology markets outside the U.S., we may establish collaborations with companies already positioned in the oncology field to
assist in the commercialization of BiovaxID.

On February 27, 2004, we entered into a Biologics Distribution Agreement with McKesson Corporation, a large pharmaceutical
distributor, that gives McKesson exclusive distribution rights for all of our biologic products, which include BiovaxID, antigens,
monoclonal antibodies, and cell cultures.

Specialty Pharmaceutical Products

We have a specialty pharmaceutical business through which we currently sell a portfolio of ten pharmaceutical products and have
a pipeline of additional products under development by third parties. We currently intend to exploit our specialty pharmaceutical
business to provide a platform upon which to commercialize SinuNase, BiovaxID, and other innovative therapeutics. However,
we are evaluating our strategy for our specialty pharmaceutical business in light of our future financial requirements, market
conditions, and our long-term objectives.

Currently Marketed Products

We currently market and sell ten pharmaceutical products in the respiratory and pain markets. Each of these products is
manufactured exclusively for us by third-party pharmaceutical manufacturers. Our current product portfolio includes the
following products:

Xodol. Xodol is a pain formulation that was approved by the FDA in June 2004 and introduced to the market in August 2004.
Xodol is sold in the form of tablets that contain a combination of hydrocodone and acetaminophen and are indicated for the relief
of moderate to moderately severe pain. Xodo! provides physicians with the ability to prescribe a high dose of hydrocodone with a
low dose of acetaminophen. Xodol, which is listed in the FDA Orange Book as having no therapeutic equivalent, is being
marketed through our in-house sales force primarily to surgeons, pain management specialists, primary-care physicians, internal
medicine physicians, oral surgeons, and otolaryngologists. The main branded competitors of Xodol are Lortab, Lorcet, and Norco,
all of which contain a 10 mg dose of hydrocodone and have similar indications for pain. Xodol was developed exclusively for us
by Ryan Pharmaceuticals, and we have exclusive distribution rights to the product in the U.S. Under our May 2003 distribution
agreement with Ryan Pharmaceuticals, as amended in October 2004, we acquired the exclusive perpetual right to sell, market,
promote, and distribute Xodol in the U.S. in consideration of a running royalty based on our net sales of Xodol, subject to
remaining annual minimum royalties payable through September 2007 in the aggregate amount of $0.4 million. Ryan
Pharmaceuticals was also granted a warrant to purchase 106,878 shares of our common stock under this agreement at an exercise
price of $3.89 per share. The agreement requires us to assign a specified number of sales representatives to market Xodol to
certain types of physicians in the U.S. The term of the agreement is perpetual, provided that any party can terminate it if the other
party becomes insolvent, enters bankruptcy or receivership, or materially breaches the agreement and fails to cure the breach
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.within 30 days of notice of breach. Xodol is exclusively manufactured for us by Mikart, Inc. Under a Junp 2003 manufacturing
and supply agreement with Mikart, we have minimum purchase requirements for Xodol aggregating approximately $1.2 million
over a five-year period beginning in June 2004. %

Respi~TANN™. Respi~TANN™ is a unique decongestant for temporary relief of cough and nasal cong’estion accompanying
respiratory tract conditions associated with the common cold, influenza, sinusitis, and bronchitis. Respi~TANN is unique in that it
contains a proprietary Tannate Conversion Technology that, by including tannic acid in the product, enables twice-a-day dosing
with delayed and consistent drug delivery. In August 2002, we entered into a five-year manufacturing and supply agreement with
Kiel Laboratories, or Kiel, providing for the exclusive manufacture and supply by Kiel of Respi~TANN, and we started
marketing and selling Respi~TANN in January of 2003. As provided in this agreement, Kiel owns excluswe rights to the Tannate
Conversion Technologyi utilized in Resp1~TANN and we are obligated to purchase all of our requirements of Respi~TANN from
Kiel. The agreement also sets forth the prices that we will pay for the product and minimum purchase volrume obligations. The
agreement will expire in August 2007, unless the parties mutually agree to renew the agreement, although ; the agreement can be
terminated by either party prior to the expiration date if, among other things, the other party materially brpaches the agreement
and fails to cure the default within 15 days of written notice of default or the other party fails to function {for any reason in the
ordinary course of business for a period of 10 consecutive business days. During the term of the agreement, Kiel is precluded
from manufacturing the product for any party other than us. |
Histex Heritage Products. Since 2003, we have marketed and sold a line of allergy, cough, and cold medicir;es that we refer to as
our Histex™ Heritage Products. The Histex Heritage Products consist of Histex HC, Histex PD, Histex Li:quid, and Histex SR.
Histex SR is indicated for the relief of multiple symptoms of nasal congestion, sneezing, runny nose, and watery eyes associated
with seasonal and perennial nasal allergies. Histex HC is indicated for symptomatic relief when cough'ling, congestion, and
rhinorrhea, or runny nose, are associated with respiratory infections. Histex PD is indicated for the relief of nasal and non-nasal
symptoms of seasonal and perennial allergic rhinitis, and Histex Liquid is indicated for a wide range of resplratory conditions. We
acquired exclusive marketmg rights to the Histex Heritage Product line in June 2002 from Andrx Laboratorles under an asset
purchase agreement. - ‘
Histex I/E. Since May 2003 we have marketed and sold Histex I/E, which is a prescription medicine 1nd1cated for the relief of
seasonal and perenmal ‘allergic rhinitis for patients 12 years of age and older. The active mgredrem in this product is
carbinoxamine maleate, a type of antihistamine that is a strong anticholinergic but that is recognized to be less sedating than
equivalent products. Histex I/E utilizes a proprietary Dynamic Variable Release™ technology to allow release of the medication at
specified intervals to enhance the efficacy and safety. |

} |
Histex Pd 12. Histex Pd 12 is indicated for the relief of nasal and non-nasal symptoms of seasonal and perennial allergic rhinitis
and hives. Histex Pd 12 contains carbinoxamine maleate and carbinoxamine tannate, a tannated antihistamine, to deliver an
immediate-release benefit for quick relief, as well as sustained relief due to the sustained-release profile (of the tannate-based
portion of the product. HlSteX Pd 12 utilizes a patent-pending delivery technology called Dynamic Polymorphic Dissociation,
which delivers a spec1ﬁed amount of the active agent immediately and another portion over an extended period of time. Histex Pd
12 was introduced in October 2003.

Specialty Pharmaceuttcal Products Under Development

In addition to our currently marketed products, we have a pipeline of 12 spec1a1ty pharmaceutical products currently under
development, consisting of AllerNase, MD Turbo™, Emezine™, and nine narcotic pain products.

1
|
AllerNase ']
Product Background. AllerNase is a novel formulated suspension of an intranasal topical steroid indicated%jfor the treatment of

allergic and non-allergic thinitis. This product is being developed by Collegium Pharmaceutical, Inc. !

!
Marketing Opportunity/Sales & Marketing. An estimated 35 million Americans have allergic rhinitis. The intranasal steroid
market in the United States is estimated at more than $2.7 billion in sales annually. Flonase®, Nasonex%’, Rhinocort Aqua®,
Nasacort AQ®, Beconase AQ® , and Nasarel® are among the intranasal steroid products currently available. Our marketing of
AllerNase will target pr1mary care, allergy, and ENT prescribers. AllerNase will be a prescription-only product that we intend to
market and sell through our sales force. j

Development Status. Under our exclusive licensing and distribution agreement, Collegium has primary responsibility for
completing the development of AllerNase and obtaining regulatory approval. Following product approval, Ac:centia is responsible
for completing a Phase 1V growth study as required by FDA guidelines. Collegium plans to file a Supplemental New Drug
Application (sNDA) in 2006 for this patent-pending aqueous nasal spray formulation. Collegium will own alh rights to all filings
with and approvals received from the FDA. FDA guidelines allow companies to make changes to drugs or tﬁeir labels after they
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have been approved. To change a label, market a new dosage or strength of a drug, or change the way it manufactures a drug, a
company must submit a supplemental new drug application (sNDA).

Proprietary Rights and Manufacturing. Under our exclusive perpetual agreement with Collegium, we have the exclusive right to
sell, market, promote, and distribute AllerNase in the United States. Under this agreement, we have royalty and annual minimum
royalty obligations. It is anticipated that AllerNase will be produced by a third-party contract manufacturer to be selected.

MD Turbo

Product Background. MD Turbo is a breath-actuated inhaler device that is designed to work in conjunction with most metered-
dose inhalers. Metered-dose inhalers, or MDIs, are small hand-held devices that are used to deliver inhaled drugs by housing the
aerosol canisters containing such drugs and triggering the release of the drugs from the canisters. MDIs are the most commonly
prescribed type of inhalation device for patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. MD Turbo, which is
being developed for us by Respirics, Inc., is a device into which most MDIs can be inserted in order to provide more efficient
delivery of medication.

Studies have shown that MDIs are frequently used improperly due to the high velocity of the aerosol particles when exiting the
mouthpiece. This particle velocity often results in, among other problems, difficulty in coordinating the timing of actuation and
inhalation. It has been demonstrated that, with improper technique, 50% of patients can be expected to get reduced or no ¢linical
benefit from the prescribed medication, as less of the medication reaches the lungs. Physicians currently prescribe spacers or
holding chambers to help relieve the effects of improper timing, but these devices are large and are often not well-received by
patients. To counter these problems, our MD Turbo device has a patented inspiratory pressure trigger that, upon insertion of the
MDI into the device, provides breath-actuation, meaning that inhalation triggers the release of the medication from the canister.
Additionally, MD Turbo incorporates a dosage counter to better measure the effectiveness of patient use.

MD Turbo is compatible with most albuterol generics, Ventolin™/Ventolin™ HFA, Proventil™ (but not Proventil™ HFA), Flovent™,
Atrovent™, Combivent™, and Alupent™ The dosage counter on the device is battery-operated, and it contains a self-elimination
feature that renders it unusable after dispensing a specified volume of medication, usually amounting to approximately one year
of usage. The device also features a mechanical over-ride so a timely dose can be delivered regardless of electronic triggering.

Market Opportunity/Sales and Marketing. An estimated 40 million prescriptions are written for MDIs each year. Over
1.25 million prescriptions are filled for spacers or holding chambers each year. Maxair™, marketed by 3M Corporation, is the only
competitive breath-actuated inhaler device, but Maxair is compatible with only one drug, pirbuterol, which limits therapeutic
options for patients. Maxair generated an estimated $71.5 million in annual sales in 2003. Our marketing of MD Turbo will target
allergists, pulmonologists, general practitioners, respiratory therapists, pharmacists, managed care organizations, and consumers.
MD Turbo will be a prescription-only device that we intend to market and sell through our own sales force and through a third-
party sales force after entering into a co-promotion agreement.

Development Status. We are developing MD Turbo in conjunction with Respirics under a product development agreement that we
entered into with Respirics in January 2003. Respirics is a developer of pulmonary drug delivery devices and holds two issued
U.S. patents and two U.S. patent applications relating to MD Turbo. Under the development agreement, Respirics has primary
responsibility for completing the development of the product and obtaining regulatory clearance or approval, and we are
responsible for paying Respirics a total of $1,070,000 in development fees in installments against the delivery of various
development milestones. As of September 30, 2005, we have paid Respirics all of this amount. Respirics submitted a 510(k) pre-
market notification to the FDA in February 2005 for the product, with the product being classified as a Class Il prescription-only
medical device. A 510(k) pre-market notification is a type of application that is available for medical devices that are substantially
equivalent in intended use and in safety and effectiveness to a previously approved device. In June 2003, the FDA notified
Respirics that MD Turbo was cleared to be marketed-as a device to assist with the delivery of aerosolized medications when used
in conjunction with MDIs and to count the number of doses remaining in the MDI. '

Proprietary Rights and Manufacturing. Under a distribution agreement with Respirics that we entered into in January 2003 and
amended in August 2005, we have the exclusive right to sell, market, promote, and distribute MD Turbo in the U.S. Under this
agreement, Respirics is the exclusive supplier of MD Turbo to us. The agreement provides that Respirics will sell the product to
us at a specified price per unit (subject to increases based on verified increases in Respirics’ costs), and we are obligated to pay a
royalty to Respirics based on the number of units purchased by us. The agreement also sets forth minimum purchase requirements
that, based on the expected cost of the product, we anticipate will aggregate to $2.9 million in purchases during each of the two
years following commercial launch of the product, $4.0 million in purchases during the third year, and approximately $6.3 million
per year thereafter during the term of the agreement. The distribution agreement terminates upon the expiration of the last-to-
expire of the U.S. patents covering MD Turbo. However, the agreement can be terminated earlier by either party if the other party
becomes insolvent, declares bankruptcy, or materially breaches the agreement and fails to cure the breach within 30 days of
written notice of breach. Upon such a termination, Respirics will continue to own all intellectual property relating to MD Turbo,
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and the agreement provides that we will not sell any products that are competitive with MD Turbo for|a period of two years
following the termination. |

Emezine

Product Background. In March 2004, we obtained exclusive U.S. distribution rights to Emezine, a product for contro! of nausea
and vomiting. Emezine is a formulation of prochlorperazine maleate that is placed between the upper lip and gum for transbuccal
absorption, which is absorption into the bloodstream through the cheek.

Prochlorperazine maleate is a commonly used anti-nausea and anti-vomiting medication, but in the U.S}, it is not available in
transbuccal form. A product identical to Emezine (except for packaging and dosing strength) is currently approved for marketing
in the United Kingdom and is manufactured, marketed, and sold there under the name Buccastem by Reckitt Benckiser
Healthcare (UK) Ltd., a United Kingdom pharmaceuticals company. We believe that, as a transbuccal product, Emezine could
provide an attractive alternative to other prochlorperazine maleate products currently sold in the U.S. '

Market Opportunity/Sales and Marketing. The market for products that control nausea and vomiting is estimated to exceed $1.7
billion in annual sales.'Sales are split between the hospital/clinic setting and the retail market. Competitive products with Emezine
will include Zofran, prochlorperazine (Compazine), Phenergan, and Promethazine. We expect to market Emezine though our
sales force and through a third-party sales force after entering into a co-promotion agreement. The marketing efforts will be
directed to primary care physicians, oncologists, radiation oncologists, anesthesiologists, neurologists, and surgeons.

Development Status. Emezine is being jointly developed with Arius, the exclusive U.S. licensee of the iproduct and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of BioDelivery Sciences, under a distribution agreement that we entered into with Ariusi in March 2004. Under
this distribution agreement, Arius is required to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain FDA approval of Emezine. We are
responsible for paying Arius up to a total of $1.9 million in development fees, payable in installments against the delivery of

various development milestones. As of September 30, 2005, we have paid Arius $1.5 million of this amount.
| I

Arius filed an NDA with the FDA for Emezine in May 2005, and in June 2005 Arius was orally notified by the FDA that the
NDA was accepted for filing as a 505(b)(2) application. In general, a 505(b)(2) application can be ﬁ\:led by a drug sponsor
whenever a new drug represents a limited variation of a previously approved drug, and the 505(b)(2) application process enables
the sponsor of a drug to rely on the FDA’s previous findings of safety and efficacy for the previously appro:ved drug.

Proprietary Rights and Manufacturing. Arius holds an exclusive license to the Emezine product for lthe U.S. from Reckitt
Benckiser. Under our distribution agreement with Arius, we have the exclusive right to market, promote, and distribute Emezine
in the U.S. for the duration of the distribution agreement, which expires upon expiration of Arius’ license agreement with Reckitt
Benckiser in 2014. Under our distribution agreement, Arius is the exclusive supplier of the product to us with specified minimum
purchase obligations, and Reckitt Benckiser is the manufacturer of the product. The agreement provides |that Arius will sell the
product to us at its cost, although we are obligated to pay Arius a royalty based on our net sales of the product. The agreement
also provides for the payment by us of milestone payments of up to $2.0 million, of which $1.6 million has been paid through
September 30, 2005, with the balance being due upon the achievement of various milestones relating to the FDA approval
process. In addition, minimum annual royalties of $2.0 million will be due for the first twelve months after product approval, with
minimum annual royalties of $4.0 million due thereafter until a generic competitive product is introduced to the market. During
the term of the agreement, we may not sell any product other than Emezine for the treatment of nausea and vomiting in the U.S.
without Arius’ written consent. If Emezine is approved by the FDA, we are obligated under the agreement to use commercially
reasonable efforts to launch Emezine within 90 days of approval, and the agreement specifies certain req}uired annual marketing
expenditures by us iniconnection with Emezine. We are also obligated to assign a specified number of jsales representatives to
market the product to hospitals and oncologists. The agreement can be terminated by either party prior to its scheduled expiration
if the other party becomes insolvent, declares bankruptcy, or materially breaches the agreement and fails to cure the breach within
90 days of written notice of breach. !
Pain Products ;

Product Background.' In conjunction with Mikart, Argent, and Acheron, we are developing a poﬂfolio of ten narcotic pain
products for the treatment of moderate to moderately severe pain. Each of these products represents alunique combination of
hydrocodone and a noh-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID), hydrocodone and a non-NSAID analgesic or oxycodone and a
non-NSAID analgesic. Each new pain product will be differentiated through a separate Abbreviated Ne{v Drug Application, or
ANDA, filed with the'FDA. The first of our pain products, Xodol™, was approved by the FDA in June 2004 and introduced to the
market in August 2004. Our goal is to obtain FDA approval of and launch our other nine new pain product;s over the next 18 to 24
months. ‘ ‘
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Market Opportunity/Sales and Marketing. Over 50 million Americans suffer from chronic pain, and nearly 25 million Americans
experience acute pain each year due to injuries or surgery. As a result, the prescription pharmaceutical market for the treatment of
pain was projected to be in excess of $24 billion in sales in the U.S. in 2004. In 2003, an estimated 89 million prescriptions were
written for hydrocodone/acetaminophen products. Currently, general and family practitioners and internal medicine practitioners
collectively write more than 50% of all prescriptions in the pain category. Although the pain product market is crowded and very
competitive, we believe that recently launched products by other companies in this market have been able to generate substantial
sales due to product differentiation, focused promotion to key prescribers, and the significant size of the pain market. Our goal is
to leverage our complementary and differentiated pain products in development, as well as our relationships with prescribers and
current market presence, to gain market share within the pain category.

Our pain products will be marketed and sold for a wide range of pain indications, including post-operative surgery,
musculoskeletal and connective tissue conditions, sprains, strains, and fractures. We anticipate marketing our pain products
through our sales force directly to primary care physicians, pain specialists, orthopedic surgeons, and other selected specialties
that practice in outpatient settings. These products may also be marketed to oncologists in conjunction with our other critical care
or oncology products, such as Emezine and BiovaxID (if they are approved), and to otolaryngologists in connection with
SinuNase (if it is approved). We believe that our different pain products can be marketed in a complementary manner in order to
leverage the relative advantages of each such product.

Development Status. The ANDA filings for these pain products have occurred or are expected to occur at various times during the
2005 or 2006 calendar years. As of December 20, 2005, a total of six of these ANDAs have been filed with the FDA, and the
remaining three ANDASs are expected to be filed by early calendar year 2006. Under distribution agreements that we entered into
with Argent in June 2004 (as amended in August 2005) and with Acheron in May 2003, Argent and Acheron have primary
responsibility for the development of these products and, together with Mikart, will be responsible for obtaining regulatory
approval of the products. The ANDAs for these products will be filed in the name of Mikart. In addition, Mikart is developing
proprietary process and formulation patents that may provide additional protection from generic products.

Under the Argent and Acheron agreements, we will be required to pay running royalties based on our net sales of the product
formulations developed under these agreements. In addition, the Argent agreement provides for the payment by us of minimum
royalties upon product approval, milestone payments, and other fees of up to $6.3 million, of which $1.6 million has been paid
through September 30, 2005. The Acheron agreement provides for the payment by us of minimum royalties upon product
approval and milestone payments of up to $2.0 million, of which $0.1 million has been paid through September 30, 2005. The
remaining payments under these agreements will be due upon the achievement of various milestones relating to the product

" development, approval, and launch process for the product formulations covered by the agreements. In addition, we issued
warrants to purchase up to 330,135 shares of our common stock to the designees of Argent and Acheron under these agreements
at an exercise price of $2.11 or $5.33 per share.

Once products covered by these agreements are approved by the FDA, we are obligated to [aunch the products within 90 days of
the approval date and to assign a specified number of sales representatives to market the products to certain types of physicians.
The term of these agreements is perpetual, provided that any party can terminate the agreements for cause if the other party
becomes insolvent, enters bankruptcy or receivership, or materially breaches the agreement and fails to cure within 30 days of
notice of breach or if the other party is dissolved, liquidated, or files a petition under bankruptcy or insolvency law. Upon the
termination of the agreement, Argent and Acheron will retain all rights to the developed products, subject to royalty payments to
us on sales of the products by them.

Proprietary Rights. Our rights to these products (other than Xodol) are based on our agreements with Argent and Acheron, which
give us exclusive perpetual rights to market and sell the products developed by them under the agreement in the U.S., and a June
2003 manufacturing and supply agreement with Mikart, who will serve as our exclusive manufacturer and supplier for our pain
products (including Xodol). Under our agreement with Mikart, Mikart has agreed not to manufacture any products having an
identical formulation as our pain products for any party other than us. The agreement sets forth the prices at which we will buy
the products and imposes certain annual minimum purchase requirements on us. The term of the agreement is for five years after
Mikart achieves certain manufacturing testing and validation milestones and renews automatically for successive one-year terms
thereafter unless either party delivers six months’ prior written notice of termination. The agreement can be terminated earlier by
either party upon a material breach by the other party that remains uncured for 60 days after written notice of breach or if the
other party is dissolved, liquidated, or files a petition under bankruptcy or insolvency law. Upon termination under certain
circumstances, Mikart is required to transfer its ANDAs for the products to us at the fair market value of such ANDAs.

Our Development and Commercialization Capabilities

We provide a broad range of analytical, consulting, and clinical development services to companies and institutions in the
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and medical markets, including some of the world’s largest pharmaceutical companies. We
provide these services to clients throughout the world, and we also utilize these services for our own product development efforts
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in order to, among other things, evaluate and analyze the market and potentral pricing of our product candidates. Our development
and commercialization services include outcomes research on the economic profiles of pharmaceuticals and biologics, prrcmg and
market assessment on these products, and various services designed to expedite clinical trials. We also use these services to

evaluate the payor reimbursement prospects of our products and to develop reimbursement strategies. 1

We provide our commercialization and development services through a team of employees who are based in offices in New York
and Germany. This' team includes research professionals at the Master’s and Doctoral level in the fields of medicine,
epidemiology, biochémistry, statistics, engineering, public health, pharmacy, health economics, and business administration.

Biologics Production

We commercially produce biologic products such as mammalian cells, proteins, monoclonal antlbodres and other cell culture
products. We provide these products and related services for a fee to a wide variety of customers, mcludlng biopharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies, medical schools, universities, research facilities, hospitals, and public and‘prlvate laboratories. We
also manufacture and sell instruments and disposables used for the production of cell cultures. Our biologics business is
conducted through Biovest, our majority owned subsidiary, which is also the developer and manufacturer of our BiovaxTD
vaccine.

Sales and Marketing ‘
‘ a

We maintain a sales force that, as of September 30, 2005, consisted of approximately 106 full-time employees for the marketing
and sale of our curreri‘t specialty pharmaceutical products. Because of our sales force’s focus and experience in the respiratory and
primary care market, we expect that we will continue to use, and perhaps expand, our sales force to market and sell SinuNase,
AllerNase, MD Turbo Emezine, and our pain products, provided that they are approved by the FDA. ‘If we obtain regulatory
approval for BiovaxID, we plan to build a small, highly-focused sales and marketing force to market the product to the oncology
market, although we may also establish marketing relationships with third parties to penetrate this market, particularly in foreign
countries. We are evaluating our business strategy with regard to our specially pharmaceutical business, including its staffing
requirements and the availability of co-promotion marketing opportunities.

|
The pharmaceuncal 1ndustry is hlghly competitive and includes a number of established large and m1d sized pharmaceutical
companies, as well as smaller emerging companies, whose activities are directly focused on our target markets and areas of
expertise. If approved, our product candidates will compete with a large number of products that could 1nc1ude over-the-counter
treatments, prescription drugs, and prescription drugs that are prescribed off-label. In addition, new developments, including the
development of other drug technologies and methods of preventing the incidence of disease, occur in the pharmaceutrcal industry
at a rapid pace. These developments may render our product candidates or technologies obsolete or noncompetltlve.

If approved, each of our product candidates will compete for a share of the existing market with numerlous products that have
become standard treatments recommended or prescribed by physicians. For example, we believe the prrm‘ary competition for our
product candidates are\ {

Competition \ ?

« For SlnuNase we are not aware of any third party that is marketing or developing a cornparable product to treat CRS
with amphdtericin B, although it is likely that other antifungals may be formulated for CRS! In addition, our CRS
therapy willl compete with alternative treatments for CRS, including surgery, antibiotics, and corticosteroids.

+ For AllerNase, we will compete with the other intransal corticosteroids currently marketed including Flonase®,
Nasonex?, Rhinocort Aqua®, Nasacort AQ®, and Nasarel® 3

+ For BiovaxﬁD, we are aware of several companies focusing on the development of active imm}.mnotherapies for NHL,
including Genitope Corporation, Antigenics, Inc., and Favrille, Inc. None of these companiés uses the hybridoma
method to produce a patient-specific vaccine, and of these companies, only Genitope and F%tvrille have a product
candidate in/ Phase 3 clinical trials. Several companies, such as Biogen Idec, and Immunomedic‘ls, Inc., are involved in
the development of passive immunotherapies for NHL. These passive immunotherapies include iRituxan, a monoclonal
antibody, and Zevalin and Bexxar, which are passive radioimmunotherapy products.

+ ForMD Turbo we will compete with 3M Corporation’s MaxairTM product, which is a breath- acruated inhaler device
usable with: only one medication, as well as with standard MDIs that are not breath- actuated, including MDIs
manufactured by generic albuterol manufacturers such as Dey, IVAX, Zenith, and GlaxoSmithKline. We believe that
the MaxairTM breath-actuated MDI represented about 2% of MDI sales in 2003 in the U.S. We will also compete with
MDI spacers and holding chambers such as Opti-Chamber®, Inspirease®, and Aerochamber®.
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+  For Emezine, we are not aware of any other transbuccal administered formulation of prochlorperazine maleate that is
approved for marketing in the U.S., although we will compete with other prochlorperazine products being marketed
and sold in the U.S. by GlaxoSmithKline and other generic manufacturers.

»  For Xodol and our pain products in development, we will compete with other products approved for marketing in the
U.S. that contain a combination hydrocodone bitartrate or oxycodone with ibubrofen or acetaminophen, including
branded and generic versions of Lortab® 10, Lorcet® 10, Norco®, and Vicodin® HP. As of December 2003, we
believe that Lortab® 10 represented about 41% and Lorcet® 10 represented about 30% of the market for
hydrocodone/acetaminophen brands that, like Xodol, contain a 10 mg dose of hydrocodone.

+  For Respi~TANN and our Histex products, we compete with a wide variety of branded and generic prescription cough,
cold, and allergy medications, such as Tussionex®, Allegra®, Clarinex®, and Zyrtec®. Our Histex Pd and Histex Pd
12 products compete in the prescription liquid antihistamine market, in which Zyrtec Syrup has the largest market share
at around 84%. Our Histex I/E product competes in the solid antihistamine market, in which Allegra® and Zyrtec® are
the largest competitors with about 42% and 37% of the market, respectively. Our Respi~TANN product competes in
the antihistamine combination market, in which Allegra -D® and Zyrtec D® are the largest competitors with about
58% and 28% of the market, respectively.

We expect to compete on, among other things, the safety and efficacy of our products and more desirable treatment regimens,
combined with the effectiveness of our experienced management team. Competing successfully will depend on our continued
ability to attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel, to identify and secure the rights to and develop pharmaceutical
products and compounds and to exploit these products and compounds commercially before others are able to develop
competitive products. In addition, our ability to compete may be affected because insurers and other third-party payors in some
cases seek to encourage the use of generic products making branded products less attractive, from a cost perspective, to buyers.

Government Regulation

Government authorities in the United States at the federal, state, and local levels and foreign countries extensively regulate,
among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture, labeling, promotion, advertising, distribution, sampling,
marketing, and import and export of pharmaceutical products, biologics, and medical devices. All of our products in development
will require regulatory approval by government agencies prior to commercialization. In particular, human therapeutic products are
subject to rigorous preclinical and clinical trials and other approval procedures of the FDA and similar regulatory authorities in
foreign countries. Various federal, state, local, and foreign statutes and regulations also govern testing, manufacturing, safety,
labeling, storage, and record-keeping related to such products and their marketing. The process of obtaining these approvals and
the subsequent process of maintaining substantial compliance with appropriate federal, state, local, and foreign statutes and
regulations require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources. In addition, statutes, rules, regulations, and policies
may change and new legislation or regulations may be issued that could delay such approvals.

Pharmaceutical Product Regulation

In the United States, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, regulates drugs and well-characterized biologics under the
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, and implementing regulations that are adopted under the FDCA. In the case of
biologics, the FDA regulates such products under the Public Health Service Act. If we fail to comply with the applicable
requirements under these laws and regulations at any time during the product development process, approval process, or after
approval, we may become subject to administrative or judicial sanctions. These sanctions could include the FDA’s refusal to
approve pending applications, withdrawals of approvals, clinical holds, warning letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or
partial suspension of our operations, injunctions, fines, civil penalties or criminal prosecution. Any agency enforcement action
could have a material adverse effect on us. The FDA also administers certain controls over the export of drugs and biologics from
the U.S.

Under the United States regulatory scheme, the development process for new pharmaceutical products can be divided into three
distinct phases:

*  Preclinical Phase. The preclinical Phase 1nvolves the discovery, characterization, product formulation and animal
testing necessary to prepare an Investigational New Drug application, or IND, for submission to the FDA. The IND
must be accepted by the FDA before the drug can be tested in humans.

»  Clinical Phase. The clinical phase of development follows a successful IND submission and involves the activities
necessary to demonstrate the safety, tolerability, efficacy, and dosage of the substance in humans, as well as the ability
to produce the substance in accordance with the FDA’s current Good Manufacturing Processes (cGMP) requirements.
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Data from these activities are compiled in a New Drug Application, or NDA, or for biologicf products a Biologics
License Application, or BLA, for submission to the FDA requesting approval to market the drug.:“

s Post-Approval Phase. The post-approval phase follows FDA approval of the NDA or BLA, and involves the
production and continued analytical and clinical monitoring of the product. The post- approval phase may also involve
the development and regulatory approval of product modifications and line extensions, including improved dosage
forms, of the approved product, as well as for generic versions of the approved drug, as the product approaches
expiration of patent or other exclusivity protection. |

|
Each of these three phases is discussed further below. ;
: |

Preclinical Phase. The development of a new pharmaceutical agent begins with the discovery or synthesis of a new molecule or
well-characterized biologic. These agents are screened for pharmacological activity using various animal and tissue models, with
the goal of selecting a lead agent for further development. Additional studies are conducted to confirm ph2:1rmacologica1 activity,
to generate safety data, and to evaluate prototype dosage forms for appropriate release and activity chdracteristics. Once the
pharmaceutically active molecule is fully characterized, an initial purity profile of the agent is established. During this and
subsequent stages of development, the agent is analyzed to confirm the integrity and quality of material produced. In addition,
development and optimization of the initial dosage forms to be used in clinical trials are completed, together with analytical
models to determine product stability and degradation. A bulk supply of the active ingredient to support tl!;le necessary dosing in
initial clinical trials must be secured. Upon successful completion of preclinical safety and efficacy studies in animals, an IND
submission is prepared and provided to the FDA for review prior to commencement of human clinical trials. The IND consists of
the initial chemistry, analytical, formulation, and animal testing data generated during the preclinical phase.’gIn general, the review
period for an IND submiission is 30 days, after which, if no comments are made by the FDA, the product ca;ndidate can be studied
in Phase 1 clinical trials. i

The process for the development of biologic products, such as our BiovaxID product, parallels the process outlined above.
Biologics, in contrast to drugs that are chemically synthesized, are derived from living sources, such as Ehumans, animals, and
microorganisms. Most Ibiologics are complex mixtures that are not easily identified or characterized and have activity that is
different from the activity of small, organic molecules normally found in drugs. Because of the diversity ofi the nature of biologic
preducts and their substantial molecular size (usually hundreds of times larger than small, organic molecules associated with
drugs), special technology is often required for their production and subsequent analysis. Biologic products, especially proteins,
may be produced with living cells. Purity testing of biologics can be complex since living cells may harbor viruses and other
agents. The potential presence of these agents, and the requirement to establish degradation profiles ahd identify impurities
associated with production and purification, further require establishing, validating, and conducting specialized tests and analyses.
Formulation development in this area is often more complex than for small, organic drug substances. Fo:r example, molecules
produced using recombinant DNA technology are inherently less stable than their organic counterparts because structural integrity
must be maintained through administration and distribution of the product. Accordingly, certain aspects of the development

process for biologic products may be more challenging than similar aspects encountered in the developmentiof drugs.

Clinical Phase. Following successful submission of an IND, the sponsor is permitted to conduct clinical trials involving the
administration of the investigational product candidate to human subjects under the supervision of qualified investigators in
accordance with good clinical practice. Clinical trials are conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives
of the study and the parameters to be used in assessing the safety and the efficacy of the drug. Each protocol must be submitted to
the FDA as part of the IND prior to beginning the trial. Each trial must be reviewed, approved and conducted under the auspices
of an independent Institutional Review Board, and each trial, with limited exceptions, must include the patient’s informed
consent. Typically, clinical evaluation involves the following time-consuming and costly three-phase sequential process:

*  Phase ]. Phase 1 human clinical trials are conducted in a limited number of healthy individuals t(f) determine the drug’s
safety and talerability and includes biological analyses to determine the availability and metabolization of the active
ingredient following administration. The total number of subjects and patients included in Phase {l clinical trials varies,
but is generally in the range of 20 to 80 people. j

*  Phase 2. Phase 2 clinical trials involve administering the drug to individuals who suffer fromi the target disease or
condition to determine the drug’s potential efficacy and ideal dose. These clinical trials are typically well controlled,
closely monitored, and conducted in a relatively small number of patients, usually involving ino more than several
hundred subj;ects. These trials require scale up for manufacture of increasingly larger batches Ofl bulk chemical. These
batches require validation analysis to confirm the consistent composition of the product. }

: 1

+  Phase 3. Phase 3 clinical trials are performed after preliminary evidence suggesting effectiveness of a drug has been
obtained andsafety (toxicity), tolerability, and an ideal dosing regimen have been established. Phase 3 clinical trials are
intended to gather additional information about the effectiveness and safety that is needed té evaluate the overall
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benefit-risk relationship of the drug and to complete the information needed to provide adequate instructions for the use
of the drug, also referred to as the Official Product Information. Phase 3 trials usually include from several hundred to
several thousand subjects.

Throughout the clinical phase, samples of the product made in different batches are tested for stability to establish shelf life
constraints. In addition, large-scale production protocols and written standard operating procedures for each aspect of commercial
manufacture and testing must be developed.

Phase 1, 2, and 3 testing may not be completed successfully within any specified time period, if at all. The FDA closely monitors
the progress of each of the three phases of clinical trials that are conducted under an IND and may, at its discretion, reevaluate,
alter, suspend, or terminate the testing based upon the data accumulated to that point and the FDA’s assessment of the risk/benefit
ratio to the patient. The FDA may suspend or terminate clinical trials at any time for various reasons, including a finding that the
subjects or patients are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. The FDA can also request additional clinical trials be
conducted as a condition to product approval. Additionally, new government requirements may be established that could delay or
prevent regulatory approval of our products under development. Furthermore, institutional review boards, which are independent
entities constituted to protect human subjects in the institutions in which clinical trials are being conducted, have the authority to
suspend clinical trials at any time for a variety of reasons, including safety issues.

New Drug Application (NDA) or Biologics License Application (BLA)

After the successful completion of Phase 3 clinical trials, the sponsor of the new drug submits an NDA, or BLA in the case of
biologics, to the FDA requesting approval to market the product for one or more indications. An NDA, or BLA, is a
comprehensive, multi-volume application that includes, among other things, the results of all preclinical and clinical studies,
information about the drug’s composition, and the sponsor’s plans for producing, packaging, and labeling the drug. Under the
Pediatric Research Equity Act of 2003, an application also is required to include an assessment, generally based on clinical study
data, on the safety and efficacy of drugs for all relevant pediatric populations before the NDA is submitted. The statute provides
for waivers or deferrals in certain situations. We have applied for a pediatric assessment waiver for Emezine but we can make no
assurances that such situations apply to our other products. In most cases, the NDA or BLA must be accompanied by a substantial
user fee. In return, the FDA assigns a goal of 10 months from acceptance of the application to retumn of a first “complete
response,” in which the FDA may approve the product or request additional information.

The submission of the application is no guarantee that the FDA will find it complete and accept it for filing. The FDA reviews all
NDAs and BLAs submitted before it accepts them for filing. It may refuse to file the application and request additional
information rather than accept the application for filing, in which case, the application must be resubmitted with the supplemental
information. After application is deemed filed by the FDA, the FDA reviews an NDA or BLA to determine, among other things,
whether a product is safe and effective for its intended use. The FDA has substantial discretion in the approval process and may
disagree with an applicant’s interpretation of the data submitted in its NDA or BLA. Drugs that successfully complete NDA or
BLA review may be marketed in the United States, subject to all conditions imposed by the FDA.

Prior to granting approval, the FDA generally conducts an inspection of the facilities, including outsourced facilities, that will be
involved in the manufacture, production, packaging, testing and control of the drug product for cGMP compliance. The FDA will
not approve the application unless ¢cGMP compliance is satisfactory. If the FDA determines that the marketing application,
manufacturing process, or manufacturing facilities are not acceptable, it will outline the deficiencies in the submission and will
often request additional testing or information. Notwithstanding the submission of any requested additional information, the FDA
ultimately may decide that the marketing application does not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval and refuse to approve the
application by issuing a “not approvable” letter.

The length of the FDA’s review ranges from a few months to many years.
Fast-Track Review

The Food and Drug Administration Modernization Act of 1997, or the Modernization Act, establishes a statutory program for the
approval of “Fast-Track” products, which are defined under the Modernization Act as new drugs or biologics intended for the
treatment of a serious or life-threatening condition that demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs for this
condition. To determine whether a condition is “serious” for the purposes of Fast-Track designation, the FDA considers several
factors including, the condition’s impact on survival, day-to-day functioning, and the likelihood that the disease, if left untreated,
will progress from a less severe condition to a more serious one. If awarded, the Fast-Track designation applies to the product
only for the indication for which the designation was received. Under the Fast-Track program, the sponsor of a new drug or
biologic may request the FDA to designate the drug or biologic as a Fast-Track product in writing at any time during the clinical
development of the product. The act specifies that the FDA must determine if the product qualifies for Fast-Track designation
within 60 days of receipt of the sponsor’s request.
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Fast-Track designation offers a product the benefit of approval based on surrogate endpoints that generally would not be
acceptable for approval and also offers possible early or rolling acceptance. of the marketing application fo:r review by the agency.
However, the time periods to which the FDA has committed in reviewing an application do not begin until the sponsor actually
submits the application. The FDA may subject approval of an application for a Fast-Track product to post approval studies to
validate the surrogate endpoint or confirm the effect on the clinical endpoint, and the FDA may also sub_]ect such approval to prior
review of all promotional materials. In addition, the FDA may withdraw its approval of a Fast-Track product on a number of
grounds, including the sponsor’s failure to conduct any required post- approval study with due diligence amd failure to continue to

meet the criteria for designation. :

Fast-Track designatioh should be distinguished from the FDA’s other programs for expedited developmerjlt and review, although
products awarded Fast-Track status may also be eligible for these other benefits. Accelerated approval refers to the use of less
than well-established \surrogate endpoints discussed above. Priority review is a designation of an apphcatlon after it has been
submitted to FDA for approval The agency sets the target date for agency actions on the applications of products that receive
priority designation for six months, where products under standard review receive a ten month target. 1

We filed an apphcatlon for Fast-Track status for SinuNase with the FDA in April 2005. In June 2005, the FDA informed us in
writing that the agency needs additional information to evaluate whether SinuNase satisfies the criteria for Fast-Track
designation. We cannot predict the ultimate impact, if any, the Fast-Track designation would have on the{timing or likelihood of
FDA approval of SinulNase, and we cannot guarantee that Fast-Track status will be formally granted. |

\
Post-Approval Phase }

If the FDA approves the NDA, BLA, or ANDA application, as applicable, the pharmaceutical producti becomes available for
physicians to prescribe in the United States. After approval, we are still subject to continuing regulation by, FDA, including record

keeping requirements, submitting periodic reports to the FDA, reporting of any adverse experiences}with the product, and
complying with drug sampling and distribution requirements. In addition, we are required to maintain and!provide updated safety
and efficacy information to the FDA. We are also required to comply with requirements concerning advelrtising and promotional
labeling. In that regard, our advertising and promotional materials must be truthful and not misleading. We are also prohibited
from promoting any non-FDA approved or “off-label” indications of products Failure to comply with those requirements could
result in significant enforcement action by the FDA, including warning letters, orders to pull the promotional materials, and

substantial fines. Also, quality control and manufacturing procedures must continue to conform to cGMP after approval.

Drug and biologics manufacturers and their subcontractors are required to register their facilities and products manufactured
annually with FDA and certain state agencies and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA to assess
compliance with cGIvﬁP regulations. Facilities may also be subject to inspections by other federal, foreign, lstate, or local agencies.
In addition, approved b1010g1ca1 drug products may be subject to lot-by-lot release testing by the FDA before these products can
be commercially distributed. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money, and effort in the area of
production and quahty control to maintain compliance with cGMP and other aspects of regulatory comphance We use, and will
continue to use, third-party manufacturers, including Mikart, to produce certain of our products in chmcal and commercial
quantities, and futurei FDA inspections may identify compllance issues at our facilities or at the facilities of our contract
manufacturers that may disrupt production or distribution, or require substantial resources to correct. J

In addition, following FDA approval of a product, discovery of problems with a product or the feilure to comply with
requirements may result in restrictions on a product, manufacturer, or holder of an approved marketing application, including
withdrawal or recall of the product from the market or other voluntary or FDA-initiated action that could delay further marketing.
Newly discovered or developed safety or effectiveness data may require changes to a product’s approved labeling, including the
addition of new warnings and contraindications. Also, the FDA may require post-market testing and surve1llance to monitor the
product’s safety or efficacy, including additional clinical studies, known as Phase 1V trials, to evaluate Iong -term effects.

!

Hatch-Waxman Act

Under the Drug Price :Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, also known as the Hatch-\:Naxman Act, Congress
created an abbreviated FDA review process for generic versions of pioneer (brand name) drug products. In order to preserve the
incentives of pioneer drug manufacturers to innovate, the Hatch-Waxman Act also provides for patent term restoration and the
award, in certain crrcumstances of non-patent marketing exclusivities. ’

Abbreviated New Drug Applications (ANDAs)

An ANDA is a type of application in which approval is based on a showing of “sameness” to an already approved drug product.
ANDAs do not contain full reports of safety and effectiveness, as do NDAs, but rather demonstrate that therr proposed products
are “the same as’ reference products with regard to their conditions of use, active ingredient(s), route of tadmlmstratron dosage
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form, strength, and labeling. ANDA applicants are also required to demonstrate the “bioequivalence” of their products to the
reference product. Bioequivalence generally means that there is no significant difference in the rate and extent to which the active
ingredient(s) in the products becomes available at the site of drug action.

All ANDAs must contain data relating to product formulation, raw material suppliers, stability, manufacturing, packaging,
labeling, and quality control, among other information. The timing of final FDA approval of an ANDA depends on a variety of
factors, including whether the applicant has challenged any patents claiming the reference product and whether the pioneer
manufacturer is entitled to one or more periods of non-patent marketing exclusivity. In certain circumstances, these marketing
exclusivities can extend beyond the life of a patent, and block the approval of ANDAs after the date on which the patent expires.
If the FDA concludes that all substantive ANDA requirements have been satisfied, but final approval is blocked because of a
patent or a non-patent marketing exclusivity, the FDA may issue the applicant a “tentative approval” letter.

505(b)(2) Applications

If a proposed product represents a change from an already approved product, yet does not qualify for submission under an ANDA
pursuant to an approved suitability petition, the applicant may be able to submit a type of NDA referred to as a “505(b)(2)
application.” A 505(b)(2) application is an NDA for which one or more of the investigations relied upon by the applicant for
approval was not conducted by or for the applicant and for which the applicant has not obtained a right of reference or use from
the person by or for whom the investigation was conducted. The FDA has determined that 505(b)(2) applications may be
submitted for products that represent changes from approved products in conditions of use, active ingredient(s), route of
administration, dosage form, strength, or bicavailability. A 505(b)(2) applicant must provide FDA with any additional clinical
data necessary to demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of the product with the proposed change(s). Consequently, although
duplication of preclinical and certain clinical studies is avoided through the use a 505(b)(2) application, specific studies may be
required. We plan to submit a 505(b)(2) application for SinuNase, and Arius, our development partner for our Emezine product,
submitted a 505(b)(2) application for Emezine in April 2005.

Patent Term Restoration

The Hatch-Waxman Act also provides for the restoration of a portion of the patent term lost during product development and
FDA review of an application. However, the maximum period of restoration cannot exceed 5 years, or restore the total remaining
term of the patent to greater than 14 years from the date of FDA approval of the product. The patent term restoration period is
generally one-half the time between the effective date of the IND and the date of submission of the NDA, plus the time between
the date of submission of the NDA and the date of FDA approval of the product. Only one patent claiming each approved product
is eligible for restoration and the patent holder must apply for restoration within 60 days of approval. The United States Patent
and Trademark Office, in consultation with FDA, reviews and approves the application for patent term restoration. In the future,
we may consider applying for patent term restoration for some of our currently owned or licensed patents, depending on the
expected length of clinical trials and other factors involved in the filing of an NDA.

ANDA and 505(b)(2) Applicant Challenges to Patents and Generic Exclusivity

ANDA and 505(b)(2) applicants are required to list with FDA each patent that claims their approved products and for which
claims of patent infringement could reasonably be asserted against unauthorized manufacturers. ANDA and 505(b)(2) applicants
must then certify regarding each of the patents listed with the FDA for the product(s) it references. An applicant can certify that
there is no listed patent, that the listed patent has expired, that the application may be approved upon the date of expiration of the
listed patent, or that the patent is invalid or will not be infringed by the marketing of the applicant’s product. This last certification
is referred to as a “Paragraph IV certification.”

If a Paragraph IV certification is filed, the applicant must also provide notice to the NDA holder and patent owner stating that the
application has been submitted and providing the factual and legal basis for the applicant’s opinion that the patent is invalid or not
infringed. The NDA holder or patent owner may sue the ANDA or 505(b)(2) applicant for patent infringement. If the NDA holder
or patent owner files suit within 45 days of receiving notice of the application, a one-time 30-month stay of FDA’s ability to
approve the ANDA or 505(b)(2) application is triggered. FDA may approve the proposed product before the expiration of the 30-
month stay if a court finds the patent invalid or not infringed or shortens the period because parties have failed to cooperate in
expediting the litigation.

As an incentive to encourage generic drug manufacturers to undertake the expenses associated with Paragraph IV patent
litigation, the first ANDA applicant to submit a substantially complete ANDA with a Paragraph IV certification to a listed patent
may be eligible for a 180-day period of marketing exclusivity. For ANDAs filed after December 8, 2003 that use a reference
product for which no Paragraph IV certification was made in any ANDA before that date, this exclusivity blocks the approval of
any later ANDA with a Paragraph IV certification referencing the same product. For these ANDAs, the exclusivity period runs
from the date when the generic drug is first commercially marketed.
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For other ANDAs, the 180-day exclusivity period blocks the approval of any later ANDA with a Par!agraph 1V certification
referencing at least the same patent, if not the same product, and may be triggered on the date the generic drug is first
commercrally marketed or the date of a decision of a court holding that the patent that was the subjeet of the Paragraph IV
certification is invalid lor not infringed. This decision must be from a court from which no appeal can be or has been taken, other
than a petition to the United States Supreme Court. i
If multiple generic drug manufacturers submit substantially complete ANDAs with Paragraph IV certiﬁc?:ations on the first day
that any such ANDAs!are submitted, all of these manufacturers will share in a single 180-day exclusivity period. Note also that
these periods of 180-day exclusivity may be subject to forfeiture provisions, requiring relinquishment of t!he exclusivity in some
situations, including cases where commercial marketing of the generic drug does not occur within a certain|time period.

Non-Patent Marketing Exclusivities

The Hatch-Waxman Act also provides three years of “new use” marketing exclusivity for the approvél of NDAs, 505(b)(2)
applications, and supplements where those applications contain the results of new clinical 1nvest1gat1ons (other than
bioavailability studres) essential to the FDA’s approval of the applications. Such applications may be submitted for new
indications, dosage forms, strengths, or new conditions of use of already approved products. So long as the new clinical
investigations are essential to the FDA’s approval of the change, this three-year exclusivity prohibits the ﬁnal approval of ANDAs
or 505(b)(2) applications for products with the specific changes associated with those clinical investigations. It does not prohibit

the FDA from approving ANDAs or 505(b)(2) applications for other products containing the same active infgredient.

‘ |
Orphan Drug Designation and Exclusivity |

‘ |
Some jurisdictions, in¢cluding the United States and the European Union, designate drugs intended for relatively small patient
populations as “orphan drugs.” The FDA, for example, grants orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat rare diseases or
conditions that affect fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States or drugs for which there is no reasonable expectation
that the cost of developing and making the drugs available in the United States will be recovered. In the Unlted States orphan drug
designation must be requested before submitting an application for approval of the product. 1
Orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval
process. If a product which has an orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the indication for
which it has such designation, the product is entitled to a marketing exclusivity. For seven years, the FDA may not approve any
other application, including NDAs or ANDAs, to market the “same drug” for the same indication. The only exception is where
the second product is shown to be “clinically superior” to the product with orphan drug exclusivity, as that phrase is defined by
the FDA and if there is/an inadequate supply. |

Manufacturing : |

Changes to the manufacturing process or site during or following the completion of clinical trials} requires sponsors to
demonstrate to the FDA that the product under new conditions is comparable to the product that was the subject of earlier clinical
testing. This requirement applies to relocations or expansions of manufacturing facilities, such as the recentl consolidation of all of
the steps in the BlovaxID production process to our Worcester, Massachusetts plant and possible expans10n‘ to additional facilities
that may be required for successful commercialization of the vaccine. A showing of comparability requrres data demonstrating
that the product continues to be safe, pure, and potent and may be based on chemical, physical, and blologrcal assays and, in some
cases, other non- chmcal data. If we demonstrate comparability, additional clinical safety and/or efficacy trials with the new
product may not be needed. If the FDA requires additional clinical safety or efficacy trials to demonstrate comparability, our
clinical trials or the FDA approval of BiovaxID may be delayed. T
l
We anticipate that the manufacture of the other products in our development pipeline will be outsourced to experienced cGMP-
compliant medical manufacturing companies. In addition, our currently marketed specialty pharmaceutrcal products are
manufactured by thrrd-party contract manufacturers, as identified elsewhere in this prospectus. |
Prescription Drug Wrap- Up (DESI II Products) \
5 |
The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the Act) of 1938 was the first statute requiring pre-market- approval of drugs by the
FDA. These approvals, however, focused exclusively on safety data. In 1962, Congress amended the Act to require that sponsors
demonstrate that new drugs are effective, as well as safe, in order to receive FDA approval. This amendment also required the
FDA to conduct a retrospectlve evaluation of the effectiveness of the drug products that the FDA approved between 1938 and
1962 on the basis of safety alone. The agency contracted with the National Academy of Science/National Research Council
(NAS/NRC) to make an initial evaluation of the effectiveness of many drug products. The FDA’s administrative implementation

of the NAS/NRC reports was called the Drug Efficacy Study Implementation (DESI).
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Drugs that were not subject to applications approved between 1938 and 1962 were not subject to DESI review. For a period of
time, the FDA permitted these drugs to remain on the market without approval. In 1984, however, spurred by serious adverse
reactions to one of these products, Congress urged the FDA to expand the new drug requirements to include all marketed
unapproved prescription drugs. The FDA created a program, known as the Prescription Drug Wrap-Up, to address these
remaining unapproved drugs. Most of these drugs contain active ingredients that were first marketed prior to the 1938 Act. We
believe that several of our marketed pharmaceutical products fall within this category.

The FDA asserts that all drugs subject to the Prescription Drug Wrap-Up are on the market illegally and are subject to FDA
enforcement discretion because there is an argument that all prescription drugs must be the subject of an approved drug
application. There are a couple of narrow exceptions. For example, both the 1938 and 1962 Acts include grandfather provisions
exempting certain drugs from the new drug requirements. The 1938 clause exempts drugs that were on market prior to the passage
of the 1938 Act and contain the same representations concerning the conditions of use as they did prior to passage of the Act. The
1962 Act exempts, in certain circumstances, drugs that have the same composition and labeling as they had prior to the passage of
the 1962 Act. The agency and the courts have interpreted these two exceptions very narrowly. As to drugs marketed over the
counter, the FDA exempts through regulation products that are determined to be generally recognized as safe and effective
(GRAS/GRASE) and have been used to a material extent and for a material time.

The FDA has adopted a risk-based enforcement policy that prioritizes enforcement of new drug requirements for unapproved
drugs that pose a safety threat, lack evidence of effectiveness and prevent patients from pursuing effective therapies, and that are
marketed fraudulently. In addition, the FDA has indicated that approval of an NDA for one drug within a class of drugs marketed
without FDA approval may also trigger agency enforcement of the new drug requirements. Once the FDA issues an approved
NDA for one of the drug products at issue or completes the efficacy review for that drug product, it may require other
manufacturers to also file a NDA or an abbreviated NDA (ANDA) for that same drug in order to continue marketing it in the
United States. While the FDA generally provides sponsors a one year grace period, the agency is not statutorily required to do so.

Pharmacy Compounding

The FDA does not regulate the practice of pharmacy but does evaluate pharmacies to determine if their compounding practice
qualifies them as drug manufacturers for the purpose of food and drug laws. If the FDA considers the actions of a compounding
pharmacy to be similar to those of a drug manufacturer, the FDA will take action to stop such pharmacy compounding until a new
drug application is approved for the marketing of such drugs.

Medical Device Regulation

New medical devices, such as our MD Turbo product, are also subject to FDA approval and extensive regulation under the
FDCA. Under the FDCA, medical devices are classified into one of three classes: Class I, Class II, or Class III. The classification
of a device into one of these three classes generally depends on the degree of risk associated with the medical device and the
extent of control needed to ensure safety and effectiveness.

Class 1 devices are those for which safety and effectiveness can be assured by adherence to a set of general controls. These
general controls include compliance with the applicable portions of the FDA’s Quality System Regulation, which sets forth good
manufacturing practice requirements; facility registration and product reporting of adverse medical events listing; truthful and
non-misleading labeling; and promotion of the device only for its cleared or approved intended uses. Class II devices are also
subject to these general controls, and any other special controls as deemed necessary by the FDA to ensure the safety and
effectiveness of the device. Review and clearance by the FDA for these devices is typically accomplished through the so-called
510(k) pre-market notification procedure. When 510(k) clearance is sought, a sponsor must submit a pre-market notification
demonstrating that the proposed device is substantially equivalent to a previously approved device. If the FDA agrees that the
proposed device is substantially equivalent to the predicate device, then 510(k) clearance to market will be granted. After a device
receives 510(k) clearance, any modification that could significantly affect its safety or effectiveness, or that would constitute a
major change in its intended use, requires a new 510(k) clearance or could require pre-market approval. Our instruments and
disposables used for the production of cell cultures are generally regulated as Class I devices exempt from the 510(k)
clearance process.

Clinical trials are almost always required to support a PMA application and are sometimes required for a 510(k) pre-market
notification. These trials generally require submission of an application for an investigational device exemption, or IDE. An IDE
must be supported by pre-clinical data, such as animal and laboratory testing results, which show that the device is safe to test in
humans and that the study protocols are scientifically sound. The IDE must be approved in advance by the FDA for a specified
number of patients, unless the product is deemed a non-significant risk device and is eligible for more abbreviated investigational
device exemption requirements.
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Both before and after a medical device is commercially distributed, manufacturers and marketers of the device have ongoing
responsibilities under FDA regulations. The FDA reviews design and manufacturing practices, labeling and record keeping, and
manufacturers’ required reports of adverse experiences and other information to identify potential problems with marketed
medical devices. Dewce manufacturers are subject to periodic and unannounced inspection by the FDA |for compliance with the
Quality System Regulatlon current good manufacturing practlce requirements that govern the methods used in, and the facilities
and controls used for, the design, manufacture, packaging, servicing, labeling, storage, installation, and distribution of all finished
medical devices intended for human use.

If the FDA finds that!a manufacturer has failed to comply or that a medical device is ineffective or poses an unreasonable health
risk, it can institute or seek a wide variety of enforcement actions and remedies, ranging from a pubhc warning letter to more
severe actions such as

* fines, 1n1unct10ns, and civil penalties;

+  recall or seizure of products;

»  refusing requests for 510(k) clearance or PMA approval of new products;
. withdrawirijg 510(k) clearance or PMA approvals already granted; and

|
]
|
+  operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production; |
|
|
|
!
|
*  criminal prosecution. 5
‘ |

|

{

The FDA aiso has the, authonty to require repair, replacement or refund of the cost of any medical device. |

The FDA also adm1n1sters certain controls over the export of medical devices from the U.S., as 1ntemat10nal sales of medical
devices that have not received FDA approval are subject to FDA export requirements. Addltlonally, each forelgn country subjects
such medical devices to its own regulatory requirements. In the European Union, a single regulatory approval process has been
created, and approval Is represented by the CE Mark.

\
Other Regulation in the United States |

Controlled Substances Act. Our Xodol pain product, the pain products in our development pipeline, ’and one of our Histex
products all contain hydrocodone or oxycodone, a narcotic that is a “controlled substance” under the Controlled Substances Act.
The federal Controlled Substances Act (CSA), Title II of the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and 'Control Act of 1970, is
a consolidation of nimerous laws regulating the manufacture and distribution of narcotics and other substances, including
stimulants, depressants and hallucinogens. The CSA is administered by the Drug Enforcement Admlmstratlon (DEA), a division
of the U.S. Department of Justice, and is intended to prevent the abuse or diversion of controlled substanles into illicit channels
of commerce. 3

Any person or firm that manufactures, distributes, dispenses, imports, or exports any controlled substance {or proposes to do so0)
must register with the DEA. The applicant must regxster for a specific business activity related to controlled substances, including
manufacturing or dlstnbutlng, and may engage in only the activity or activities for which it is reg1stercfed The DEA conducts
periodic inspections of registered establishments that handle controlled substances. In addition, a recent law requires DEA review
of labeling, promotion, and risk management plans for certain controlled substances as a condition of DEA spending. Failure to
comply with relevant DEA regulations, particularly as manifested in the loss or diversion of controlled substances, can result in
regulatory action 1ncludmg civil penalties, refusal to renew necessary registrations, or initiating proceédmgs to revoke those
registrations. In certain circumstances, violations can lead to criminal prosecution. Mikart, which manufactures our pain products,
is registered with the DEA to manufacture and distribute controlled substances. |

{
i

Some of our products also contain pseudoephedrine. The DEA regulates pseudoephedrine, pursuant to the CSA and the Domestic
Chemical Diversion Control Act of 1993, as a “listed chemical” because it can be used in the production of illicit drugs. There are
two groups of listed' chemicals, List I chemicals and List II chemicals; List I chemicals are more strictly regulated.
Pseudoephedrine is a List I chemical. Persons or firms who manufacture, distribute, import, or export hsted chemicals in amounts
above specified threshold levels, or chemical mixtures that contain listed chemicals above specified threshold amounts, must
fulfill certain requirements regarding, among other things, registration, recordkeeping, reporting, and securlty Pseudoephedrine is
subject to tighter controls than most other listed chemicals that are lawfully marketed under the Federal Food, Drug, and
Cosmetic Act. 1 1

In addition to these federal statutory and regulatory obligations, there may be state and local laws and regu]ations relevant to the
handling of controlled substances or listed chemicals. |
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Toxic Substances Control Act. The Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, has promulgated regulations under Section 5 of
the Toxic Substances Control Act, or TSCA, which require notification procedures for review of certain so-called Intergeneric
microorganisms before they are introduced into commerce. Intergeneric microorganisms are those formed by deliberate
combinations of genetic material from organisms classified in different taxonomic genera, which are types of animal or plant
groups. The regulations provide exemptions from the reporting requirements for new microorganisms used for research and
development when the researcher or institution is in mandatory compliance with the National Institutes of Health Guidelines for
Research Involving Recombinant DNA Molecules, or NIH Guidelines. Those researchers voluntarily following the NIH
Guidelines can, by documenting their use of the NIH Guidelines, satisfy EPA’s requirements for testing in contained structures.
The EPA may enforce the TSCA through enforcement actions such as seizing noncompliant substances, seeking injunctive relief,
and assessing civil or criminal penalties. We believe that our research and development activities involving intergeneric
microorganisms comply with the TSCA, but there can be no assurance that restrictions, fines or penalties will not be imposed on
us in the future.

Health Care Coverage and Reimbursement. Commercial success in marketing and selling our products depends, in part, on the
availability of adequate coverage and reimbursement from third-party health care payers, such as government and private health
insurers and managed care organizations. Third-party payers are increasingly challenging the pricing of medical products and
services. Government and private sector initiatives to limit the growth of health care costs, including price regulation, competitive
pricing, coverage and payment policies, and managed-care arrangements, are continuing in many countries where we do business,
including the U.S. These changes are causing the marketplace to put increased emphasis on the delivery of more cost-effective
medical products.

Government programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, private health care insurance, and managed-care plans have attempted
to control costs by limiting the amount of reimbursement they will pay for particular procedures or treatments. This has created an
increasing level of price sensitivity among customers for our products. Examples of how limits on drug coverage and
reimbursement in the United States may cause drug price sensitivity include the growth of managed care, changing Medicare
reimbursement methodologies, and drug rebates and price controls. Some third-party payors must also approve coverage for new
or innovative devices or therapies before they will reimburse health care providers who use the medical devices or therapies. Even
though a new medical product may have been cleared for commercial distribution, we may find limited demand for the product
until reimbursement approval has been obtained from governmental and private third-party payors.

Anti-Kickback Laws. In the United States, there are federal and state anti-kickback laws that prohibit the payment or receipt of
kickbacks, bribes or other remuneration to induce the purchase, order or recommendation of health care products and services.
These laws constrain the sales, marketing and other promotional activities of pharmaccutical companies, such as us, by limiting
the kinds of financial arrangements (including sales programs) we may have with prescribers, purchasers, dispensers and users of
drugs and biologics. The HHS Office of Inspector General (OIG) has issued Compliance Guidance for pharmaceutical
manufacturers which, among other things, identifies manufacturer practices implicating the federal anti-kickback law (42 U.S.C.
§ 1320a-7b(b)) and describes elements of an effective compliance program. The OIG Compliance Guidance is voluntary, and we
have not adopted a formal compliance program modeled after the one described in the OIG guidance. Although none of our
practices have been subject to challenge under any anti-kickback laws, due to the breadth of the statutory provisions of some of
these laws, it is possible that some of our practices might be challenged under one or more of these laws in the future. Violations
of these laws can lead to civil and criminal penalties, including imprisonment, fines and exclusion from participation in federal
health care programs. Any such violations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.

Health Information Privacy and Security. Individually identifiable health information is subject to an array of federal and state
regulation. Federal rules promulgated pursuant to the Health Information Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA™)
regulate the use and disclosure of health information by “covered entities” (which includes indtvidual and institutional providers
from which we may receive individually identifiable health information). These regulations govern, among other things, the use
and disclosure of health information for research purposes, and require the covered entity to obtain the written authorization of the
individual before using or disclosing health information for research. Failure of the covered entity to obtain such authorization
(absent obtaining a waiver of the authorization requirement from an Institutional Review Board) could subject the covered entity
to civil and criminal penalties. As the implementation of this regulation is still in its early phases, we may experience delays and
complex negotiations as we deal with each entity’s differing interpretation of the regulations and what is required for compliance.
Further, HIPAA’s criminal provisions are not limited in their applicability to “covered persons,” but apply to any “person” that
knowingly and in violation of the statute obtains or discloses individually identifiable health information. Also, where our
customers or contractors are covered entities, including hospitals, universities, physicians or clinics, we may be required by the
HIPAA regulations to enter into “business associate” agreements that subject us to certain privacy and security requirements,
including making our books and records available for audit and inspection by HHS and implementing certain health information
privacy and security safeguards. In addition, many states have laws that apply to the use and disclosure of health information, and
these laws could also affect the manner in which we conduct our research and other aspects of our business. Such state laws are
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not preempted by the federal privacy law where they afford greater privacy protection to the individual. Whlle activities to assure
compliance with health information privacy laws are a routine business practice, we are unable to predict ,the extent to which our

resources may be diverted in the event of an investigation or enforcement action with respect to such laws.’
Foreign Regulation

' {
Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a product, we must obtain approval of a product by the1 comparable regulatory
authorities of foreigni countries before we can commence clinical trials or marketing of the product m those countries. The
approval process varies from country to country, and the time may be longer or shorter than that requlred for FDA approval. The
requirements govermng the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing, and reimbursement also vary greatly from
country to country. Although governed by the applicable country, clinical trials conducted outside of the| United States typically
are administered under a three-phase sequential process similar to that discussed above for pharmaceutlcalfproducts Clinical trials
conducted in the European Union must comply with the EU Clinical Trials Directive. |

Under European Union regulatory systems, we may submit marketing authorization applications either under a centralized or
decentralized procedure for most products. The centralized procedure, which is available for medicines produced by
biotechnology or which are highly innovative, provides for the grant of a single marketing authorization that is valid for all
European Union member states. Under European Commission Regulation 726/2004, the centralized authorization procedure is
requlred for all biotechnology-derived medicinal products developed through recombinant DNA itechnology, controlled
expression of genes codmg for biologically active proteins, and hybridoma and monoclonal antibody methods It is also required
for designated orphan medicinal products and all new active substances indicated for the treatment of AIDS, cancer,
neurodegenerative disorder, or diabetes. This authorization is a marketing authorization approval, or MAA The decentralized
procedure provides for mutual recognition of national regulatory authority approval decisions. Under this procedure, the holder of
a national marketing;authorization granted by one member state may submit an application to the remaining member states.
Within 90 days of receiving the applications and assessment report, each member state must decide whether to recognize
approval. This procedure is referred to as the mutual recognition procedure, or MRP. J

In addition, regulatory approval of prices is required in most countries other than the United States. We face the risk that the
prices which result from the regulatory approval process would be insufficient to generate an acceptellble return to us or our
collaborators. ‘ J

BiovaxID Manufacturing %

We manufacture BiovaxID primarily at Biovest’s own manufacturing facility in Worcester, Massachusefts We historically have
performed certain steps in the BiovaxID production process at our Minneapolis, Minnesota facility. However we are in the
process of completing the consolidation of all BiovaxID-related production activities into our Worcester facility and are
considering dlvestlng the remaining business conducted at aneapohs We believe that our Worcestelr facility is sufficient to
produce the vaccine required for the product’s clinical trials, and we are in the process of conforming to FDA regulations that will
enable this consolidation. If we receive FDA approval of the vaccine, we may continue to manufacture the vaccine at our existing
facility in Worcester, although we will likely need to develop additional facilities or utilize third-party contract manufacturers to
fully support commercial production for the U.S. markets. To penetrate markets outside of the U.S., we may enter into
collaborations with well-established companies that have the capabilities to produce the product. To facilitate commercial
production of the vaccine, we are developing proprietary manufacturing equipment that integrates and automates various stages of
vaccine production. We believe that such equipment will reduce the space and staff currently requxred for production of the
vaccine.

We anticipate that the manufacture of the other products in our development pipeline will be outsourced to experienced cGMP-
compliant medical manufacturmg companies. In addition, our currently marketed specialty pharmaceut1ca1 products are
manufactured by third-party contract manufacturers, as identified elsewhere in this prospectus. 1
Intellectual Property f
|
We are pursuing a number of methods to establish and maintain market exclusivity for our product candidates to the greatest
extent possible, including seeking patent protection, the use of statutory market exclusivity provisions, and otherwise protecting
our intellectual property.

. |
Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain proprietary protection for our product candidates, technology,
and know-how; to operate without infringing the proprietary rights of others; and to prevent others from infringing our proprietary
rights. Our policy is to seek to protect our proprietary position by, among other methods, filing United States and foreign patent
applications when possible relating to our proprietary technology, inventions, and improvements that are important to our




business. We also rely on trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovation, and in-licensing opportunities to develop
and maintain our proprietary position.

The following 1s information regarding our owned and licensed patents and patent applications that we consider material to our
business:

*  With respect to SinuNase, Mayo Foundation holds one issued U.S. patent relating to the treatment of CRS with
intranasal anti-fungals and another U.S. patent relating to the treatment of asthma through muco-administration of anti-
fungals. It also holds one related European Union counterpart patent application for the CRS therapy. Each of these
patents expires in October 2018. Each of these issued patents and patent applications are exclusively licensed by us
under our license agreement with Mayo Foundation.

+  With respect to BiovaxID, we have filed a first PCT application relating to the type of cell media used to grow cell
cultures in the production of BiovaxID, and we have filed a second PCT application relating to certain features of the
integrated production and purification system used to produce and purify the vaccine in an automated closed system.
We also hold an issued U.S. patent, as well as various foreign counterpart patents, on our hollow-fiber cell culture
device and the method of operation of the device, although this patent will expire in February 2006 in the U.S., and the
European and Japanese counterparts will expire in October 2005.

+  With respect to the MD Turbo device, Respirics holds four issued U.S. patents relating to the device, each of which
expires in June 2016, and one pending U.S. patent application relating to the device. We have exclusive U.S.
distribution rights to the device under our agreement with Respirics.

+  With respect to AllerNase, Collegium filed a patent application titled “Temperature Stable Formulations and Methods
of Development™ (Pub #: US-2005-0153946) on December 14" 2004.

The patent positions of companies like ours are generally uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. Our ability
to maintain and solidify our proprietary position for our technology will depend on our success in obtaining effective claims and
enforcing those claims once granted. We do not know whether any of our patent applications or those patent applications that we
license will result in the issuance of any patents. OQur issued patents and those that may issue in the future, or those licensed to us,
may be challenged, invalidated, or circumvented, which could limit our ability to stop competitors from marketing related
products or the length of term of patent protection that we may have for our products. [n addition, the rights granted under any
issued patents may not provide us with proprietary protection or competitive advantages against competitors with similar
technology. Furthermore, our competitors may independently develop similar technologies or duplicate any technology developed
by us. Because of the extensive time required for development, testing and regulatory review of a potential product, it is possible
that, before any of our products can be commercialized, any related patent may expire or remain in force for only a short period
following commercialization, thereby reducing any advantage of the patent.

We rely in some circumstances on trade secrets to protect our technology, particularly with respect to certain aspects of our
BiovaxID manufacturing process. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We seek to protect our proprietary technology
and processes, in part, by confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, scientific advisors, and other contractors.
These agreements may be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any breach. In addition, our trade secrets may
otherwise become known or be independently discovered by competitors. To the extent that our employees, consultants, or
contractors use intellectual property owned by others in their work for us, disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resulting
know-how and inventions.

We use Accentia™, Accentia Biopharmaceuticals™, and the Accentia Biopharmaceuticals logo as trademarks in the U.S. and
other countries, and we are seeking U.S. trademark registrations for Accentia Biopharmaceuticals™ and the Accentia
Biopharmaceuticals logo. We are also seeking U.S. trademark registrations for BiovaxID™, Biovest™, SinuNase™, CRSFungal
Profile™, and Xodol™. Respi~TANN® is a registered trademark of TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc., our wholly owned
subsidiary. We use Histex™ and AllerNase™ as trademarks in the U.S. and other countries.

Customers

For the 2005 and 2004 fiscal years, two of our customers, both wholesale distributors, accounted for more than 10% of our
revenue. Revenues from Cardinal Health represented approximately 25.0% and 15.3% of our revenue for the years ended
September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and revenues from McKesson Corporation represented approximately 14.6% of our
revenue for the year ended September 30, 2004.
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Third-Party Reimbursement and Pricing Controls :

In the United States and elsewhere, sales of pharmaceutical products depend in srgmﬁcant partl on the availability of
reimbursement to the consumer from third-party payors, such as government and private insurance plans. Thrrd—party payors are
increasingly challengmg the prices charged for medical products and services. It will be time-consuming and expensive for us to
go through the process of seeking reimbursement from Medicare and private payors. Our products may not be considered cost
effective, and coverage and reimbursement may not be available or sufficient to allow us to sell our products on a competitive and
profitable basis. The passage of the Medicare Prescription Drug and Modernization Act of 2003 imposes hew requirements for the

distribution and pricing of prescription drugs which may affect the marketing of our products. 1

i
In many foreign markets, including the countries in the European Union, pricing of pharmaceutical products is subject to
governmental control. In the United States, there have been, and we expect that there will continue to be,a number of federal and
state proposals to 1mplement similar governmental pricing control. While we cannot predict whether such legislative or regulatory
proposals will be adapted, the adoption of such proposals could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and profitability. }

Employees

As of September 30,‘2005 we had 264 full-time employees. None of our employees is represented by labor unions or covered by
collective bargaining agreements. We have not experienced any work stoppages, and we consider our employee relations to be
good.

Executive Officers :

The following table sets forth our current executive officers and their ages as of September 30, 2005: 1
i

Name ‘ Age Position i
Francis E. O’Donnell, Jr., M.D. 55 Chairman of the Board; Chief Executive Officer; Ijirector
Steven R. Arikian, M.D. 47 President and Chief Operating Officer, Bropharmaceutrcal Products and
! Services; Director ;
Martin G. Baum 39 President and Chief Operating Officer, Specralty Pharmaceutrcals
: Director !
i
Alan M. Pearce , 56 Chief Financial Officer; Director |
Samuel S. Duffey | 60 General Counsel |
i |

Francis E. O’Donnell, Jr., M.D. has served as our Chairman of the Board since the company’s foundm‘g in March 2002 and has
served as our Chief Executive Officer since September 2003. Dr. O’Donnell also served as our Presrdent from September 2003
through November 2004. Since 1995, Dr. O’Donnell has served as manager of The Hopkins Capital Group, LLC, a biotechnology
business development and investment company. Since May 2002, Dr. O’Donnell has also served as the Chalrrnan of the Board of
BioDelivery Sciences International, Inc., a publicly traded drug delivery technology company, and since; ! June 2003, he has served
as a director (and as Co Vice-Chairman since 2004) of Biovest International, Inc., our majority owned Ipubhcly held subsidiary.
He is co-founder and a director of RetinaPharma Technologies, Inc., a privately held biotechnology company developing novel
pharmaceuticals and related products for the prevention, treatment rescue, and recovery of ophthalmic and other
neurodegenerative and neurovascular disease. He is the former Professor and Chairman, Department of Ophthalmology, St. Louis
University School of Medicine. Dr. O’Donnell has published over 30 peer-reviewed scientific articles and has been awarded 34
U.S. patents. He is the recipient of the 2000 Jules Stein Award from Retinitis Pigmentosa Internatronal and is a Trustee for St.
Louis University and The Health Careers Foundation. Dr. O’Donnell is a graduate of the Johns Hopklns School of Medicine,

where he received his specialty training at the Wilmer Ophthalmological Institute. ‘

Steven R. Arikian, M D. began serving as a director in April 2002. Since November 2004, Dr. Arikian has served as President and
Chief Operating Officer of Product Development and Market Services. In February 2005, his title wasgchanged to President and
Chief Operating Officer, Biopharmaceutical Products and Services. From January 2003 to November 2004, he was President of
Pre-Market Servrces and Operations and from April 2002 to January 2003, he was President of Pre- Market Services. Since 1997,

Dr. Arikian has served as the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, and founder of our Analytica subsrdlary, and September 2004,

he has served and the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Biovest. Since 2003, Dr. Arikian hast served as a director, and
since 2004 has served as Chief Executive Officer, President, and Chairman, of Biovest International, | Inc our majority-owned,

publicly held subs1d1ary Dr. Arikian began providing pharmaceutical clients with Clinical and Outcomes Research services in
1988. He served as President of The Center for Health Outcomes and Economics at Bristol Myers Squrbb from May 1995 to July
1997, where he supervrsed a staff of over 50 professionals responsible for development of global health outcomes research. He
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has designed and implemented research projects in the United States, Canada, Latin America and Europe. Dr. Arikian holds a
faculty appointment at the Columbia University Mailman School of Public Health. He has also held faculty appointments at the
University of Toronto and the University of Kentucky. He is widely published in the peer-reviewed literature and has been a
frequent speaker at industry and trade group sponsored meetings on topics including Formulary Management, Pharmaceutical
Pricing, Multi-National Health Economic Studies, and Pharmacoepidemiology. Dr. Arikian is a graduate of Fordham University
with a degree in Biology and is also a graduate of the University of Catania (Italy) Medical School.

Martin G. Baum began serving as one of our directors and as our President and Chief Operating Officer of Commercial
Operations and Business Development in June 2003. In February 2005, his title was changed to President and Chief Operating
Officer, Specialty Pharmaceuticals. He has also served as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of our TEAMM
subsidiary since its founding in July 2000. Prior to that, Mr. Baum served as Senior Vice President of Commercial Operations at
DJ Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical company, since January 1999. Since June 2003, Mr. Baum has also been a
director of Biovest International, Inc., our majority owned, publicly held subsidiary. Mr. Baum is a graduate of The University of
Toledo, where he received B.S. degrees in Pre-Med and Business.

Alan M. Pearce has served as a director and our Chief Financial Officer since August 2004. Prior to serving as our Chief
Financial Officer, Mr. Pearce served as Senior Vice President, Financial Services for McKesson Corporation, a large publicly
traded healthcare company, from April 1999 to March 2004. Mr. Pearce also currently serves on the advisory boards of The
Georgia Institute of Technology, or Georgia Tech, the Emory University BioEngineering Foundation, and The Hopkins Capital
Group. He also previously served as a director and a member of the finance committee of XL Insurance. From September 2002 to
September 2005, Mr. Pearce served as a director of BioDelivery Sciences International, Inc. Mr. Pearce is a graduate of Georgia
Tech, where he eamned a B.S. degree in Industrial Management, and the University of Texas, where he earned an MBA degree in
finance.

Samuel S. Duffey, Esq. has served as a director and our Genera! Counsel since April 2003. Prior to that, Mr. Duffey practiced
business law with Duffey and Dolan P.A. beginning in 1992. From February 2000, to September 2003, Mr. Duffey served as the
non-executive chairman and as a member of the board of directors of Invisa, Inc., a small publicly held safety company, and from
October 2001 to May 2004, Mr. Duffey also served as the non-executive chairman and as a member of the board of directors of
FlashPoint International, Inc., a publicly held automotive parts company which is currently named Navitrak International
Corporation. Mr. Duffey received his B.A. and J.D. degrees from Drake University.

Available Information

We were incorporated in the State of Florida in 2002. Our principal executive offices are located at 324 South Hyde Park Ave.,
Suite 350, Tampa, Florida 33606, and our telephone number at that address is (813) 864-2554. We maintain an Internet website at
www.accentia.net. However, information found on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference
into this annual report on Form 10-K. We make available free of charge on or through our website our filings with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, or SEC, including this annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports
on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon
as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Further, a copy of this annual
report is located at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street N. E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the
operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet
website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding our filings at www.sec.gov.

Risk Factors

This report contains forward-looking statements (within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995) that
are based on management’s current expectations, estimates, forecasts, and projections about the Company and its business. In
addition, other written or oral statements which constitute forward-looking statements may be made from time to time by or on
behalf of Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. Any statement in this report that is not a statement of historical fact s a forward-
looking statement, and in some cases, words such as “believe,” “estimate,” “project,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “anticipate,”
“plans,” “seeks,” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual outcomes and results to differ materially from the anticipated outcomes or result. These
statements are not guarantees of future performance, and undue reliance should not be placed on these statements. Accentia
Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. undertakes no obligation to update publicly any forward-locking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.

2% ¢

Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted in our forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, the following:
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Risks Related to Our Business

We are largely dependent on the success of our two most significant product candidates, SinuNase and[BzovaxID and we may
not be able to successfully commercialize these therapies. ;

We have expended and will continue to expend significant time, money, and effort on the development of our two most
significant product candidates, SinuNase and BiovaxID. We have incurred significant costs and may never generate significant
revenues from commercial sales of these products, if approved. Neither of these products is approved for marketing in any
jurisdiction, and they, may never be commercialized. Before we can market and sell these products, we will need to demonstrate in
clinical trials that these products are safe and effective and will also need to obtain necessary approvalstfrom the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration, or FDA, and similar foreign regulatory agencies. ;
If we fail to successfully commercialize either or both of SinuNase and BiovaxID, we may be unabfle to generate sufficient
revenue to sustain and grow our business, and our business, financial condition, and results of operations will be adversely

affected. : j

If we fail to obtain FDA approval of SinuNase, BiovaxID, or any of our other current or future produc"t candidates, we will be
unable to commercialize these products. |

i

Development, testmg, manufacturmg and marketing of pharmaceutical products are subject to extenswe regulation by numerous
governmental authorities in the U.S. and other countries. The process of obtaining FDA approval of pharmaceutlcal products is
costly and time consummg Any new pharmaceutical product must undergo rigorous preclinical and clinical testing and an
extensive regulatory Japproval process mandated by the FDA. Such regulatory review includes the determmatlon of manufacturing
capability and product performance. i
|

In addition to seeking approval from the FDA for SinuNase and BiovaxlD, we intend to seek the govemtnental approval required
to market our products in England, Germany, France, Italy, Spain, and potentially additional c}'ountries. We anticipate
commencing the applications required in some or all of these countries following approval by the FDA; however, we may
determine to file applications in advance of the FDA approval if we determine such filings to be both time and cost effective.
Marketing of our products in these countries, and in most other countries, is not permitted until we have obtained required

approvals or exemptions in each individual country.

In addition, patient-speciﬁc active immunotherapies such as BiovaxID are complex, and regulatory agen:cies lack experience with
them. To date, the FDA has not approved for marketing a patient-specific active idiotype immunotherapy for any form of cancer.
This lack of precedent and experience may lengthen the regulatory review process and impede our ability to obtain tlmely FDA
approval for BlovaxTD if at all. Even if BiovaxID is approved by the FDA, the FDA’s lack of precec!lent and experience with
respect to a patient-specific active idiotype vaccine may increase our development costs and otherw15e delay or prevent
commercialization. '

There can be no assurance that the pharmaceutical products currently in development, or those products écquired or in-licensed by
us, will be approved by the FDA. In addition, there can be no assurance that all necessary approvals will be granted for future
products or that FDA review or actions will not involve delays caused by the FDA’s request for additional information or testing
that could adversely affect the time to market and sale of the products. For our currently marketed products and our future
products, failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements can, among other things, result in the suspension of
regulatory approval, as well as possible civil and criminal sanctions.

Prior to the commencement of our Phase 3 clinical trials for SinuNase, we sought a Special Protocol Assessment or SPA, with
the FDA regarding our Phase 3 clinical trials. The SPA process provides for official FDA evaluation of a Phase 3 clinical trial and
provides a product sponsor with a binding agreement, unless circumstances change, confirming that the design and size of the
Phase 3 study will lbe appropriate to form the primary basis of an effectiveness claim for an NDA if the study is performed
according to the SPA. However, an SPA is not a guarantee that an NDA for SinuNase will be approved. Any change to the
protocol for our Phase 3 trial included in the SPA would require FDA approval, which could delay our ability to implement such
change. The FDA had advised us orally and in a non-binding draft communication that it agreed in pr1nc1p1e with the principal
terms that we propose to include in an SPA for SimiNase. In August 2005, the FDA advised us orally and in a non-binding draft
communication that it agreed in principle with the principal terms that we had proposed to include in our SPA for SinuNase. In
particular, as a part‘of our August 2005 communications with the FDA, the FDA advised us that the proposed primary endpoint
for our SinuNase Phase 3 trials was agreeable to the FDA. Our proposed endpoint for these studies! was the measurement of
improvement in the symptoms associated with CRS, namely sinus headaches, facial pain or pressure, post-nasal drip, and nasal
congestion. This measurement would be accomplished through an independently developed published patient questionnaire. FDA
review personnel have made several suggestions concerning our Phase 3 primary endpoints and validaftion of the measurements
used to confirm these endpoints, and our agreement to these recommendations is reflected in our reques\it for an SPA that we filed

y |
|
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with the FDA in September 2005. On November 10, 2005, representatives of the Division of Special Pathogens and Transplant
Products (DSPTP) of the FDA notified us by telephone that our IND for SinuNase would likely be transferred from their division
to the FDA’s Division of Pulmonary and Allergy Products (DPAP). As the result of these discussions, on November 11, 2005, we
voluntarily withdrew our request for a Special Protocol Assessment (SPA) for SinuNase. We currently intend to consult with
DPAP and DSPTP concerning the potential submission of a SinuNase SPA request to the appropriate division of the FDA.
Because an SPA is not necessary in order to commence and complete the clinical trials and to submit a New Drug Application for
SinuNase, we may elect not to submit an SPA for SinuNase. At least in part as the result of these developments, we did not
commence our Phase 3 clinical trials during calendar year 2005. If we request and receive an SPA, any change by us to the terms
of the SPA or to the protocol for our Phase 3 trial included in the SPA would require FDA approval, which could delay our ability
to implement such change. There is no guarantee that an SPA will ultimately be granted for SinuNase or that, even if an SPA is
granted, that an NDA for SinuNase will be approved.

We expect that “505(b)(2)” applications, which rely in part on investigations not performed for or by the applicant, and for which
the applicant has not obtained a right of reference, and Abbreviated New Drug Applications, or ANDASs, will be submitted for our
specialty pharmaceutical products under development. No assurances can be given that all of our specialty pharmaceutical
products will be suitable for, or approved under, such application procedures. Certain 505(b)(2) application procedures have been
the subject of petitions filed by brand name manufacturers which seek changes in the FDA’s approval process for such 505(b)(2)
applications. These requested changes include, among other things, disallowance of the use by an applicant of a 505(b)(2)
application with data considered proprietary by the original manufacturer that was submitted to the FDA as part of an original
NDA. We are unable to predict at this time whether the FDA will make any changes to its application procedures as a result of
such petitions or the effect that such changes or challenges may have on us.

Any delay in any approval or any failure to obtain approval of a product could delay or impair our ability to commercialize that
product and to generate revenue as well as increase costs for that product.

Before we can seek regulatory approval of SinuNase, BiovaxID, or any other product candidates, we must successfully
complete clinical trials, outcomes of which are uncertain.

Conducting clinical trials is a lengthy, time-consuming, and expensive process, and the resuits of these trials are inherently
uncertain. Completion of necessary clinical trials may take several years or more. Our commencement and rate of completion of
clinical trials may be delayed by many factors, including:

« ineffectiveness of our product candidate or perceptions by physicians that the product candidate 1s not safe or effective
for a particular indication;

»  inability to manufacture sufficient quantities of the product candidate for use in clinical trials;

+ delay or failure in obtaining approval of our clinical trial protocols from the FDA or institutional review boards;
+ slower than expected rate of patient recruitment and enrollment;

+ inability to adequately follow and monitor patients after treatment;

+ difficulty in managing multiple clinical sites;

» unforeseen safety issues;

+  government or regulatory delays; and

«  clinical trial costs that are greater than we currently anticipate.

Even if we achieve positive interim results in clinical trials, these results do not necessarily predict final results, and positive
results in early trials may not be indicative of success in later trials. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical industry have
suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even after promising results in earlier trials. Negative or inconclusive
results or adverse medical events during a clinical trial could cause us to repeat or terminate a clinical trial or require us to
conduct additional trials. We do not know whether our existing or any future clinical trials will demonstrate safety and efficacy
sufficiently to result in marketable products. Our clinical trials may be suspended at any time for a variety of reasons, including if
the FDA or we believe the patients participating in our trials are exposed to unacceptable health risks or if the FDA finds
deficiencies in the conduct of these trials.

Failures or perceived failures in our clinical trials will directly delay our product development and regulatory approval process,
damage our business prospects, make it difficult for us to establish collaboration and partnership relationships, and negatively
affect our reputation and competitive position in the pharmaceutical community.
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We have incurred significant costs in our development efforts to date and may never generate significant revenues from
commercial sales of our product candidates, if approved, |

With respect to our product candidates, we have focused primarily on developing and preparing for ithe regulatory approval
process for SinuNase, the patented therapy for CRS that we license from Mayo Foundation and condlhctlng clinical trials and
seeking regulatory approval for BiovaxID, a patient-specific vaccine for treating indolent folliculari NHL. With respect to
SinuNase, we have paid $1 million in up-front royalties on this product. To date, we have received only limited revenues in
connection with sublicensing fees from pharmacies for using the patented therapy for CRS to cm}npound patient-specific
antifungal nasal products. We have generated no revenues to date from the commercial sale of BiovaxID and must conduct
significant additional clinical trials before we can seek the regulatory approvals necessary to begin commercial sales of this
vaccine. Our net loss!for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 was $39.4 million and $23.2 million, respectively. ,
As of September 30, 2005, we had an accumulated deficit of $112.8 million. We expect to continue to mk:ur significant operating
expenses and capital expenditures as we:

+  conduct clinical trials;

« conduct reéearch and development on existing and new product candidates;
+  seek regulatory approvals for our product candidates; |
+ commercialize our product candidates, if approved; “
»  hire additional clinical, scientific, sales and marketing and management personnel; and
» identify and license additional product candidates. ;

' !
If product candidates fail in clinical trials or do not gain regulatory approval or gain regulatory appioval for more restricted
indications than we have anticipated, we may not generate significant revenues from any of our product candidates. In addition,
we may continue to' experience net losses for the foreseeable future, in which case our accumulated; deficit will continue to
increase, and we may exhaust our resources and be unable to complete the development of our product candidates. If we are
unable to fund the continuing development of our product candidates or if we fail to generate significant ‘revenues from any of our

product candidates, you could lose all or part of your investment. i‘

We anticipate that we will need substantial additional funding in the future, and if we are unable to ralse capital when needed,
we would be forced to delay, reduce, or eliminate our product development programs or commercmhzatlon efforts.

Developing biopharmaceutical products, conducting clinical trials, establishing manufacturing cap‘ablhtles, and marketing
developed products is expensive. We anticipate that we will need to raise substantial additional capital in the future in order to
complete the commercialization of SinuNase following the submission of the NDA and to funﬁ the development and
commercialization of our specialty pharmaceutical product candidates. Furthermore, we anticipate that }Blovest will need to raise
substantial addltlona] capital in order to continue the clinical trials for BiovaxID. (

We expect to ﬂnance future cash needs through public or private equity offermgs debt financings, or corporate collaboration and
licensing arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stoqkholders may experience
additional dilution, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants. If our Biovest subsidiary raises additional
funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish some rights to our technologies or our
product candidates or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. We cannot be certain that add1t1ona1 funding will be
available on acceptable terms, or at all. If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or
eliminate one or more of our research or development programs or our commercialization efforts. We may seek to access the
public or private equity markets whenever conditions are favorable, even if we do not have an immediate need for additional

capital at this time.

|

: |

We cannot be certain that we will receive “Fast-Track” status from the FDA for SinuNase. i

|
In April 2005, we filed an application for the FDA’s “Fast-Track” review designation for SinuNase, which, if granted means that
SinuNase may be eligible for expedited review procedures by the FDA. In June 2005, the FDA mformed us in writing that the
agency needs additipnal information to evaluate whether SinuNase satisfies the criteria for Fast- Track designation. We cannot
predict the impact, if any, that the Fast-Track designation would have on the duration of regulatory appl'(!)VEl.l process for SinuNase
if the product is approved by the FDA, and we cannot guarantee that Fast-Track status will be formally granted. If Fast-Track
status is not granted, the time to market for SinuNase could increase, which could impair our ability to generate revenue from

SinuNase for a longer period of time. Even if Fast-Track status is granted, the FDA may deny regulatory|approval of SinuNase.
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Failure to enroll patients in our clinical trials may cause delays in developing SinuNase, BiovaxID, or any other product
candidate.

We may encounter delays in development and commercialization, or fail to obtain marketing approval, of SinuNase, BiovaxID, or
any other product candidate that we may develop if we are unable to enroll enough patients to complete clinical trials. Our ability
to enroll sufficient numbers of patients in our clinical trials depends on many factors, including the size of the patient population,
the nature of the protocol, the proximity of patients to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria for the trial, and competing clinical
trials. We have from time to time experienced, and are currently experiencing, slower-than-expected patient enrollment in our
BiovaxID clinical trials. To complete enroliment of our Phase 3 clinical trial for BiovaxID in calendar year 2007, as anticipated,
we will need to continue our efforts to significantly increase the rate at which we are enrolling patients in that trial. Also, the
Phase 3 clinical trial for our BiovaxID vaccine may experience slower-than-anticipated enroliment due to an increasing tendency
of physicians to prescribe Rituxan, a monoclonal antibody, as a first line of treatment for NHL instead of chemotherapy, while our
clinical trial protocol for BiovaxID requires a patient to first achieve a six-month remission following chemotherapy treatment.
Delays in planned patient enrollment may result in increased costs and harm our ability to complete our clinical trials and obtain
regulatory approval.

Our clinical trials for SinuNase and/or BiovaxID may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or
regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical and/or preclinical testing for these product candidates or cease
our trials.

We are currently engaged in a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for BiovaxID, and we intend to commence two concurrent Phase 3
clinical trials for SinuNase in early 2006. We do not know whether our existing or future clinical trials will demonstrate safety
and efficacy sufficiently to result in marketable products. For example, safety and efficacy results attained in our anticipated
Phase 3 clinical trials for SinuNase may be less positive than the results obtained in Mayo Chinic’s previous clinical trials for
SinuNase, and we may be unable to establish efficacy or the safety profile required for approval without supporting Phase 1 and 2
studies. Furthermore, we could be required to conduct a Phase 2 study prior to, or contemporaneously with, the Phase 3 studies, or
could be required to conduct more than two Phase 3 clinical trials for SinuNase if our two initial concurrent trials are not
confirmatory. With respect to BiovaxID, safety and efficacy results attained in our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for BiovaxID may
be less positive than the results obtained in the NCI's Phase 2 clinical trials for BiovaxID. Because our clinical trials for both
BiovaxID and SinuNase may produce negative or inconclusive results, we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct
additional clinical and/or preclinical testing for these product candidates or cease our clinical trials. If this happens, we may not be
able to obtain approval for these products or the anticipated time to market for these products may be substantially delayed, and
we may also experience significant additional development costs. We may also be required to undertake additional clinical testing
if we change or expand the indications for our product candidates.

The clinical trials for SinuNase and BiovaxID have demonstrated that certain side effects may be associated with these
treatments, and ongoing or future clinical trials may reveal additional unexpected or unanticipated side effects.

In clinical trials conducted to date by Mayo Clinic, a small number of CRS patients have demonstrated a sensitivity or suspected
allergy to amphotericin B that was non-systemic and temporary, but these patients fully recovered quickly after the cessation of
treatment with amphotericin B. A relatively small number of patients in the BiovaxID clinical trials have experienced adverse
events, none of which were life-threatening, at the time of vaccine or control administration, but it seems likely from the nature of
these events that they were either unrelated to the study or were due to the concomitant administration of GM-CSF. Also, skin
irritation consisting of redness and induration, or hardening of the tissue, at the site of BiovaxID or control injection has been
noted, but this condition has generally lasted only a few days and was limited to skin surrounding the injection site. The Data
Monitoring and Safety Board for BiovaxID, which reviews all adverse event reports related to BiovaxID, has not expressed any
concemns to date about the safety of the vaccine. However, we cannot guarantee that our current or future trials for BiovaxID and
SinuNase will not demonstrate additional adverse side effects that may delay or even preclude regulatory approval. Even if either
or both of BiovaxID and SinuNase receive regulatory approval, if we or others identify previously unknown side effects following
approval, regulatory approval could be withdrawn and sales of the product could be significantly reduced.

If we do not in the future obtain a license from Mayo Foundation for antifungals other than amphotericin B in the treatment
of CRS, then Mayo Foundation will not be precluded from licensing its patented CRS therapy to third parties using other
antifungals.

Our rights to SinuNase are based on a license agreement with Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research. Our license
agreement with Mayo Foundation gives us the exclusive worldwide right to commercialize Mayo Foundation’s patented CRS
treatment method using the antifungal amphotericin B. Although Mayo Foundation’s clinical trials on its CRS therapy were based
on the use of amphotericin B, Mayo Foundation’s patents and patent applications with respect to the therapy broadly apply to the
topical application of any antifungals for the treatment of CRS. In December 2005, we entered into an Option Agreement with
Mayo Foundation giving us the exclusive right until December 2006, without obligation, o seek to negotiate a license for all anti-
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fungals in addition to Amphotericin B. In the event that we are not successful in negotiating such atlditional licenses, Mayo
Foundation is not precluded from licensing to third parties, including potential competitors, the use of antifungals other than
amphotencm B for the treatment of CRS. If Mayo Foundation grants such a license to a third party, and if the use of such other
antifungal is shown to have an efficacy and safety profile that equals or exceeds that of amphotericin B for this application, we
may not be able to! ‘commercialize or generate revenue from SinuNase and our business, financial condrtlon and results of
operations could be adversely affected. 1

Delays in clinical testmg could result in increased costs to us and delay our ability to generate revenue,

Significant delays in, clinical testing could materially impact our product development costs. We currently expect that we and our
Biovest subsidiary will need expend at least $2.8 million to complete our clinical trials for SinuNase and at least $20.0 million to
complete our chnlcal trials for BiovaxID, respectively. We do not know whether planned clinical trlals will begin on time, will
need to be restructured or will be completed on schedule, if at all. Clinical trials can be delayed for a vanety of reasons, including
delays in obtaining regulatory approval to commence and continue a study, delays in reaching agreement on acceptable clinical
study terms with prospective sites, delays in obtaining institutional review board approval to conduct a study at a prospective site,
and delays in recruiting patients to participate in a study. For example, when the IND for BiovaxID was transferred by the NCI to
us, we experienced delays in our clinical trials because the investigative sites for the trials were required to get new approvals
from institutional rev1ew boards, which are independent bodies that oversee the conduct of research 1nv01v1ng human subjects.

The FDA may requrre that we conduct clinical studies on the safety and efficacy of our drug product candidates for all relevant
pediatric populations as part of the approval process. We have applied for a pediatric assessment waiver from FDA for our
Emezine product and plan to submit waiver applications for our other products, but we can make no assurances that such waivers
will be granted. If the FDA requires us to amend our study protocols to address pediatric populations, thei approval of our products
may be delayed. } ‘

| i
In addition, we typically rely on third-party clinical investigators to conduct our clinical trials and other, third-party organizations
to oversee the operations of such clinical trials and to perform data collection and analysis. As a result, we may face additional
delays outside of our control if these parties do not perform their obligations in a timely fashion. Significant delays in testing or
regulatory approvals for SinuNase, BiovaxID, or any of our other current or future product candidates, could cause delays in, and
could even prevent, the commercialization of such product and generation of revenue from that product and could cause our costs
to increase. ;

|
Inability to obtain regulatory approval for our manufacturing facility or to manufacture on a commercial scale may delay or

disrupt our commercialization efforts. J

Before we can obtain FDA approval for any new drug, the manufacturing facility for the drug must be inspected and approved by
the FDA. Therefore, before we can obtain the FDA approval necessary to allow us to begin commercially manufacturing
BiovaxID, we must pass a pre-approval inspection of our BiovaxID manufacturing facility by the IFDA. In order to obtain
approval, we will need to ensure that all of our processes, methods, and equipment are complian“t with the current Good
Manufacturing Practlces or cGMP, and perform extensive audits of vendors, contract laboratories, and suppliers. The cGMP
requirements govern quality control of the manufacturing process and documentation policies and procedures. We have
undertaken steps towards achieving compliance with these regulatory requirements required for commetcialization. In complying
with ¢cGMP, we will be obligated to expend time, money, and effort in production, record keeping, and quality control to assure
that the product meets applicable specifications and other requirements. If we fail to comply with these requirements, we could
experience product liability claims from patients receiving our vaccines, we might be subject to p0551b1e regulatory action and we

may be limited in the jurisdictions in which we are permitted to sell BiovaxID.

We are currently manufacturing BiovaxID for our clinical trials at our facility in Worcester, Massachusetts Our manufacturing
fac111ty in Worcester is currently subject to licensing requirements of the Massachusetts Department of Pubhc Health. Our facility
is subject to inspection by the FDA as well as by the Massachusetts Department of Public Health at any time. Failure to obtain
and maintain a license from the Massachusetts Department of Public Health or to meet the inspection cr1ter1a of the FDA and the
Massachusetts Department of Public Health would disrupt our manufacturing processes, increase costs, and would harm our
business. If an inspéction by the FDA, the Massachusetts Department of Public Health, or foreign reguﬂatory authorities indicates
that there are deficiencies, we would be required to take remedial actions or our facility may be closed (and we may be subject to

additional enforcement activity. ‘
|

In order to commercialize BiovaxID, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, we will need to develop and qualify one
or more additional manufacturmg facilities. Preparing a facility for commercial manufacturing may 1nvolve unanticipated delays,
and the costs of complying with state, local, and FDA regulations may be higher than we anticipated: In addition, any material
changes we make to the manufacturing process may require approval by the FDA and state or foreign regulatory authorities.
Obtaining these approvals is a lengthy, involved process, and we may experience delays. Such delays could increase costs and
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adversely affect our business. In general, the FDA views cGMP standards as being more rigorously applied as products move
forward in development and commercialization. In seeking to comply with these standards, we may encounter problems with,
among other things, controlling costs and quality control and assurance. Although we believe that our BiovaxID manufacturing
facility in Worcester, Massachusetts is currently ¢cGMP compliant, it may be difficult to maintain compliance with cGMP
standards as the development and commercialization of BiovaxID progresses, if it progresses. In addition, although we intend to
use the Worcester facility for purposes of commercial-scale manufacturing of BiovaxID, the demands and increasingly rigorous
cGMP standards that will be applicable to that facility may require us to construct a new and different facility or seek a third-party
contract manufacturer for the therapy, which could also cause increased costs.

We may not be able to obtain or maintain orphan drug exclusivity for BiovaxID, and our competitors may obtain orphan drug
exclusivity prior to us.

We have applied for orphan drug designation for the use of BiovaxID for the treatment of certain forms of follicular B-cell NHL.
Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat a “rare disease or condition,”
which generally is a disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States. Orphan drug designation
must be requested before submitting a Biologics License Application, or BLA. After the FDA grants orphan drug designation to a
product, the generic identity of the therapeutic agent and its potential orphan use are publicly disclosed by the FDA. Orphan drug
designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval process. If a product
which has an orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the indication for which it has such
designation, the product is entitled to orphan exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not approve any other applications to
market the same drug for the same indication for a period of seven years, except in limited circumstances such as greater
effectiveness, greater safety, major contribution to patient care, or inadequate supply. Even though we have applied for orphan
drug status, FDA has sought additional information from us as to whether the indication for BiovaxID meets the legal definition
of orphan disease or condition and may decide that BiovaxID is ineligible for orphan drug designation. Even if designated as an
orphan drug, BiovaxID may not be approved, or may not be approved before other applications, or granted orphan drug
exclusivity if approved. Our competitors may obtain orphan drug exclusivity for products competitive with our product candidates
before we do, in which case we would be excluded from that market if the FDA deems the competitive drug to be the same drug
as BiovaxID. Even if we obtain orphan drug exclusivity for BiovaxID, we may not be able to maintain it. For example, if a
competitive product is shown to be clinically superior to our product, any orphan drug exclusivity we have obtained will not block
the approval of such competitive product.

The commercialization of our product candidates may not be profitable.

In order for the commercialization of our product candidates to be profitable, our products must be cost-effective and economical
to manufacture on a commercial scale. Furthermore, if our products do not achieve market acceptance, we may not be profitable.
Subject to regulatory approval, we expect to incur significant sales, marketing, and manufacturing expenses in connection with
the commercialization of SinuNase, BiovaxID, and our other product candidates. Even if we receive additional financing, we may
not be able to complete planned clinical trials and the development, manufacturing, and marketing of any or all of our product
candidates. Qur future profitability will depend on many factors, including, but not limtted to:

+ the cost and timing of developing a commercial scale manufacturing facility or the costs of outsourcing our
manufacturing of BiovaxID;

+  the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending, and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
+ the costs of establishing sales, marketing, and distribution capabilities;

+  the effect of competing technological and market developments; and

« the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing, and other arrangements that we may establish.

Even if we receive regulatory approval for BiovaxID, including regulatory approval of a commercial scale manufacturing facility,
we may not ever receive significant revenues from BiovaxID. Additionally, although we currently receive licensing revenue from
compounding pharmacies to produce antifungal solutions for CRS upon the prescription of licensed physicians, we may not
receive significant revenues from an FDA-approved CRS therapy for many years. With respect to the products in our
development pipeline that are being developed by third parties, our ability to generate revenues from those products will depend
in large part on the efforts of those third parties. To the extent that we are not successful in commercializing our product
candidates, our product revenues will suffer, we will incur significant additional losses and the price of our common stock will be
negatively affected.
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We have no experience manufacturing BiovaxID or any other immunotherapies for the number of patients and at a cost that
would enable widespread commercial use.

To date, we have only manufactured BiovaxID in quantities necessary to support our ongoing clinical ltrlals for BiovaxID. We
have no experience in manufacturing BiovaxID, or any other immunotherapies, for the number of patlents and at a cost that would
support commercial use. In addition, since no other company has manufactured for commercial| sale a patient-specific
immunotherapeutic product derived from the patient’s own cancer cells, there are no precedents from which we could learn. If we
or a third party are unable to manufacture sufficient quantities of BiovaxID at a reasonable cost to support commercial use, we
will not be able to commercialize BiovaxID and generate revenue, despite significant development expenéiitures

We may experience dtff culties in manufacturing BiovaxID or in obtaining approval of the change in manufacturmg site from
the FDA, which could prevent us from completing our ongoing clinical trials and delay the commerc:ahzatlon of BiovaxID.

Manufacturing B10vaxID is complex and requires coordination internally among our employees as ‘Well as externally with
physmans hospitalsjand third-party suppliers and carriers. This process involves several risks that may lead to failures or delays
in manufacturing BlovaxID including: (

. difﬁcultles in obtaining adequate tumor samples from physicians;

«  difficulties in timely shipping of tumor samples to us or in the shipping of BiovaxID to the tfeating physicians due to

errors by fhird—party carriers, transportation restrictions or other reasons; |
|

{

. destruc‘uon of, or damage to, tumor samples or BiovaxID during the shipping process due to the improper handling by
thlrd-party carriers, hospitals, physicians or us; ;

. destrucuop of, or damage to, tumor samples or BiovaxID during storage at our facility; and ]

«  difficulties in ensuring the availability, quality, and consistency of materials provided by our svilppliers.

If we experience any difficulties in manufacturing BiovaxID, or any other immunotherapies that we m:ay develop, our ongoing
clinical trials may be delayed and commercialization of BiovaxID, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop, may be
delayed, resulting inidelays in generating revenue and increased costs. i

' {

In addition, changes to the manufacturing process during or following the completion of clinical tr:ials requires sponsors to
demonstrate to the FDA that the product under new conditions is comparable to the product that was the!subject of earlier clinical
testing. This requirement applies to relocations or expansions of manufacturing facilities, such as the possible expansion to
additional facilities that may be required for successful commercialization of the vaccine, resulting in inc;reased costs.

A showing of comparability requires data demonstrating that the product continues to be safe, pure, andé potent and may be based’
on chemical, physical, and biological assays and, in some cases, other non-clinical data. If we demonstrate comparability,
additional clinical safety and/or efficacy trials with the new product may not be needed. The FDA will determine if comparability
data are sufficient to demonstrate that additional clinical studies are unnecessary. If the FDA requires additional clinical safety or
efficacy trials to demonstrate comparability, our clinical trials or FDA approval of BiovaxID may be delayed which would cause
delays in generating|revenue and increased costs. 4

'
i
!

Inability to obtain approval of a supplemental IND for SinuNase in its encochleated form may delay the approval and
commercialization of the encochleated version of SinuNase. |

We submitted an IND for SinuNase in April 2005 for an amphotericin B suspension that is self-admﬁnistered by squirting the
suspension from a plastic applicator through each nostril in order to bathe the nasal cavity. We expect to subsequently file a
supplement to the IND to add a second product consisting of an encochleated version of the amphotericin B suspension for
administration with,a pump spray. Encochleation is a proprietary process in which a phospholipid is used as an excipient, an inert
additive used as a drug delivery vehicle, to extend the shelf-life of the product in an aqueous medium. !The encochleated version
of the product is being developed by us under a license agreement with BioDelivery Sciences, under WhICh we have been granted
exclusive worldwide rights to BioDelivery Sciences’ encochleation technology for CRS and asthma products using topical

amphotericin B, |

'

Changes to the drug product and to certain manufacturing processes during or following the completlon of clinical trials require
sponsors to demonstrate to the FDA that the product under new conditions is comparable to the prodtllct that was the subject of
earlier clinical testing. A showing of comparability requires data demonstrating that the product contmues to be safe, pure, and
potent and may be based on chemical, physical, and biological assays and, in some cases, otheq non-clinical data. If we
demonstrate comparability, the FDA may not require additional clinical safety and/or efficacy trials with the encochleated
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amphotericin B suspension. If the FDA requires additional clinical safety or efficacy trials to demonstrate comparability, our
clinical trials or FDA approval of the encochleated version of SinuNase may be delayed, which would cause delays in generating
revenue and increased costs. We cannot guarantee that the FDA will permit us to file a supplemental IND for the encochleated
version of SinuNase, in which case we would be required to file a separate IND for the product, thus causing a delay in the
clinical trials and approval of the product.

We are dependent on third-party development partners for the development and regulatory approval of some of our products
and on third-party contract manufacturers for the supply of many of our products.

+  Some of the products in our development pipeline are being developed by third parties, and in some cases, these third
parties are responsible for obtaining necessary regulatory approvals for the products. In addition, with the exception of
BiovaxID, we currently rely, or will in the future rely, on third-party contract manufacturers to produce our currently
marketed products and the product candidates in our pipeline. We are or will be substantially dependent on the
following third-parties in connection with the following products:

+  Collegium Pharmaceutical, Inc. is the developer of our AllerNase product, which is to be manufactured through a third-
party contract manufacturer to be selected in the future.

«  The MD Turbo device is being developed by Respirics, Inc., which is responsible for seeking regulatory clearance or
approval of the product. Respirics will also be the exclusive supplier of MD Turbo to us, and Respirics will be
responsible for engaging and managing one or more contract manufacturers for the product.

+  Emezine is being developed by Arius Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which is responsible for obtaining regulatory approval of
the product. Under our agreements with Arius, Arius will be the exclusive supplier of Emezine, and Arius is obligated
to have Emezine exclusively manufactured by Reckitt Benckiser Healthcare (UK) Ltd., a United Kingdom
pharmaceuticals company. Arius will manage the relationship with Reckitt Benckiser.

*  Under a manufacturing and supply agreement with Mikart, Inc., Mikart will serve as the exclusive manufacturer of our
pain products, including Xodol. Mikart is also responsible for obtaining regulatory approval of these products. Argent
Development Group, LLC and Acheron Development Group, LLC are our exclusive development partners for the pain
products that are still under development.

«  Kiel Laboratories is the exclusive manufacturer for our Respi~TANN product.

Our ability to commercialize the products that we develop with our partners and generate revenues from product sales depends on
our partners’ ability to assist us in establishing the safety and efficacy of our product candidates, obtaining and maintaining
regulatory approvals and achieving market acceptance of the products once commercialized. Our partners may elect to delay or
terminate development of one or more product candidates, independently develop products that could compete with ours, or fail
to commit sufficient resources to the marketing and distribution of products developed through their strategic relationships with
us. If our partners fail to perform as we expect, our potential for revenue from products developed through our strategic
relationships with them could be dramatically reduced.

The risks associated with our reliance on contract manufacturers include the following:

*  Contract manufacturers may encounter difficulties in achieving volume production, quality control, and quality
assurance and also may experience shortages in qualified personnel and obtaining active ingredients for our products.

+ If we need to change manufacturers, the FDA and corresponding foreign regulatory agencies must approve these
manufacturers in advance. This would involve testing and pre-approval inspections to ensure compliance with FDA
and foreign regulations and standards.

»  Contract manufacturers are subject to ongoing periodic, unannounced inspection by the FDA and corresponding state
and foreign agencies or their designees to ensure strict compliance with cGMP and other governmental regulations and
corresponding foreign standards. Other than through contract, we do not have control over compliance by our contract
manufacturers with these regulations and standards. Our present or future contract manufacturers may not be able to
comply with ¢cGMP and other FDA requirements or similar regulatory requirements outside the United States. Failure
of contract manufacturers to comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us in some
cases, including fines, injunctions, failure of regulatory authorities to grant marketing approval of our product
candidates, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, seizures or recalls of product candidates, operating
restrictions, and criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect our business.
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»  Contract manufacturers may breach the manufacturing agreements that we or our developrnent partners have entered
into with [them because of factors beyond our control or may terminate or fail to renew a manufacturmg agreement
based on thelr own business priorities at a time that is costly or inconvenient for us. ]

If we are not able to obtain adequate supplies of our current and future products, it will be more difficult for us to develop our
product candidates and compete effectively. If we or any of our third-party development partners are unable to continue to access
sufficient supply from our third-party contract manufacturers, we may not be able to find another surtable source of supply that
meets our need to manufacture the MD Turbo device or any of our other products. Dependence upon third parties for the
manufacture of our product candidates may reduce our profit margins, if any, on the sale of our productsj and may limit our ability
to develop and deliver products on a timely and competitive basis, which could delay our ability to generate revenue and increase
Ccosts.

Some of our speciaity pharmaceutical products are not the subject of FDA-approved new drug applicdtions

New drugs must belthe subject of an FDA-approved NDA, or ANDA, application demonstrating safety and effectiveness before
they may be marketed in the United States. Some prescription and other drugs marketed by pharmaceutrkal companies are not the
subject of an approyed marketing application because new drug applications requiring demonstration of safety and effectiveness
were not required at the time that these active ingredients were initially marketed. While the FDA rev1ewed classes of these
products in the 1960s and 1970s as part of the Drug Efficacy Study Implementation (DESI) program, ; there are several types of
drugs, including some cold and cough drugs, that the FDA has not yet evaluated and remain on the market without FDA approval.

Respi~TANN® and our Histex line of products are marketed in the United States without an F DA-approiifed marketing application

because they have been considered by us to be identical, related, or similar to products that have existed in the market without an
NDA or ANDA. These products are marketed subject to the FDA’s regulatory discretion and/or enforcement policies. FDA has
adopted a risk-based enforcement policy concerning unapproved drugs. The agency has articulated that, ; pn enforcing the new drug
application requrrements it prioritizes drugs that pose potential safety risks, lack evidence of effectlveness and prevent patients
from seeking effective therapies, and those that are marketed fraudulently. In addition, the FDA has 1ndrcated that approval of an
NDA for one drug within a class of drugs marketed without FDA approval may also trigger agency enforcement of the new drug
requirements. Once the FDA issues an approved NDA for one of the drug products at issue or completes the efficacy review for
that drug product, it may require us to also file a NDA or ANDA application for that same drug in order to continue marketing it
in the United States. While the agency generally provides sponsors a one year grace period, the agency!is not statutorily required
to do so. In addition, although we may be given time to submit a marketing application for a product before the agency would
take enforcement action, the time it takes us to complete the necessary clinical studies and submit an application to FDA may
exceed this time period, resulting in an interruption of marketing. It is also possible that the FDA could disagree with our
determination that some or all of these products are identical, related, or similar to products that have fexisted in the marketplace
without an NDA or: ANDA . j

The FDA has approved an NDA for a competitor of our Histex Pd 12 product, although to date, we have not received any
indication that the agency plans to take enforcement action with respect to this drug. Our ability to market Histex Pd 12 may be
affected if the FDA takes enforcement action and requires that we submit an NDA or ANDA application to continue to market
this product. Any change in the FDA’s enforcement discretion and/or policies could alter the way we currently conduct our
business, and any such change could impact our future profitability. |
In addition, our Respi-TANN, Histex I/E, Histex SR, Histex PD 12 products contain a timed-release dc:>sage mechanism utilizing
tannic acid or timed-release beads. In 1960, the FDA issued a policy stating that when a timed-release dosage feature is added to a
drug, then an approved NDA is required in order to market the drug. While listed in the Code of Federal Regulations, this policy
has never gone through the notice and comment rulemaking process required for the development of an FDA regulation.
Additionally, numerous tannic-acid based or bead-based timed-release medications have been introduced by other pharmaceutical
companies since the FDA’s pronouncement without an NDA. Consequently, in continuing to market these products, we rely on
the FDA’s enforcement discretion with respect to these products, but we cannot guarantee that the EDA will not in the future
choose to require an NDA or ANDA for these products, notwithstanding the fact that similar products have been marketed for

many years. ; 1

If we fail to enter into and maintain successful strategic relationships for our product candidates, we may have to reduce or
delay our product candidate development or increase our expenditures.

Our strategy for developing, manufacturing, and commercializing in certain therapeutic areas currently requires us to enter into
and successfully maintain strategic relationships with pharmaceutical companies or other industry participants to advance our
programs and reduce our expenditures on each program. In addition to our development partners for MD Turbo, Emezine, and our
pain product formulations, we have to date formed strategic relationships with Pharmaceutical Prodict Development, Inc. and
other companies. We may not be able to negotiate additional strategic relationships on acceptable ter%ms, if at all. If we are not

|
|
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able to maintain our existing strategic relationships or establish and maintain additional strategic relationships, we may have to
limit the size or scope of, or delay, one or more of our product development programs or research programs, or undertake and
fund these programs ourselves. If we elect to increase our expenditures to fund product development programs or research
programs on our own, we will need to obtain additional capital, which may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all.

If we acquire other complementary technologies or companies, our financial performance could suffer, and such acquisitions
involve a number of risks.

We actively seek to identify and acquire companies, technologies, or pharmaceutical products with attributes complementary to
our products and services. Acquisitions that we make may involve numerous risks, including:

» diverting management’s attention from other business concerns;
+  being unable to maintain uniform standards, controls, procedures, and policies;
+  entering markets in which we have no direct prior experience;

+ improperly evaluating new services and technologies or otherwise being unable to fully exploit the anticipated
opportunity; and

»  being unable to successfully integrate the acquisition.

In connection with our acquisitions to date, we do not believe that we have been materially impacted by any of the factors listed
above, although we are still in the process of integrating our acquired businesses and cannot guarantee that we will not experience
any material problems in connection with such integration in the future. If we are unable to accurately assess any newly acquired
businesses or technologies, our business could suffer. Future acquisitions may involve the assumption of obligations or large one-
time write-offs and amortization expenses related to goodwill and other intangible assets. Any of the factors listed above would
adversely affect our results of operations.

In addition, in order to finance any future acquisition, we may need to raise additional funds through public or private financings.
In this event, we could be forced to obtain equity or debt financing on terms that are not favorable to us and that may result in
dilution to our stockholders.

We are not able to prevent third parties, including potential competitors, from developing and selling an anti-cancer vaccine
for NHL having the same composition of matter as BiovaxID.

Our BiovaxID vaccine is based on research and studies conducted at Stanford University and the NCI. As a result of published
studies, the concept of the vaccine and its composition of matter are in the public domain and cannot be patented by us, the NCI,
or any other party. We have filed a PCT patent application on the type of cell media that is used to grow cell cultures in the
production of our vaccine, and we have filed a PCT patent application on certain features of the integrated production and
purification system used to produce and purify the vaccine in an automated closed system. However, we cannot prevent other

companies using different manufacturing processes from developing active immunotherapies that directly compete with
BiovaxID.

We are aware of several companies focusing on the development of active immunotherapies for NHL, including Gentitope
Corporation, Antigenics, Inc., Favrille, Inc., and Large Scale Biology Corporation. We believe none of these companies uses the
hybridoma method to produce a patient-specific vaccine, and of these companies, only Genitope and Favrille have a product
candidate in Phase 3 clinical trials. Several companies, such as Genentech, Inc., Corixa Corporation, Biogen Idec, and
Immunomedics, Inc., are involved in the development of passive immunotherapies for NHL. These passive immunotherapies
include Rituxan, a monoclonal antibody, and Zevalin and Bexxar, which are passive radioimmunotherapy products. Competition
could impair our ability to generate revenue and could increase costs.

Our proprietary rights may not adequately protect our technologies and product candidates.

Our commercial success will depend in part on obtaining and maintaining patent protection and trade secret protection of our
technologies and product candidates as well as successfully defending these patents against third-party challenges. We will only
be able to protect our technologies and product candidates from unauthorized use by third parties to the extent that valid and
enforceable patents or trade secrets cover them. Furthermore, the degree of future protection of our proprietary rights is uncertain
because legal means afford only limited protection and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our
competitive advantage.

In addition to the patent applications that we have filed and the patent we hold relating to the method of producing BiovaxID,
SinuNase is the subject of a patent that we license from Mayo Foundation that expires in 2018. The MD Turbo device is the
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subject of four 1ssued U.S. patents and one pending U.S. application that are held by Respirics, Inc., ourl development partner for
MD Turbo, and these patents expire in 2016. ;

The patent positions of life sciences companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and fattual questions for which
important legal prmc1p1es remain unresolved. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in such companies’

patents has emerged to date in the United States. The patent situation outside the United States is even more uncertain. Changes in
either the patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States or other countries may dlnnnlsh the value of our
intellectual property.f Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in
third-party patents. Eor example: i

+  we or out licensors might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent
applications and issued patents;

* weorour! hcensors might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions;
\
» others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies;

e itis p0531ble that none of our pending patent applications or the pending patent applications of our licensors will result
in issued patents; ;

|

«  our issued patents and issued patents of our licensors may not provide a basis for commermally viable products, or may
not prov1de us with any competitive advantages, or may be challenged and invalidated by third parties;

«  we may nét develop additional proprietary technologies or product candidates that are patentallle or
+ the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business. j
|
We also rely on trade secrets to protect our technology, especially where we do not believe patent prcS)tection is appropriate or
obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. While we use reasonable efforts to protect 0111;‘ trade secrets, our or our
strategic partners’ employees, consultants, contractors, or scientific and other advisors may unintentionally or willfully disclose
our information to competitors. If we were to enforce a claim that a third party had illegally obtained and was using our trade
secrets, it would be! expensive and time consuming, and the outcome would be unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the
United States are sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets. Moreover, if our competitors independently develop equivalent
knowledge, methods, and know-how, it will be more difficult for us to enforce our patent rights anfd our business could be

harmed. ‘ |

If we are not able toidefend the patent or trade secret protection position of our technologies and producf candidates, then we will
not be able to exclude competitors from developing or marketing competing products, and we may not [generate enough revenue
from product sales to justify the cost of development of our products and to achieve or maintain profitability.

We may find it difficult to prevent compounding pharmacies from preparing compounded formulattons of amphotericin B

solution for the treatment of CRS in violation of the patents that we license. 1
|

We hold an exclusive license to market and sell products made from amphotericin B based on May"o Foundation’s patented
treatment method for CRS. Although amphotericin B has not been approved by the FDA for the treatm!ent of CRS, a number of
physicians currently|prescribe a compounded formulation of amphotericin B solution for their CRS patients These formulations
are prepared by compounding pharmacies that are in the business of preparing custom-made solutions using FDA-approved active
ingredients. While we have sublicensed our rights to the compounded variant of the product to compoundmg pharmacies, we are
aware that other compounding pharmacies may be preparing similar compounded formulations in violation of one or more claims
of our licensed patents. Because these patent violations may be sporadic and dispersed, we may not be able to easily identify the
violations. In addition, because the patents that we license from Mayo Foundation relate to a method |of treating CRS, if other
amphotericin B solutions become commercially available for other indications, we may not be able to| prevent physicians from
prescribing such other solutions for CRS on an off-label basis. Such actions could hinder our ability to jgenerate enough revenue

to justify development costs and to achieve or maintain profitability.

If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, such litigation will be costly and time consuming, and
an unfavorable outcome would have a significant adverse effect on our business.

Our ability to commercialize our products depends on our ability to sell such products without infrinéing the patents or other
proprietary rights ofl third parties. Numerous United States and foreign issued patents and pending apphcatlons which are owned
by third parties, exist in the various areas in which we have products or are seeking to create products, mcludmg patents relating
to specific antifungal formulations and methods of using the formulations to treat infections, as well as patents relating to serum-

}
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based vaccines and methods for detection of lymphoma. The interpretation of patent claims is complex and uncertain. The legal
standards governing claim interpretations are evolving and changing. Thus, any significant changes in the legal standards would
impact the way that we interpret the claims of third-party patents in our product areas. In addition, because patent applications can
take several years to issue, there may be currently pending applications, unknown to us, which may later result in issued patents
that our product candidates may infringe. There could also be existing patents of which we are not aware that our product
candidates may inadvertently infringe.

If a third party claims that we infringe on their patents or other proprietary rights, we could face a number of issues that could
seriously harm our competitive position, including:

«  infringement and other intellectual property claims which, with or without merit, can be costly and time consuming to
litigate and can delay the regulatory approval process and divert management’s attention from our core business
strategy;

»  substantial damages for past infringement which we may have to pay if a court determines that our products or
technologies infringe upon a competitor’s patent or other proprietary rights;

» a court prohibiting us from selling or licensing our products or technologies unless the holder licenses the patent or
other proprietary rights to us, which it is not required to do;

» if a license is available from a holder, we may have to pay substantial royalties or grant cross licenses to our patents or
other proprietary rights; and

»  redesigning our process so that it does not infringe, which may not be possible or may require substantial time and
expense.

Such actions could harm our competitive position and our ability to generate revenue and could result in increased costs.

If federal or state enforcement authorities characterize any portion of the fees payable to us by sublicensees of our CRS
therapy as remuneration for recommending or referring business to the compounding pharmacies, then such fees could be
challenged under federal and/or state anti-kickback laws.

We have sublicensed our rights to Mayo Clinic’s patented CRS therapy to several compounding pharmacies that pay us a
sublicensing fee each time they dispense an antifungal for CRS treatment under a physician’s prescription. We may enter into
additional sublicensing arrangements in the future with other compounding pharmacies and charge similar royalties. We also
maintain a small group from our specialty pharmaceuticals business to educate physicians about Mayo Clinic’s research and
studies relating to the causes and potential treatment methods for CRS. We believe that the fees payable to us by sublicensed
compounding pharmacies are payable solely for the grant of the sublicense to the Mayo Clinic’s CRS therapy, and such
sublicense fees are payable regardless of the source of the prescription. However, if federal or state enforcement authorities
characterize any part of these sublicense fees as remuneration to us in exchange for arranging for or recommending the services
of, or otherwise referring business to, these compounding pharmacies, then these sublicense fees could be challenged under
federal and/or state anti-kickback laws. To the extent that enforcement is initiated, we could face fines and other penalties, which
could harm our business.

The revenues that we receive from sublicensing the amphotericin B therapy for CRS to compounding pharmacies could be
materially adversely impacted by FDA enforcement action.

Although we cannot market SinuNase until we obtain FDA approval, our license agreement with Mayo Foundation permits us to
sublicense Mayo Foundation’s patent rights related to amphotericin B for use as a therapy for CRS to compounding pharmacies
under license agreements approved by Mayo Foundation. Such compounding pharmacies would then have the right to use the
sublicense to compound the product for prescribing physicians. Pharmacy compounding is considered to be part of the practice of
pharmacy, regulated by state pharmacy practice acts. The FDA does not typically exercise its enforcement authority against
traditional pharmacy compounding whereby pharmacists extemporaneously compound and manipulate reasonable quantities of
human drugs upon receipt of a valid prescription for an individually identified patient from a licensed practitioner. However, the
FDA has taken enforcement action against pharmacies whose activities the FDA believes exceed the scope of the practice of
pharmacy by engaging in the actual manufacturing of drug products. The FDA has identified that such activities may include, but
not be limited to, compounding drugs in anticipation of receiving prescriptions, using commerciaj-scale manufacturing or testing
equipment for compounding, failing to document individual medical need for the compounded product, and failing to operate in
conformance with state law regulating the practice of pharmacy. In the event that the FDA takes an enforcement action against
any of the compounding pharmacies to which we may sublicense the amphotericin B therapy, the revenues we receive could
materially decline, which could harm our business. We have no assurance that the FDA will refrain from taking enforcement
actions against any of the compounding pharmacies, nor can we assure you that laws related to the FDA’s regulation of
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compounding pharmames will not provide the FDA with additional enforcement authority against compoundmg pharmacies, all
of which could result in a decline in our revenues which would harm our business. In addition, our] representatives educate
physicians about the' availability of the compounding services, and while we believe that such information does not represent
promotion of the product, the FDA may disagree, and we could be subject to enforcement action, mcludmg but not limited to a
warning letter demanding that we cease the provision of such information. ;‘

Physicians may be réluctant to prescribe amphotericin B for treatment of CRS while it is an unapprovetil indication.

Physicians are permitted to prescribe drug for unapproved indications, sometimes referred to as “off-label” uses, as part of the
practice of medicine.: However, the federal Medicaid program, which provides significant reimbursemen?t for prescription drugs,
restricts the types and uses of drugs which may be paid for with federal funds. The Medicaid program primarily provides
reimbursement only for drugs used for medically accepted indications. A medically accepted mdlca‘nonns defined as a use that
has either been approved by the FDA or is supported by specific compendia set forth in the Medicaid statute, in which off-label
usage is significantly restricted. Submission of a claim to federal or state governments for relmbursementv of an off-label use of a
drug not eligible for such reimbursement could be considered a false claim under the Federal False Claxm’s Act, if such claim was
submitted knowing it'was false. Although the federal government has focused its attention in this area on the activities of drug
manufacturers in promoting off-label uses of their products, these actions have been high profile and have tnvolved substantial
settlements. Such governmental activity has heightened concerns of physicians regarding off-label prescnbmg This may result in
a decline in prescriptions of amphotericin B for treatment of CRS. Such decline could cause our revenues to decline materially
and harm the busmess of our company. 1
We currently depend ¢ on a sole-source supplier for KLH, a critical raw material used in the manufacture of BiovaxID, and
physicians who administer BiovaxID depend on a sole-source supplier for GM-CSF, an immune system|stimulant
administered with BiovaxID. ;

We currently depend on single source suppliers for critical raw materials used in BiovaxID and other components used in the
manufacturing process and required for the administration of BiovaxID. In particular, manufacturing| of BiovaxID requires
keyhole limpet hemocyanin, or KLH, a foreign carrier protein. We purchase KLH from BioSyn Arzneimittel GmbH, or BioSyn, a
single source supplier. We have entered into a supply agreement with BioSyn, pursuant to which BioSyn has agreed to supply us
with KLH. The supply agreement has an initial term of three years and is renewable for indefinite addmonal terms of five years
each at our discretion, 'so long as we are not in default of our obligations pursuant to this agreement. Either party may terminate
the supply agreement €arlier upon a breach that is not cured within 60 days or other events relating to 1nsolvency or bankruptcy.
Under this agreement BioSyn is not contractually obligated to supply us with the amounts of KLH currently being supplied and
necessary for our current clinical trial purposes or for commercialization. There may be no other supplier of KLH of suitable

quality for our purposes. “

When BiovaxID is administered, the administering physician uses a cytokine to enhance the patient’s immune response, and this
cytokine is administered concurrently with BiovaxID. The cytokine used by physicians for this purpose is Lieukine® sargramostim,
a commercially available recombinant human granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor known as GM-CSF. This
cytokine is a substance that is purchased by the administering physician and is administered with an antigen to enhance or
increase the immune response to that antigen. The physicians who administer BiovaxID will rely on Berlex Inc., or Berlex, as a
supplier of GM-CSF, and these physicians will generally not have the benefit of a long-term supply contract w1th Berlex. GM-
CSF is not commermally available from other sources in the United States or Canada. ;

Establishing addmonal or replacement suppliers for these materials or components may take a substant1a1 amount of time. In
addition, we may have dlfﬁculty obtaining similar components from other suppliers that are acceptable to t];1e FDA. If we have to
switch to a replacement supplier, we may face additional regulatory delays and the manufacture and delivery of BiovaxID, or any
other immunotherapies that we may develop, could be interrupted for an extended period of time, which may delay completion of
our clinical trials or commercialization of BiovaxID, or any other immunotherapies that we may develop. If we are unable to
obtain adequate amounts of these components, our clinical trials will be delayed. In addition, we will be required to obtain
regulatory clearance from the FDA to use different components that may not be as safe or as effective. As a result, regulatory
approval of BiovaxID may not be received at all. All these delays could cause delays in commercialization of BiovaxID, delays in
our ability to generate révenue from BiovaxID, and increased costs. ,

l

Other than BioSyn, Berlex, and the exclusive supply relationships that we have for MD Turbo, Emezine, R{espi~TANN, and our
pain products, we are not dependent on any sole-source suppliers. ;

The market may not be receptive to our products upon their introduction.
|
The biopharmaceutical products that we may develop may not achieve market acceptance among physwlans' patients, health care

payors, and the medical community. The degree of market acceptance will depend upon a number of factors, including

|
|
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»  the receipt of regulatory approvals;

*  limited indications of regulatory approvals;

+  the establishment and demonstration in the medical community of the clinical efficacy and safety of our products and
their potential advantages over existing treatment methods;

+ the prices of such products;

+ reimbursement policies of government and third-party payors;

*  market acceptance of patient-specific active immunotherapies, in the case of BiovaxID;
» the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

»  potential advantages over alternative treatments;

+  ability to produce our products at a competitive price;

«  stocking and distribution;

+ relative convenience and ease of administration;

+  the strength of marketing and distribution support; and

+  sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement.

The failure of our product pipeline to gain market acceptance could impair our ability to generate revenue, which could have a
material adverse effect on our future business, financial condition and results of operations.

The National Cancer Institute is not precluded from working with other companies on developing products that are
competitive with BiovaxID. ‘

|
Our BiovaxID vaccine is based on research and studies conducted at Stanford University and the NCI. The concept of producing a
patient-specific anti-cancer vaccine through the hybridoma method from a patient’s own cancer cells has been discussed in a
variety of publications over a period of many years, and, accordingly, the general method and concept of such a vaccine is not
eligible to be patented by us, the NCI, or any other party. We are currently a party to a Cooperative Research and Development
Agreement, or CRADA, with the NCI for the development of a hybridoma-based patient-specific idiotypic vaccine for the
treatment of indolent follicular NHL, The CRADA provides that we have the first right to negotiate an exclusive license to any
inventions conceived or first actually reduced to practice by NCI employees, either solely or jointly with our employees, in the
course of their performance of the research plan under the CRADA. However, the agreement does not give us an automatic right
to such a license, and therefore it is possible that such an invention could ultimately be licensed to a third-party, including a
competitor. Additionally, although the NCI has transferred sponsorship of the IND for BiovaxID to us, and although there are
certain confidentiality protections for information generated pursuant to the CRADA, the CRADA does not prevent the NCI from
working with other companies on other hybridoma-based idiotypic vaccines for indolent follicular NHL or other forms of cancer,
and the NCI has the right to terminate the CRADA at any time upon 30 days prior written notice. If the NCI chooses to work with
other companies in connection with the development of such a vaccine, such other companies may develop technology and know-
how that may ultimately enable such companies to develop products that compete with BiovaxID. Additionally, through their
partnership with the NCI, these companies could develop immunotherapies for other forms of cancer that may serve as barriers to
any future products that we may develop for such indications.

Risks Related to Our Industry

Our competitors may develop products that are less expensive, safer, or more effective, which may diminish or eliminate the
commercial success of any future products that we may commercialize.

*  We compete with several biopharmaceutical companies, and our competitors may:
+  develop product candidates and market products that are less expensive or more effective than our future products;

* commercialize competing products before we or our partners can launch any products developed from our product
candidates;
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anticipated future growth, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational, and financial systems,

expand our facilities, aﬁd continue to recruit and train additional qualified personnel. Due to our limited resources, we may not be

able to effectively ma‘hage the expansion of our operations or recruit and train additional qualified pelrsonnel. The physical

expansion of our opera}tions may lead to significant costs and may divert our management and business development resources.

Any inability to manage growth could delay the execution of our business plans or disrupt our operations.
| . . .

We have a limited operating history and financial results are uncertain. - |
\

We have a limited hlstory as a consolidated company and face many of the risks of a new business. As & result of our limited
operating history, it is difficult to accurately forecast our potential revenue. Our revenue and income potentlal is unproven and our
business model is still [emergmg Therefore, we cannot assure you that we will provide a return on investment in the future. An
investor in our common stock must consider the challenges, risks, and uncertainties frequently encountered in the establishment

of new technologies and products in emerging markets and evolving industries. These challenges include our ability to:

¢ execute our ‘pusiness model;
+  create brand!recognition;
*  manage gro"“vth in our operations;

* createa cust{omer base cost-effectively;

*  retain customers;

L . .
*  access add1t‘monal capital when required; and
»  attract and rétain key personnel.

We cannot be certain \that our business model will be successful or that it will successfully address these and other challenges,
risks, and uncertamtles : :

Our relatwnshtp thh\BzoDelzvery Sciences and the relationship of several of our senior executtve officers to BioDelivery
Sciences creates potenttal Jor conflicts of interest.

Our company and several of our executive officers have relationships with BioDelivery Sciences|International, Inc., or
BioDelivery Sc1ence§ a publicly traded drug delivery technology company, which may create conflicts of interest. The
encochleated version of our SinuNase product is being developed under a license agreement with BioDelivery Sciences under
which we have been granted exclusive worldwide rights to BioDelivery Sciences’ encochleation techno]ogy for CRS and asthma
products. Addmonally, Emezine is being jointly developed with Arius Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Arius, a wholly owned subsidiary

of BioDelivery Sc1ences under a distribution agreement that we entered into with Arius in March 2004.

Francis E. O’ Donnell Jr., M.D. is a principal stockholder and Chairman of the Board of both our company and BioDelivery
Sciences. Prev1ously,‘Dr O’Donnell also served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Blo]?ehvery Sciences. Alan
Pearce, our Chief Financial Officer, served as a director for BioDelivery Sciences until September 2|005 Also, four of our

employees are shared between BioDelivery Sciences and our company.
|
Our directors and exegutive officers owe a fiduciary duty of loyalty to us, and to the extent that they are also directors or officers
of BioDelivery Sciences, they also owe similar fiduciary duties to BioDelivery Sciences. However, due to their responsibilities to
serve both companies, there is potential for conflicts of interest. At any particular time, the needs of BloDellvery Sciences could
cause one or more of these executive officers to devote attention to B10Dehvery Sciences at the expense of our company. In
addition, matters may arise that place the fiduciary duties of these individuals in conflicting positions: Such conflicts will be
resolved by our independent directors and directors having no affiliation with BioDelivery Sciences. If|conflicts occur, matters
important to us could be delayed. The results of such delays are not susceptible to accurate predictions but could include, among
other things, delay in the production of sufficient amounts of SinuNase to complete our clinical trials or to meet potential
commercial demands. Such delays could increase our costs of development or reduce our ability to generate revenue. Our officers
will use every effort/to avoid material conflicts of interest generated by their responsibilities to BioDclelivery Sciences, but no

assurance can be given that material conflicts will not arise which could be detrimental to our operations and financial prospects.

|
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The existence of minority stockholders in our Biovest subsidiary creates potential for conflicts of interest.

We directly own 81% of the outstanding capital stock of Biovest International, Inc., or Biovest, our subsidiary that is developing
the BiovaxID vaccine, and the remaining 19% of Biovest stock is owned by approximately 500 stockholders of record. As a
result, conflicts of interest may develop between us and the minority stockholders of Biovest. To the extent that our officers and
directors are also officers or directors of Biovest, matters may arise that place the fiduciary duties of these individuals in
conflicting positions. Although we intend that such conflicts will be resolved by independent directors of Biovest, if this occurs,
matters important to us could be delayed. Francis E. O’Donnell, Jr., M.D., our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, is also Vice
Chairman and a director of Biovest, and Dr. Steven Arikian, a director and our President and Chief Operating Officer,
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services, is the Chairman, CEQ, and President of Biovest. Also, Martin G. Baum, our President
and Chief Operating Officer, Specialty Pharmaceuticals, is a director of Biovest.

Some of the minority stockholders of our Biovest subsidiary have indicated that they believe that they have a claim against
Biovest and/or our company in connection with the investment agreement between us and Biovest.

We acquired our 81% interest in Biovest pursuant to a June 2003 investment agreement with Biovest. The investment agreement
with Biovest provides that, within 12 months of the date of our investment in Biovest, Biovest was required to file all necessary
documents and take all necessary actions to permit the public trading of all outstanding shares of Biovest common stock that are
not subject to restriction on sale or transfer under the applicable securities laws. Since August 2005, Biovest’s common stock has
been quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbol BVTLOB. Although Biovest common stock was not quoted on the
OTC Bulletin Board prior to August 2005, Biovest believes that, by filing all reports required to be filed by it under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 at all times since the date of the investment agreement, it timely filed all required documents and reports
and timely took all action within its control necessary to permit such stock to trade publicly during the 12-month period following
our investment in Biovest. Prior to the commencement of the quotation of Biovest’s common stock on the OTC Bulletin Board,
an attorney representing a group of approximately 13 Biovest shareholders orally communicated to us that such shareholders
believe that they have a claim against Biovest and/or our company as a result of the fact that Biovest common stock had not yet
started trading publicly and no repurchase offer for Biovest stock had yet made under the investment agreement between Biovest
and our company. To date, Biovest has not received any written notice of such claims, and no further oral communications
regarding these claims have been received subsequent to the date on which Biovest’s common stock began being quoted on the
OTC Bulletin Board. We believe that any such claim, if formally asserted, would probably be based on the investment agreement.
We currently cannot predict whether these Biovest sharcholders will file any action against Biovest and/or our company, and if
such an action is filed, we cannot predict what the timing and precise nature of their claims will be.

Under the Biovest investment agreement, should it be determined that Biovest should have filed additional documents or taken
additional action to permit the trading of its shares, Biovest would, upon 90 days’ written notice with a right to cure, be obligated
to make an offer to purchase the following number of shares of its outstanding stock (other than stock held by us) as of each of the
following dates, provided that Biovest common stock had not started trading by then: 980,000 shares at the first anniversary of the
date of our investment in Biovest, 1,960,000 shares at the second anniversary, 2,940,000 shares at the third anniversary of the
investment, and 3,920,000 shares at the fourth anniversary, with each such repurchase being at a price of $2.00 per share. If these
Biovest shareholders file a claim against us and/or Biovest and we do not prevail in the matter, we may be required to undertake a
repurchase offer or otherwise pay monetary damages, in which case our operating results, financial position, and cash flows could
be adversely impacted. Even if we prevail in the matter, we may be required to expend significant amounts in defending against
the action, and such expenditures could adversely impact our financial position and cash flows.

We occasionally become subject to commercial disputes that could harm our business by distracting our management from the
operation of our business, by increasing our expenses and, if we do not prevail, by subjecting us to potential monetary
damages and other remedies.

From time to time we are engaged in disputes regarding our commercial transactions. These disputes could result in monetary
damages or other remedies that could adversely impact our financial position or operations. Even if we prevail in these disputes,
they may distract our management from operating our business and the cost of defending these disputes would reduce our
operating results. We are currently a party to the disputes described in Item 3 of this Form 10-K under the caption “LEGAL
PROCEEDINGS.” If we do not prevail in these litigation matters or if we are required to expend a significant amount of
resources defending such claims, our operating results, financial position, and cash flows could be adversely impacted.

Two of our customers generates a large portion of our revenue, and any reduction, delay, or cancellation of orders from these
customers could reduce our revenues.

For the 2005 and 2004 fiscal years, two of our customers, both wholesale distributors, accounted for more than 10% of our
revenue. Revenues from Cardinal Health represented approximately 25.0% and 15.3% of our revenue for the years ended
September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and revenues from McKesson Corporation represented approximately 14.6% of our
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revenue for the year ended September 30, 2004. Any reduction, delay or cancellation of orders from thisfcustomer could reduce
our revenue. ‘
Our level of indebtedniess reduces our financial flexibility and could impede our ability to operate.
As of December 20, 2005, our long-term debt was $13.9 million. Our long-term debt includes the followiné:
l

+  $11.9 million in principal amount outstanding under our credit facility with Laurus, consisting of a term loan in the
amount of $9.7 million and a revolving credit line in the amount of $2.2 million (which replaced an existing credit
line); A portion of this credit facility is convertible into common stock as discussed under “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” |

; !
+  $4.7 million in principal and interest as of December 20, 2005 under a loan from Harbinger Mezzanine Partners, LP
(net of a debt discount relating to warrants issued in connection with the loan); and j
1
+ 308 million in principal and interest as of December 20, 2005 under convertible prormssory notes issued by our
Biovest sub51dlary after conversion to stock in November and December, 2005.

i

|
+  $42 m1111on in principal amount outstanding under our bridge note with Hopkins Capital II, LLC

{

i

Under the $10.0 million term note with Laurus, assuming that Laurus does not convert the note, we are obligated to make equal
monthly payments of principal and interest of $0.3 million each through the period ending in Apr1112008 Under the notes
evidencing the revolving credit loan portion of our credit facility with Laurus, the $4.7 million principal lkmount will be due and
payable in April 2008, with accrued interest being payable monthly. The entire principal amount of éhe Harbinger loan will
become due in June 2006 (with $2.0 million becoming due within 30 days of the completion of our initial public offering). The
$0.8 million in prmc:lpal and interest under the notes issued by Biovest will become due on various dates during 2006 and 2007.
The $4.2 million bridge note issued to The Hopkins Capital Group II, LLC will become due on the earher of August 16, 2007 or
the completion by our company of a debt or equity financing that results in more that $35.0 m11110n in proceeds (net of
underwriting discounts, commissions, or placement agent fees). Our level of debt affects our operatmns in several important
ways, including the followmg ‘

+ asignificant portion of our cash flow from operations is likely to be dedicated to the paymenft of the principal of and

interest onjour indebtedness; |

t

»  our ability'to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures or acquisitions may be
limited; | |

*  we may bé unable to refinance our indebtedness on terms acceptable to us or at all; 1
* ourcash ﬂjo'w may be insufficient to meet our required principal and interest payments; and “
we may default on 01:1r obligations and the lenders may foreclose on their security interests that secure their loans.
Risks Related to Qur Common Stock i}
Our stock price mayibe volatile, and your investment in our stock could decline in value. J

The market prices for securities of biotechnology companies in general have been highly volatile and n‘{ay continue to be highly
volatile in the future. The following factors, in addition to other risk factors described in this section, may have a significant
impact on the market price of our common stock: |

+ results froha and any delays in the clinical trials programs; ;
» failure or delays in entering additional product candidates into clinical trials; "
» failure or Hiscontinuation of any of our research programs; ;
» delaysin éstablishing new strategic relationships; }
« delaysin :the development of our product candidates and commercialization of our potential pt%oducts;

»  market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors and issuance of new or changed securities analysts’
reports or recommendations; 1
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* actual and anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial and operating results;

» developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

+ introduction of technological innovations or new commercial products by us or our competitors;
»  issues in manufacturing our product candidates or products;

«  market acceptance of our products;

+  third-party healthcare reimbursement policies;

»  FDA or other United States or foreign regulatory actions affecting us or our industry;

+ litigation or public concern about the safety of our product candidates or products; and

+ additions or departures of key personnel.

These and other external factors may cause the market price and demand for our common stock to fluctuate substantially, which
may limit or prevent investors from readily selling their shares of common stock and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity
of our common stock. In addition, in the past, when the market price of a stock has been volatile, holders of that stock have
instituted securities class action litigation against the company that issued the stock. If any of our stockholders brought a lawsuit
against us, we could incur substantial costs defending the lawsuit. Such a lawsuit could also divert the time and attention of our
management.

If the ownership of our common stock continues to be highly concentrated, it may prevent you and other stockholders from
influencing significant corporate decisions and may result in entrenchment of management or conflicts of interest that could
cause our stock price to decline.

As of December 20, 2005, our executive officers, directors, and their affiliates beneficially own or control approximately 26% of
the outstanding shares of our common stock (after giving effect to the conversion of all outstanding convertible preferred stock
and the exercise of all outstanding vested and unvested options and warrants). Accordingly, these executive officers, directors,
and their affiliates, acting as a group, will have substantial influence over the outcome of corporate actions requiring stockholder
approval, including the election of directors, any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets or any other
significant corporate transactions. These stockholders may also delay or prevent a change of control of our company, even if such
a change of control would benefit our other stockholders. The significant concentration of stock ownership may adversely affect
the trading price of our common stock due to investors’ perception that entrenchment of management or conflicts of interest may
exist or arise.

A significant portion of our total outstanding shares are restricted from immediate resale but may be sold into the market
in the near future. This could cause the market price of our common stock to drop significantly, even if our business is
doing well.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the
perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our
common stock. We have outstanding 29,121,951 shares of common stock as of December 1, 2005. The shares that were sold in
our IPO may be resold in the public market immediately, and 25,623,325 shares that are currently restricted as a result of
securities laws or lock-up agreements will be able to be sold in the near future as set forth below.
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Number of Shares and
% of Total Outstanding
After Offering i Date Available for Sale Into Public Market

24,138,245 shares, or 84% On April 25, 2006, which is 181 days after the date of our initial public offering due to the
; lock-up agreements between the holders of these shares and the underwriters, provided that
this lock-up period is subject to extension for up to 17 days under specified circumstances.
However, the underwriters can waive the provisions of these lock-up agreements and allow
3 these stockholders to sell their shares at any time. Sales of these sh:anres by “affiliates” and
: sales of these shares by non-"affiliates” who have held such shares for less than 2 years are
subject to the volume limitations, manner of sale provisions, and public information
requirements of Rule 144.

1,485,080 shares, or 5% Between 182 and 365 days after the date of our initial public offering, depending on the
requirements of the federal securities laws. Sales of these shares by {‘affiliates” and sales of
these shares by non-“affiliates” who have held such shares for less than 2 years are subject
to the volume limitations, manner of sale provisions, and public information requirements
of Rule 144.

In addition to the foregoing, we had options to purchase 1,226,767 shares of common stock outstanding and exercisable as of
December 1, 2005, afier the automatic conversion of preferred stock options into common stock options jupon the closing of the
IPO. We intend to register the shares of common stock issuable or reserved for issuance under our equity plans within 180 days
after the date of closing of the IPO.

Up to 2,166,723 shares of our common stock will become issuable to Laurus Master Fund, Ltd. upon the conversion of
convertible notes issued to Laurus in connection with our credit facility with Laurus (excluding thelconverswn of accrued
interest), and up to 1/277,778 shares are or will become issuable to Laurus under warrants granted to Laurus under this credit
facility. ]

i
Evolving regulation of corporate governance and public disclosure may result in additional expenses an;d continuing
uncertainty. ; |

t

Changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including the Sarbanes-Oxiey
Act of 2002, new SEC regulations, and Nasdaq National Market rules are creating uncertainty for public companies. As a result of
these new rules, we will incur additional costs associated with our public company reporting requirementé In addition, these new
rules could make it mlore difficult or more costly for us to obtain certain types of insurance, including dlrector and officer liability
insurance, and this could make it difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors.

We are presently evaluatmg and monitoring developments with respect to new and proposed rules and cannot predict or estimate
the amount of the additional costs we may incur or the timing of such costs. These new or changed laws, regulations, and
standards are subject fto varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and as a result, their application in
practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing
uncertainty regardmg compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to dis¢losure and governance
practices. | i
|

We are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and public disclosure. As a re:sult, we intend to invest
resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations, and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and
administrative expenses and a diversion of management time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance
activities. If our efforts to comply with new or changed laws, regulations, and standards differ from tk?xe activities intended by
regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against

us and we may be harmed |

|

We have limited expe;rtence attempting to comply with public company obligations, including Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

As directed by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the SEC has adopted rules requiring public companies to include a
report of management on the company’s internal controls over financial reporting in their annual reports on Form 10-K. In
addition, the public accounting firm auditing a public company’s financial statements must attest to and report on management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s internal controls over financial reporting. This requirement will first apply to
our annual report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ending September 30, 2007. If we are unable to conclude that we have
effective internal controls over financial reporting, or if our independent auditors are unable to provid:e us with an unqualified
report as to the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of September 30, 2007 and future year ends as
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required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, investors could lose confidence in the reliability of our financial
statements, which could result in a decrease in the value of our securities.

We have never paid dividends on our common stock, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable
Sfuture.

We have paid no cash dividends on our common stock to date. We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to fund
the development and growth of our businesses, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital stock for the
foreseeable future. In addition, the terms of existing or any future debts may preclude us from paying dividends on our stock. As a
result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be your sole source of gain for the foreseeable future.

Some provisions of our amended and restated articles of incorporation, bylaws, and Florida law may inhibit potential
acquisition bids that you may consider favorable.

Our corporate documents contain provisions that may enable our board of directors to resist a change in control of our company
even if a change in control were to be considered favorable by you and other stockholders. These provisions include:

»  the authorization of undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which may be
issued without stockholder approval;

e advance notice procedures required for stockholders to nominate candidates for election as directors or to bring matters
before an annual meeting of stockholders;

+ limitations on persons authorized to call a special meeting of stockholders;
« astaggered board of directors;

» arequirement that vacancies in directorships are to be filled by a majority of directors then in office and the number of
directors is to be fixed by the board of directors; and

*  no cumulative voting.

These and other provisions contained in our amended and restated articles of incorporation and bylaws could delay or discourage
transactions involving an actual or potential change in control of us or our management, including transactions in which our
stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares over then current prices, and may limit the ability of stockholders
to remove our current management or approve transactions that our stockholders may deem to be in their best interests and,
therefore, could adversely affect the price of our common stock.

In addition, we are subject to control share acquisitions provisions and affiliated transaction provisions of the Florida Business
Corporation Act, the applications of which may have the effect of delaying or preventing a merger, takeover or other change of
control of us and therefore could discourage attempts to acquire our company.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive office and administrative office is located in Tampa, Florida and consists of approximately 6,500 square
feet. We moved our principal executive and administrative office to this new location in April 2005 after entering into a new lease
agreement for five years beginning April 1, 2005. Our former office at a different location in Tampa, Florida consisted of
approximately 5,300 square feet and was occupied pursuant to a lease agreement that expired on April 30, 2005.

We have a sales and marketing office in Morrisville, North Carolina that consists of approximately 10,000 square feet. This office
is occupied pursuant to a lease agreement that expires on April 30, 2007.

Our Analytica subsidiary leases approximately 13,800 square feet of office space in New York, New York, and approximately
22,500 square feet of office space in Lorrach, Germany. The New York office is occupied pursuant to a lease that will expire on
August 31, 2010. The Lorrach lease will expire on November 1, 2011.

Our majority owned Biovest subsidiary leases approximately 17,500 square feet in Worcester, Massachusetts, which it uses for
contract cell production, offices, storage, and future expansion. The Worcester facility is occupied pursuant to a lease agreement
that expires in February 28, 2006, and we intend to negotiate a renewal of this lease prior to its expiration. Biovest also occupies a
facility in Minneapolis, Minnesota that it uses for offices, a laboratory, manufacturing, warehousing, and contract cell culture
services. This facility, which consists of approximately 33,000 square feet, is occupied pursuant to a lease agreement that is
currently operating on a month-to-month basis. We historically have engaged in development activities for BiovaxID at our
Minneapolis facility and have performed certain steps in the BiovaxID production process at this facility. However, we have
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consolidated all BiovaxID-related production activities into our Worcester facility We are considering divesting the remaining
business conducted at Minneapolis. However, , in the absence of such divestiture and prior to any such divestiture, we may
continue to engage in certain development and other activities at our Minneapolis facility, or any replacement facility selected for
our Minneapolis facility, relating to our BiovaxID automated production and purification system. ;
{
We anticipate that our facilities will meet our needs for approximately the next three months. We plan to dontinue to evaluate our
requirements for facilities. We anticipate that as our development of SinuNase and BiovaxID advances and as we prepare for the
future commercialization of these products, our facilities requirements will continue to change on an ongoing basis.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 1

In October 2002, our subsidiary, Accent RX, Inc, acquired the assets and certain liabilities of American{Prescription Providers,
Inc. and American Prescription Providers of New York, Inc., collectively referred to as APP, which at the time of purchase
operated a mail-order specialty pharmacy focused on filling prescriptions for AIDS patients and organ transplants Commencing
in late 1998, Dr. Francis E. O’Donnell (our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) was the Chalrman‘ of the Board of APP,
Dr. Dennis L. Ryll (a director of our company) was a director of APP, and McKesson Corporation was APP’s principal lender.
Also beginning in late 1998, The Hopkins Capital Group, LLC, an entity in which Dr. O’Donnell is the manager, and MOAB
Investments, LP, an entity in which Dr. Ryll is a limited partner, were principal stockholders of APP. Foﬂlowing the purchase of
APP’s assets, Accent RX operated the mail-order business until it sold the assets of this business in December 2003 to a third-
party in an arm’s length transaction. All of the sale proceeds from the disposition of this business were used to pay debts of
Accent RX, 1nc1ud1ng‘ to reduce the outstanding balance of the McKesson loan. After the sale of the APP assets, Accent RX

ceased to engage in business, and Accent RX currently has nominal assets. :

APP learned in May 2002 that the U.S. Department of Justice was conducting an industry-wide investigati'on under anti-kickback
laws and other laws and regulations relating to purchases and sales of Serostim, an AIDS-wasting drug manufactured by Serono,

Inc., from 1997 through 2000. As part of this investigation, in May 2002, APP received a subpoena from the U.S. Attomey’s
Ofﬁee for the District iof Massachusetts, and in March 2004, it received a federal grand jury subpoena seekmg records related to
Serostim prescriptions dispensed by APP, reimbursement claims submitted to Medicaid for Serostim, and APP’s relationships
with Serono. We are not aware of any investigation into the acts of Accent RX or our company with regard to the conduct of the
mail-order pharmacy business following Accent RX’s purchase of APP’s assets. While we are uncertain as to the amount or
measure of damages, if any, that may be sought from APP, based on information currently available to us nwe estimate that, from
the commencement of business by APP on December 1, 1998 through 2000, Serono paid APP approx1mately $500,000 under a
program for data collection, and during this same per1od Medicaid reimbursed APP approximately $6 000,000 for Serostim
prescriptions filled by! APP. We estimate that the majority of these payments from Serono and relmburSEments from Medicaid
were not attributable to APP’s mail-order business, but rather were attributable to APP’s retail pharmacres which APP sold to a
third party in February 2001 and were therefore not acquired by Accent RX as a part of the 2002 acquisition of APP’s assets. In
May 2005, the U.S. Attorney’s Office notified APP that it believes that APP has significant potential [hab1hty as a result of
allegedly unlawful rebates and discounts paid to them by Serono between 1997 and 2000. In August 2005, the U.S. Attorney’s
Office orally and mformally indicated to our legal counsel that, as a result of these allegedly unlawful rebates and discounts, it
was considering instituting a civil action against Accent RX, our company, APP (which has since dlssolved and been liquidated),
and shareholders of APP who received APP assets as a part of the liquidation of APP. However, it is notipossible to predict the
outcome of this investigation and whether the government will formally commence any action challenging any of APP’s prior
programs and practices or APP’s liability or exposure as a result thereof. We are uncertain if any such action would be under the
False Claims Act or other civil or criminal causes of action. In the event of litigation, we believe that APP will have defenses that
will be vigorously asserted.

We cannot predict whether Accent RX or our company could be held liable for the prior acts of APP as a result of Accent RX’s
purchase of APP’s assets or whether the government will commence any actions against Accent RX. However we believe that it
is unlikely that our company, which has always been operated as a distinct legal entity from Accent l}X will have material
financial exposure in the event that Accent RX or APP incurs a material penalty in connection with this matter. Similarly, we do
not believe that any adverse legal or regulatory determinations regarding APP, our company, or Accent RX or any persons
associated with APP, ‘our company, or Accent RX would have any material effect on the ability of| our company and its
subsidiaries to conduct their current or expected business operations. On October 17, 2005, the U.S. Department of Justice
announced a settlement of criminal and civil allegations against Serono. Accordmg to the terms of the settlement, Serono,
together with its U.S. subsidiaries and related entities, agreed to pay $704 million in connection with 111ega1 schemes to promote,
market, and sell its drug Serostim. We cannot predict the impact, if any, that this settlement will have on the government’s
investigation relating to APP’s purchases and sales of Serostim.

|
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Matters Relating to Biovest

We acquired our 81% interest in Biovest pursuant to a June 2003 investment agreement with Biovest. The investment agreement
with Biovest provides that, within 12 months of the date of our investment in Biovest, Biovest was required to file all necessary
documents and take all necessary actions to permit the public trading of all outstanding shares of Biovest common stock that are
not subject to restriction on sale or transfer under the applicable securities laws. Since August 2005, Biovest’s common stock has
been quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbol BVTLOB. Although Biovest common stock was not quoted on the
OTC Bulletin Board prior to August 2005, Biovest believes that, by filing all reports required to be filed by it under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 at all times since the date of the investment agreement, it timely filed all required documents and reports
and timely took all action within its control necessary to permit such stock to trade publicly during the 12-month period following
our investment in Biovest. Under the Biovest investment agreement, should it be determined that Biovest should have filed
additional documents or taken additional action to permit the trading of its shares, the agreement provides that Biovest would,
upon 90 days’ written notice with a right to cure, be obligated to make an offer to purchase the following number of shares of its
outstanding stock (other than stock held by us) as of the following dates, provided that Biovest common stock had not started
trading by then: 980,000 shares at the first anniversary of the date of our investment in Biovest, 1,960,000 shares at the second
anniversary, 2,940,000 shares at the third anniversary of the investment, and 3,920,000 shares at the fourth anniversary, with each
such repurchase being at a price of $2.00 per share. Under the terms of the investment agreement, all of the above-described
obligations are imposed solely on Biovest. Biovest stock is held by approximately 500 shareholders of record, and the
shareholders of Biovest are not a party to the investment agreement.

Prior to the commencement of the quotation of Biovest’s common stock on the OTC Bulletin Board, an attorney representing a
group of approximately 13 Biovest shareholders orally communicated to us that such shareholders believe that they have a claim
against Biovest and/or our company as a result of the fact that Biovest common stock had not yet started trading publicly and no
repurchase offer had yet been made under the investment agreement. To date, Biovest has not received any written notice of such
claims, and no further oral communications regarding these claims have been received subsequent to the date on which Biovest’s
common stock began being quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board. We believe that any such claim, if formally asserted, would
probably be based on the investment agreement. Currently, we cannot predict whether these Biovest shareholders will file any
action against Biovest and/or our company, and if such an action is filed, we cannot predict what the timing and precise nature of
their claims will be. We have informed the Biovest shareholders that we do not believe any such claim, if asserted, would have
merit and that we would defend such claim.

On January 24, 2005, Dr. Robert Pfeffer filed an action against our Biovest subsidiary in United States District Court in New
Jersey alleging that Dr. Pfeffer has an employment agreement with Biovest under which Biovest owes him approximately
$600,000 and options to purchase 120,000 shares of Biovest common stock. Biovest disputes the alleged employment agreement
and the alleged services and Biovest intends to defend this litigation. Additionally, Dr. Pfeffer alleges that Biovest breached its
obligation to purchase 168,836 shares of Biovest common stock owned by him for $2.00 per share pursuant to the investment
agreement between Biovest and us. Biovest intends to defend this claim. Biovest has asserted defenses and counterclaims against
Dr. Pfeffer in this litigation, which has now been transferred to the United States District Court for the Southern District of New
York.

Except for the foregoing, we are not a party to any material legal proceedings, and management is not aware of any threatened
legal proceedings, that could cause a material adverse impact on our business, assets, or results of operations.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

During the three-month period ended September 30, 2005, the following matters were submitted to a vote of our
stockholders: In July 2005 the shareholders approved the adoption of Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation
in preparation for our initial public offering, and a further amendment thereto was approved by the shareholders in
September, 2005.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market for Registrant’s Common Stock

Our common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “ABPI” and has been quoted since our
initial public offering on October 28, 2005. Prior to such date there was no public market for our common stock.
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Number of Common Shareholders |

As of December 1, 2005 there were approximately 218 stockholders of record of our common stock%.

Dividends : 1

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund the
development and expansion of our business, and therefore we do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of drrectors and will depend
on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, restrictions contained in future ﬁnancrng instruments, and
other factors our board of directors deems relevant. v

Equity Compensation Plan Information

|

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans as of September 30, 2005 (our 1ast completed fiscal year
end) were as follows

; Number of
| securities
; remaining
Number of ‘ available for
securities to be Weighted- | future issuance
issued upon average exercise under equity
exercise of priceof | compensation
outstanding outstanding | plans (excluding
options, options, | securities
warrants, and warrants, and, reflected in
rights rights | column [a])
Plan Category {a] {b} [el
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders ..........ccccvmn.... 1,601,133 $ 1.85 | 5,260,326
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders ................... — N/A| —
TOALL ettt ettt e e 1,601,133 $ 1.85: 5,260,326

]
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities !

|
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005, we issued the following securities that were not registered under the
Securities Act of'1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”):

1. In May 2005, Hutchison & Mason, a law firm, exercised 42,751 warrants to purchase shares of our former Series D
preferred stock at an exercise price of $0.00211 per share, resulting in the issuance of 42,751 shares of our Series D
preferred stock to its affiliate, H+M Holdings, LLC. ]

2. In October 2004 we granted warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 118,754 shares of our common stock at an
exercise price of | $5.33 per share to Kenneth Greathouse, Patricia Ryan, and Brian Smith. These warrants were granted in
connection with |certain product development programs of our company. In June 2005, Stuart Rose exercised 7,885
warrants, resultmg in the issuance of 7,885 shares of our common stock. 1
3. Prior to our 2005 fiscal year, in October 2003, we issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of &380 011 shares of our
Series A preferred stock at an exercise price of $2.11 per share to The Hopkins Capital Group, LLC] MOAB Investments,
LP, Alan Maclnnis and RAM Holdings, LLC. The consideration for these warrants was the extensron of loans to our
company by these parties in an aggregate principal amount of $3,000,000. In December 2003 and February 2004, we issued
to Hopkins Capital Group, LLC, MOAB Investments, LP, RAM Holdings, LLC, and Alan Maclnnis additional warrants
entitling them to purchase an aggregate of 380,011 additional shares of Series A preferred stock at an exercise price of
$2.11 per share. The additional warrants were granted in consideration for extendlng the due date of the loans made by
them. In November 2004, 233,707 of these warrants were exercised, resulting in the issuance of an faggregate of 233,707
shares of our Serres A preferred stock. The exercise price of these warrants was paid by reducing the 1r1debtedness owing to
these parties. In December 2004, an additional 526,316 of these warrants were exercised, resulting in the issuance of an
aggregate of 526,316 shares of our Series A preferred stock, and $216,000 of the aggregate exercise prrce for these shares
was paid in cash, w1th the remaining $892,000 being paid through the reduction of indebtedness owrng to the exercising
parties. ‘ 1

4. Between Septernber 2004 and December 2004, we 1ssued and sold a total of 2,602,286 shares of our Series E preferred
stock, together with warrants to purchase an additional 5,204,573 shares of our Series E preferred stock at an exercise price
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of $2.11 per share to a total of 21 accredited investors. The consideration for these issuances was $2.11 in cash per each
investment unit consisting of one share and two warrants.

5. In November 2004, we issued and sold 237,507 shares of our Series A preferred stock to Alan Pearce for a cash purchase
price of $2.11 per share.

6. In December 2004, we issued 1,140,034 shares of Series E preferred stock to Mayo Foundation for Medical Education
and Research. These shares were granted in consideration of Mayo Foundation’s execution of an amendment to our license
agreement with them in which they agreed to expand the scope of our license.

7. Between December 2004 and February 2005, we issued 8,195,075 shares of our Series E Preferred stock to 21 holders of
outstanding warrants in consideration of the exercise of certain of their warrants at an exercise price of $2.11 per share.
$1,565,606 of the aggregate exercise price was paid by The Hopkins Capital Group, LLC and MOAB Investments, LP
through the cancellation of outstanding indebtedness owing to them under previously issued promissory notes. The balance
of the aggregate exercise price was paid in cash by the various holders of such warrants, which included Pharmaceutical
Product Development, Inc., or PPD, and Ronald Osman. In addition, in August 2005, PPD International Holdings, Inc., as
assignee of PPD, exercised a warrant for the purchase of 2,375,071 shares of our Series E preferred stock.

8. On April 29, 2003, we entered into a credit facility with Laurus Master Fund, Ltd. providing for aggregate borrowing
availability of up to $10 million in principal amount under which the principal and interest is evidenced by secured
convertible promissory notes convertible into our common stock at an initial conversion price of $6.95 per share (but upon
the completion of our initial public offering, such conversion price will be adjusted to 85% of the per share initial public
offering price). In connection with this credit facility, we also issued to Laurus a warrant to purchase a number of shares of
our common stock that is equal to $4.0 million divided by the initial public offering price of our common stock, and the
warrant will have an initial exercise price equal to $8.17 per share (but upon completion of our initial public offering, such
exercise price will be adjusted to the initial public offering price). On August 16, 2005, our credit facility with Laurus was
amended by (1) increasing the loan amount (and the aggregate principal amount under the convertible promissory notes) by
$5.0 million, (i) amending and restating the previously issued warrant to increase the number of shares issuable thereunder
to $8.0 million divided by the initial public offering price of our common stock, and (iii) granting to Laurus an additional
warrant to purchase 277,778 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $.001 per share.

9. During our fiscal year ended September 30, 2005, we granted stock options under our stock option plans covering an
aggregate of 12,855 shares of our common stock (net of expirations and cancellations) at an exercise price of $3.16 per
share. We also granted options to purchase an aggregate of 230,464 shares of our Series D preferred stock (net of
expirations and cancellations) at exercise prices ranging from $1.05 to $2.11 per share. Of these, options to purchase an
aggregate of 1,201 shares of our common stock have been exercised for an aggregate purchase price of $1,576.93, or a
weighted exercise price of $1.31 per share, and options to purchase an aggregate of 13,279 shares of our Series D preferred
stock have been exercised for an aggregate purchase price of $13,943, or $1.05 per share.

10. We claimed exemption from registration under the Securities Act for the sales and issuances of securities in the
transactions described in paragraphs 3, 4, 5, 6, and 8 by virtue of Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and by virtue of Rule
506 of Regulation D. Such sales and issuances did not involve any public offering, were made without general solicitation
or advertising and each purchaser was an accredited investor with access to all relevant information necessary to evaluate
the investment and represented to us that the shares were being acquired for investment.

11. We claimed exemption from registration under the Securities Act for the sales and issuances of securities in the
transactions described in paragraphs 1, 2, and 7 above by virtue of Section 4(2) of the Securities Act in that such sales and
issuances did not involve a public offering. Except for the transactions described in paragraph 6 above, the recipients of
securities in each of these transactions represented their intention to acquire the securities for investment only and not with
view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof. Appropriate legends were affixed to the share certificates and
instruments issued in all such transactions. All recipients had adequate access, through their relationships with us, to
information about us.

12. We claimed exemption from registration under the Securities Act for the sales and issuances of securities in the
transactions described in paragraph 9 by virtue of Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and by virtue of Rule 701 promulgated
under the Securities Act, in that they were offered and sold either pursuant to written compensatory plans or pursuant to a
written contract relating to compensation, as provided by Rule 701. Such sales and issuances did not involve any public
offering, were made without general solicitation or advertising, and each purchaser represented its intention to acquire the
securities for investment only and not with view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate
legends were affixed to the share certificates and instruments issued in such transactions. All recipients had adequate
access, through their relationships with us, to information about us.
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No underwriters were employed in any of the above transactions.

Use of Proceeds

We registered éhares of our common stock in connection with our initial public offering under the S{ecurities Actof 1933, as
amended. Our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-122769) in connection with our iniltial public offering was
declared effective by the SEC on October 27, 2005. The offering closed on November 2, 2005. The underwriters of the offering

were Jefferies & Company, Inc.; Ferris, Baker Watts incorporated; Stifel, Nicolaus & Company Incorﬁ)orated and GunnAllen
Financial, Inc.

4

1

All 2.4 million shares of our common stock registered in the offering were sold at the initial public‘ioffering price per share
of $8.00. The aggregate gross proceeds from the offering (before underwriting discounts and commissidns) were $19.2 million.
The net offering proceeds to us after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $1.3 mﬁhon and total offering
expenses of $3.6 million were $14.3 million. No payments for such expenses were made directly or md1rectly to (i) any of our

directors, officers or thexr associates, (ii) any person(s) owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securmes or (iii) any of our
affiliates.

{
As of September 30, 2005, we had not completed our initial public offering and, therefore, none ;of the proceeds of that
offering had been received or used as of the fiscal period covered by this report. Description of the use of those proceeds will be
included in our quarterly report for the period ending December 31, 2003.

'\
{
'

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA ‘

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related
notes thereto and “MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS” included elsewhere in this filing. The selected consolidated financial data as of September 30, 2005, 2004 and
2003 and for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 have been derived from our audttedI consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this filing. The selected financial data as of September 30, 2001 and 2000 and for the years

ended September 30, 2001 and 2000 of our predecessor, The Analytica Group, Ltd., have been derived from our predecessor’s
unaudited financial statements that are not included in this prospectus.

1
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From inception Years ended September 30,

(April 3, 2002)
through
Years ended September 30, September 30, Pro forma Predecessor
2005 2004 2003 2002 2002 2001 2000

(in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Net 88188 .. ivereereiee vt $25,195 $25936 $ 9908 $ 2,761 § 5,610 $2,440 $6,035
Cost 0f saleS ..o 8,234 8,814 2,936 544 1,607 972 2,290
Gross MAargif.....cccocerererveriennerenoereecenienens 16,961 17,122 6,972 2,217 4003 1,468 3,745
Operating expenses:
Research and development ..........cveceenene. 9,589 4210 6,112 — — — —
Research and development, related party.... 1,319 1,309 — — — — —
Sales and marketing .......c...coooocirniiniann 15,164 12,015 4,366 — — — —
General and administrative ...........cooveeeeennn. 20,657 16,729 8,868 2,027 3,140 1,304 1,560
Royalties .....cooveceviinieninn e 1,717 387 — — — — —
Impairment charges...........ccccoovvrivrnnecac, 358 360 — — — — —
Stock-based compensation............ccocoenneen. 427 292 — — — — —
Other operating expense, related party........ — 2,500 — — — — —
Total operating expenses...........c.c.ccevveneen, 49,233 37,802 19,346 2,027 3,140 1,304 1,560
Operating income (1088)........ccoceoveveiccrcnnene (32,272) (20,680) (12,374) 190 863 164 2,185
QOther income (expense):
Interest (expense) income, net .................... (2,286)  (1,241) (230) (19) (12) 16 83
Interest (expense) income, net,

related Party .....ooveveeienrcineinen e (2,120) (1,485) (338) — — —_ —
Settlement EXPense ........ccoovvevvreeveeerernenens — — (1,563) — — — —
Loss on extinguishment of debt,

related party ..o (2,362) — — — — — —
Other income (EXPense) .....oovevvvververrreannnnn. (56) 78 — — — — —
Net income (loss) from continuing

operations before income taxes.............. (39,096) (23,328) (14,505) 171 851 180 2,268
Income tax benefit (expense) ..........ooueuue. — — 180 (180) (436) — —
Net income (loss) from continuing

OPETALIONS ..ot (39,096) (23,328) (14,3295) ) 415 180 2,268

Discontinued operations:
Gain on sale of discontinued operations,

net of income tax exXpense..........cooven.ne. — 1,618 — — — — —
Loss from discontinued operations,

net of income tax benefit.............cco...e. (430)  (1,516) (2,347) (9,185) (9,185) — —
Absorption of prior losses against

MINOTItY INETESt...ccveivieeveieriereierreene 150 — — — — — —
Net income (1088)...oeevvivcrernieeiireieenen, (39,376) (23,226) (16,672) (9,194) (8,770) 180 2,268
Preferred stock dividends.........ccoccovnencnnn (5,552)  (5,262) — — — — —
Income (loss) attributable to common

stockholders ......ccoooevvenincineniiecn, $(44,928) $(28,488) $(16,672) § 9,194) §  (8,770) $§ 180 $2,268
Weighted average shares outstanding,

basic and diluted (1) ....ccovevveernirinne 5,147 4,876 4,729 4,876 4,876 1,000 1,000

Per share amounts, basic and diluted (1) :
Net Income (loss) per common share for:
Continuing operations and minority

e S TR $ (865 $ (586 $ (3.01) $ — 3 008 $ 180 $2,268
Discontinued operations..............cccocervvrnnnen - (0.08) 0.02 (0.51) (1.89) _(1.87) — —
Net Income (loss) attributable to

common stockholders ........ccocoveviveennnn § B73) § (584) § (3.52) § (1.89) § (1.79) § 180 $2,268

(1) See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements for a description of the method used to compute basic and diluted net
loss per share and number of shares used in computing historical basic and diluted net loss per share.
(2) There were no cash dividends to common shareholders in the years ended September, 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001.
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) September 30,
2005 20040 2003% 2002 2001
(in thousands) :

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: |

Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS ........cc.ccc.ovneerrrvciierieies e $ 2763 $ 1905 $ 2937 § 569 $§ 624
Working capital.........coooienieriiiinnnieniice e (29,644) (31,462) (23,104) ; (88) 1,304
Total @SSELS......ocrri vt 35,543 28,133 23,387 16,891 1,824
Total Habilities .....o..ocoiuvvieeniercirctrcr e 55,641 49,093 40,266 12,643 464
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit).....cccorvmrviiivininnnionnnns (20,099)  (20,960)  (16,880) (2,851) 1,360
Long-term obligationsi.........cooviiiiriniienicnesrss e 11,727 9,976 7,654 | — 969

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS !
When you read thzs section of this Form 10K, it is important that you also read the financial statements and related notes
included elsewhere in: this Form 10K. This section of this annual report contains forward-looking statements that involve rzsks
and uncertainties, such as statements of our plans, objectives, expectations, and intentions. We use words such as “anticipate,”
“estimate,” “plan,” “project,” “continuing,” “ongoing,” “expect,” “believe,” “intend,” “may,” “wzl 7 “should,” “could,”
and similar expressions to identify forward-looking statements. Our actual results could differ materzally from those anticipated
in these forward—lookzng statements for many reasons, including the factors described below and in the “Rtsk Factors” section of
this Form 10K. : (

EIINNYS FXT EZa Y FE S 3«
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We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of late-stage clinical products in the
therapeutic areas of respiratory disease and oncology. We have two product candidates entering or in Phase IHI clinical trials. One
of these product candidates, SinuNase ™, has been developed at Mayo Clinic as a novel application and formulation of a known
therapeutic to treat chronic rhmosmusms a long-term inflammatory condition of the paranasal sinuses for|which there is currently
no FDA approved therapy. We submitted an Investigational New Drug Application, or IND, with the F DfA for SinuNase in April
2005, and the IND was accepted by the FDA in May 2005. We expect to initiate Phase II1 trials for the product in early 2006. Our
other late-stage product candidate, BiovaxID ™, is a patient-specific anti-cancer vaccine focusing on thfe treatment of follicular
non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. BiovaxID was developed at the National Cancer Institute and is currently in a pivotal Phase III clinical
trial. In addition to these product candidates, we have a growing specialty pharmaceutical business through which we currently
sell a portfolio of ten pharmaceutical products and we have a pipeline of additional products under development by third parties.

Overview

Our goal is to utilize our vertically integrated business structure to cost-effectively and efficiently develop and commercialize
innovative therapeutics that address significant unmet medical needs. In addition to our late-stage product candidates and our
specialty pharmaceutllcal business, we have a broad range of in-house capabilities and resources that we market to third parties
and use to develop and commercialize our own products. These capabilities include analytical and consultlng services relating to
the blopharmaceutlcals industry, such as pricing and market assessment, reimbursement strategies, chmcal trial services, and
outcomes research. ‘We also produce custom biologics and cell culture systems for biopharmaceuftical and biotechnology
companies, medical schools, universities, hospitals, and research institutions. |

|

Corporate History and Structure
l

We were orgamzed in 2002 to provide a platform to develop and commercialize biopharmaceutical products We commenced
business in April 2002 with the acquisition of The Analytica Group, Ltd., a provider of analytical and consultmg services to the
b1opharmaceutlcals mdustry, including clinical trial services, pricing and market assessment and outcomes research. We acquired
Analytica in a merger transaction for $3.7 million cash, $1.2 million of convertible promissory notes, and the issuance of
8.1 million shares of Series B preferred stock. Analytica, which was founded in 1997, has offices in New York City and Lorrach,

Germany ‘ J
i

In October 2002, Accent RX, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of our company, acquired the assets of American Prescription
Providers, Inc. and American Prescription Providers of New York, Inc., collectively referred to as APP, fwhich we operated under
the name AccentRx/|after the acquisition. We acquired the assets and liabilities of APP for $0.2 million cash and the issuance of
10.3 million shares ‘of common stock. We acquired assets of $10.6 million in the transaction and assumed liabilities of $10.4
million. At the time of acquisition, APP was controlled by our shareholders. AccentRx was a mail order specialty pharmacy
focused on pharmaceutlcals for AIDS patients and organ transplants. We sold the assets of AccentRx i m December 2003 for $4.2
million cash.




In April 2003, we acquired, through a merger transaction, TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical company
founded in 2000 to market prescription pharmaceutical products. We acquired TEAMM for $7.9 million through the issuance of
9.7 million shares of Series D preferred stock, issuance of options to purchase 0.8 million shares of Series D preferred stock,
issuance of warrants to purchase 2.1 million shares of Series D preferred stock, and the assumption of $13.7 million of liabilities.
Through the TEAMM acquisition, we acquired an in-house sales force and a portfolio of prescription pharmaceutical products.

In June 2003, in exchange for an 81% interest in Biovest International, Inc., we invested $20.0 million in Biovest pursuant to an
investment agreement with them. Under the investment agreement, as amended, we paid $2.5 million in cash at closing and $2.5
million by a 90-day note that has since been paid in full. The remaining $15.0 million was paid in the form of a non-interest-
bearing promissory note. This note is payable in installments of $2.5 million on June 16, 2004, $2.5 million on June 16, 2005, and
$5.0 million on June 16, 2006 and June 16, 2007. As of September 30, 2005, the $15.0 million non-interest-bearing note was fully
paid. Because of our ownership interest in Biovest, this note is eliminated upon consolidation in our financial statements. Biovest
is a biologics company that is developing our BiovaxID patient-specific vaccine for the treatment of follicular non-Hodgkin’s
lymphoma. Biovest also produces custom biologic products for a wide variety of customers, including biopharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies, medical schools, universities, hospitals, and research institutions. The 19% minority interest in Biovest
is held by approximately 500 shareholders of record. Biovest common stock is registered under Section 12(g) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, and Biovest therefore files periodic and other reports with the SEC.

In December 2003, we acquired substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Private Institute for Medical Outcome Research
GmbH, or IMOR, for $0.6 million cash and assumption of $0.3 million of net liabilities. As part of the employment agreements
with the two former owners of IMOR, we issued to them warrants to purchase 950,029 shares of Series B preferred stock that vest
over five years and are exercisable at $2.63 per share. IMOR is a European-based provider of research, commercialization, and
communications services similar to those provided by Analytica. Our acquisition of IMOR expanded the geographic reach of our
analytical and consulting services business throughout the European Union and Asia, and provides us with additional capabilities
that we believe will enable us to more effectively identify and attract partners with product candidates and to efficiently develop,
clinically test, and market our products.

Business Segments

For financial reporting purposes, our business is divided into two segments: Biopharmaceutical Products and Services and
Specialty Pharmaceuticals.

Biopharmaceutical Products and Services

Our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment develops late-stage innovative biopharmaceutical products with an
emphasis on the respiratory and oncology therapeutic areas. The products currently being developed in this segment consist of
SinuNase and BiovaxID. This segment also includes our analytical and consulting business, which provides a broad range of
services relating to biopharmaceutical product development, and our biologics products business, which is engaged in the
production of custom biologic products and cell culture instruments and systems for biopharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies, medical schools, universities, hospitals, and research institutions.

Our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment is headquartered in New York City with an office in Lorrach, Germany
and manufacturing facilities in Minneapolis, Minnesota, and Worcester, Massachusetts. Both manufacturing locations have
laboratories, offices, and warchouse space for storage of supplies and inventories. The Minneapolis location is a 33,000 square
foot building which includes laboratory and warehouse space. The Worcester facility, where we are developing the BiovaxID
vaccine, has 17,500 square feet, primarily laboratories, and has approximately 3,500 square feet of warehouse.

Historically, our Minneapolis location has housed the National Cell Culture Center, or NCCC, which provides customized cell
culture services for basic research laboratories under a grant from the National Institutes of Health. This contract, which expired
in August 2005, generated approximately $0.9 million, $1.1 million, and $1.3 million in net sales for the years ended
September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. As a result of the expiration of this contract, we no longer house the NCCC.
Also at the Minneapolis facility, we generated approximately $3.0 million, $2.3 million, and $4.8 million in net sales for the years
ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, from the manufacture of hollow fiber perfusion instruments used for the
production of cell culture products and the sale of disposable products for use with these instruments. Additionally, the facility
has provided contract cell line production services for research organizations, generating net sales of approximately $0.9 million,
$1.0 million and $0.8 million for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, using our hollow fiber
perfusion instruments to manufacture monoclonal antibodies for use in diagnostics and other non-therapeutic applications. We
also currently engage in development activities for instruments related to BiovaxID at our Minneapolis facility. We are
considering divesting the remaining business conducted at Minneapolis.
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At our Worcester facility we currently produce vaccine for the BiovaxID clinical trial and also manufacture, on a selective basis,
customized cell lines for external research organizations for their use in clinical trials in cases where we believe there may be
promising potential future opportunities to license new product candidates from these research organizations. Net sales from
contract production of custom cell lines were $0.2 million, $1.1 million and $1.4 million for the years ended September 30, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. Furthermore, at this facility we oversee the design and manufacturing of our, prototype AutovaxID
systems, which automate the production and purification of patient-specific tumor antigens using full} enclosed sterile and
disposable components for each patient treated. We anticipate that the second generation of these |instruments will also
incorporate conjugatiojn and sterile fill of clinical material. We believe these systems will be integral to cost-effectively

commercializing BiovaxID.

Specialty Pharmaceuticals

Our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment, which is based in Morrisville, North Carolina, markets and sells pharmaceutical products
that are developed prlmarlly by our third-party development partners. In this segment, we currently sell a portfolio of ten
pharmaceutical products and have a pipeline of additional products under development through our deve?opment partners Our
currently marketed spemalty pharmaceutical products include Xodol ™, a narcotic pain formulation, Respi~TANN ™
prescription antltussrve decongestant for temporary relief of cough and nasal congestion, our line of six HISTEX ™ products for
the cough, cold and allergy prescription market, and two products that we co-promote. In this segment, wej generated net sales of
$10.7 million, $11.9 million and $3.9 million for the years ending September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 respectively. Our
specialty pharmaceutical products under development currently include MD Turbo ™, a breath-actuated 1nhaler device used by
patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, Emezine ™, a transbuccal drug des1gned| to control nausea and
vomiting, and nine additional narcotic pain formulations for the treatment of moderate to moderately severe; pain

We license or obtain d1str1but10n or marketing rights to our specialty pharmaceutical products from [thll‘d parties who are
developing these products. We fund our partners’ development activities primarily through milestone payments that are based on
the partner achieving specified development goals. Milestone payments to our development partners were $1.4 million, $2.9
million and $0.6 million in the years ending September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. |

Quarterly Results May Fluctuate
We anticipate that our quarterly results of operations will fluctuate for several reasons, including: i

+ the timing and extent of our development activities and clinical trials for SinuNase, BiovaxID, and any biopharmaceutical
products that we may develop in the future;

+ the timing and outcome of our applications for regulatory approval for our product candidates; }
|

+  the timing and extent of our adding new employees and infrastructure; !
|

+  the timing of any milestone payments, license fees, or royalty payments that we may be required to mal‘ce; and

+ seasonal influences on the sale of certain specialty pharmaceutical products sold primarily during the C(:)ugh and cold season.

Critical Accounting P!olicies and Estimates j

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well as the
reported net sales and expenses during the reporting periods. é
!

The accounting policies discussed below are considered by our management to be critical to an understanding of our financial
statements because their application depends on management’s judgment, with financial reporting results relying on estimates and
assumptions about the| effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. On an ongoing basis, we evalu:ate our estimates and
assumptions. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. For all of these policies, management cautions that future events »rarely develop exactly
as forecast and that best estimates routinely require adjustment. Accordingly, actual results may differ frofm our estimates under
different assumptions or conditions and could materially impact our financial condition or results of operati{:msr




While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements appearing at
the end of this prospectus, we believe that the following accounting policies are the most critical to aid you in fully understanding
and evaluating our reported financial results.

Revenue recognition
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services
We recognize revenue in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment as follows:

Products. Net sales of cell culture instruments and disposables are recognized in the period in which the applicable products are
delivered. We do not provide our customers with a right of return; however, deposits made by customers must be returned to
customers in the event of non-performance by us.

Services. Service revenue in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment is generated primarily by fixed-price contracts
for cell culture production and consulting services. Such revenue is recognized over the contract term in accordance with the
percentage-of-completion method based on the percentage of service cost incurred during the period compared to the total
estimated service cost to be incurred over the entire contract. The nature and scope of our contracts often require us to make
judgments and estimates in recognizing revenues.

Estimates of total contract revenues and costs are continuously monitored during the term of the contract, and recorded revenues
and costs are subject to revision as each contract progresses. Such revisions may result in increases or decreases to revenues and
income and are reflected in the consolidated financial statements in the periods in which they are first identified. Each month we
accumulate costs on each contract and compare them to the total current estimated costs to determine the percentage of
completion. We then apply this percentage to the total contract value to determine the amount of revenue that can be recognized.
Each month we review the total current estimated costs on each contract to determine if these estimates are still accurate and, if
necessary, we adjust the total estimated costs for each contract. As the work progresses, we might decide that original estimates
were incorrect due to, among other things, revisions in the scope of work, and a contract modification might be negotiated with
the customer to cover additional costs. If a contract modification is not agreed to, we could bear the risk of cost overruns. Losses
on contracts are recognized during the period in which the loss first becomes probable and reasonably estimable. Reimbursements
of contract-related costs are included in revenues. An equivalent amount of these reimbursable costs is included in cost of sales.
Because of the inherent uncertainties in estimating costs, it is at least reasonably possible that the estimates used will change
within the near term.

Service costs related to cell culture production include all direct materials and subcontract and labor costs and those indirect costs
related to contract performance, such as indirect labor, insurance, supplies, and tools. We believe that actual cost incurred in
contract cell production services is the best indicator of the performance of the contractual obligations, because the costs relate
primarily to the amount of labor incurred to perform such services. The deliverables inherent in each of our cell culture
production contracts are not output driven, but rather driven by a pre-determined production run. The duration of our cell culture
production contracts range typically from 2 to 14 months.

Service costs relating to our consulting services consists primarily of internal labor expended in the fulfillment of our consulting
projects and, to a lesser extent, outsourced research services. Service costs on a specific project may also consist of a combination
of both internal labor and outsourced research service. Our consulting projects are priced and performed in phases, and the
projects are managed by phase. As part of the contract bidding process, we develop an estimate of the total number of hours of
internal labor required to generate each phase of the customer deliverable (for example, a manuscript or database), and the labor
cost is then computed by multiplying the hours dedicated to each phase by a standard hourly labor rate. We also determine
whether we need services from an outside research or data collection firm and include those estimated outsourced costs in our
total contract cost for the phase. At the end of each month, we collect the cumulative total hours worked on each contract and
apply a standard labor cost rate to arrive at the total labor cost incurred to date. This amount is divided by the total estimated
contract cost to arrive at the percentage of completion, which is then applied to the total estimated contract revenues to determine
the revenue to be recognized through the end of the month. Accordingly, as hours are accumulated against a project and the
related service costs are incurred, we concurrently fulfill our contract obligations. The duration of our consulting service contracts
range typically from 1 to 12 months. Certain other professional service revenues, such as revenues from maintenance services on
cell culture equipment, are recognized as the services are performed.

In our financial statements, unbilled receivables represents revenue that is recognizable under the percentage-of-completion
method due to the performance of services for which billings have not been generated as of the balance sheet date. In general,
amounts become billable pursuant to contractual milestones or in accordance with predetermined payment schedules. Under our
consulting services contracts, the customer is required to pay for contract hours worked by us (based on the standard hourly rate
used to calculate the contract price) even if the customer cancels the contract and elects not to proceed to completion of the
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project. Unearned revenues represent customer payments in excess of revenue earned under the percentage-of-completion
method. Such paymentsiare made in accordance with predetermined payment schedules set forth in the contr?ct.

Specialty Pharmaceutic&ls |

Revenue in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment is generated from the sale of pharmaceutical products. Revenue from product
sales is recognized when all of the following occur: a purchase order is received from a customer; title and risk of loss pass to our
customer upon the receipt of the shipment of the merchandise under the terms of FOB destination; prices and estimated sales
provisions for product returns, sales rebates, payment discounts, chargebacks, and other promotional allowances are reasonably
determinable; and the customer’s payment ability has been reasonably assured. An estimate of three days from the time the
product is shipped via common carrier until it reaches the customer is used for purposes of determmmg FOB destination.
Revenues in connection with co-promotion agreements are recognized based on the terms of the agreements.

¢

We make periodic adjustments to our monthly net sales for estimated chargebacks, rebates, and potentlal product returns we
anticipate might ultimately be required. These adjustments are based on inventory quantity reports prov1ded by our largest
wholesale customers, sales activity reports generated by group purchase organizations with which we have rebate contracts, and
sales activity data provided by a third-party provider of such data. Our net sales will typically reflect an adjustment of 8% of gross
sales for charge-backs/rebates and 10% for product returns that we record in the form of a reserve. In the twelve months ended
September 30, 2005, we made an additional adjustment to chargeback and return reserves of approximately 7.5 % and 8.7%,
respectively, to appropriately reflect reserves for specific returns, which had the effect of reducing our net sales by $2.4 million.
This adjustment was required due to an additional amount of product returns for a specific product that has n(;w been substantially
returned and increased rebate activity for certain products. The percentage of adjustments to net sales |will continue to be

evaluated each quarter and modified when necessary. |

Actual product returns, chargebacks and other sales allowances incurred are dependent upon future events é.nd may be different
than our estimates. We continually monitor the factors that influence sales allowance estimates and make adjustments to these
provisions when management believes that actual product returns, chargebacks and other sales allowances may differ from
established allowances. .1If we made an additional 1% adjustment to increase our accruals for both sales returns and
chargebacks/rebates, the effect on net loss in the twelve months ended September 30, 2005 would be an increase of $0.2 million.
Had we made the same |adjustment to accruals in the fiscal years ended September 30, 2004 and-2003, net loss would have
increased by $0.2 milliom and $0.1 million, respectively. |
l

Provisions for these sales allowances are presented in the consolidated financial statements as reductions to gross revenues and
included as current accrued expenses in the balance sheet. These allowances approximated $1.2 million and$ $1.0 million for the
years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. i
Inventories

Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost or market, We periodically review inventory quantities: of raw materials,
instrumentation components and disposables on hand, and completed pharmaceutical products in our third-party distribution
center, and we record write-downs of inventories to market value based upon contractual provisions and obsc:>1escence, as well as
assumptions about futuré demand and market conditions. If assumptions about future demand change and/or actual market

conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional write-downs of inventories may be required.

Inventory in our Biophaﬁnaceutical Products and Services segment includes raw materials and componexﬁt parts used in the
assembly of instruments and cultureware for our Biovest subsidiary and totaled $0.1 million at September 30, 412005, a reduction of
$0.5 million from Septermber 30, 2004. Estimates for obsolete and unsaleable inventory are determined by management and
updated quarterly. We had no reserve at September 30, 2005 and a reserve of $0.3 million at September 30, 2004 against the

amounts of inventory classified as current for inventory that management has deemed obsolete and unsaleable!
|

Specialty Pharmaceuticals inventory consists primarily of trade products and samples, which totaled $0.9 million at
September 30, 2005, a decrease of $0.1 million from September 30, 2004. These inventories are warehoused at a third-party
distribution center located in Memphis, Tennessee. All distribution, inventory control, and regulatory reporting are outsourced to
this third party. Inventories are written-off if the product dating has expired or the inventory has no market value

Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets 1

|

Our intangible assets incflude goodwill, trademarks, product rights, non-compete agreements, technolog§ rights, purchased
customer relationships, and patents, all of which are accounted for based on Financial Accounting Standard|Statement No. 142
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“FAS 142”). As described below, goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives are not amortized but are tested at least annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the asset might be impaired. Intangible assets with limited useful lives are amortized using the straight-line method

| |
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over their estimated period of benefit, ranging from two to eighteen and one-half years. We obtain a valuation of all intangibles
purchased in any acquisition and undertake an annual impairment analysis. Goodwill is tested for impairment by comparing the
carrying amount to the estimated fair value, in accordance with SFAS 142. Impairment exists if the carrying amount is less than
its estimated fair value, resulting in a write-down equal to the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated fair
value. We have made no impairment adjustments to recorded goodwill. Qur carrying value of goodwill at September 30, 2005
and 2004 was $1.2 million. The values recorded for goodwill and other intangible assets represent fair values calculated by
accepted valuation methods. Such valuations require critical estimates and assumptions derived from and which include, but are
not limited to: (1) information included in our business plan, (ii) estimated cash flows, (iii) discount rates, (iv) patent expiration
information, (vi) terms of license agreements, and (vii) expected timelines and costs to complete any in-process research and
development projects to commercialize our products under development.

We capitalized goodwill in the amount of $0.9 million in connection with our acquisition of Analytica in April 2002. In
connection with the IMOR acquisition in December 2003, we initially capitalized goodwiil in the amount of $0.6 million based on
the fair value of the acquired assets net of assumed liabilities. Following this acquisition, we discovered that the assumed
liabilities were $0.3 million in excess of the amount represented to us in the acquisition agreement. We recorded an impairment to
goodwill in the amount of $0.3 million in the fiscal quarter in which the acquisition occurred.

Our major intangible assets with limited useful lives include product rights acquired in connection with our April 2003 acquisition
of TEAMM and our June 2003 acquisition of Biovest, as well as a variety of patents, non-competition rights, and purchased
customer relationships. We recorded amortization of intangible assets of $2.5 million, $2.0 million, and $1.1 million in the years
ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We amortize intangibles based on their expected useful lives and look to
a number of factors for such estimations, including the longevity of our license agreements and the remaining life of patents on
products currently being marketed. We have identified several trademarks, product rights and technology rights as intangible
assets with indefinite lives. These assets were valued at $1.8 million as of September 30, 2005 and 2004.

Our carrying value of other intangible assets at September 30, 2005 and 2004 was $21.2 million and $16.9 million net of
accumulated amortization of $5.6 million and $3.3 million, respectively. We begin amortizing capitalized intangibles on their date
of acquisition, as further described in Note 6 to our consolidated financial statements included in this form10K.

Impairment Testing

Our impatrment testing is calculated at the reporting unit level. Our annual impairment test has two steps. The first identifies
potential impairments by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying value. If the fair value exceeds the
carrying amount, intangible assets are not impaired and the second step is not necessary. [f the carrying value exceeds the fair
value, the second step calculates the possible impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of intangible assets with the
carrying amount. If the implied fair value of intangible assets is less than the carrying amount, a write-down is recorded.
Impairment would result in a write-down of the intangible asset to its estimated fair value based on the discounted future cash
flows. The impairment test for the intangible assets is performed by comparing the carrying amount of the intangible assets to the
sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows.

In accordance with SFAS 144, which relates to impairment of long-lived assets, impairment exists if the sum of the future
undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the intangible asset or to its related group of assets. Goodwill is tested
for impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the reporting unit to which it was assigned to the estimated fair value of the
reporting unit. In accordance with SFAS 142, which relates to impairment of goodwill, impairment exists if the carrying amount
of the reporting unit is less than its estimated fair value. Impairment would resuit in a write-down equal to the difference between
the carrying amount and the estimated fair value of the reporting unit. Fair values can be determined using income, market or cost
approaches.

We predominately use a discounted cash flow model derived from internal budgets in assessing fair values for our goodwill
impairment testing. Factors that could change the result of our goodwill impairment test include, but are not limited to, different
assumptions used to forecast future net sales, expenses, capital expenditures, and working capital requirements used in our cash
flow models. In addition, selection of a risk-adjusted discount rate on the estimated undiscounted cash flows is susceptible to
future changes in market conditions, and when unfavorable, can adversely affect our original estimates of fair values. In the event
that our management determines that the value of intangible assets have become impaired using this approach, we will record an
accounting charge for the amount of the impairment. We recognized impairment losses of $0.4 million during the year ended
September 30, 2005 in connection with our SRL technology. We recognized impairment losses of $0.4 million during the year
ended September 30, 2004 in connection with our European subsidiary. There was no impairment charge in the year ended
September 30, 2003.
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Purchased In-Process Research and Development ‘

We account for purchased in-process research and development, or IPR&D, in accordance with pronouncemerfrts as follows:
» FASB Statemént of Financial Accounting Standards No. 2, Accounting for Research and Developm‘enf

+ FASB Interpretation No. 4, Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations A‘ccounted for by the
Purchase Method; and ;
«  FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer. Software to be Sold,
Leased or Otherwise Marketed. 1
|
Generally, purchased in- process research and development is distinguished from developed technology based upon whether the
IPR&D projects are measurable, have substance, and are incomplete. [PR&D represents the portion of a purchase price of an
acquisition related to research and development activities that have not demonstrated technological feasibility and do not have
alternative future uses. IPR&D projects that have not been granted FDA approval are classified as being 1neomp1ete and as such
the associated costs are expensed as incurred. In connection with the acquisition of our Biovest subsrdrary in June 2003, we
incurred an immediate writedown of $5.0 million for acquired assets which were classified as purchased in- ,process research and
development. ‘ j
Stock-Based Compensation r
We account for stock-based awards to employees and non-employees using the accounting provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123 -——accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, which provides for the use of the fair
value based method to determine compensation for all arrangements where shares of stock or equity mstruments are issued for
compensation. Shares of common and preferred stock issued in connection with acquisitions are also recorded at their estimated
fair values. Fair values of equity securities issued are determined by management based upon independent valuanons obtained by
management. J
In December 2004, the FASB revised its SFAS No. 123 (“SFAS No. 123R”). The revision establishjes standards for the
accounting of transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services, particularly transactions in
which an entity obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions. The revised statement requires a public entity to
measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value
of the award. That cost is recognized over the period during which the employee is required to provide service in exchange for the
award. The provisions of the revised statement are effective for financial statements issued for the first interim or annual reporting
period beginning after June 15, 2005, with early adoption encouraged. We already account for options issued to employees under
SFAS No. 123, so adoptlon of this revision is not expected to have a significant impact on our current ﬁnanc1al position or results
of operation. ‘ ;
We use the Black-Scholes options-pricing model to determine the fair value of each option grant as of[ the date of grant for
expense incurred. In applymg the Black-Scholes options- pncmg model, we assumed no dividend yield, rlsk free interest rates
ranging from 1.62% to 4.65%, expected option terms rangmg from 0.5 to S years, volatility factors rangmg from 0% to 50%,
share prices ranging from $0.02 to $5.83, and option exercise prices ranging from $1.05 to $7.62. 3

We recorded stock-based compensation of $0.4 million in the twelve months ended September 30, 2005 which was related to
employee and non- employee stock options. We recorded stock-based compensation of $3.3 mrlhon in the year ended
September 30, 2004, of which $0.3 million was related to employees, $0.4 million was related to warrants issued in connection
with financing, and $2.6 million was related to warrants issued in connection with an assumption and forbearance agreement with
McKesson. In the year ended September 30, 2003, we recorded stock-based compensation of $0.8 million in connection with
options issued in connection with the employment terminations of two former officers. In all periods, stock<based compensatlon is
classified in various categories in the financial statements including “interest expense” and “stock-based co{mpensatlon

|
Fair value determmatton of privately-held equity securities
In addition, during the twelve months ended September 30, 2005, we granted stock options and warrants with exercise prices
ranging from $2.11 to:$8.17. The fair value of the various classes of stock during this six-month period was estimated based on
the incremental change from the September 30, 2004 valuation and the valuation as of December 31, 2004.{ The stock values as of
December 31, 2004 ranged from $2.11 to $5.83. We did not change our valuation from December for this purpose. We granted
stock options with exercise prices of $1.05 to $7.62 during the year ended September 30, 2004. The fa1r value of the various

classes of stock for the various dates ranged from $1.77 to $3.87. 1
!
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The values noted above were based on retrospective valuations. We did not obtain contemporaneous valuations at the time of the
issuances of stock options due to limited human and monetary resources.

These grant date fair values were determined from either the retrospective valuations (such as in the case of the Series E preferred
stock warrants issued with Series E preferred stock purchases) or calculations using the Black-Scholes pricing model with share
price assumptions based on the retrospective valuations.

The fair values of the common and preferred stock as well as the common and preferred stock underlying options and warrants
granted as part of acquisition purchase prices, financing transactions, or as compensation, issued during the period from April
2002 through September 2004 were originally estimated by our board of directors, with input from management. We did not
obtain contemporaneous valuations until September 30, 2004. Subsequently, we reassessed the valuations of these securities
during the respective periods by obtaining a valuation.

Determining the fair value of stock requires making complex and subjective judgments. We use the income and market
approaches to estimate the value of the enterprise at each date on which securities are issued or granted. The income approach
involves applying appropriate discount rates to estimated cash flows that are based on forecasts of revenue and costs. These
forecasts are based on management’s estimates of expected annual growth rates. There is inherent uncertainty in these estimates.
However, the assumptions underlying the estimates are consistent with our business plan. The risks associated with achieving the
forecasts were assessed in selecting the appropriate discount rates, which ranged from 15% to 45%. If different discount rates had
been used, the valuations would have been different.

The enterprise value was then allocated to preferred and common shares taking into account the enterprise value available to all
stockholders and allocating that value among the various classes of stock based on the rights, privileges and preferences of the
respective classes.

The range of values is wide and somewhat varied by class of stock due to different distribution and liquidation preferences of
such classes of stock.

The most significant changes in values from 2003 to 2004 relate to the issuance of the new Series E preferred stock, which has
significant anti-dilution provisions and other preferences. While our overall enterprise value increased, the creation of this class of
stock and issuance of these shares resulted in a decline in the value of our common stock at September 30, 2004,

Based on our current business plan and subsequent equity activities, further fluctuations in fair values of the various classes of
stock can be anticipated. In addition, although it is reasonable to expect that the completion of our proposed initial public offering
will add value to the shares because they will have increased liquidity and marketability, the amount of additional value cannot be
measured with precision or certainty.

Income Taxes

We incurred net operating losses for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, and consequently did not or will not be
required to pay federal or foreign income taxes, but we did pay nominal state taxes in several states where we have operations.
We have a federal net operating loss carryover of approximately $77.3 million as of September 30, 2005, which expires through
2025 and of which $30.0 million is subject to various Section 382 limitations.

Under Section 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, if an ownership change occurs with respect to a “loss corporation” as
defined, there are annual limitations on the amount of the net operating loss and other deductions which are available to us. Due
to the acquisition transactions in which we have engaged in recent years, we believe that the use of these net operating losses will
be significantly limited.

In addition, the utilization of our net operating loss carryforwards may be further limited if we experience a change in ownership
of more than 50% subsequent to last change in ownership of September 30, 2003. As a result of this offering, we may experience
another such ownership change. Accordingly, our net operating loss carryforward available to offset future federal taxable income
arising before such ownership changes may be further limited.

Of those losses subject to the limitations, $11.3 million is expected to expire before the losses can be utilized. Of the remaining
amounts, the limitation is approximately $1.8 million per year through approximately the year ended September 30, 2012, After
that, the annual limitation will decrease to approximately $0.2 million through September 30, 2024,

Our ability to realize our deferred tax assets depends on our future taxable income as well as the limitations on usage discussed
above. For financial reporting purposes, a deferred tax asset must be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not
that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized prior to its expiration. Because we believe the realization of
our deferred tax assets is uncertain, we have recorded a valuation allowance to fully offset them.
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Results of Operations }
‘ \
Year Ended September 30, 2005 Compared to the Year Ended September 30, 2004 |

Consolidated Results of Operations

Net Sales. Our net sales for the year ended September 30, 2005 were $25.2 million, a decrease of $0.7 mllhon or 2.7%, from the
year ended September 30, 2004. This decrease was attributable in part to an increase of $0.4 mrlhon in our reserve for
chargebacks, rebatesi and returns on our cough, cold, and allergy products, due to an increase in generic compet1t1on for several of
these products. The 'decrease in our consolidated net sales for the year ended September 30, 2005 reflected an increase of $0.5
million in net sales in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment, primarily resulting from an increase in net sales of
$0.9 million in our compounding activities.

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales for the year ended September 30, 2005 was $8.2 million, or 32% of net sales, compared to $8.8
million, or 34% of net sales, during the year ended September 30, 2004. This represented a decrease of $0.6 million, or 7%, over
the year ended September 30, 2004. The decrease in cost of sales is primarily due to a decrease in net saleIs of 2.7%, and improved
margins in our Biovest Subsidiary. !

Research and Development Expenses. Our research and development costs were $10.9 million in the yiear ended September 30,
20035, an increase of $5.4 million, or 98%, over the year ended September 30, 2004. This increase included $4.1 million of
increased research and development activity associated with BiovaxID, and $1.3 million attributed to our SinuNase activity.
Research and development costs incurred by our company in the year ended September 30, 20035 include expenses of $1.3 million
attributable to the BiovaxID project paid to Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inc., one of our shareholders, under an
agreement with them: In the year ended September 30, 2004 we also paid $1.3 million under the PPD agreement. We expect that
our research and development costs will continue to increase as we continue our clinical trials for BiovathD and commence our
anticipated clinical trials for SinuNase. ]

Sales and Marketing expenses. Our sales and marketing expenses were $15.2 million in the year ended }‘September 30, 2003; an
increase of $3.1 million, or 26%, over the year ended September 30, 2004. This increase was due i part to an increase in
headcount in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment, which resulted in $2.0 million of increased costs ’relating to the hiring of
additional sales representatives in this segment. It was also due in part to $1.3 million of increased costs il our Biopharmaceutical
Products and Services segment resulting from the addition of eight therapeutic specialists in this segment who participate in our
CRS educational programs. The increased costs were offset by a $0.4 million decrease in sales and marketmg expense in our
Biopharmaceutical Product and Services segment resulting from our shift in emphasis in that segment away from cell culture
products and services and more toward the development of BiovaxID. We expect that our sales and rriarketlng expenses will
continue to increase over the next 24 months upon the FDA approval and launch of additional products in our Specialty

Pharmaceuticals segment that are now in our development pipeline.

i

General and Admmtstrattve Expenses. Our general and administrative expenses were $20.7 mllhon in the year ended
September 30, 2005, an increase of $3.9 million, or 23%, over the year ended September 30, 2004. This hlcrease was a result of
the growth of our corporate infrastructure to support an anticipated increase in our business activities. We jexpect that our general
and administrative expenses will continue to increase as we hire new personnel and build up our corporate infrastructure
necessary for the management of our business. The costs associated with being a public company may mcrease our general and

administrative expenses. |
}

Impairment Charges. We had impairment charges of $0.4 million in the year ended September 30, 2005 relatlng to our sustained
release technology, while in the year ended September 30, 2004, we had $0.4 million in impairment charges associated with the
acquisition of our subsidiary in Germany. \

Stock-based Compensatzon In the year ended September 30, 2005, we had stock-based compensation of SO 4 million, an increase
of $0.1 million, or 33%, over the year ended September 30, 2004. This increase was primarily attnbutable to the changes in the
value of the underlying stock at each valuation period. ‘;

Interest Expense, net. In the twelve month periods ended September 30, 2005, our net interest expensei was $4.4 million, an
increase of $1.7 mrlhon over the year ended September 30, 2004. The increase was due primarily to interest relating to the Laurus
funding in April 2005 and August 2005. Interest income in both years was nominal. (

Other income (expense) In the year ended September 30, 2005, we recognized other expense of $2. 4“million compared to
nominal other income in the year ended September 30, 2004. The other expense in the year ended September 30, 2005 consisted
of a loss on extinguishment of debt in the amount of $2.4 million as a result of the conversion of shareholder debt and accrued

interest into shares of our Series E preferred stock having an aggregate value in excess of the converted debt|
. |

|
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Preferred Stock Dividends . In the year ended September 30, 2005, we incurred dividend costs of $0.6 million, compared to $0.4
million in the year ended September 30, 2004. The dividend cost in the year ended September 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004
consisted of dividends accrued on our Series E preferred stock.

Segment Operating Results

Twelve months ended September 30,

20058 2004
% of % of
Segment Segment
Amount Net Sales Amount Net Sales
Net Sales:
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services ..........ccvvvrvirevcrinnninnenen, $ 14,501,978 $ 13,996,531
Specialty Pharmaceuticals ..........ccoovvviiireiiiiinic e 10,692,804 11,939,089
TOtal NEt SAlES...ccviiiiiriiiiieieieece ettt st b et vis $ 25,194,782 $ 25,935,620
Cost of Sales:
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services .........cccuvvinrvercrnnerenens $ 5,956,682 41% §$ 6,474,220 46%
Specialty Pharmaceuticals ..........ccoeviviirienrriieeiennnencenenesnens 2,276,643 21% 2,339,370 20%
Total Cost 0F SALES ......ivveviieiiricriceee ettt e e etrns $ 8,233,325 $ 8,813,590
Gross Margin:
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services .......occcvveivrvvinverncennans $ 8,545,296 59% § 7,522311 54%
Specialty Pharmaceuticals ........cccvveriveinicieninienieerrecee e 8,416,161 79% 9,599,519 80%
Total Gross Margin ........ccecverieirierieerie e eireiar e ette e sena e $ 16,961,457 $ 17,121,830
Research and Development Expenses:
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services ..........ccoevevevincrernccnnene $ 10,907,862 75% $§ 5,519,158 39%
Specialty Pharmaceuticals ..........ccocovvvvvciinnniiiin e — 0% — 0%
Total Research and Development EXpenses ........cccoovviveevevevenrecnnne $ 10,907,862 $ 5,519,158
Sales and Marketing Expenses:
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services .......cccccvniveiiniiinciencnn, $ 1,858,789 13% § 1,479.461 11%
Specialty Pharmaceuticals ..........ccovvvmenicrnieninee s 13,305,278 124% 10,535,583 92%
Total Sales and Marketing EXpenses ......ccccccecevreveienccinincccninnnn, $ 15,164,067 $ 12,015,044

Biopharmaceutical Products and Services

Net Sales. Net sales in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment for the year ended September 30, 2005, including
net sales to related parties, were $14.5 million, a increase of $0.5 million, or 4%, from the year ended September 30, 2004. This
increase was attributable primarily to an increase in net sales of $0.9 million in our compounding activities.

Cost of Sales. Qur cost of sales in the Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment for the year ended September 30, 2005
was $6.0 million, or 41% of segment net sales, compared to $6.5 million, or 46% of segment net sales, during the year ended
September 30, 2004. This decrease was primarily due to a $0.3 million write-off of inventory consisting of cell production
instruments and disposables in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment.

Research and Development Expenses. Our research and development costs in the Biopharmaceutical Products and Services
segment were $10.9 million in the year ended September 30, 2005; an increase of $5.4 million, or 98%, over the year ended
September 30, 2004. This increase included $4.1 million of increased research and development activity associated with
BiovaxID, and $1.3 million attributed to our SinuNase activity. Research and development costs incurred by our company in the
year ended September 30, 2005 include expenses of $1.3 million attributable to the BiovaxID project paid to Pharmaceutical
Product Development, Inc., one of our shareholders, under an agreement with them. In the year ended September 30, 2004 we
paid $1.3 million under the PPD agreement.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Our sales and marketing expenses in the Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment were
$1.9 million in the year ended September 30, 2005; an increase of $0.4 million, or 26%, over the year ended September 30, 2004.
This increase was attributable to $1.1 million of increased costs resulting from the addition of 11 therapeutic specialists in this
segment who participate in our CRS educational programs. The increased costs were offset by a $0.7 million decrease in sales and
marketing expense in this segment resulting from our shift in emphasis from the segment’s cell culture production business to the
development of BiovaxID.
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Specialty Pharmaceuticals |
Net Sales. Net sales lin the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment for the year ended September 30, 2005’ including net sales to
related parties, were $10.7 million, a decrease of $1.2 million, or 10%, from the year ended September : 30 2004. This decrease
was primarily attributable to a $1.0 million decrease in sales of our cough, cold and allergy products as:a result of a later-than-
normal onset of flue:season in calendar year 2004 and increased competition from generic products. . IThe decrease was also
attributable to an increase of $3.8 million in charges for product returns, chargebacks and rebates on our cough cold, and allergy
products, which had the effect of reducing net sales. The decrease in net sales during the year ended September 30, 2005 was

offset by an increase in sales of Respi-TANN, Xodol and our co-promotion revenues totaling $3.6 m1lhonf

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment for the year ended September 30, 2005 was $2.3
million, or 21% of net sales, compared to $2.3 million, or 20% of net sales, during the year ended September 30, 2004. The
increase in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was attributable to an increase in our reserve for cha'rgebacks and rebates on
our cough, cold, and allergy products and a large return of one of these products by a customer ! durmg the year ended
September 30, 2005. The effect of the changes in these reserves is reflected in our revenues.

Research and Development Expenses. There were no research and development expenses in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals
segment in either of the twelve-month periods ended September 30, 2005 or 2004. J

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Our sales and marketing expenses in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment were $13.3 million
in the year ended September 30, 2005; an increase of $2.8 million, or 26%, over the year ended September 30, 2005. This
increase was due to an increase in sales force headcount in the segment and increased marketing efforts associated with new
products under co-promotion agreements. We expect that our sales and marketing expenses in this segment will continue to
increase over the next 24 months upon the FDA approval and launch of additional products that are now in our development
pipeline. ! 1
Year Ended September 30, 2004 Compared to the Year Ended September 30, 2003 |
{
Consolidated Results of Operations !
We made one acquisition in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment ( ie., Biovest), and one acquisition in our
Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment ( i.e., TEAMM) durrng the year ended September 30, 2003. Durmg the year ended
September 30, 2004, we acquired an additional business in the Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment { i.e., IMOR,
our European subsidiary) and sold one business in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment ( i.e., Acce‘ntRx) Accordingly, the
comparison of results from one year to the next considers the short period results from the dates of acqursltlon through the end of
the fiscal period ended September 30, 2003. For the year ended September 30, 2004, a full year of results is included for all
acquisitions. The results of operations for AccentRx, which we sold in December 2003, are included in'discontinued operations
for all periods presented. ‘ ‘
Net sales. Our net sales for the year ended September 30, 2004 were $25.9 million compared to $9.9 milflion in the prior year, an
increase of $16.0 million, or 162%. The increase in net sales is primarily attributable to three factors. First, we had a full year of
Biovest revenues ($5 5 million) compared to only three months from the date of acquisition ($2.3 million) in the prior year.
Second, we had a full year of net sales ($11.9 million) in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment in the year ended September 30,
2004, compared to $3.9 million in the prior year, which only included six months from the date of our [acqursrtron of TEAMM.
Lastly, the acqursmon of IMOR, our European subsidiary, contributed $3.4 million in revenues in the year ended September 30,

2004, compared to no net sales in the prior year. |

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales in the year ended September 30, 2004 was $8.8 million, representing 34% of net sales, compared
to $2.9 million, representing 30% of net sales, in the prior year. The increase in cost of sales was primarily attributable to a
corresponding incredse in net sales, primarily in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment. The increase in cost of sales as a
percentage of net sales was due to increased discounts and rebates in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment as we accessed
additional distribution channels to grow our sales. In addition, we experienced a higher cost of sales as a percentage of revenues
in our Biovest subsidiary due to a shift in our product mix toward lower margin products. t

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expense was $5.5 million in the ylear ended September 30,
2004, compared to $6.1 million in the year ended September 30, 2003, a decrease of $0.6 million, or 10% Absent the one-time
charge for purchased IPR&D of $5.0 million in 2003, research and development expenses increased by $4.4 mullion. This $4.4
million increase was primarily attributable to increased research and development activities related to our clinical trials for
BiovaxID in 2004. ]

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Sales and marketing expenses increased to $12.0 million in 2004 from§$4.4 million in 2003, an
increase of $7.6 million, or 173%. This increase was attributable to six months of activity in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals
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segment in 2003 as compared to a full year in 2004 and an increase in the sales staff for our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment
in 2004.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses increased to $16.7 million in the year ended
September 30, 2004 from $8.9 million in the year ended September 30, 2003, an increase of $7.8 miilion, or 88%. This increase
was largely attributable to an increase in our total headcount, including sales staff increases, in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals
segment to 244 at September 30, 2004 from 167 at the prior year end. The balance of the increase is attributable primarily to the
timing of our acquisitions, which for the year ending September 30, 2003 did not include a full year of financial results.

Stock-based Compensation. Stock-based compensation is included in four line items in the statements of operations: stock-based
compensation, gain on sale of discontinued operations, settlement expense and interest expense. The expense for 2004 consisted
of $0.3 million for options issued to employees. In addition, $2.6 million, which is included within discontinued operations, was
attributable to warrants issued to McKesson as part of a December 2003 assumption and forbearance agreement. An aggregate of
$0.4 million is related to amortization of discounts on notes payable, which resulted from issuance of warrants in connection with
financing arrangements and is reported in interest expense. Stock-based compensation in 2003 consisted solely of settlement
expenses and is reported in that line item.

Interest Expense, net. Interest expense was $2.7 million in the year ended September 30, 2004 compared to $0.6 million in the
year ended September 30, 2003, an increase of $2.1 million, or 350%. The increase was due to costs associated with $7.7 million
of assumed debt acquired in our Biovest subsidiary purchased in June 2003, $0.4 million in amortization of discounts resulting
from the issuance of stock warrants to related parties, interest on McKesson obligations of $0.7 million, and $0.7 million resulting
from interest relating to mezzanine financing incurred in August 2003. However, in the year ended September 30, 2004 we used
the proceeds from the sale of the assets of AccentRx to pay down long-term debt. Interest income was nominal during each of the
years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003.

Settlement Expense. In the year ended September 30, 2004, we did not incur any settlement expenses. In the year ended
September 30, 2003 we incurred costs of $1.6 million relating to the employment termination of two former officers. The
settlement costs included legal fees, the cost of stock options granted in connection with the termination of $0.8 million, with the
balance consisting of cash severance payments paid out over 16 months.

Impairment Charges. We record impairment charges when we determine that the carrying costs of intangible assets are higher at
year-end than the valuation as determined in our annual review of intangible assets. In the year ended September 30, 2004, we
recorded an impairment of goodwill of $0.4 million related to the acquisition of IMOR. There were no charges for impairment of
goodwill or intangibles in the prior year.

Discontinued operations. We sold the assets of AccentRx in December 2003. This business was previously included in our
Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment. The transaction included a cash payment of $4.2 million for various intangible assets, but did
not include any fixed assets, accounts receivable, or accounts payable, nor did the buyer assume any debt. We used the net
proceeds of this sale to reduce our indebtedness to McKesson Corporation. The financial statements for the year ended
September 30, 2004 reflect the gain on the sale, net of income tax expense, of $1.6 million. Costs associated with this sale include
the cost of warrants issued to McKesson in an assumption and forbearance agreement ($2.6 million) required in order to effect the
sale. In the year ended September 30, 2004, net sales of $3.7 million from AccentRx for the period October 1, 2003 through
December 9, 2003 (the date of the sale) have been netted against expenses through that period and additional costs of winding
down the business through approximately May 2004. Wind-down costs related to the discontinued operations were primarily
personnel and administrative costs associated with collection of accounts receivable, payables management, and information
systems, and these costs are reflected in the loss from discontinued operations of $1.5 million, net of tax benefit. In the year ended
September 30, 2003, net sales of approximately $20.9 million have been netted against all costs of operation of AccentRx and are
included in loss from discontinued operations of $2.3 million.
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Segment Operating Results ’

We define our segmient operating results as earnings (loss) before general and administrative costs, i:nterest expense, interest
income, other income, discontinued operations, and income taxes. Inter-segment sales of $0.3 million for the year ended
September 30, 2004, representing the sale of services from the Biopharmaceutical Products and Services !segment to the Specialty
Pharmaceuticals segment, have been eliminated from segment sales. There were no inter-segment sales in the year ended
September 30, 2003 .}

Year ended Septemﬁer 30,
2004 i 2003
% of i % of
Segment ] Segment
Amount Net Sales Amount Net Sales
Net Sales: ‘
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services ...........couvvvrvivenniiinicnnns $ 13,996,531 $ 5 999,136
Specialty Pharmaceuticals ........cccccoveeineniniiniciee 8,164,568 2 858,286
Related party, Specialty Pharmaceuticals .........c.coccovveveennrnnincecenenn 3,774,521 1 ,050,369
TOAl NEt SALES ...t eereeeese e evesesseesesreeeseer oo, e $ 25,935,620 $ 9,907,791
Cost of Sales: ‘ {
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services ..........cocovvevvriccnvinneronens $ 6,474,220 46% $ 2,343,193 39%
Specialty Pharmaceuticals .........cocoviviiniiniiiiiiii s 2,339,370 20% | 592,818 15%
Total COSt Of SAIES.....uvvvveerreerierese st seaes $ 8,813,590 S 2,936,011
Gross Margin: ‘ }
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services ...........courveeveverernennnnns $ 7,522,311 54% $ ?,,655,943 61%
Specialty Pharmaceuticals ............ccoviiimcciiininc, 9,599,719 80% 3,315,837 85%
Total Segment Gross Margin ...........ccccovemrceesveuciensimsinniesensenies $ 17,122,030 $ 6,971,780
Research and Development Expenses: . , \ |
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services .........covevivvnininnveccieiins $ 4,210,058 30% § 6,111,952 102%
Related party, Biopharmaceutical Products and Services................. 1,309,100 9% ! — 0%
Specialty Pharmaceuticals ...............oovereveeeviiisenererniirireeenessseserenns — 0% | — 0%
Total Research and Development EXPEnses ................coo.crrvverrnens $ 5,519,158 $ 6,111,952
Sales and Marketing Expenses: l‘
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services .........ccocevevercciveniiriniennn $ 1,479,461 11% §$ ! 236,306 4%
Specialty Pharmaceuticals ......c..cocovveniiiinieiic e, 10,535,583 88% 4,129,922 106%
Total Sales and Marketing EXPENSES c.veereeeirrrrerreriveseere e veesraeenes $ 12,015,044 $ 4,366,228
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services ! ' 4

!
Net sales. Net sales in our Blopharmaceutlcal Products and Services segment were $14.0 million in the year ended September 30,
2004, compared to $6 0 million in the prior year, an increase of $8.0 million, or 133% over total net sales of $6.0 million in this
segment in the pnor year. An increase of $3.4 million in 2004 was attributable to the full year of operatlons in our European
subsidiary. In addition, an increase of a $3.2 million in 2004 was attributable to the full year of operations in our Biovest
subsidiary. The balance of the increase in 2004 was attributable to increased sales from analytical and consulting services.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment for the year ended September 30, 2004 was
$6.5 million, representing 46% of segment net sales, compared to $2.3 million, representing 39% of segment net sales, in the prior
year. The $4.2 million increase in cost of sales, and corresponding 7% reduction in cost of sales as a pefcentage of net sales, was
primarily attributable to a shift of our product mix toward lower margin products.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses in our Biopharmaceutica] Products and Services segment for
the year ended September 30, 2004 decreased to $5.5 million from $6.1 million in 2003, representing an 11% decrease. Absent
the one-time charge; for purchased IPR&D of $5.0 million in 2003, research and development expenses rose $4.4 million. This
$4.4 million increase was attributable to a full year of operations in 2004 compared to three months in 2003, coupled with
increased research and development activities for BiovaxID in 2004.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Sales and marketing expense in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment increased
to $1.5 million in the year ended September 30, 2004 from $0.2 million in the year ended September 30 2003. The increase of
$1.3 million resulted from $0.5 million increased costs associated with market development act1v1t1es for SinuNase and
approximately $0.8 million year over year for the sales and marketing costs in Biovest. In addition, the timing of acquisitions
included partial year costs in the year ended September 30, 2003. 1
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Specialty Pharmaceuticals

Net sales. Net sales in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment were $11.9 million in the year ended September 30, 2004,
compared to $3.9 million in the prior year, an increase of $8.0 million, or 205%. The increase of $8.0 million was attributable to a
full year of operations, compared to six months of operations in 2003, as well as new product launches in 2004.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment for the year ended September 30, 2004 was $2.3 million,
representing 20% of segment net sales, compared to $0.6 million, representing 15% of segment net sales, in the prior year. The
$1.7 million increase in cost of sales and corresponding 5% reduction in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales were primarily
attributable to increased discounts and rebates as we accessed additional distribution channels to grow our sales.

Research and Development. There were no research and development expenses in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment in the
years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Sales and marketing expenses in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment increased to $10.5
million in the year ended September 30, 2004, compared to $4.1 million in the year ended September 30, 2003, an increase of
$6.4 million, or 156%. The increase was attributed to expansion of our sales force and sales-related administrative headcount to
114 from 72 in the prior year and costs associated with new products being brought into the market in connection with license and
co-promote commercialization agreements. In addition, the timing of acquisitions included partial year costs in the year ended
September 30, 2003.

Discontinued operations. We sold the assets of AccentRx in December 2003. This business was previously included in our
Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment. The transaction included a cash payment of $4.2 million for various intangible assets but did
not include any fixed assets, accounts receivable, or accounts payable, nor did the buyer assume any debt. We used the net
proceeds of this sale to reduce our indebtedness to McKesson Corporation. The financial statements for the year ended
September 30, 2003, reflect the loss from operations of the business sold, net of zero tax benefit. Wind-down costs related to the
discontinued operations were primarily personnel and administrative costs associated with collection of accounts receivable,
payables management, and information systems, and are reflected in the loss from discontinued operations of $1.5 million in the
year of the sale. In the year ended September 30, 2003, net sales of approximately $20.9 million have been netted against all costs
of operation of AccentRx, and are included in loss from discontinued operations of $2.3 million. In the year ended September 30,
2002, we had net sales in the business of $17.1 million. The loss from operations of $4.5 million and the impairment loss of $4.7
million were also reflected in this year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity

Since our inception, we have funded our operations primarily through private placements of our capital stock, debt financing,
conversions of debt to equity, and financing transactions with our strategic partners. These transactions are described throughout
the following pages.

At September 30, 2005, we had cash and cash equivalents of $2.8 million compared with cash and cash equivalents of $1.9
million at September 30, 2004. On November 2, 2005, we closed our Initial Public Offering (“IPO”), with gross and net proceeds
of $19.2 million and $14.1 million, respectively.

Based on our current operating plans, we expect that our existing capital resources and cash flow from operations, together with
borrowing availability under our lines of credit with Laurus and Hopkins II, will be sufficient to fund our operations and
development activities into the third quarter of fiscal year 2006. We are currently engaged in efforts to restructure certain of our
existing indebtedness in order to increase available funds on a near-term basis, and we also intend to seek additional financing
through one or more public or private equity offerings, additional debt financings, corporate collaborations or licensing
transactions. We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If adequate funds are not
available from the foregoing sources, we may consider additional strategic financing options, including sales of assets or business
units (such as specialty pharmaceuticals, market services or cell culture equipraent) that are non-essential to the ongoing
development or future commercialization of SinuNase, or we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate one or
more of our research or development programs or curtail some of our commercialization efforts.

Our Biovest subsidiary is seeking financing through public or private equity offerings, debt financings, corporate collaborations,
or licensing transactions. Pending completion of an anticipated Biovest financing transaction, we plan to continue to fund
Biovest’s operations through intercompany demand loans to the extent that advanced amounts exceed our funding commitment to
Biovest under our investment agreement with Biovest. As of December 20, 2005, an aggregate of $5.5 million in intercompany
demand notes payable to us by Biovest were outstanding, representing funds advanced to Biovest in excess to our funding
commitment under the investment agreement plus intercompany obligations arising from the conversion of Biovest notes into our
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common stock in accordance with the terms of such notes. After the completion of a funding transaction by Biovest, if any, we do
not anticipate that we will continue to finance Biovest’s operations. In addition, upon the completion of such a Biovest financing
transaction, we anticipate that Biovest may repay some or all of the outstanding demand notes.

t
Private Placements of Capital Stock l

We have received funding from private placements of our common and preferred stock and from the exerc1se of warrants to
purchase capital stock. The table below summarizes our private placement stock issuance and warrant exercises for cash since

inception:
. Number of Gross
Security Shares Proceeds |
Series A preferred stock ... 2,794,508 $ 5,883,000 |
Series C preferred StocK.......ooveevvivririvieniecrnenreeeeeeens 3,562,607 7,500,000 |
Series E preferred StocK .........ovvrriiiereeereesensenessans 6,758,661 14,228,333
Common Stock Warrants ...........ccveevvvnisnesescnnieninennes 285,009 600,000 |
Series A Warrant €XerciSes......ccvvvvveeveeererreereerersrersns 102,603 216,000 |
Séries E Warrant €XerciSe.......ccoovueereeverreineerreersesseennens 9,826,461 20,686,667
TOtAL . vcviivereceeteeeie et ettt ane $49,114,000

Debt Financing

i
We have also obtained d‘ebt financing from various sources to fund our operations. ;

Credit Facility with Laurus Master Fund, Ltd. On April 29, 2005, we entered into a credit facility with Launlls Master Fund, Ltd.,

or Laurus. The Laurus credit facility originally provided for total loan availability of $10 million, consisting of a §5 million term
loan and a revolving credit facility of up to $5 million. As of September 30, 2005, a total of $5.0 million in principal amount was
outstanding under the term loan portion of the credit facility, while $9.7 million in principal amount was dutstanding under the
revolving loan portion of the credit facility. On August 16, 2005, the credit facility was amended to increase Nthe term loan portion

of the credit facility from $5.0 million to $10.0 million in principal amount. {

The term loan portion of the Laurus credit facility is evidenced by an amended and restated secured convertllble term note, dated
August 16, 2005, in the| principal amount of $10 million. The revolving loan portion of the credit fac111ty is evidenced by an
amended and restated secured convertible minimum borrowing note in the amount of $2.5 million and a secu:red revolving note of
up to $5 million, provided that the aggregate principal amount under both notes combined may not exceed $5 million. Both of the
revolving loan notes are |dated as of April 29, 2005. Under the revolving loan, we have the right to borrow up to the sum of 85%
of all of eligible accounts receivable and 50% of eligible inventory pledged to secure the loan (with the eligibility criteria being
set forth in the loan agreements), as well .as 50% of the market value of publicly traded securities pledged by the Francis E.
O’Donnell Irrevocable Trust #1. Our initial advance under the revolving loans was $5.0 million, of which $2!5 million was repaid
in November 2005. Laurus waived our minimum collateral requirements under our borrowing base for a period of 180 days after
April 29, 2005, providedi that we pay an applicable over-advance interest rate of 10% per annum on any oversadvanced amount.

In connection with the Laurus credit facility, as amended, we issued to Laurus a warrant to purchase a number of shares of our
common stock that is equal to $8.0 million divided by our per share initial public offering price of $8.00. The warrant agreement
provides that if our initial public offering had not occurred within 270 days of the date on which the credit facﬂlty was amended,
then the warrant would represent the right to purchase 979,312 shares of our common stock until such timeé as our initial public
offering occurs. The warrant has an initial exercise price of $8.169 per share, provided that from and after our initial public
offering, the warrant will have an exercise price equal to our per share initial public offering price. Basedl on the initial public
offering price of $8.00 per share, a total of 1,000,000 shares of our common stock are subject to this warrant agreement at an
exercise price of $8.00 per share. The warrant may not be exercised by Laurus until 180 days after the régistration statement
required to be filed by us with respect to the amended and restated secured convertible term note issued to Laurus (as described
below) is declared effective or, if earlier, when the amended and restated secured convertible term note is converted or paid in
full. The warrant will expire on the 5 * anniversary of the date of warrant issuance. Laurus may exercise the warrant with cash, in
a cashless exercise pursiiant to the surrender of the warrant or shares issuable under the warrant, or any combination of the
foregoing. We have the right to require Laurus to exercise this warrant so long as (i) there is an effective current registration
statement in place covering the resale of all of the shares of our common stock issuable to Laurus pursuant| to the credit facility
and (ii) the average closing price of our common stock for the 20 consecutive trading days immediately preceding the forced
exercise date is greater than 140% of our per share initial public offering price. As a part of the August 2005 amendment to the
Laurus credit facility, we granted to Laurus an additional warrant to purchase up to 277,778 shares of our common stock at an
exercise price of $.001 per share. This additional warrant is immediately exercisable and, except for the ‘absence of a forced
exercise provision, has substantially the same terms and conditions as the other warrant granted to Laurus.
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The principal and accrued but unpaid interest under each of the Laurus notes were convertible at the option of Laurus into shares
of our common stock at an initial conversion price of $6.95 per share. After the completion of our initial public offering, the
conversion price became an amount equal to 85% of the per share initial public offering price or $5.91 per share. However, these
notes cannot be converted by Laurus until the earlier of 270 days after the date of the note or 180 days after our initial public
offering. In connection with this credit facility, we entered into a registration rights agreement under which we agreed to register
for public resale all of the shares of our common stock into which the amended and restated secured convertible term note,
amended and restated secured convertible minimum borrowing note, and the warrants granted to Laurus are convertible or
exercisable. However, these registration rights do not apply to the secured revolving note. At any time after the effectiveness of a
registration statement covering the resale of the shares into which these notes are convertible, up to $2.5 million in principal
amount under the secured revolving note may be transferred by Laurus to the amended and restated secured convertible minimum
borrowing note, thereby making such portion of the principal amount subject to the registration rights agreement.

The amended and restated secured convertible term note accrues interest at a rate of the greater of 10% per annum or prime rate
plus 4%. The amended and restated secured convertible minimum borrowing note and secured revolving note accrue interest at a
rate equal to the greater of 7.75% per year or prime rate plus 2%. However, provided that (i) there is an effective registration
statement in place covering the resale of the shares into which the notes are convertible and (ii) the market price of our common
stock exceeds the conversion price by 25% for five consecutive trading days, then the interest rate will be reduced by 2% for each
25% of increase in the market price of our common stock above the conversion price.

The amended and restated secured convertible term note is payable through April 29, 2008 in equal monthly payments of
principal and interest of $0.3 million. The secured revolving note and amended and restated secured convertible minimum
borrowing note are due on April 29, 2008 with all accrued but unpaid interest payable monthly. We have the right to redeem the
notes (other than the secured revolving note) at any time at a redemption price equal to 130% of the principal amount of the note
plus all accrued but unpaid interest, subject to the right of Laurus to convert the note prior to a redemption. The secured revolving
note may be prepaid at any time without penalty. On any date on which a payment is due under the amended and restated
convertible term note, Laurus is required to convert the monthly payment amount into shares of common stock so long as and to
the extent that (1) there is an effective current registration statement in place covering the resale of all of the shares of our common
stock issuable to Laurus pursuant to the credit facility, (ii) the average closing price of our common stock for the five trading days
immediately preceding the payment date is greater than 125% of the note conversion price, and (iii) the number of shares of
common stock to be issued as payment does not exceed 25% of the aggregate dollar trading volume of our common stock during
the 22 immediately preceding trading days. Under the amended and restated secured convertible term note and amended and
restated secured convertible minimum borrowing note, Laurus is required to convert such note into a number of shares of our
common stock equal to 20% of the aggregate trading volume of our common stock during the five immediately trading days at the
conversion price provided that (i) there is an effective current registration statement in place covering the resale of all for the
shares of our common stock issuable to Laurus pursuant to the credit facility, (i1) the average closing price of our common stock
for the five trading days immediately preceding the conversion date is greater than 125% of the note conversion price, and (iii) the
amount of the conversion does not exceed 20% of the aggregate dollar trading volume of our common stock during the 20
immediately preceding trading days. ' ‘

The Laurus notes are secured by a first priority security interest in all of the tangible and intangible assets of Accentia
Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. and our Analytica subsidiary (including the stock of their respective subsidiaries). This security interest
does not extend to any assets of our TEAMM, Biovest, or IMOR subsidiaries. The notes are also secured by certain publicly
traded securities owned by the Francis E. O’Donnell Jr. Irrevocable Trust #1.

On December 29, 2005, Laurus Master Fund, LTD. (“Laurus”) agreed to make a loan to us in excess of the Formula Amount
under the Security Agreement dated April 29, 2005. This overadvance is in the amount of up to $2.5 million. In connection with
this overadvance, we granted Laurus a warrant to purchase up to 51,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.01 per
share.

Loans from McKesson Corporation. We are also a party to secured loans with McKesson Corporation, which were assumed under
a Loan Assumption Agreement with McKesson as part of our acquisition in October 2002 of the assets of APP. The debt is
personally guaranteed by Dr. O’Donnell, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and Dr. Ryll, our director and a limited
partner in MOAB Investments, LP, a holder of our equity securities. The loans bear interest at 10.0% per annum. The loans had
been in default as a consequence of covenant violations and non-payment of principal and interest at the time of acquisition. As a
result of the defaults, we recorded default interest charges of $0.8 million and $0.7 million at September 30, 2005 and
September 30, 2004, respectively. The outstanding balance, including principal and interest, at September 30, 2005 and
September 30, 2004 was $6.1 million and $7.4 million, respectively. In February 2005, we paid the principal balance of the loans
down to $6.1 million and brought all interest current. As part of the February 2005 pay-down of the debt, the loan assumption
agreement was amended to provide for forbearance on principal payments through the earlier of June 30, 2005 or four days after
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the completion of dur initial public offering, and we subsequently received further extensions of th1s forbearance through
September 14, 2005 in consideration of payments in the amount of $0.3 million to McKesson. On September 13, 2005, we
received another extension of the forbearance through September 29, 2005 in consideration of making|a $0.1 million principal
payment under the loans. In November 2005, we paid $5.3 million of the principal balance of the note and extended the maturity

date of the remaining $0.8 million due until July 2006. ;
!

Also as a part of the February 2005 amendment, McKesson agreed to waive its right to exercise a warrant to purchase up to
1,425,043 shares of our Series E preferred stock previously granted to McKesson. !

|
Our loans from McKesson are secured by all of the assets of Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., mcluduﬁg its stock in each of its
subsidiaries, as well as certain publicly traded securities owned by two irrevocable trusts estabhshed by Dr. O’Donnell. In
addition, prior to February 20085, the loans were secured by shares of our stock held by The Hopkins Caprtal Group, LLC, our
shareholder and an entlty in which Dr. O’Donnell is the manager, and MOAB Investments, LP. In connectlon with the February
2005 amendment to the McKesson credit facility, McKesson’s security interest in the Accentia stock was released, although the
guarantees and securlty interest in the publicly traded securities owned by the two trusts established by Dr O’Donnell will remain
in effect until the MeKesson credit facility is paid in full and all of our obligations under our Blologlcs‘ Distribution Agreement
with McKesson (as described below) have been satisfied. i

Bridge Loans from Hopkins Capital Group II, LLC. In June 2005, we borrowed an aggregate of $0.6 Jmillion in the form of a
bridge loan from The Hopkins Capital Group II, LLC, otherwise referred to as Hopkins II. Dr. Francis E O’Donnell, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman, is the sole manager of Hopkins II, and several irrevocable trusts established by Dr. O’Donnell
collectively constitute the largest equity owners of Hopkins II. The June 2005 bridge loan was ev1denced by an unsecured
interest-free promissory note that was due on the earlier of August 31, 2005 or the closing of this offermg A total of $0.6 million
in principal was outstanding under this bridge loan as of June 30, 2005, and from July 1, 2005 through August 16, 2005,

additional advances in the amount of $3.6 million were made by Hopkins II under this loan. |
In August 2005, we entered into a new bridge loan agreement with Hopkins II that provides for aggregaice borrowing availability
of up to $7.5 mllhon in principal amount at an interest rate of 4.25% per annum. In connection wrth this agreement, the
$4.2 million advanced under the previous Hopkins II bridge loan was converted into an obligation under the new bridge loan
agreement. The new: bridge loan (including all accrued interest) will become due upon the earlier ofl August 16, 2007 or the
completion by our company of a debt or equity financing that results in proceeds of more than $35.0 million (net of underwriting
discounts, commissions, or placement agent fees). We may prepay the bridge loan at any time without penalty or premium.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, on the date on which the bridge loan becomes due or on which we desir;e to prepay the loan, we
must not be in default under our credit facility with Laurus, and the remaining balance under the Laur;us credit facility at such
time must be $2.5 million or less. If both of these conditions are not satisfied, then the bridge loan will not become due and cannot
be paid until the first/day on which both of these conditions are satisfied. ‘

| |

Under the August 2005 bridge loan agreement with Hopkins II, we have the unconditional right to borrbw up to $5.0 million in
the aggregate upon ten days’ prior written notice to Hopkins II, provided that our right to borrow any amounts in excess of $5.0
million is conditioned upon us either being in default under our credit facility with Laurus or having less than $5.0 million cash on
hand at the time of the advance. As of September 2003, a total of $4.2 million had been borrowed under this bridge loan. The loan
is unsecured and bears interest at a rate equal to 4.25% per annum, simple interest. No payments of pﬁﬁcipal or interest are due
until the maturity date of the loan. The Hopkins II bridge loan is subordinate to the Laurus credit facility 4nd the McKesson loans,

provided that we may repay the bridge loan prior to the full satisfaction of our obligations to Lauru]s so long as the above-

described conditions are satisfied. }

|
Other Loans and Indebtedness In September 2004, we borrowed $0.3 million from First Commertcial Bank of Tampa, which was
secured by cash owned by MOAB Investments, L.P., one of our stockholders and an entity in which Dr. Ryll one of our directors,
is a limited partner. ThlS loan was paid in full in December 2004. ) (

As of September 30, 2003, we had a $7.0 million note payable by our TEAMM subsidiary to Harbinger | Mezzanme Partners, LP,
secured by receivables, equipment, inventories and intangible assets of our TEAMM subsidiary. This loan was in place at the time
of our acquisition of TEAMM. We were in default of loan covenants under this loan at September 30, 2004. In March 2005, we
amended the loan agreement to provide for a guarantee from Accentia Blopharmaceutrcals Inc,, forbearance on covenants
through September 30, 2005, and a release of the first lien against the assets of TEAMM in order to provide a first lien to
Missouri State Bank, an interim provider of our revolving credit facility that was terminated prior to September 30, 2005.
Concurrent with the March 2005 amendment, we also repurchased for $2.0 million from Harbinger a previously granted warrant
representing the right to purchase up to 1,785,742 shares of our Series D preferred stock at an exercise price of $0.007 per share.
This repurchase was' effected through the cancellation of the warrant and an increase in the note balfance from $5.0 to $7.0
million. Further, Harbinger agreed that it has no other right or entitlement, including but not limited |to any warrant, option,
conversion right, preemptive right, or other agreement to purchase any shares of our capital stock or TEAMM’s capital stock
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(including but not limited to shares of Series D Preferred stock and shares of common stock). In September 2005, Harbinger
extended its forbearance on covenants through December 31, 2005. As of September 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004, the
Harbinger note was recorded at $6.6 million and $4.2 million, respectively, reflecting a discount on long-term debt as a result of
warrants issued in connection with the loan, the value of which is accreted over the term of the note. $2.0 million of the principal
amount was paid in November 2005.

As of September 30, 2005, our Biovest subsidiary had convertible notes payable totaling $4.8 million in principal amount, bearing
interest payable at maturity ranging from 7% to 10%. These notes were payable to former Biovest management and shareholders.
As of September 30, 2005 we had accrued interest of $1.0 million under these notes, $0.7 million is shown in current maturities
on long-term debt with the balance in long-term debt, less current maturities. Four notes of $0.1 million each, originally due in
November 2004, September 2004, and September 2003, were renegotiated and are being paid in monthly installments. These
notes consisted of bridge financing and working capital loans that were in place at the time of our acquisition of our interest in
Biovest. The holders of these notes have the right to convert the principal and interest thereunder into shares of Biovest common
stock, and these notes can be converted into shares of our common stock at a price equal to the then-current fair market value of
our common stock (or in the case of $1.6 million in principal amount of such notes, at a price equal to 80% of such fair market
value), provided that if our common stock is publicly traded at the time of conversion, then fair market value shall be deemed to
be the initial public offering price of our common stock. In September 2005, Biovest and the holders of a total of $4.1 million in
aggregate principal amount of these notes entered into an agreement providing that, unless the notes are earlier converted into our
common stock, the notes would automatically convert into Biovest common stock on the earlier of December 1, 2005 or 30 days
following the completion of this offering at conversion prices ranging from $0.40 to $1.00 per share. With the exception of four
notes totaling $0.6 million all the convertible debentures issued by Biovest were converted into $3.7 million of Accentia common
stock at prices ranging from $6.40 to $8 per share and $1.3 million of Biovest stock at prices ranging from $.40 to $1.00 per
share. In connection with these transactions, Biovest issued an inter-company demand note to Accentia for approximately
$3.7 million.

In addition to the note issued in connection with the conversion, Accentia advanced approximately $1.8 million since October 1,
2005, which is expected to be repaid in fiscal 2006, subject to successful completion of the financing transactions being pursued
by Biovest. Accentia expects repayment from Biovest on the conversion note and its current year advances in fiscal 2006, as
Biovest is seeking its own debt and equity financing, as separately described below. The liquidity effect of these conversions on
our consolidated balance sheet was to reduce our consolidated long-term debt and increase shareholders” equity.

At September 30, 2004, we owed approximately $0.1 million in connection with the settlement of the termination of employment
of two former officers. This was paid in full in January 2005.

Other Financing Transactions

In February 2004, we entered into a Biologics Distribution Agreement with McKesson Corporation that gives McKesson
exclusive distribution rights for all of our biologic products (including Biovest biologic products) in the U.S., Mexico, and
Canada. These distribution rights were granted to McKesson in exchange for a $3.0 million refundable deposit paid by McKesson
to us. The agreement can be terminated by McKesson upon 180 days’ prior written notice, upon mutual written agreement, or
upon our repurchase of McKesson’s distribution rights prior to FDA approval of our first biologic product. In order to repurchase
the distribution rights, we must pay McKesson a cash payment equal to the greater of two times the amount of the $3.0 million
refundable deposit, or $6.0 million, or 3% of the value of the shareholder’s equity at the time of termination. If the agreement is
otherwise terminated, then we will be required to return the $3.0 million deposit to McKesson.

In September 2004, we sold an interest in our future royalties from SinuNase to PPD for a $2.5 million cash payment. Under this
agreement, we are obligated to pay PPD cumulative minimum payments equal to at least $2.5 million by the end of calendar year
2009. In the event PPD terminates the agreement for breach, inciuding for our failure to make the minimum payments, PPD has
the right to require us to repurchase the royalty interest for a purchase price equal to $2.5 million, less all royalty payments made
by us to PPD. For accounting purposes, this has been accounted for as a deposit on our balance sheet at September 30, 2005 and
September 30, 2004, and will be amortized into revenues as corresponding royalties are earned by PPD, at which time
our corresponding deposit will be reduced. In August 2005, this agreement was amended to increase PPD’s share of future
royalties from SinuNase in exchange for PPD agreeing to provide certain services relating to SinuNase clinical trials and
regulatory approval.

Cash Resources

At September 30, 2005, we had cash and cash equivalents of $2.8 million compared with cash and cash equivalents of $1.9
million at September 30, 2004.

On November 2, 2005, we closed our IPO, with gross and net proceeds of $19.2 million and $14.1 million, respectively.
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We have lines of credil with Hopkins Capital Group II, LLC and with Laurus Master Funds, LP which subject to compliance with
borrowing requirements may represent additional cash resources aggregating approximately $5.9 million.

Biovest Investment Agreement

Our investment agreement with Biovest provides that, within 12 months of the date of our June 2003 1nvestment in Biovest,
Biovest was required to file all necessary documents and take all necessary actions to permit the public tradmg of all outstanding
shares of Biovest common stock that are not subject to restriction on sale or transfer under the applicableé securities laws. Since
August 2005, Biovest’s common stock has been quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbdl BVTL.OB. Although
Biovest common stock was not quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board prior to August 2005, Biovest believes that, by filing all
reports required to be filed by it under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 at all times since the date of the investment
agreement, it timely filed all required documents and reports and timely took all action within its control necessary to permit such
stock to trade publicly! during the 12-month period following our investment in Biovest. Under the Biovest investment agreement,
should it be determined that Biovest should have filed additional documents or taken additional action to permit the trading of its
shares within the required time period, the agreement provides that Biovest, upon 90 days’ written notice with a right to cure,
would be obligated toimake an offer to purchase the following number of shares of its outstanding stock (other than stock held by
us) as of the followmg dates, provided that Biovest common stock had not started trading by then: 980,000 shares at the first
anmversary of the date of our investment in Biovest, 1 ,960,000 shares at the second anniversary, 2 940‘ 000 shares at the third
anniversary of the investment, and 3,920,000 shares at the fourth anniversary, with each such repurchase being at a price of $2.00
per share. Prior to the commencement of the quotation of Biovest’s common stock on the OTC Bullétin Board, an attorney
representing a group of approximately thirteen Biovest shareholders orally communicated to us that such shareholders believe that
they have a claim against Biovest and/or our company as a result of the fact that Biovest common stock ha'd not yet started tradmg
publicly and no repurchase offer had yet been made under the investment agreement. See “BUSINESS—Legal Proceedings.”

: |

Cash Flows for the Year Ended September 30, 2005 |

For the year ended September 30, 2005, we used $33.0 million in cash to fund our operating activities. Thls consisted primarily of
a net loss of $39.4 million, reduced by non-cash charges of approximately $0.7 million of deprecratron, $2.5 million in
amortization of intangibles, and $0.4 million of stock-based compensation. We also had non-cash charges of $2.4 million in loss
on the extmgurshment of debt as a result of the conversion of debt to equity. We also had $0.4 million in x1mpa1rment charges due
to the termination of the SRL agreement. i

t
We used net cash in investing activities of $5.1 million in the year ended September 30, 2005, primarily consisting of payments
for product rights of $4.6 million, improvements to our Worcester laboratory facility of $0.2 million, and computer equipment
and office improvements of $0.3 million. !
We had net cash flows from financing activities of $38.9 million in the year ended September 30, 2005, consisting of $26.3
million in proceeds from the issuance of preferred stock and common stock, $10.0 million in pro’ceeds from convertible
debentures, net funding from lines of credit of $1.7 million, $4.2 million, from the proceeds of related party debt, and proceeds
from minority interest of $0.1 million. We reduced our debt by $2.3 million, paid $0.3 million in dlvrdends and paid deferred
offering costs of $0. 8 million. 3

Our net working caprtal deficit at September 30, 2005 decreased from September 30, 2004 by $1.8 rhlllron to $29.6 million,
which was attributed; largely to fiscal 2005 losses wh1ch were funded through debt and equity proceeds amd refinancing of certain
short-term debt to long term. 1
The amount of our net working capital, which had a deficit of $34.9 million at September 30, 2005, wrlJl continue to be affected
by our accounts receivable, and we expect that our accounts receivable will grow in connection with . an anticipated growth in
revenues from sales of products in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment. At September 30, 2005, our net accounts receivable

was $4.4 million, anjincrease of $2.0 million from September 30, 2004. :

We expect to pay, and have budgeted for payment, periodic and contractually-committed milestone payhnents that are quantified
based on product development activities of our development partners and are not always predrctable We expect that these
payments will be made from cash flow generated from our anticipated receivables growth, as well as through the proceeds from
this offering. Although we expect that our net cash flows from operating activities will continue to be negative until (and if) we
are able to commence sales of SinuNase and BiovaxID, we expect that increasing sales from products in our Specialty

Pharmaceuticals segment will offset research and development expenses associated with SinuNase and BiovaxID.
‘ |
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Cash Flows for the Year Ended September 30, 2004

For the year ended September 30, 2004, we used $18.5 million in cash to fund our operating activities. This consisted primarily of
a net loss from operations for the period of $23.2 million, reduced by non-cash charges approximately $0.6 million in
depreciation, $2.0 million in amortization of intangibles, $2.6 million for stock- based cost related to our sale of the mail-order
specialty pharmacy, and $0.7 million in stock-based compensation. We also had $0.4 million in impairment charges (recognized
upon acquisition of IMOR) and other non-cash charges and incurred $0.7 million in default interest on loans. Our net working
capital deficit was increased by $8.3 million from the prior year, primarily as a result of obligations associated with our product
development agreements, borrowings from the secured line of credit with Missouri State Bank, and the obligation under the
Biologics Distribution Agreement with McKesson. We used $3.0 million in investing activities, consisting primarily of $2.9
million acquisition of intangible assets, $0.6 million in the acquisition of IMOR, and $0.8 million purchase of laboratory
equipment and leasehold improvements. We also had restricted cash of $1.3 million released in accordance with the terms of an
escrow agreement for a product line acquired in the previous year. We received net cash from financing activities of $21.8
million, primarily consisting of proceeds from the issuance of $15.8 million in preferred stock, $6.2 million in line of credit and
stockholder loan proceeds, and $5.5 million in proceeds from deposits and the sale of royalty rights. We reduced debt by
$6.1 million and paid $0.1 million in dividends.

Our business has changed significantly since its inception, primarily as a result of our acquisition and the sale of the assets of
AccentRx. Our accounts receivable balance in AccentRx (which was sold in December 2003) was $1.4 million at September 30,
2003 and was substantially collected during the ensuing year with the exception of a nominal balance for which there was a
reserve. Our Biovest subsidiary had receivables of $1.0 million at September 30, 2003, and only $0.1 million a year later,
reflecting the increasing focus on our BiovaxID project and away from the historical cell culture products business of Biovest. At
the same time, receivables in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment reflected an increase to $1.3 million, from a year earlier
balance of $0.7 million. Our Analytica subsidiary, with its acquisition of IMOR effective in October 2003, had accounts
receivable at September 30, 2004 of $1.8 million, compared to $0.9 million the year before.

Our accrued expenses at September 30, 2004 decreased by approximately $3.5 million compared to September 30, 2003. The
decrease was due primarily to a reduction of accrued expenses for our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment relating to $4.3 million
due to McKesson for returned product. This amount was converted to Series E preferred stock during fiscal 2004. In addition, the
provision for returned goods for the Histex product line decreased from $1.7 million at September 30, 2003 to $0.1 million at
September 30, 2004 as Histex product was returned during fiscal 2004. Those decreases were partially offset by increases in
accruals for compensation, rebates, chargebacks, and royalties.

Accounts payable changed primarily as a result of increased sales in the year ended September 30, 2004 over the prior year.
Accounts payable decreased $1.3 million primarily due to the reduction in accounts payable for our discontinued operations of
$4.8 million. This reduction was offset by an increase of $1.7 million for vaccine development related payables in
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services and $1.8 million in Specialty Pharmaceuticals primarily relating to manufactured
product and marketing expenses, including sample expenses.

If sales in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment increase based on the timeline of existing products under development, we
expect that accounts receivable and related accounts payable will increase as we bring products to market. If we experience
growth in our accounts receivable, we anticipate that asset-based financing arrangements may be used to fund associated cash
flow requirements.

Cash Flows for the Year Ended September 30, 2003

For the year ended September 30, 2003, we used $5.7 million in operating activities. This consisted of a net loss from operations
for the year of $16.7 million, reduced by $0.3 million of depreciation, $1.1 million in amortization of intangibles and accretion of
discount on long-term debt, and $0.8 million in stock-based compensation. In addition, we expensed $5.0 million of IPR&D costs
acquired in our Biovest acquisition and incurred $0.6 million in default interest on loans. We received net cash flow from
investing activities in the year ended September 30, 2003 of $2.5 million, which consisted of cash received as part of our
acquisition of TEAMM of $2.5 million and restricted cash of $0.7 million which was released as part of an escrow agreement
related to a product acquisition. This was offset by approximately $0.7 million in intangible assets as part of our acquisition, as
well as fixed assets acquired. We had net cash flows from financing activities in the year ended September 30, 2003 of $4.3
million. This consisted of net proceeds from stockholder notes and long-term debt of $3.1 million and issuance of preferred stock
for cash received of $1.3 million.

Funding Requirements

We expect to devote substantial resources to further our commercialization efforts for our late-stage clinical products in our
Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment, including regulatory approvals of SinuNase and BiovaxID, as well as the
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commercial launches|of various products in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment pipeline. Our future fundlng requirements and
our ability to raise additional capital will depend on factors that include: |
| ) o |
+ the timing and amount of expense incurred to complete our clinical trials; §
]

» the costs and timing of the regulatory process as we seek approval of our products in development;

!
+ the advancement of our pipeline products into development; }

+  the timing, receipt and amounts of milestone payments to our existing development partners; \

»  our ability to generate new relationships with industry partners whose business plans seek 1ong-iterm commercialization
opportunities which allow for up-front deposits or advance payments in exchange for license agreemehtS‘

+  the timing, receipt and amount of sales, if any, from our products in development in our Blopham‘laceutlcal Products and
Services segment; ;

i
+ the timing, receipt and amount of sales in our Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment; i

+ the cost of manufacturing (paid to third parties) of our licensed products, and the cost of marketlng and sales activities of
those products; J

‘ |
»  the continued willingness of our vendors to provide trade credit on historical terms; {

+  the costs of prosecuting, maintaining, and enforcing patent claims, if any claims are made;

* our ability to mamtam existing collaborative relationships and establish new relationships as we advance our products in
development; and

«  the receptivity of the financial market to biopharmaceutical companies.

|
: %
Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements ]

The following chart summarizes our contractual payment obligations as of September 30, 2005. The loné- and short-term debt,
fixed milestone obhga\nons and license fees are reflected as liabilities on our balance sheet as of September 30, 2005. Operating
leases are accrued and paid on a monthly basis. ‘

The amounts listed for product distribution and license agreements represent our fixed obligations payable‘to distribution partners
for licensed products., The amounts listed for minimum royalty payments do not include those royaltles on net sales of our
products that may be in excess or not subject to minimum royalty obligations. |
The amount listed under “technology purchase agreement” represents those payments due SRL Technologi;es for the purchase of a
sustained release technology \

I

The other contractual obligations reflected in the table include obligations to purchase product candidate materials contingent on
the delivery of the materials and to fund various clinical trials contmgent on the performance of services. ‘These obligations also
include long-term obligations, including milestone payments that may arise under agreements that we may terminate prior to the
milestone payments belng due. The table excludes contingent royalty payments that we may be obligated to pay in the future.

i
\
|
|
|
|
|
|
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Payments Due by Period

Less than One to Three to After
One Year Two Years Five Years  Five Years Total
(in thousands)
Long-term debt @® ..ot e $ 18,749 § 11,034 § — & — § 29,783
Technology purchase agreement..........ccocooeevviiieereneiierineee e — — — — —
Product distribution agreements..........coevrrveirineeneeiireneseecnaennens 83 — — — 83
LICENSE AZTEEMENES . c..c.evviviriirreririririecereneseereree et sresesseeerens — — — — —
Minimum royalty PAYMENTS ......cccocvrererrriereeriere oo 900 800 — — 1,700
Product manufacturing and supply agreements ............o.cccvevevenene. 269 423 — — 692
Cooperative research and development agreement.................c..... 580 290 — — 870
Employment agréements..........ccoovererrriererrereesreiernonnsiereensnenanes 2,345 4,439 2,354 — 9,138
Operating lease Obligations.......c.ocvvveceiierrmerecirnnree e 3,723 2,140 607 — 6,470
§ 26649 § 19,126 § 291 § — 8§ 48736

(a) Includes interest on long-term debt.
(b) Excludes $5.0 million in debt subsequently converted to equity.

The above table does not include any additional amounts that we may be required to pay under license or distribution agreements
upon the achievement of scientific, regulatory, and commercial milestones that may become payable depending on the progress of
scientific development and regulatory approvals, including milestones such as the submission of drug approval applications to the
FDA and approval of such applications. While we cannot predict when and if such events will occur, depending on the successful
achievement of such scientific, regulatory and commercial milestones, we may owe up to $2.0 million and $4.6 million in fiscal
years 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Under the Biologics Distribution Agreement that we entered into with McKesson Corporation in February 2004, as described
above, we granted McKesson exclusive distribution rights to our biologics products in exchange for a $3.0 million refundable
deposit. McKesson has the right to terminate this agreement at any time upon 180 days’ prior written notice, and upon such
termination, we will be required to refund the $3.0 million deposit to McKesson.

Under the September 2004 Royalty Stream Purchase Agreement with PPD, as described above, if PPD does not receive at least
$2.5 million in royalties from SinuNase under this agreement by 2009, then PPD has the right to terminate the agreement. In the
event of such a termination, we will be required to refund the $2.5 million that PPD paid to us upon the execution of the
agreement in consideration of the future royalty rights granted to them under the agreement.

Under the promissory note that we issued to Biovest in connection with our June 2003 investment agreement with Biovest, a total
of $15.0 million became payable to Biovest on various dates through June 2007. In August 2004, we entered into an amendment
of the investment agreement under which we agreed to use reasonable efforts to make advances to Biovest under the note prior to
the due date of the payments thereunder. We completed funding of our commitment under the note by September 30, 2005, and
have advanced approximately $1.8 million in additional funds subsequent to that date.

We do not maintain any off-balance sheet financing arrangements.

Related-Party Transactions

For a description of our related-party transactions, see “RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.”
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs.” The statement amends Accounting Research Bulletin
(“ARB”) No. 43, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling
costs, and wasted material. ARB No. 43 previously stated that these costs must be “so abnormal as to require treatment as current-
period charges.” SFAS No. 151 requires that those items be recognized as current-period charges regardless of whether they meet
the criterion of “so abnormal.” In addition, this statement requires that allocation of fixed production overhead to the costs of
conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The statement is effective for inventory costs incurred
during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005, with earlier application permitted for fiscal years beginning after the issue date
of the statement. The adoption of SFAS No. 151 is not expected to have any significant impact on our financial position or results
of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets—An Amendment of APB Opinion
No.29.” APB Opinion No. 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions,” is based on the opinion that exchanges of
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nonmonetary assets should be measured based on the fair value of the assets exchanged. SFAS No. 153!amends Opinion No. 29

to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it w1th; a general exception for

exchanges of nonmonetary assets whose results are not expected to significantly change the future cashiflows of the entity. The

adoption of SFAS Nd 153 is not expected to have any impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB revised its SFAS No. 123 (“SFAS No. 123R”), “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation.” The
revision establishes s‘tandards for the accounting of transactions in which an entlty exchanges its equity mstruments for goods or
services, partlcularly transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in share-based payment transactlons The revised
statement requires a; public entity to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity
instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award. That cost is to be recognized over the period during which the
employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. The provisions of the revised sta{ement are effective for
financial statements 1ssued for the first interim or annual reporting period beginning after June 15, 2005 with early adoption
encouraged. We account for options issued to employees under SFAS No. 123 so adoption of this rev1sxon is not expected to have

|
a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations. ;

|

This statement apphes to all awards granted after the required effective date and to awards modified, repurchased or cancelled
after that date. The cumulatwe effect of initially applying this statement, if any, is recognized as of the required effective date. As
of the required effective date, all public entities and those nonpublic entities that used the fair-value- %ased method for either
recognition or disclosure under Statement 123 will apply this statement using a modified version of prospectlve application.
Under that transition method, compensatlon cost is recognized on or after the required effective date for the portion of outstanding
awards for which the; ' requisite service has not yet been rendered, based on the grant-date fair value of those awards calculated
under Statement 123 for either recognition or pro forma disclosures. : i

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retmement Obligations, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143” (“FIN 47”), which requires an entity to recognize a hablhty for the fair value of a
conditional asset retirement obligation when incurred if the liability’s fair value can be reasonably estimated. FIN 47 is effective
for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2005. The Company is currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of FIN 47 will
have on its consolidated results of operations and financial condition but does not expect it to have a material impact.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections” (“SFAS 154”), which replaces
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 20 “Accounting Changes” and SFAS No. 3, “Reporting Accoun;ting Changes in Interim
Financial Statements—An Amendment of APB Opinion No. 28.” SFAS 154 provides guidance on accounting for and reporting of
accounting changes and error corrections. It establishes retrospective application, or the latest pract1cab\1e date, as the required
method for reporting a change in accounting pr1nc1ple and the reporting of a correction of an error. SFAS 154 is effective for
accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years begmnmg after December 15, 2005’ and is required to be
adopted by the Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of
SFAS 154 will have on its consolidated results of operations and financial condition, but does not expect it to have a material
impact. ‘ 4

Qualitative and Quahtitative Disclosures about Market Risk ‘

We are exposed to various market risks as a part of our operations, and we anticipate that this exposure will increase as a result of
our planned growth. In an effort to mitigate losses associated with these risks, we may at times enter into derivative financial
instruments, although we have not historically done so. These may take the form of forward sales conéracts option contracts,
foreign currency exchange contracts, and interest rate swaps. We do not, and do not intend to, engage m‘ the practice of trading
derivative securities for profit. (
Interest Rates |

V
1

. f
Some of our cash and cash-equivalent assets may be invested in short-term, interest-bearing, investmen;t grade securities. The
value of these securities will be subject to interest rate risk and could fall in value if interest rates rise. Duelto the fact that we hold
our excess funds in cash equivalents, a 1% change in interest rates would not have a significant effect on the value of our cash
equivalents. ‘ !

; , \
Foreign Exchange Rates ‘1

While we have operatlons in Germany, these operations are not significant to our overall financial results. Therefore, we do not
believe fluctuations in exchange rates would have a material impact on our financial results.

|
|
I
|
|
|
\
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to various market risks as a part of our operations, and we anticipate that this exposure will increase as a
result of our planned growth. In an effort to mitigate losses associated with these risks, we may at times enter into derivative
financial instruments, although we have not historically done so. These may take the form of forward sales contracts, option
contracts, foreign currency exchange contracts, and interest rate swaps. We do not, and do not intend to, engage in the
practice of trading derivative securities for profit.

Interest Rates

Some of our funds may be invested in short-term, interest-bearing, investment grade securities. The value of these securities
will be subject to interest rate risk and could fall in value if interest rates rise. Due to the fact that we hold our excess funds
in cash equivalents, a 1% change in interest rates would not have a significant effect on the value of our cash equivalents.

Foreign Exchange Rates

While we have operations in Germany, these operations are not significant to our overall financial results. Therefore, we do
not believe fluctuations in exchange rates would have a material impact on our financial results.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTAL DATA
The financial statements required by this item are located beginning on F-1 of this report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Based on their evaluation, as of a date within 90 days prior to the date of the filing of this report, of the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have each concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures are effective and sufficient to ensure that we record, process, summarize, and report
information required to be disclosed by us in our periodic reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act within the time periods
specified by the Securities and exchange Commission’s rules and forms.

Subsequent to the date of their evaluation, there have not been any significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors
to our knowledge that could significantly affect these controls, including any corrective action with regard to significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses. The design of any system of controls and procedures is based in part upon certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None

PART HI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The information in response to this item is hereby incorporated by reference to the information under the caption Directors and
Executive Officers presented in the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and used in connection with the solicitation of proxies for the Company’s 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the
“Proxy Statement”).

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our directors and employees (including our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer and controller), and have posted the text of the policy on
our website (Www.accentia.net) in connection with “Investor Relations” materials. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement
under Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of this Code by posting such information on
our website, at the address and location specified above. In addition, we intend to promptly disclose (1) the nature of any
amendment to our Code that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or
controller, or persons performing similar functions and (2) the nature of any waiver, including an implicit waiver, from a
provision of our Code that is granted to one of these specified officers, the name of such person who is granted the waiver and the

87




|

Il

i
date of the waiver on dur website in the future. You may also request a copy of the Code by contacting !our investor relations
department at 1nvestors@accent1a net. 1

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION ’»

The information in response to this item is hereby incorporated by reference to the information under the caption “Compensation
of Executive Officers” ipresented in the Company’s Proxy Statement. Information appearing in the Proxy Statement under the
headings “Report on Executive Compensation by the Compensation Committee and Board of Dlrectors” “Common Stock
Performance” and “Report of Audit Committee” is not incorporated herein and should not be deemed to be included in this

document for any purposes ;
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information in response to this item is hereby incorporated by reference to the information under gthe caption “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” presented in the Company’s Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information in response to this item is hereby incorporated by reference to the information undeq the caption “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions” presented in the Company’s Proxy Statement. I

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANTS FEES AND SERVICES . 1

The information requrred by this item is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Principal Accountants Fees and
Services” in the Company’s Proxy Statement.

:‘ PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITSL FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K |
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report: ‘

(1 Financiel Statements

See Index to Financial Statements on page F-1.

) ipnlemental Schedules

Schedule II Valuat1on and Qualifying Accounts (see last page of Consolidated Financial Statements)

All other schedules have been omitted because the required information is not present in amounts sufficient to require
submission of the schedule, or because the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or
notes thereto. : !

(3) Exhibits

See Item 1%5(b) below.

(b) The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this annual report on{Form 10-K:

Number Description of Document |

3.1 —  Amendeéd and Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Reéistration Statement
on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 7) filed on September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333- 122769) and incorporated
herein by reference). ;

3.2 —  Amendéd and Restated Bylaws (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February
11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). 1

41  —  Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2. 1

42 —  Form of Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment

No. 3) ﬁled on June 13, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference)
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Number

Description of Document

43

44

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

49

4.10

4.11

4.12

Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganization, dated January 8, 2003, between Registrant, TEAMM
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and TEAMM Principals (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganization, dated April 3, 2002, between
Registrant, The Analytica Group, Ltd., and The Analytica Group, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Merger Agreement, dated September 30, 2003, between Registrant and IMOR Private Institute for Medical
Outcome Research GmbH (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11,
2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Investors’ Rights Agreement and Form of Agreement and Waiver, between Registrant and certain
investors named therein including The Joyce A. Aboussie Revocable Trust, Robert Carr, John P. Dubinsky,
Charles R. and Ann T. Eveker, D&G Strategic Investments, Hopkins Capital Group, LLC, Lee Kling, McKesson
Corporation, MOAB Investments, Gary Munson, DKR SoundShore Oasis Holding Fund, Ltd., John D. Prosperi,
Nicholas G. and Linda P. Rallo, Dennis Ryll, MRB&B, LLC, Allen Family Partnership, Alan Hirmes, Harold ‘
Harris, Michae! Fowler, Nathalie Rallo, Sophia Rallo, Tom MacDonald, Jim Varney, Jane Mingey, Jeffrey
Lynford, Steve Kirby, Jeff Tobolski, George Vornas, Mayo Foundation, David Sabino, Donald L. Ferguson
Living Trust, and Vincent Keating (filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment
No. 2) filed on May 16, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Investors’ Rights Agreement and Form of Agreement and Waiver, between Registrant and certain
investors named therein including Ronald E. Osman and Steve Stogel (filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on May 16, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated January 7, 2005, between Registrant and
Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inc., as amended July 8, 2005 and August 11, 2005 (including
Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated June 28, 2005, among the Company, Pharmaceutical Product
Development, Inc. and PPD International Holdings, Inc.) (filed as Exhibit 4.8 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Amendment No. 7) filed on September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated
herein by reference). .

Series E Convertible Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated January 9, 2004, between Registrant and
Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4.9 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Series E Convertible Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated April 15, 2004, between Registrant and Ronald
E. Osman (filed as Exhibit 4.10 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Series E Subscription Agreement between Registrant and certain investors named therein, including The
Joyce A. Aboussie Revocable Trust, Robert Carr, John P. Dubinsky, Charles R. and Ann T. Eveker, D&G
Strategic Investments, Hopkins Capital Group, LLC, Lee Kling, McKesson Corporation, MOAB Investments,
Gary Munson, DKR SoundShore Oasis Holding Fund, Ltd., John D. Prosperi, Nicholas G. and Linda P. Rallo,
Dennis Ryll, MRB&B, LLC, Allen Family Partnership, Alan Hirmes, Harold Harris, Michael Fowler, Nathalie
Rallo, Sophia Rallo, Tom MacDonald, Jim Varney, Jane Mingey, Jeffrey Lynford, Steve Kirby, Jeff Tobolski,
George Vornas, Mayo Foundation, David Sabino, Donald L. Ferguson Living Trust, Steve Stogel, and Vincent
Keating (filed as Exhibit 4.11 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated April 3, 2002, between Registrant and Steven Arikian, M.D., John Doyle,
Julian Casciano, and Roman Casciano, as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated March 30, 2005, and
Amendment No. 2, dated April 29, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 4.12 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Amendment No. 3) filed on June 13, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by
reference).
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10.1

10.2®

10.3

10.4

10.5®

10.6®

10.7

10.8®

10.9®

10.10®

10.11®

10.12

10.13®

10.14®

Description of Document

License Agreement, dated April 12, 2004, between Registrant and BioDelivery Sciences International, Inc., as
amended pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement dated September 7, 2004 and as further amended by those
certain letter agreements dated March 28, 2005 and April 25, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on May 16, 2005 (Registration No. 333 I122769) and
incorporated herein by reference). 1

Licenjse Agreement, dated February 10, 2004, between Registrant and Mayo Foundation for Medical Education
and Research, as amended on December 12, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-
1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and mcorporated herein by
reference). .

Exclusive Agreement, dated September 17, 2004, between Registrant and The Board of Trustees of the Leland
Stanford Junior University (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11,
2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). %

Investment Agreement, dated April 10, 2003, between Registrant and Biovest Intemational Inc., as amended
(filed:as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 200. (Reglstratlon No.
333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). {

Distribution Agreement, dated June 15, 2004, between Registrant and Argent Development Group, LLC, as
amended (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 7) filed on
September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). |

|
Distribution Agreement, dated March 12, 2004, between Registrant and Arius Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (filed as
Exhibit 10.6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 3) filed on June 113, 2005 (Registration
No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). J
Blologlcs Distribution Agreement, dated February 27, 2004, between Registrant and McKesson Corporation
(ﬁled las Exhibit 10.7 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No.
333- 122769) and incorporated herein by reference). ‘

|
Distribution Agreement, dated May 28, 2003, between Registrant and Acheron Development Group, LLC (filed
as Exhibit 10.8 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on Apr11 6, 2005

(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). i

Distribution Agreement, dated May 23, 2003, between Registrant and Ryan Pharmaceuticals, Inc, as amended
(filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) ﬁled'on April 6, 2005
(Reglstratlon No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). \

§
[

Amended and Restated Distribution and Supply Agreement, dated August 12, 2005, between Registrant and
Respirics, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendnjlent No. 7) filed on
September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Product Development Agreement, dated January 24, 2003, between Registrant and Respxrl’cs Inc. (filed as
Exhibit 10.11 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on Aprll 6, 2005
(Reglstratlon No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). |

Cooperatlve Research and Development Agreement, dated May 27, 1999, between Reglstrant and The National
Cancer Institute, as amended by that certain amendment dated April 6, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the
Reglstratlon Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on May 16, 2005 (Reglstratlon No. 333-122769)
and 1ncorporated herein by reference). |

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated June 6, 2003, between Registrant and Mlkart‘ Inc. (filed as Exhibit
10.13 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 3) filed on June 13, 2005 (Reglstratxon No.
333- 122769) and incorporated herein by reference). ‘

Supply Agreement, dated December 1, 2004, between Registrant and biosyn Arzenelmlttell GmbH. (filed as
Exhibit 10.14 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).
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Description of Document

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23@

10.24®

10.25%

10.26¢

10.27¢

10.28®

10.29

First Amended and Restated Royalty Stream Purchase Agreement, dated August 11, 2005, between Registrant
and Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Amendment No. 7) filed on September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by
reference).

Office Lease, dated May 1, 2004, between Registrant, as Tenant, and AP Southeast Portfolio Partners, LP, as
Landlord (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Standard Form of Lease, dated April 1, 2004, between Registrant, as Tenant, and Pizzagalli Properties, LLC, as
Landlord, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11,
2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Agreement of Lease, dated December 1998, between Registrant, as Tenant, and We’re Associates Company, as
Landlord (filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Agreement of Lease, dated February 26, 2002, between Registrant, as Tenant, and Heartland Rental Properties,
LLC, as Landlord, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Lease, dated March 22, 2005, between 460 Park Associates, as Landlord, and Registrant, as Tenant (filed as
Exhibit 10.20 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 3) filed on June 13, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Space Lease, dated October 26, 1995, between Registrant, as Tenant, and Worchester Business Development
Corporation, as Landlord, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Lease Agreement dated December 2003, between Registrant and IMOR Private Institute for Medical Outcome
Research GmbH (filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

2003 Stock Option Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.23 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2005, between Registrant and Dr. Francis E. O’Donnell (filed as
Exhibit 10.24 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-
122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement, dated April 3, 2002, between Registrant and Dr. Steven R. Arikian, as amended (filed
as Exhibit 10.25 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005
{Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). .

Second Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated December 31, 2004, between
Registrant and Martin G. Baum, as amended on February 10, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.26 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on May 16, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2005, between Registrant and Alan M. Pearce (filed as Exhibit 10.27
to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2005, between Registrant and Samuel S. Duffey (filed as Exhibit
10.28 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Director and Officer Indemnity Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.29 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Amendment No. 3) filed on June 13, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by
reference).
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1
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10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33@

10.34@

10.35®

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

Description of Document I

Form of| Warrant for Purchase of Shares of Series E Convertible Preferred Stock granted by Reglstrant to Series
E Holder (filed as Exhibit 10.30 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on F ebruary 11,2005
(Regrstratlon No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Warrant for Purchase of Shares of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock granted by Registrant to Series

D Holder (filed as Exhibit 10.31 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11,2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). “

Form of Warrant for Purchase of Common Stock granted by Registrant to Common Stock Holder (filed as
Exhibit 10.32 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Reglstratlon No. 333-
122769) and incorporated herein by reference). ;

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.33 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated heremf by reference).

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.34 to the Registration Staten?tent on Form S-1
filed on/February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

2005 Equlty Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.35 to the Registration Statement on Form S- 1 filed on February
11, 2()05 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). j

Revolvmg Credit Agreement, dated March 30, 2004, between Missouri State Bank and Trust Company and
Registrant, as amended on March 22, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.36 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Bridge Loan Promissory Note, dated October 15, 2003, of Registrant payable to Alan MacInms (filed as Exhibit
10.37 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No 333-122769) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Loan Agreement, dated August 9, 2003, between Registrant and Harbinger Mezzanine Partners, L.P., together
with Seeured Promissory Note, Stock Purchase Warrant and Security Agreement, as amended (filed as Exhibit
10.38 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No, 8) filed on October 3, 2005 (Registration No.
333- 122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Accentra Assumption of Debt and Security Agreement, dated December 31, 2003, between Registrant and
McKesson Corporation, as amended by the First Amendment, dated February 9, 2005, and ds modified on May
31, 2005, June 28, 2005, July 8, 2005, August 15, 2005, and September 13, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.39 to the
Reglstranon Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October 3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-
122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Forbearance Agreement, dated December 9, 2003, between Registrant, Accent Rx, Inc. and McKesson
Corporation (filed as Exhibit 10.40 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on Febrtllary 11, 2005 2005
(Reglstratron No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). k

Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated December 1, 1998, between Registrant and McKesson Corporation (filed as
Exhibit 10.41 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-
122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

! |
Credit Agreement, dated November 30, 1998, between Registrant and McKesson Corporation (filed as Exhibit
10.42 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration N‘o. 333-122769) and
incorporated herein by reference).

Securlty Agreement, dated November 30, 1998, between Registrant and McKesson Corporatron (filed as Exhibit
10.43 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No 333-122769) and
incorpdrated herein by reference). 1

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated August 31, 2001, of Registrant payable to Peter J Pappas, Sr., as
amended (filed as Exhibit 10.44 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October
3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated October 11, 2001, of Registrant payable to Dr. Anaka Prakash, as
amended (filed as Exhibit 10.45 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October
3, 2003 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53

10.54

10.55

10.56

10.57

10.58

10.59

10.60

10.61

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated October 11, 2001, of Registrant payable to Frank and Gwyndolyn
Korahais, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.46 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8)
filed on October 3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated October 11, 2001, of Registrant payable to Constantine and Mary
Soras, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.47 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed
on October 3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated October 16, 2001, of Registrant payable to Christos Soras, as
amended (filed as Exhibit 10.48 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October
3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated October 25, 2001, of Registrant payable to Andreas Konstantinidis, as
amended (filed as Exhibit 10.49 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October
3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated November 6, 2001, of Registrant payable to John M. and Maria S.
Lignos, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.50 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed
on October 3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated Noverber 7, 2001, of Registrant payable to Fay W. and Helen M.
Logan, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.51 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed
on October 3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated December 3, 2001, of Registrant payable to Robert Dillon, as
amended (filed as Exhibit 10.52 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October
3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated December 12, 2001, of Registrant payable to Robert Dillon, as
amended (filed as Exhibit 10.53 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October
3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated January 10, 2002, of Registrant payable to Kit Ching Wong, as
amended (filed as Exhibit 10.54 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October
3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated January 22, 2002, of Registrant payable to Robert Dillon, as amended
(filed as Exhibit 10.55 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 {(Amendment No. 8) filed on October 3,
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated January 31, 2002, of Registrant payable to Laury Pensa, as amended
(filed as Exhibit 10.56 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October 3, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated December 3, 2002, of Registrant payable to John M. and Maria S.
Lignos, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.57 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 {Amendment No. 8) filed
on October 3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended Secured Promissory Note, dated December 13, 2002, of Registrant payable to Fay W. and Helen M.
Logan, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.58 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No .8) filed
on October 3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Secured Promissory Note, dated June 10, 2003, of Registrant payable to Othon Mourkakos, as amended (filed as
Exhibit 10.59 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October 3, 2005
{Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Secured Promissory Note, dated June 10, 2003, of Registrant payable to Dr. Christopher Kyrikides, as amended
(filed as Exhibit 10.60 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October 3, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Convertible Secured Promissory Note and Security Agreement, dated June 12, 2003, between Registrant and
Morrison Cohen Singer & Weinstein, LLP (filed as Exhibit 10.61 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed on February 11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.62

10.63

10.64

10.65

10.66®

10.67

10.68

10.69

10.70

10.71

10.72

10.73

10.74

10.75

10.76

!

Secured Promissory Note, dated June 16, 2003, of Registrant payable to Peter J. Pappas Sr, as amended (filed as
Exhibit 10.62 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October 3, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). i

¢

Secured Promissory Note, dated June 16, 2003, of Registrant payable to Angelo Tsakopoulos as amended (filed
as Exhibit 10.63 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October 3,2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). 1

Lease Agreement, dated November 2004, between Registrant and Bay Villa Developers, Inc as General Partner
for Hyde Park Plaza Associates, Ltd. (filed as Exhibit 10.64 to the Registration Statement on Form S8-1
(Amendment No. 1) filed on April 6, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and 1ncorporated herein by reference).

J l
Post Residential Rental Agreement, dated April 15, 2005, between Registrant and Post Apartment Homes, L.P.
(filed as Exhibit 10.65 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 {(Amendment No. 1) ﬁled{on April 6, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Manufacturmg and Supply Agreement, dated August 23, 2002, between Registrant and K1e1 Laboratories (filed
as Exhibit 10.66 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on Apnl 6, 2005
(Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). ;

Securmes Purchase Agreement, dated April 29, 2005, between Registrant and Laurus Master Fund, Ltd. (filed as
Exhibit 10.67 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on May{16 2005
(Reglstratlon No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

{
Securlty Agreement and Master Security Agreement, dated April 29, 2005, between Reglstrant and Laurus

Master Fund, Ltd. (filed as Exhibit 10.68 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on
May 16, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). {

Amended and Restated Secured Convertible Term Note, dated August 16, 2005, of Registrélnt payable to Laurus
Master Fund, Ltd. (filed as Exhibit 10.69 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 7) filed on
September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). |

Amended and Restated Secured Convertible Minimum Borrowing Note, dated August 16, 2005, of Registrant
payable to Laurus Master Fund, Ltd., as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.70 to the Registration Statement on Form
S-1 (Amendment No. 8) filed on October 3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and 1ncorporated herein by
reference). ‘

Securéd Revolving Note, dated April 29, 2005, of Registrant payable to Laurus Master Fund Ltd. (filed as
Exhibit 10.71 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on May] 16, 2005
(Reglstratlon No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Stock Pledge Agreement and InterCompany Note Pledge Agreement, dated April 29, 2005‘ between Registrant
and Laurus Master Fund, Ltd. (filed as Exhibit 10.72 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment
No. 2) filed on May 16, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference)

Amended and Restated Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated August 16, 2005, granted’ by Registrant to
Lauru‘s Master Fund, Ltd. (filed as Exhibit 10.73 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 7)
filed on September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference)

SubSIdrary Guaranty, dated April 29, 2005, between Registrant and Laurus Master Fund, Ltd (filed as Exhibit
10.74ito the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on May 16, 2005 (Registration No.
333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). 1

Registration Rights Agreement, dated April 29, 2005, between Registrant and Laurus Ma;ter Fund, Ltd., as
amended (filed as Exhibit 10.75 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No 8) filed on October
3, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference). ;

Promissory Note, dated September 1, 2001, of Registrant payable to Dr. David DeFouw, ds modified on
February 28, 2005. (filed as Exhibit 10.76 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 3) filed
on June 13, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.77

10.78

10.79

10.80

10.81

10.82

10.83

10.84

10.85
14.1
14.2
21

31.1

312

32.1

322

Promissory Note, dated September 1, 2001, of Registrant payable to Ioannis Kordistos, as modified on January
18, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.77 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 3) filed on June 13,
2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Promissory Note, dated September 1, 2001, of Registrant payable to Dr. Robert Evans, as modified on February
28, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.78 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 3) filed on June 13,
2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Unsecured Promissory Note, dated June 30, 2003, issued to The Hopkins Capital Group II, LLC (filed as Exhibit
10.79 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 6) filed on July 11, 2005 (Registration No.
333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Omnibus Amendment and Consent, dated August 16, 2005, between Registrant and Laurus Master Fund, Ltd.
(filed as Exhibit 10.80 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 7) filed on September 2,
2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated August 16, 2005, between Registrant and Laurus Master Fund, Ltd.
(filed as Exhibit 10.81 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 7) filed on September 2,
2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference).

Bridge Loan Agreement, dated August 16, 2005, between Registrant and The Hopkins Capital Group II, LLC,
together with Bridge Loan Note, dated August 16, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.82 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1 {(Amendment No. 7) filed on September 2, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated
herein by reference).

Option Agreement, dated December 6, 2005, between Registrant and Mayo Foundation for Medical Education
and Research (See Note B)

Licensing and Distribution Agreement, dated November 22, 2005, between Registrant and Collegium
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (see Note B)

Promissory Note Dated September 30, 2005
Code of Conduct
Director Indemnity Agreements

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed as Exhibit 21 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on February
11, 2005 (Registration No. 333-122769) and incorporated herein by reference.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-15 promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-15 promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934,

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003.

Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003.

(a) Indicates management contract or compensatory plan
(b) Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment request. Omitted information has been filed
separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors
Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Tampa, Florida

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of
September 30, 2005 and 2004 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the
vears ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we have
also audited the financial statement schedule listed in Item 15. These consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States of
America). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of
its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of September 30, 2005 and 2004 and the consolidated
results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information contained therein.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As
discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company incurred cumulative net losses of approximately $79.3 million
during the three years ended September 30, 2005, $20.8 million of which was attributable to its 81% owned subsidiary, and, as of
that date, had a working capital deficiency of approximately $29.6 million. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are described in Note 2. The
financial statements do not include any adjustments with respect to the possible future effects on the recoverability and
classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

/s/ AIbMAN, P ISER & COMPANY, P.A.

Tampa, Florida
December 1, 2005, except for Note 2, for which the date is December 29, 2005




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

S

ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

{
!

Septembe:r 30,
| Pro Forma
2005 2004 | 2005
i (Unaudited)
ASSETS ‘;
Current assets: ‘ L
Cash and cash equIVAIENLS .....ccvueuiueivcinin e $ 2,763,452 $ 1,904,938 § 16,369,452
Accounts receivable: i '
Trade, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $345,458 ;
and $150,000 at September 2005 and 2004, respectively............. 3,715,488 2,394,;453 3,715,488
SEOCKNOIART. ..ottt sttt es bt es st as e seaes 676,752 784,082 676,752
[NVENLOTIES ... iivichniciiriniii it st 1,013,896 1,337,757 1,013,896
[ventory depoSitS .| i 844,740 — 844,740
Unbilled 1Ceivables ... e et 690,886 783,973 690,886
Prepaid expenses and other CUITENT ASSELS ....c.vvveveererrvcneccnscnicierericiere e 385,241 450,369 385,241
TOAl CUITENT SSEES Lo.veveeeierereiieeireeeecreeeeseenbteesenrreeessaesesrneeeessnesssernesesrasseess 10,090,455 7,655,572 24,196,455
GoodWill ....occee. e e s 1,193,437 1,193,437 1,193,437
Other intangible assets: |
Product rights et rererateten st et et et ee sttt vt nt et re et e rn e s eerene 21,216,334 14,603,640 21,216,334
NON-COMPELE AZTEEMENLS .......vervvrniiereesnereaeresseerinrseesssseessseresescssaens 2,104,000 2,104,000 2,104,000
TrAdEMATKS ... ivveeveveieeveeereeseeeseiir e e sere s e stna et saestaass st essansessesesnes 1,631,474 1,629,4{33 1,631,474
Purchased customer 1elationships........ccocveveverriiireinieeeniiiennes 1,268,950 1,268,950 1,268,950
Other intangible assets.........cocoovviriniiiniii s 648,040 645,0;29 648,040
Accumulated amortiZation ... e (5,631,122) (3,324,275) (5,631,122)
Total other intangible aSSets.......oociiiniirni s 21,237,676 16,926,7!77 21,237,676
Furniture, equipment.and leasehold improvements, net ...........co.coeveccene. 1,775,819 2,007,9;86 1,775,819
TOVENEOTIES 1oviviieec b eereevte st ree e et et e sreesaeesaeerbesbessbeesbeeneenseeareaaeeveenns - 289,090 —
Deferred offering COSS c.ooviiiimiirineinciecnneircerienresneesreesesaseessenanens 821,573 — —
ODET ASSELS .ovevvvevreserssssssssseesseese sttt et ssee s sns st s st sssons 423,644 59,862 423,644
‘ $ 35,542,604  $ 28,132,634 $ 48,827,031
1
@ (Continued)
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(CONTINUED)

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current hiabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debi:
Related Party .....cocccoveviiiiiccciern s

Accounts payable (including related party of $346,423 at
September 30, 2005) ...
Accrued expenses (including related party accrued interest of $147,983
and $376,481 at September 2005 and 2004, respectively) .......ococovrennne.
Unearned revenues
Product development obligations (including $200,000 and $1,000,000
due to related party at September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively).......
Dividends payable...........ocovioieiieiinerceine e
Due to employees............... ettt sttt e ettt b et
Stockholder advances and NOES .........cccvceveieriieerinieinericieroreee e
CUStOMET AEPOSIES ...veveerieriireeicrirrere ettt et ere e n e
Deposits, related Party ..o
Total current Habilities .........ccociniiiiii e

Long-term debt, net of current maturities:

Notes payable, StOCKROIAETS........oociniirriiiiniiierr e
Line of credit, related Party.........ccccoieeiveinrereeiiineennnecseerees e
Other liabilities, related Party ...
TOtal HADIIHES ..c.vovvetierereeciret e

F-3

September 30,
Pro Forma
2005 2004 2005
(Unaudited)
7,414,742 § 12,361,909 § 7,414,742
9,998,372 26,893 9,998,372
3,767,221 3,272,587 3,767,221
5,519,626 6,650,103 5,519,626
6,899,882 6,143,283 6,899,882
863,096 1,291,151 863,096
500,000 4,391,750 500,000
575,447 288,662 575,447
17,839 113,981 17,839
350,000 750,000 350,000
828,050 826,855 828,050
3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000
39,734,275 39,117,174 39,734,275
3,661,917 — 3,661,917
5,490,252 5,280,944 5,490,252
— 2,194,693 —
4,180,000 — 4,180,600
2,574,865 2,500,000 2,574,865
55,641,309 49,092,811 55,641,309
(Continued)




ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(CONTINUED)
September 30,

2005 2004

Pro Forma

i

2005

Commitments and contirigencies (Notes 10, 16 and 17).......ccococrenev.

Stockholders’ deficit:
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized;

5,170,421 and 4,876,328 shares issued and outstanding at
September 30, 2005, and 2004, respectively. 28,481,329 Pro

Forma outstanding shares at September 30, 2005.............c..oovene 5,170 10,265

Preferred stock, Series A, §1.00 par value; 10,000,000 shares
authorized; 2,937,013 and 1,939,483 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

No Pro Forma outstaﬁding shares at September 30, 2005............. 6,183,000 4,083,000

Preferred stock, Series B, $1.00 par value; 30,000,000 shares
authorized; 3,895,888 and 3,835,390 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

No Pro Forma outstanding shares at September 30, 2005............. 239,919 80,742

Preferred stock, Series €, $1.00 par value; 10,000,000 shares
authorized; 3,562,607 shares issued and outstanding at
September 30, 2005, and 2004, respectively. No Pro Forma

outstanding shares at September 30, 2005 ......coceceieviiiinenereennn, 7,500,000 7,500,000

Preferred stock, Series D, $1.00 par value; 15,000,000 shares
authorized; 4,672,482 and 4,616,451 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

No Pro Forma outsténding shares at September 30, 2005............. 219,769 105,411

Preferred stock, Series E, $1.00 par value; 60,000,000 shares
authorized; 20,506,178 and 6,858,731 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

No Pro Forma outstanding shares at September 30, 2005............. 49,789,554 14,439,000

Additional paid-in capital ......ccecveieeriviniiie e 28,744,833 20,674,003
‘ (112,780,950) (67,852,598)

{Unaudited)

28,481

105,938,191
(112,780,950)

Accumulated defiCit. i
(20,098,705) (20,960,177)

(6,814,278)

Total Stockholders’ defiCit ..........rrvurmererirreeerciineresnsneresicnerereane
$ 35,542,604 $ 28,132,634

48,827,031

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ending September 30,

2005 2004 2003
Net Sales
PIOAUCES ..vv ittt st e $ 10,882,685 $ 10,528,756 $ 4,160,374
SEIVICES 1.vvverereriiritetetcetsie st re et e e st st b s esst s ssaa bbb aseesrbasnones 10,460,011 11,632,343 4,697,048
Related party, products..........cooveeiiiiinin e 3,766,586 3,774,521 1,050,369
Related party, SEIVICES....ccoorrerireeiriceeriie et eere e e 85,500 — —
Total Net SAles ..o 25,194,782 25,935,620 9,907,791
Cost of sales:
PrOQUOLS ....ovieircreiiiei et s bbb 4,479,395 3,852,880 1,332,478
SEIVICES ..vcvviiietiiee ettt sttt ettt as e et an st ettt 3,753,930 4,960,710 1,603,533
Total cost of sales (exclusive of amortization of
acquired product rights) .....c.occoevierienininencenieneencens 8,233,325 8,813,590 2,936,011
GOS8 MATEIM...cevivririrereeerteiereettnieseiesesre e sbeeetesessreseseetestsse s reteseonesennens 16,961,457 17,122,030 6,971,780
Operating expenses:
Research and development ...........cocovvveciiivenniieecinsecreseesanenns 9,588,677 4,210,058 6,111,952
Research and development, related party ........ccococevrvervnnnnnee. 1,319,185 1,309,100 —
Sales and Marketing.......cccovvrevereeririierinrine e seeerse oo s 15,164,067 12,015,044 4,366,228
General and adminiStratiVe..........ccocvvveeeivieiine e 20,658,808 16,728,873 8,868,076
ROVAIIES ..ottt ettt st 1,717,291 387,130 —
Impairment charges ..........cccoovriiiicici 357,931 359,445 —
Stock-based compensation, general and administrative .............. 427,380 292,346 —
Other operating expense, related Party ......cocevvveceninncninvinecrinns — 2,500,000 —
Total operating eXpenses.........covcveeeriererrinesrieenennneecenss 49,233,339 37,801,996 19,346,256
OPEIAtiNg L0SS 1uvveviieiierrievivreeeiecenran e teresestere s inrssce s ee (32,271,882) (20,679,966)  (12,374,476)
Other income (expense):
Interest eXPense, NEt ... cvuviiiiniccrninrion s (2,286,333) (1,240,9006) (230,205)
Interest expense, net, related Party ......cccveierrecriinenineniniienens (2,119,621) (1,485,616) (337,500)
Settlement EXPEnSe.....cccimiceriinni e e — — (1,562,850)
Loss on extinguishment of debt, related party.........ccovviiinininnas (2,361,894) — —
Other INCOME (EXPENSE)...currreriireriririrereesretsiererasseresessessssnarenesee (56,384) 78,164 —
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes.........coveervvrrrens (39,096,114) (23,328,324) (14,505,031)
Income tax benefit.....ccvciviiviniriiiie e e — — 180,000
Net loss from continuing OPErations ..........cvvvvvvrerrerrierioresnsusrecssuseerssens (39,096,114) (23,328,324)  (14,325,031)
Discontinued operations:
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of $0 income
TAX EXPEISE .ovviiiiiiis i e — 1,618,400 —
Loss from discontinued operations, net of $0 income
X DENETIE ..ot e (430,110} (1,516,017) (2,346,912)
Absorption of prior losses against minority interest...........ou... 150,000 — —
Net loss (39,376,224) (23,225,941)  (16,671,943)
Constructive preferred stock dividend .........coeevevniivninierncninninnneneas (4,949,031) (4,906,612) —
Preferred stock dividends, other.........ccocvcvivinirieccinc _ (603,097) (355,367) —
Loss attributable to common stockholders.......cooeveeiviviiiiincineenieennn, $(44,928,352) $(28,487,920) $(16,671,943)
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted ...................... 5,147,222 4,875,683 4,728,718
Per share amounts, basic and diluted:
Loss attributable to common stockholders per common share for:
Continuing operations and minority interest ..........o.ocovererrvenene. ) (865 § (5.86) $ (3.01)
Discontinued 0perations .......c.c.everiecrrieeerrrrercernrcenereneeseenessnes (0.08) 0.02 (0.51)
Loss attributable to common stockholders..........coocnvinceriecinnnncnn, $ (873) $ (5.84) § (3.52)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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|
ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES |
|

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended Septémber 30,

Cash flows from operating activities:

2005

2004 |

2003

$(39,376,224) $(23,225,;941) $(16,671,943)

Net INCOME (10SS) c.ouviveerireriririeiiieeuiisieieetasr et rere s ste st ren e st se e e e nbans

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating activities: |
DEPTECIALION. ... cv.veveferererteaitereretessiss st eesssatsseassesesetesassssenassssessssessansssssasessssesnes 705,959 593,256 310,800
AMOTHZAON ...cvvveifuererieiei ettt b e e 2,448,916 1,969,779 1,074,246
Stock-based cost of disposal Of DUSINESS .......vvvveeeeveeririnieercnrceenesieneees — 2,581,600 —
Stock-based COMPENSALION.......ccveevrririririrerireeie ettt seesennnens 434,583 683,236 781,650
Accretion of debt diSCOUNTS ...eooivviiiiriiiii e 1,771,321 P— 20,054
Other non-cash Charges........o.cocvivrerrrcnmirne s (69,600) 95/350 (8,375)
Loss on extinguishmént of debt, related party ...........cccocvmiiirrnicinincrcennns 2,361,894 |— —
In-process research and development costs acquired...........ocoevveerirerencrrenennns — | — 5,040,853
IMPAITMENt CHATZES. L.v.cviveivivirrecieiereeeieie sttt ettt ensees 357,931 3591445 —
Default interest Charged ..o ene — 748/149 558,040
Increase (decrease) in cash resulting from changes in:

ACCOUNLES TECEIVADIE |...vvieiitieieeie ettt sr et sre e ear e e sre et (1,153,984) 1,625,247 1,522,324
TIVENTOTIES wueeivriiiiesherciireeniie et erre et e et e e e e e s e e sreesanesresestneenreares 265,159 2931356 455,183
INVENLOTY AEPOSIES ...irveverrrsieaieniseiseisresseresee et sseessrc s sseesens (844,740) | — —
Unbilled receivables) ... (46,405) (474,891) 231,010
Prepaid expenses and other Current assets ......cocovcvvurieveresresnrsnneensneoreseenens 33,059 270,880 (196,848)
Other assets.............. ettt e et e ren (268,567) (13,078) 40,194
ACCOUNES PAYADLE ...veeviriieeieie ettt ettt e (1,147,670) (1,650,915) 5,221,387
ACCIUEA EXPEINSES .vervreirierrerinivireereteseeensnestessessssessessssenseseseessssesessessesessessesees 1,996,248 (3,546,190) (3,053,756)
UNEAMNEA TEVEIIUES ....v.vvvie e svcvreie et in s ia st sive st s s e es bbb esessesaesssasssaene (428,055) 405,497 (498,214)
DUE 10 AFFIHALE ......v.evvoovveveocrea st seesse st nebe s — 113,981 (355,896)
CUStOMET dEPOSIES .. oveuiiriiiiriieeiieiereecrerteeere st ra et ecre e stesne e seetesbesestesaesestesensens (32,048) 633,317 (187,462)
Net cash flows from operating aCtivities..............ovvvvrevrerrrrrrrsrersisriserierionns (32,992,223)  (18,537,922) (5,716,753)
Cash flows from inviesting activities: 7

Cash paid in business aCQUISILION. ............oevveverrvenieeisessessessesensesn e senseenes — (600,874) —
Cash received in business aCqUISItION ..........oocvivicvrivinnceins e, — | — 2,464,796
Proceeds from restricted cash ..o — 1,270,823 736,283
Acquisition of furniture, equipment, and leasehold improvements ............... (478,743) (784,524) (161,542)
Cash paid for acquisition of product rights and other intangibles................... (4,600,593) (2,940,345) (575,099
Net cash flows from Investing actiVItIES .......ccvvrrivecrererinierereesresesserienaenes (5,079,336) (3,054,920) 2,464,438
Cash flows from financing activities: :

Deferred offering COSES ...vvviiiriiiiirirereriirreree sttt seee s sassesens (821,573) | — —
Payments on notes payable and fong-term debt...........ocoerevivinereeinresennn, (2,268,616) (5,250,004) (1,654,715)
Proceeds from deposits and other liabilities..........c..cococoveniiiiiiiiin, — 5,500,000 —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock .......covvvvvvveneccrenenind STURURN 618,178 tol —
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock......c.ccoevviiveievicinncnie e, 25,654,178 15,793,874 1,283,000
Payment of Series E preferred stock dividends...........ccocoorvvvrnereericersrennans (316,311) (67,015) —
Proceeds from related party bOITOWINGS ....cccvvviriviiiiniincie i cene e 4,180,000 2,943,299 600,000
Proceeds from convertible debentures .........cccoevevivieririeereeriieeieerevesve e 10,000,000 1 — —
Proceeds from long-term debt..........cccuvivecieiiiince e, — 524,531 4,120,794
Repayment of amounts due to stockholders.............cco.ovrververirriinririesinen. — (885,418) —
Proceeds from HNeiof Credit, Nt .....ovv.eeeree e e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeereeeseeeeeen e 1,734,217 3,272,587 —
Proceeds from minority interest investment ..., 150,000 [ — —
Net cash flows from financing activities........o..ovecrrviniereeinnnnneirnsne e 38,930,073 21,831,855 4,349,079
Net change in cashjand cash equivalents ...........cocvevvenienecccnnin i, 858,514 239,013 1,096,764
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ...........cccoeeevrrrreverirernnene. 1,904,938 1,665,925 569,161
Cash and cash equi;valents at end of PEriod «...o.ovvverviconrcrecirneen e $ 2,763,452 8§ 1,904,938 $ 1,665,925
Supplemental cashi flow information: 1

Cash paid for: i

Interest ................. Lt eeter et ese st en bt s st bea e e e e r ek ekt R b e Rt e b e R e et e saresaeterearasas § 3424730 § 1,258,149 § 110,349
INCOME tAXES ..onviiiiviriiririie ittt sttt se et b e sbe e sb e e se e e — | — —

|
|
i
|
|




ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities:
2005:
* The Company issued warrants valued at $0.2 million for produét rights.

* The Company issued 1.1 million shares of Series E preferred stock with a fair value of $6.7 million in exchange for $6.6 million
in product rights and $0.1 million for general and administrative expenses.

* The Company issued 743,685 shares of Series E preferred stock and 657,420 shares of Series A preferred stock with a fair value
of $5.3 million in settlement of $2.9 million of related party debt obligations (including interest) resulting in a $2.4 million loss on
extinguishment of debt, related party.

* The Company repurchased 1,424,074 warrants at a cost of $2.0 million, which was financed by a $2.0 million increase in notes
payable.

* An aggregate of $0.3 million in preferred dividends were accrued but unpaid in 2005.

* The Company repaid $3.0 million net advances from the Missouri State Bank line of credit with a portion of the Laurus Master
Fund Ltd. note proceeds.

* In 2005, the Company recognized $4.0 million in discounts associated with warrants and beneficial conversion feature for
convertible feature for convertible debentures.

2004:
* The Company assumed net liabilities aggregating $0.3 million in connection with its acquisition of its German subsidiary.

* In connection with the acquisition of product rights of $4.4 million, the Company entered into short-term financing
arrangements with the sellers for a like amount.

* The Company has issued warrants to purchase 1,008,120 shares of Series A and D preferred stock with a fair value of $0.8
million in connection with certain financing arrangements that have been accounted for as discounts on notes payable.

* An aggregate of $0.3 million in preferred dividends were accrued and were paid in December 2004.

* In 2004, the Company recognized a constructive dividend in the amount of $4.9 million in connection with a beneficial
conversion feature for Series E Preferred stock issued with warrants.

2003:

* The Company issued 4,612,504 shares of Series D preferred stock with a fair value of $0.1 million pursuant to the acquisition of
TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

* The Company issued 230,583 warrants to purchase Series D preferred stock with a fair value of $481,298 pursuant to the
Harbinger Mezzanine long-term debt agreement.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES !
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‘{
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003 |

|

i

1. Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies
Business and organization

Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries, Analytica International, Inc. (“Analytica”), TEAMM Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(“TEAMM?”), Accent RX, Inc. (“AccentRx™), Biovest International, Inc. (“Biovest”), and Accentia Specialty Pharmacy (“ASP”)
(collectively referred to as the “Company” or “Accentia”) is a vertically integrated specialty biopharmacedtical company. The
Company is a biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of late- stage'clinical products in
the therapeutic areas of respiratory disease and oncology. The Company has two product candidates entenng or in Phase III
clinical trials. The first ptoduct candidate, SinuNase ™, has been developed as a novel app11cat1on and formulatlon of a known
therapeutic to treat chronic rhinosinusitis. The second product candidate, BiovaxID ™, is a patient-specific cancer vaccine
focusing on the treatment of follicular non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. BiovaxID is currently in a pivotal Phase 11T clinical trial. T
addition to these product candidates, the Company has a growing specialty pharmaceutical business w1th a portfolio of ten
currently marketed products and a pipeline of products under development by third parties. |

As discussed in Note 3, effectlve October 1, 2002, the Company acquired the assets of AccentRx, an entltyloperated under the
common control of the stockholders of the Company and 91.6% owned by such stockholders through the exchange of common
equity. The reorganization was accounted for in a manner similar to a pooling of interests, where the assets and liabilities of
Accentia and AccentRx were combined at historical costs, and the operations are presented as if combined for all periods
presented. During fiscal 2004, this business was discontinued. See Note 3. t

The TEAMM and Biovest acquisitions were completed on April 1, 2003 and June 30, 2003, respectively. Thef2003 statements of
operations and cash flows reflect activity of twelve months for Accentta, AccentRx and Analytica, six months for TEAMM
commencing April 1, 2003 and three months for Biovest commencing July 1, 2003. See Note 3 for additional information on
these acquisitions. All entities either had an original fiscal year end of September 30 or converted to a Septem?oer 30 fiscal year at
the time of acquisition. J
Segment reporting 3 1‘

The Company has operations in two business segments and, as a result, has adopted Statement of Financial Accountmg Standards
No. 131—Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information (“FAS 131%). FAS 131 estabhshes standards for
reporting information about operating segments in annual financial statements. Operating segments are defined as components of
an enterprise about which |separate financial information is available and is evaluated on a regular basis by the chief operating
decision maker or decision making group, in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing
performance of the segment. The Company has identified these segments based on the nature of business clonducted by each.

They are described as follows: |

1

The Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment (“Biopharmaceutical Segment”) of the Company lis focused on the
research and development of contract cell production and biologic drug development and ownership, the prodlhctlon and contract
manufacturing of biologic drugs and products and provides pre-market research, pharmacoeconomics and outcomes analyses to
its pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical partners and clients. This segment’s two primary products are SinuNase and BiovaxID.
This segment also develops, manufactures and markets patented cell culture systems and equipment to pharmaceutical, diagnostic
and biotechnology companies, as well as leading research institutions worldwide, and has provided contretct cell production
services to those institutions. Additionally, this segment provides strategic services prior to product launch, such as technology
assessment and valuation, and formulary and strategic reimbursement planning. In this segment, the Company generated revenues
of $14.5 million, $14.0 million and $6.0 million during the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, res;pectively.

The Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment markets and sells pharmaceutical products that are developed primérily through third
party development partners. This segment currently sells a portfolio of ten pharmaceutical products and thas a pipeline of
additional products under idevelopment by our development partners. Currently marketed specialty pharmaceutlcal products
include Xodol ™, a narcotic pain formulation, Resp1~TANN ® a prescription antitussive decongestant for temporary relief of
cough and nasal congestion, our line of six HISTEX ™ products for the cough, cold and allergy prescnptxoq market, and two
products which we co-promote. In this segment the Company generated revenues of $10.7 million, $11.9 mllhon and $3.9 million
for the years ending September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Specialty pharmaceutical products under development
currently include MD Turbo ™, a breath-actuated inhaler dev1ce used by patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary
disease, Emezine ™, a transbuccal drug designed to control nausea and vomiting, and nine additional narcotic | ,pam formulations

for the treatment of moderate to moderately severe pain.

J
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

1. Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Principles of consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Accentia and its three wholly-owned subsidiaries,
and its 81% owned subsidiary. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. The Company does not
currently recognize a minority interest in its 81% owned subsidiary pursuant to Accounting Research Bulletin 51, Consolidated
Financial Statements. Where losses applicable to the minority interest in a subsidiary exceed the minority interest in the equity
capital of the subsidiary, such excess and any further losses applicable to the minority interest shall be charged against the
majority interest, as there is no obligation of the minority interest to make good such losses. However, if future minority equity or
earnings do materialize, the majority interest will be credited to the extent of such losses previously absorbed.

Variable interest entity

As discussed in Note 3, in connection with the Company’s acquisition of Biovest, Biovest qualified as a variable interest entity in
that, while Accentia owned the majority interest in the Company (the stock had been issued), they lacked voting control as a result
of a voting proxy provision, but qualified as the primary beneficiary pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. As such, Accentia was required to consolidate Biovest on the date
of acquisition. Effective October 16, 2003, the voting control was transferred to Accentia and Accentia then continued to
consolidate Biovest, but under standard consolidation rules pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141,
Business Combinations.

Unaudited pro forma financial information

The accompanying unaudited proforma balance sheet gives effect to the proceeds of $14.1 million in net proceeds from the initial
public offering, which was completed on November 2, 2005, and the costs associated therewith, as well as the conversion of all
preferred stock to common stock effective upon completion of the offering.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly-liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.

Concentrations of credit risk and customer and vendor concentrations

Financial instruments that subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk include cash and accounts receivable. The
Company places its cash in several high-quality financial institutions. Such amounts are insured by the FDIC up to $100,000 per
institution.

Accounts receivable are customer obligations due under normal trade terms. The Company sells its products to pharmaceutical
distribution companies and retail organizations nationwide. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of customers’
financial condition and does not require collateral.

Management reviews accounts receivable on a monthly basis to determine collectibility. Balances that are determined to be
uncollectible are written off to the allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts contains a general
accrual for estimated bad debts and had a balance of approximately $0.3 and $0.2 million at September 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, which management considers adequate; however actual write-offs may exceed the allowance.

One customer in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment accounted for approximately 25% of consolidated net sales for the year
ended September 30, 2005. This customer accounted for approximately 19% of the Company’s trade accounts receivable balance
as of September 30, 2005.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 1
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003 t

' 1
1. Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies (continued) i

Two vendors in the &emalﬂ Pharmaceuticals segment provided approximately 27% of total product purchases during the year
ended September 30, 2005 They are as follows” 1

; Purchases
‘ Vendor 1 .cvoveeeeieicieeee e 16%
f Vendor 2 ..o, 11% j

27% 5

As set forth below, three customers in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment accounted for approximately‘r 40% of consolidated
net sales for the year ended September 30, 2004. One of these three customers (McKesson) accounted for approx1mately 15% of
the Company’s trade accounts receivable balance as of September 30, 2004, They are as follows: 4

Sales :

Customer 1........ccoovvvviinriennenecieneeee, 15% I
Customer 2 (McKesson).........ccocevvenneee. 15% ‘
CUustomer 3.....cccocvvvnvenncrereneere s _10% i
—40%

Two vendors in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment provided approximately 21% of total product purchases during the year
ended September 30, 2004. They are as follows: |

Purchases ‘

Vendor 1 ..o, 11% {
Vendor 2 .ooeeveeeeeveeeeneiereereensenon, 10% i
21% |

- i

Two customers in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment accounted for 25% of consolidated net sales for the year ended
September 30, 2003. i

Sales 1
CUSTOMET L.vviiiirriiricriereieisere e erveenene 14% |
Customer 2 (McKesson).......ccoecvccreenne 11% f

25% |

Inventories )
. 1

Inventories consist primarily of trade pharmaceutical products, supplies/parts used in instrumentation; assembly and related
materials. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market with cost determined using the first-in first-out (“FIFO”) method.
In evaluating whether! inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market, management considers such factors as the amount of
inventory on hand and in the distribution channel, estimated time required to sell such inventory, remaining shelf life and current
and expected market conditions, including levels of competition. As appropriate, a provision is recorded to reduce inventories to
their net realizable value g

|
Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements {
Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depf‘reciation is determined
using straight-line and accelerated methods over the estimated useful lives of three to seven years for furniture and equipment.
Amortization of leasehold improvements is over the shorter of the improvements’ estimated economic hves or the related lease

terms. ;
, [
Goodwill and intangible assets z

Intangible assets mclude trademarks, product rights, noncompete agreements, technology rights, purchased customer data
relationships and patents and are accounted for based on Financial Accounting Standard Statement No. 142 Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets (“FAS 1427). In that regard, goodwiil and intangibie assets that have indefinite usefuﬂ lives are not amortized
but are tested at least annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

1. Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

might be impaired. The Company has identified certain trademarks, product rights and technology rights as intangible assets with
indefinite lives and, therefore, these assets are not amortized.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over the estimated useful lives from the date of acquisition as follows:

Estimated
___Useful Lives
Noncompete agreements ........oovveveceevncrienininennens 2 to 4 years
Customer relationships.........ocooveceviienoienieeinecencen 10 years
SOTEWATE ..o 3 years
Patents..........ocoviiinic 3 years
Product rights......cooooiiiiiiiinnee e 4.5 to 20.5 years

Advertising expense

The Company expenses the costs of advertising, which includes promotional expenses, as incurred. For the years ended
September 30, 2005, 2004, and 2003, advertising expenses were nominal.

Income taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed annually for differences between the financial statements and income tax
bases of assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future, based on enacted tax laws and rates
applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established
when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of current assets and current liabilities such as cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, customer
deposits and accrued liabilities approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these items. The fair value of the
Company’s borrowings, including deposits and other liabilities, if recalculated based on current interest rates (9.75% current
borrowing rate) would be approximately $34.6 million or $2.9 million lower than the recorded amounts.

Foreign currency translation

The Company translates the assets and liabilities of its non-U.S. functional currency subsidiary into dollars at the current rates of
exchange in effect at the end of each reporting period, while net sales and expenses are translated using the average exchange rate.
Foreign currency translation adjustments were nominal during the period and, as such, no adjustments have been recognized in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Indefinite lived assets at September 30, 2005 amounted to $1.8 million (See Note 6). In accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”), indefinite lived assets resulting from the
purchases are not amortized into operations. Rather, such amounts are tested for impairment at least annually. The impairment test
is calculated at the reporting unit level. This annual impairment test has two steps. The first identifies potential impairments by
comparing the fair value of the reporting unit, with its carrying value. If the fair value exceeds the carrying amount, intangible
assets are not impaired and the second step is not necessary. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, the second step calculates
the possible impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of intangible assets with the carrying amount. If the implied fair
value of intangible assets are less than the carrying amount, an impairment charge is recorded. The Company will perform this
test annually, effective as of the last day of the fourth fiscal quarter of each year. The Company recognized impairment losses of
$0.4 million, $0.4 million and $-0- during the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. See Note 15 for
further discussion.
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

1. Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition
Biopharmaceutical Prodycts and Services

The Company recognizes revenue in its Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment as follows:

Services

Service revenue is generated primarily by fixed price contracts for cell culture production and consulting services. Such revenue
is recognized over the contract term based on the percentage of services cost incurred during the period cbmpared to the total
estimated service cost to be incurred over the entire contract. The nature and scope of the Company’s contracts often require the
Company to make Judgments and estimates in recognizing revenues. Estimates of total contract revenues and costs are
continuously monitored during the term of the contract, and recorded revenues and costs are subject to revxslon as each contract
progresses. Such revisions may result in increases or decreases to revenues and income and are reﬂected in the consolidated
financial statements in the periods in which they are first identified. Each month the Company accumulates costs on each contract
and compares them to the total current estimated costs to determine the percentage of completion. The Company then applies this
percentage to the total contract value to determine the amount of revenue that can be recognized. Each month the Company
reviews the total current estimated costs on each contract to determine if these estimates are still accurate énd, if necessary, the
Company adjusts the total estimated costs for each contract. As the work progresses, the Company might decide that original
estimates were incorrect due to, among other things, revisions in the scope of work, and a contract mod1ﬁcat1on might be
negotiated with the customer to cover additional costs. If a contract modification is not agreed to, the Company could bear the risk
of cost overruns. Losses on contracts are recognized during the period in which the loss first becomes probable and reasonably
estimable. Reimbursements of contract-related costs are included in revenues. An equivalent amount of these reimbursable costs
is included in cost of sales. Because of the inherent uncertainties in estimating costs, it is at least reasonably possible that the

estimates used will change within the near term. .‘
l

Contract costs related to cell culture production include all direct material, subcontract and labor costs and those indirect costs
related to contract performance such as indirect labor, insurance, supplies and tools. The Company believes that actual cost
incurred in contract cell production services is the best indicator of the performance of the contractual obligations, because the
costs relate primarily to the amount of labor incurred to perform such services. The deliverables inherent in each of the
Company’s cell culturet production contracts are not output driven, but rather driven by a pre- determmed production run. The
duration of the Company’s cell culture production contracts range typically from 2 to 14 months.

Revenues stemming from consulting services are recognized based on the percentage of service cost incmj’red during the period
compared to the total estimated service cost to be incurred over the entire contract. Service costs relating to the Company’s
consulting services consist primarily of internal labor expended in the fulfillment of the Company’s consulting projects and, to a
lesser extent, outsourced research services. Service costs on a specific project may also consist of a combination of both internal
labor and outsourced research service. The Company’s consulting projects are priced and performed in pﬁases, and the projects
are managed by phase. As part of the contract bidding process, the Company develops an estimate of the total number of hours of
internal labor required to generate each phase of the customer deliverable (for example, a manuscript or database), and the labor
cost is then computed 'by multiplying the hours dedicated to each phase by a standard hourly labor rate. The Company also
determines whether the Company needs services from an outside research or data collection firm and in¢ludes those estimated
outsourced costs in the Company’s total contract cost for the phase. At the end of each month, the Company collects the
cumulative total hours worked on each contract and applies a standard labor cost rate to arrive at the total| labor cost incurred to
date. This amount is d1v1ded by the total estimated contract cost to arrive at the percentage of completion, Wthh is then applied to
the total estimated contract revenues to determine the revenue to be recognized through the end of the month. Accordingly, as
hours are accumulated!against a project and the related service costs are incurred, the Company concurrently fulfills its contract
obligations. The duration of the Company’s consulting service contracts range typically from 1 to 6 months. Certain other
professional service revenues are recognized as the services are performed. 1

|
|
J
!
|
1




ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

1. Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

The asset unbilled receivables represents revenue that is recognizable under the percentage of completion method due to the
performance of services for which billings have not been generated as of the balance sheet date. In general, amounts become
billable pursuant to contractual milestones or in accordance with predetermined payment schedules. Under the Company’s
consulting services contracts, the customer is required to pay for contract hours worked by the Company (based on the standard
hourly rate used to calculate the contract price) even if the customer cancels the contract and elects not to proceed to completion
of the project.

Pursuant to these contracts, the project is typically billed in two or three equal installments at different times over the duration of
the engagement, and therefore it is possible that contractually prescribed billing date will occur after the hours are worked. There
are instances in which the scope of a project may be reduced (or increased) after work has commenced. In order to ensure proper
revenue recognition, the Company evaluates changes in the scope of all open projects on a monthly basis in order to determine
whether the estimated revenues and costs at completion are valid in light of current contractual and customer expectations. In
cases in which the scope of a project is reduced, the Company documents the understanding with its customer regarding the scope
reduction as well as the revised total amounts billable under the contract. The Company then evaluates revenues recognized to
date based on the old estimates; revises the total estimated contract costs, revenues, and percentage of completion to date; and
applies this revised percentage to the new estimated total contract revenue. If the amount of revenue recognizable based on the
new estimates is less than revenues recognized to date, the Company reverses the excess revenue in the period of the change and
accordingly reduces receivables in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Unearned revenues represent customer payments in excess of revenue earned under the percentage of completion method. Such
payments are made in accordance with predetermined payment schedules set forth in the contract.

Products

Net sales of instruments and disposables are recognized in the period in which the applicable products are delivered. The
Company does not provide its customers with a right of return; however, deposits made by customers must be returned to
customers in the event of non-performance by the Company.

Specialty Pharmaceuticals

Revenue from product sales is recognized when all of the following occur: a purchase order is received from a customer; title and
risk of loss pass to the Company’s customer upon the receipt of the shipment of the merchandise under the terms of FOB
destination; prices and estimated sales provisions for product returns, sales rebates, payment discounts, chargebacks, and other
promotional allowances are reasonably determinable; and the customer’s payment ability has been reasonably assured. An
estimate of three days from the time the product is shipped via common carrier until it reaches the customer is used for purposes
of determining FOB destination. Revenues in connection with co-promotion agreements are recognized based on the terms of the
agreements.

Concurrently with the recognition of revenue, the Company records estimated sales provisions for estimated product returns, sales
rebates, payment discounts, chargebacks, and other sales allowances. Estimates are ¢stablished base upon consideration of a
variety of factors, including but not limited to, historical relationship to revenues, historical payment and return experience,
estimated customer inventory levels, customer rebate arrangements, and current contract sales terms with wholesale and indirect
customers.

Actual product returns, chargebacks and other sales allowances incurred are, however, dependent upon future events and may be
different than the Company’s estimates. The Company continually monitors the factors that influence sales allowance estimates
and makes adjustments to these provisions when management believes that actual product returns, chargebacks and other sales
allowances may differ from established allowances.

Provisions for these sales allowances are presented in the consolidated financial statements as reductions to net revenues and
included as current accrued expenses in the balance sheet. These allowances approximated $ 0.2 million, $1.7 million, $1.5
million as of September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

1. Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

During 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inci (“PPD”), a preferred
stockholder (see Note 10 for a full discussion of the agreement). In connection with the agreement, PPD écqulred future royalty
rights in exchange for $2.5 million received by the Company in September 2004; however, the agreement provides for return of
the net purchase price ($2.5 million less royalty payments remitted to date) should royalties received by P&’D through December
2009 be less than $2.5/million. In addition, there are certain other default prov151ons that would require the Company’s return of
the net funds received. As a result, Accentia will recognize revenue in the future as royaltles are Iremltted to PPD. The
$2.5 million funds received are presented as “other liabilities, related party” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of

September 30, 2004. As of September 30, 2005, the balance of this liability is $2.4 million, reflecting royalt1es payable to PPD

accrued as of the date. {

Cost of sales

Cost of sales excludesiamortization of acquired product rights of $1.5 million, $0.4 million, $0.1 million i 1n 2005 2004, and 2003,
respectively. 1

Shipping and handling costs !

Shipping and handhng costs are included as a component of cost of sales in the accompanying consohdated statements of

operations. i !

Research and development |

The Company expenses research and development costs as incurred. In addition to the purchased in-process research and
development costs discussed in Note 3, such costs include payroll and related costs, facility costs, consulting and professional
fees, equipment rental and maintenance, lab supplies, and certain other indirect cost allocations that are dirbctly related to research
and development actiyities, The Company incurred total research and development expenses of $10.9 million in the year ended
September 30, 2005, $5 5 million in the year ended September 30, 2004 and $6.1 million in the year ended September 30, 2003,

Stock-based compensatzon }

The Company has adopted the accounting prov1s1ons of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 123—Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation (“FAS 123”), which requlres the use of the fair-value based method to determme compensation for all
arrangements under which employees and others receive shares of stock or equity instruments (warrants and options). The
Company uses the Black-Scholes options- pricing model to determine the fair value of each option grant. ’

|
In applying the Black-Scholes options-pricing model, assumptions are as follows: 1

2005 Range of values Weighted Avg,
Dividend yield......c.coevvevcinnrenenn, $ 0 $ 0
Expected volatility ......c.cecerernrernircnnnns 0% to 50% 12.83% |
Risk free interest rate ..........cccoveveevenene 2.05-3.53% 2.38%
Expected life ...oovvimeiccrinnininiennen 0.5 to 5 years 0.71 years |
a
2004: Range of values Weighted Avg. |
Dividend yield..........ccococonicniininnnnan $ 0 $ 0
Expected Volatility ...................oooooo... 0% to 45.174% 1.35% |
Risk free interest rate ......c.coceievenerenen. 1.62 -3.93% 2.48% ‘
Expected life ......ccooovervnncrnecninnnne 1 to 5 years 1.96 years |
I
2003: Range of values Weighted Avg.
Dividend yield..........ccourverievrerirecnnan $ 0 $ 0 |
Expected volatility ..........c.cooverennnnnns 0% to 55.486% 6.37% |
Risk free interest rate ........ococveveevveennas 1.62-3.37% 2.36% !
Expected life .....cocoovvnnmnnnviininnrenns 2.2 to 5 years 3.9 years |

|
|
|
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

1. Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Net loss per common share

The Company had net losses for all periods presented in which potential common shares were in existence. Diluted loss per share
assumes conversion of all potentially dilutive outstanding common stock options and warrants. Potential common shares
outstanding are excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share if their effect is anti-dilutive. As such, dilutive loss per
share is the same as basic loss per share for all periods presented as the effect of all options outstanding is anti-dilutive.

The following table sets forth the calculations of basic and diluted net loss per share:

September 30,

2005 2004 2003
Numerator:
Net loss applicable to common Stockholders ..........oeveiireriniicienicierniens $ (44,928,352) § (28,487,920) $ (16,671,943)
Denominator:
For basic loss per share—weighted average shares ..........cccoccvcrevniennicnnieinennn 5,147,222 4,875,683 4,728,718
Effect of dilutive SECUITLIES .......ociiiiiret et nnbenes — — —
Weighted average shares for dilutive loss per share .........cccocviinvinernncnnenn 5,147,222 4,875,683 4,728,718
Net loss per share applicable to common stockholders, basic and dilutive......... § (8.73) § (5.84) § (3.52)
EPS effect of preferred dividends ..........ooeoieverininiiiic, $ (1.08) $ (2.16) § —

The effect of common stock equivalents are not considered in the calculation of diluted loss per share because the effect would be
anti-dilutive. They are as follows:

2008 2004 2003
Options and warrants to purchase common StOCK........ocvevivrvrerivinnenennnieienns 3,027,933 1,933,158 793,192
Preferred stock convertible to cOMmMON StOCK .....ovviviiiinieniiirrinieie e 35,574,154 20,812,662 13,308,715
Preferred stock options and warrants convertible to preferred
which is then convertible t0 COMMON.........c.covveiiiiivieiiiieie e 1,211,502 15,307,015 2,273,165

Note: Share and per share information throughout these financial statements has been retroactively adjusted to effect the 2005
1-for-2.1052 reverse stock split discussed in Note 12.

Reclassification:
Certain amounts in the 2004 and 2003 financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the 2005 presentation.
Deferred offering costs:

Deferred offering costs represent legal, accounting and other costs associated with the initial public offering that will be charged
to additional paid-in capital offering in fiscal 2006 upon completion of the initial public offering.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB revised its SFAS No. 123 (“SFAS No. 123R”), “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation.” The
revision establishes standards for the accounting of transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or
services, particularly transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions. The revised
statement requires a public entity to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity
instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award. That cost is recognized over the period during which the employee is
required to provide service in exchange for the award. The provisions of the revised statement are effective for financial
statements issued for the first interim or annual reporting period beginning after June 15, 2005, with early adoption encouraged.
The Company accounts for options issued to employees under SFAS No. 123; accordingly adoption of this revision is not
expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s current financial condition or results of operation.
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

1. Description of business and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

This Statement applies to all awards granted after the required effective date and to awards modified, repu&chased or cancelled
after that date. The cumulative effect of initially applying this Statement, if any, is recognized as of the requlred effective date. As
of the required effective date, all public entities and those nonpublic entities that used the fair-value-based method for either
recognition or disclosure under Statement 123 will apply this Statement using a modified version of prospectlve application.
Under that transition method, compensation cost is recognized on or after the required effective date for the port1on of outstanding
awards for which the requisite service has not yet been rendered, based on the grant-date fair value of those awards calculated
under Statement 123 for|either recognition or pro forma disclosures. i

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No.47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143” (“FIN 47”), which requires an entity to recognize a liability for the fair value of a
conditional asset retirenient obligation when incurred if the liability’s fair value can be reasonably estlmated FIN 47 is effective
for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2005. The Company is currently evaluating the effect that the adoptlon of FIN 47 will
have on its consolidated results of operations and financial condition but does not expect it to have a matenaL impact.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections” (“SFAS 1{54”), which replaces
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 20 “Accounting Changes” and SFAS No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim
Financial Statements—An Amendment of APB Opinion No. 28.” SFAS 154 provides guidance on accountin’g for and reporting of
accounting changes and error corrections. It establishes retrospective application, or the latest practicableidate, as the required
method for reporting a change in accounting principle and the reporting of a correction of an error. SFAS 154 is effective for
accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005, and is required to be
adopted by the Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of
SFAS 154 will have on, 1ts consolidated results of operations and financial condition, but does not expect it to have a material

impact.

2. Liquidity and management’s plans :

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes Accentia will realize its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. As reflected in the accompanying consohdated financial
statements, the Company incurred net losses of $79.3 million and used cash from operations of $57.2 mllhon during the three
years ended September 30, 2005, and has a working capital deficit of $29.6 million at September 30, 2005. T]he Company prOJects
operating deficits for fiscal 2006 before consideration of potential funding sources for this same period. These conditions raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Funding to date of the Company s working capital
requirements has resulted principally from the issuance of common and preferred stock and proceeds from debt.

i

1
!
i

A breakdown of the losses between Accentia and Biovest is as follows:

(in millions)

i

‘ 2005 2004 2003

" ACCENEIA vttt $279 $142 $164 ]
C BIOVESE ...ttt e $11.5 $ 90 §$ 03 i
. Consolidated..........ccoeeivieecrerceeeeeesneenn $39.4 $232 $16.7 1‘

Since the Company’s inception, operations have been funded primarily through private placements ozf capital stock, debt
financing, conversions of debt to equity, and financing transactions with strategic partners. These transactions are described
throughout the footnotes. In addition, on November 2, 2005, the Company closed its Initial Public Offering (“IPO”), with gross
and net proceeds of $19.2 million and $14.3 million, respectively. The Use of Proceeds section refers to the consummation of

1

several commitments described in the Form S-1 filing. |

i

The Company is projecting that operating cash flow deficits for the early part of fiscal 2006 will be offset by net cash inflows
from financing activities, as well as from proceeds from the initial public offering, completed within the ifirst quarter of fiscal
2006, repayment of advances to our subsidiary Biovest, the placement of private equity, the exercise of warrants, and bank
financing offset by debt repayments

i
i
|
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

2. Liquidity and management’s plans (continued)

Subsequent to September 30, 2005, convertible debentures issued by Biovest having principal and accrued interest in the amount
of $1.3 million were converted by their holders into shares of Biovest common stock at a conversion price ranging from $.40 to
$1.00 per share. Following this conversion, Accentia exercised its First Right of Refusal to maintain its ownership percentage and
accordingly received 7,119,000 shares of Biovest stock in exchange for the issuance of a promissory note bearing interest at prime
rate and payable in December 2010. In addition, $3.7 million of principal and accrued interest under convertible debentures issued
by Biovest were converted into Accentia stock at prices ranging from $6.40 to $8 per share. In connection with these transactions,
Biovest issued an inter-company demand note to Accentia for approximately $3.7 million. Accentia has advanced approximately
$1.8 million since October 1, 2005, which is expected to be repaid in fiscal 2006. Accentia expects repayment from Biovest on
the conversion note and its current year advances in fiscal 2006, as Biovest is seeking its own debt and equity financing, as
separately described below. The liquidity effect of these conversions on the consolidated balance sheet was to reduce our
consolidated current and long-term debt and increase shareholders’ equity by $5.0 million.

Additionally, in November 20035, following the [PO, the Company paid $2.8 million to Laurus Master Funds which was applied
to its line of credit.

On December 29, 2005, Laurus Master Fund, LTD. (“Laurus”) agreed to make a loan to the Company in excess of the Formula
Amount under the Security Agreement dated April 29, 2005. This overadvance is in the amount of up to $2.5 million. In
connection with this overadvance, the Company granted Laurus a warrant to purchase up to 51,000 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $0.01 per share.

Following the IPO, as part of the plan to secure additional financing, the Company paid $2.0 million to Harbinger, which reduced
its note to $5.0 million.

The Company has $3.3 million available under the Hopkins 1I line of credit.

While the Company is currently engaged in efforts to restructure certain existing indebtedness in order to increase available funds
on a near-term basis, and they also intend to seek additional financing during the next six months through one or more public or
private equity offerings, additional debt financings, coporate collaborations, or licensing transactions, the Company cannot be
certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If adequate funds are not available, the Company
may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate one or more of the research or development programs or
commercialization efforts. If none of the foregoing funding sources are available during the next six months, management
believes that the Company can reduce or eliminate expenses in a relatively short period to enable us to continue business
activities, on a reduced basis, into the 2007 fiscal year.

The Company further anticipates that Biovest will seek additional financing during the next six months through public and private
equity offerings, debt financings, corporate collaborations, or licensing transactions. Pending completion of an anticipated Biovest
financing transaction, the Company plans to continue to fund Biovest’s operations through intercompany demand loans to the
extent that advanced amounts exceed the funding commitment to Biovest under the investment agreement with Biovest. As of
December 1, 2005, an aggregate of $5.5 million intercompany demand notes payable to Accentia by Biovest are outstanding,
representing funds advanced to Biovest in excess of the funding commitment under the investment agreement plus intercompany
obligations arising from the conversion of Biovest notes into common stock of Accentia in accordance with the terms of such
notes. After the completion of a funding transaction by Biovest, if any, Management does not anticipate that Accentia will
continue to finance Biovest’s operations. In addition, upon the completion of such a Biovest financing transaction, Management
anticipates that Biovest may repay some or all of the outstanding demand notes.

There are currently no commitments in place for these debt and equity transactions, nor can assurances be given that such
financing will be available. While management is confident that they will raise the capital necessary to fund operations and
achieve successful commercialization of the products under development, there can be no assurances in that regard. The financial
statements do not include any adjustments that may arise as a result of this uncertainty.




ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

3. Acquisitions and dispositions [

. |
Acquisitions 1
Effective October 1, 2002 the Company through a wholly owned subsidiary, Accent RX, Inc., acqulred all of the assets and
assumed substantially all of the liabilities of American Prescription Providers, Inc. (“APP”), a company under substantially
common ownership and control with that of the Company, through issuance of 4,875,166 shares of Accentia common stock and
payment of $0.2 million in cash. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at APP’s histc;rical cost basis, and the
results of operations -of AccentRx are included in the accompanying consolidated financial statemerits for the years ended
September 30, 2003 and 2002 in accordance with SFAS 141 Appendix D (substantially equivalent to la pooling of interests).
Disposition of this segment of business is discussed below. AccentRx conducted a pharmacy busmessrwnh sales of specialty
pharmaceuticals. l

Effective April 1, 2003, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding capital stock of TEAMM, a Delaware corporation,
through issuance of 4,612,504 shares of Accentia Series D convertible preferred stock. Also, pursuant tol the merger agreement,
the Company 1) converted options to purchase 362,232 shares of TEAMM common stock to options to purchase 362,232 shares
of Accentia Series D preferred stock which are subject to the same vesting periods and terms of the TEAMM options, except the
exercise price was changed to $0.50 per share; 2) converted outstanding TEAMM warrants to acquire 9881145 shares of Accentia
Series D preferred stock; and 3) issued options to acquire 598,247 shares of Accentia common stock to/ TEAMM management
and sales representatives. Intangible assets acquired consisted of $0.5 million in non-compete agreeéments which have an
estimated life of 2 years, $0.1 million of trademarks which have estimated lives of 4.5 to 10 years, $6.7 million of product rights
which have estimated lives of 4.5 to 11.5 years and $0.6 million in trademarks and customer relationships with indefinite lives.
The Company’s consolidated financial statements include TEAMM’s results of operations from the date of acquisition. TEAMM
markets and sells pharmaceutlcal products that are developed primarily through third party development partners

On June 16, 2003, the Company acquired 81% of the outstanding voting shares of Biovest (27,891,037 shares of common stock
and 8,021,886 shares of preferred stock , all of which were newly issued by Biovest). No amounts were payable to the minority
stockholders. Consideration for the purchase of the shares was $2.5 million in cash (paid to Biovest) and a $17.5 million note
payable (due to Biovest) . While the consideration for the shares was the note, the note was not collaterahzed or secured by the
stock. All shares were issued, legally voting, fully-paid and non-assessable. These shares were immediately placed on the stock
register of Biovest with the Company listed as the record owner thereof; however, for the period from acquisition to October 16,
2003, Biovest qualified as a variable interest entity due to the existence of a voting trust. The Company also met the criteria for
the primary beneficiary in accordance with FIN 46. As such, Biovest was consolidated with the Company from the date of
acquisition and the Company’s consolidated financial statements include Biovest’s results of operatlohs from July 1, 2003
forward. On October 16, 2003, the voting trust that created the variable interest was terminated, and Blovest satisfied all criteria
for consolidation pursuant to FAS 141, i

Accountmg for the acquisition of Biovest in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles qursuant to ARB 51)
requires that intercompany balances and transactions be eliminated. This includes intercompany open account balances, security
holdings, sales and purchases, interest, and dividends, as consolidated statements are based on the assumptron that they represent
the financial position and operating results of a single business enterprise. As a result, the entire $20.0 million investment in
Biovest is eliminated in consolidation since all of the consideration was paid to Biovest. The purchase prjce post-consolidation
represents Biovest’s deficit in stockholders’ equity on the date of the acquisition of $2.9 million. Cumulative payments to date on
the $17.5 million note aggregated $16.8 million at September 30, 2005, leaving a remaining internal commrtment (and unpaid
balance) of $0.7 mllhont

i
¢

The purchase price for purposes of generally accepted accounting principles ($2.9 million as described abow:/e) has been allocated
to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. In ascertaining fair value, the gross purchase
price was used and then reduced pro rata to amounts determined post-consolidation. The gross purchase price of $20.0 million
plus liabilities assumed less identifiable tangible assets leave an intangible value to be allocated of $24.9 million. That intangible
value was allocated, and then reduced pro rata to the $2.9 million post-consolidation purchase price plus pre existing intangibles

of $2.7 million, as follows: ‘
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

3. Acquisitions and dispesitions (continued)

Intangible value Pro rata amount
(in thousands)
Trademarks ......ocoovieviiirece s $ 117 $ 26
Customer relationships .......cocevvereereiiinsionieeee e 607 137
In-process research and development .......c..ccc..ocoeeverenns., 22,312 5,042
SOFIWATE ...ttt e 1,409 318
PatentS ..o 457 103
TOtal. oo $ 24,902 $ 5,626

The Company accounted for the Analytica, TEAMM and Biovest acquisitions using purchase accounting standards established in
FAS No. 141, Business Combinations , and FAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Accordingly, the acquisition
purchase prices were allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values.

The fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with the acquisitions accounted for as purchases are as
follows:

Biovest TEAMM

at 100%
Assets acquired:
Cash aCqUILEd ..o seer et s st ras s s saseens $ — $ 1,859,769
CUITENE ASSEES .vvveviievieeeeiie e st ee e e et ee e s e st aeereresaenseesesntnsenss 2,807,000 1,964,269
RESIIICtEd CaSH...cviitiiiiiii e — 2,007,106
Furniture, equipment and leaschold improvements.................... 956,000 103,865
Other Intangible @SSETS........ccocciiiriiinineiaeee e sieeeesessaaesensnas 2,767,000 7,848,000
OhHET SSEES....viiiiieiir ettt e e e et et st b et aeneenes 127,000 —
Total assets acqUIred.........covveviverieiirenicere e, 6,657,000 13,783,009
Current HabilitIeS c.ocvvviiivi et 4,968,000 8,685,907
Long-term debt ..........coviereirivieciiriiciieee e 4,548,000 5,000,000
Total liabilities assumed ......c...cooeiv it 9,516,000 13,685,907

$ (2,859,000) § 97,102

Purchased in-process research and development

In connection with the acquisition of Biovest, the Company has determined that $5.0 million of the fair value of the acquisition
price qualifies as in-process research and development, and as such, this amount was expensed as research and development
expense on the acquisition date. Details relating to this technology acquisition are as follows:

The in-process research and development acquired was related to an injectable autologous (patient-specific) vaccine for the
treatment of follicular non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. Follicular non-Hodgkin's lymphoma is a cancer of the lymphatic system that
results when the body’s follicle center cells, which are a type of white blood cell, become abnormal and eventually spread
throughout the body growing and dividing in an uncontrolled fashion. The technology is referred to as “the BiovaxID project.”

Significant appraisal assumptions used at acquisition were as follows:

»  Material cash inflows from the BiovaxID project were, at the time of acquisition, anticipated to commence in fiscal 2004
(notwithstanding that such cash inflows did not ultimately commence in fiscal 2004).

*  Material anticipated changes from historical pricing and margins were not considered as there was no history. There were
projected material increases in the expenditures associated with the project over the historical levels in order to advance the
project through the clinical trial stage.

»  The risk adjusted discount rate applied to the estimated future cash flows was 55%.

»  The total fair value of assets and intangibles to be allocated exceeded the invested capital and purchase price and therefore a
pro rata write down was required to reduce the fair values to the actual amounts paid, so the fair value of in-process research
and development of $22.3 million was reduced to $5.0 million, which was expensed at the acquisition date.
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003 ]

3. Acquisitions and disﬁositions (continued)

The BiovaxID project is in the Phase III trial stage and there are substantial regulatory approvals remaining before the product can
be launched, and as such is incomplete for purposes of ascertaining in-process research and development status. Through its
Cooperatrve Research and Development Agreement with NIH, Biovest has corporate sponsorsh1p rlghts to technology, which
gives Biovest the right to develop the vaccine and, if successful, to market it. The technology is unique rn that the vaccine is
autologous that is, derived from a patient’s own cancer cells. It is designed to utilize the power of the patrent $ immune system to
recognize and destroy cancerous lymphoma cells while sparing normal cells. !

The Phase III clinical trlal requires appr0x1mately 450 patients to be enrolled. Costs incurred with development of this technology
since the date of acquisition are included in research and development in the accompanying statements of operations. Estimated
costs to complete the project, which include instrument development, vaccine procession and clinical trials are estimated at $24.6
million as of September 30, 2005. Although Management currently anticipates completion of enrollment forlPhase II clinical trial
in calendar year 2007, the time it takes to reach the clinical endpoint following the completion of enroliment may be several
years, and will depend on a variety of factors, including the relative efficacy of the vaccine, the magnitude of the impact of the
vaccine on time-to-tumor progression, drop-out rates of clinical trial patients, and the median follow-up time subsequent to
administration of vaccine or control. Risks associated with completing development relate to achieving| the necessary patient
enrollment and the ability to adequately scale-up the vaccine manufacturing and production process through commercially
acceptable and FDA approved instrumentation that will allow for the vaccines to be manufactured in a large-scale facility to meet
anticipated market demand. At September 30, 2005, 187 patients have been enrolled of the total 450 needed. Delays in
completing recruitment of patients further delays FDA approval and commercial launch of the product. In addition, the Company
cannot be certain of when enroliment will be complete or if the vaccine will demonstrate sufficient efﬁcacy and safety to gain
FDA approval. Even if approved, the Company cannot be certain if sufficient demand exists for the product or if the vaccine can
be produced profitably on a commercial scale. :

Other acquisition:

On December 10, 2003 and effective October 1, the Company through its newly formed subsidiary IMOR-Analytica, GmbH,
entered into an agreement to purchase certain assets and liabilities of Private Institute for Medical Outcome Research GmbH
(“IMOR”) for €0.5 million ($0.6 million). Pursuant to this agreement, Analytica International, Inc. leases a building and has the
option to purchase such real estate located in Lorrach, Germany. This lease and option expires on November 30, 2008. Pursuant
to the purchase, employment agreements were executed with the two prior owners of IMOR, which include annual compensation
of €0.3 million and options to purchase 950,029 shares of Series B preferred stock at an exercise price jof $1.25. The purchase
price was allocated as follows: purchased customer relationships $0.2 million; software $0.1 million; and goodwill $0.3 million
(after taking into account the impairment charge described below). The allocation was based on a rev1ew by management and
allocated in a mannet similar to the previous acquisition of a similar business, Analytica. The net assets acqurred consisted of all
of IMOR’s business| activities, intangible assets, and software. IMOR provides strategic services prior to product launch,
including clinical trials management, technology assessment and valuation, and formulary and strategic reimbursement planning.
In connection with the IMOR acquisition, the Company initially capitalized goodwill in the amount of $0.6 million based on the
fair value of the acquired assets net of assurned liabilities. Following this acquisition, the Company discovered that the assumed
liabilities were $0.3 million in excess of the amount represented in the acquisition agreement. Becausé the Company has been
unable to negotiate a post-closing purchase price adjustment as a result of this excess liability, the Company recorded an
impairment to goodw111 in the amount of $0.3 million in the fiscal quarter in which the acquisition occurred

The pro forma effects of this acquisition were considered immaterial. In addition the effect of the retroactrve effective date was
also nominal. 1

Dispositions *

On December 8, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement to sell certain assets of AccentRx for $4. 2 million in cash. The sale
agreement provided| for the sale of AccentRx’s trademarks, customer lists and goodwill associated with the AccentRx pharmacy
business, none of which had a cost basis, and were therefore not recorded on the Company’s balance sheet All proceeds reduced
current liabilities. Furthermore, during December 2003, the Company renegotiated the terms of certain 1ndebtedness to McKesson in
the Assumption of Debt and Security Agreement, Wthh amendment was required as a condition of McKesson’s approval of the
AccentRx sale. Subsequently, this agreement was amended to, among other things, grant McKesson warrants to purchase up to
1,425,043 million shares of Series E preferred stock of Accentia. Accordmgly, the fair value of these warrants computed using the
Black Scholes pricing model is $2.6 million, which was offset against the gain on the sale transaction. g’
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

3. Acquisitions and dispositions (continued)

Revenues and pre-tax income (loss) reported as discontinued operations are as follows:

2005 2004 2003
REVENUES ..t eeeeeeeee e sr e $ — $ 3,745,688 $ 20,849,904
PLE-taX L0SS 1rrrrvvvereorororsrossse e $(430,110)  $ (1,516,017)  § (2,346,912)

Continuing cash flows in 2005 from discontinued operations result from the resolution of lease matters.
4. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

September 30,
2005 2004

Pharmaceutical products held for sale ...........ccoeeiiiinininiciini, $ 814862 § 579,751
Finished goods, other, net of $0.3 million allowance for obsolescence ...... 35,787 536,006
WOTKAITI-PIOCESS «..ieiveiieireeriniesreeresin sttt et e s ene e 120,977 61,000
RAW MALEIIAIS .ottt et ettt e ee e tn e e et eenne s 42,270 450,000

1,013,896 1,626,757
Less: 1ong-term INVENIOTIES .....cooveveriveriiererenieieicrrereieeeeeererereerns b e snenes — (289,000)

$ 1,013,896 § 1,337,757

During 2003, the Company recorded a $0.3 million inventory allowance for obsolete inventory, which is included in cost of sales
in the accompanying 2003 statement of operations. The $0.3 million allowance was eliminated in the three months ended
December 31, 2004 in connection with the write-off of inventory.

5. Unbilled receivables and unearned revenues

Unbilled receivables and unearned revenues are as follows:

September 30,
2005 2004
Costs incurred on uncompleted service contracts.........c..coeecevereenne. $ 7,020,113 $ 5,828,796
Estimated €arnings .........c.coceeremrercrerienenenreiecerinere s e seesiesaeseennas 7,286,296 5,271,685
14,306,409 11,100,481
Less billings to date ......ocvecrreniiinennrienerceinnesereseeie e reecenens (14,478,620) (11,607,659)

$ (1722100 S (507,178)

These amounts are presented in the accompanying balance sheets under the following captions:

September 30,
2005 2004
Unbilled receivables ........oovviviiiicieeicrerii et ere e $ 690,886 $ 783,973
UNEArned TEVETIUES .......cvivceerereiineeerieerrinrrsresre b e s seecnnneseancannas (863,096) (1,291,151)

$(172,210) $ (507,178)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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6. Other intangible assets

Intangible assets, othejr than goodwill, consist of the following:

|
Weighted
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$ 12,138,943

September 30, Average
Amortization
‘ 2005 2004 Period
Indefinite-life intangible assets: ‘
Trademarks........ocveverereireereececrecnreeninesssceceenne § 1,525433 § 1,525433 '
Purchasdd customer relationships............occcce... 225,137 225,137 |
1,750,570 1,750,570
Amortizable intangible assets:
Noncompete agreements ..........coceereevereeecnenernnee 2,104,000 2,104,000 3.§ years
Patents .oee ettt 149,624 146,613 35 years
Purchased customer relationships................... 1,043,813 1,043,813 95 years
Product Fights ... 21,216,334 14,603,640 14.3 years
SOFWALE ....c.covreimiiieireeicriie e 498,416 498,416 35 years
Trademarks.....ccoovvivveieeriiceeeeecie e 106,041 104,000 7.5 years
‘ 25,118,228 18,500,482 |
Less acchmulated amortization [........c.ccoeeeeneene (5,631,122) (3,324,275) ‘
; 19,487,106 15,176,207 1
Other intangible assets.........ccoovevereiirincrnieienns $ 21,237,676  $ 16,926,777 ‘
Activity Year Ended Sep. 30, 2003 I
In process i
Acquired in Acquired in R&D ‘
Teamm Biovest Purchased Expensed 2003 Balanice at
' Bus Acq Bus Acq in 2003 in 2003 Amortization Sep. 30, 2003
Indefinite-life intangibles:
Trademarks .........oococieiniinnneninnn $ 349,000 $ 26,433 $ 1,525,433
GoodWill ..ccoveiiiiiiiree e ! 893,000
Purchased customer relationships ...... 225,137 : 225,137
‘ 2,643,570
Amortizable intangible assets:
Noncompete agreements.................... 524,000 2,104,000
S S 103,248 — { 103,248
Purchased customer relationships...... 137,000 36,463 | 803,463
Software.......cccovvniniinivnienie, 318,329 _ 1 438,329
Trademarks .....ocoovvviioveeieiiercnneene 104,000 4} 104,000
Product rights.............‘ ........................ 6,743,000 553,829 ;‘ 7,296,829
Purchased in-process R&D................ 5,040,853 g 5,040,853
Purchased in-process R&D expense .. $ (5,040,853) . (5,040,853)
Accumulated amortization................. $ (1,0724,246) (1,354,496)
§ 7,945,137 § 5,625,863 § 590,292 | 9,495,373




ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

6. Other intangible assets (continued)

Acquired in Purchased in 2004 Balances
Imor Bus Acqg. 2004 Amortization Sep. 30, 2004
Indefinite-life intangibles:
Trademarks ....cocovivvvicirieiece e — _ $ 1,525,433
GOOAWILL ....cceeii e 300,437 _ 1,193,437
Purchased customer relationships...........coecevveneee — _ 225,137
2,944,007
Amortizable intangible assets:
Noncompete agreements. ..........ocovvvvcervvnveereneenns _ — 2,104,000
Patents......coovriiiiiie e _ 43,365 146,613
Purchased customer relationships..........ccoccceeeeee 240,350 — 1,043,813
SOfWATE ... 60,087 — 498,416
Trademarks ......ooveeiireinieererese e _ _ 104,000
Product rights......cccevveeiiirii e — 7,306,811 14,603,640
Accumulated amortization ........c.ecveeevevevrirenenn. $(1,969,779) (3,324,275)
$ 600,874 $ 7,350,176 15,176,207
TOtal it $ 18,120,214
Balances Acquired 2005 2005 Balances
Sep. 30, 2004 in 2005 Amortization Elimination Sep. 20, 2005
Indefinite-life intangibles:
Trademarks .....ccocovoveieicee e $ 1,525,433 _— $ 1,525,433
GOOAWIL.....orii e 1,193,437 _ 1,193,437
Purchased customer relationships..........c.c.coceeiee 225,137 — 225,137
2,944,007 2,944,007
Amortizable intangible assets:
Noncompete agreements.........ooveveeeveeerereererennene 2,104,000 — 2,104,000
Patents.....cccovviiniii 146,613 $ 3,011 149,624
Purchased customer relationships........c..cocoevenee. 1,043,813 — 1,043,813
SOTWATE ... 498 416 - 498,416
Trademarks ..o 104,000 2,041 106,041
Product rightS. ..o v 14,603,640 8,082,694 $(1,470,000) 21,216,334
Less accumulated amortization..........c..eccoeveeneene (3,324,275) (2,448,916) $ 142,069 (5,631,122)
15,176,207 § 8,087,746 §(3,918,916) § 142,069 19,487,106
Total .o $ 18,120,214 $ 22.431,113
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6. Other intangible assets (continued)

ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

All products being developed are currently FDA approved chemical entities being developed in different dosage strengths or
formulations under FDA guidelines, with the exception of MD Turbo, which is being developed under predicate device FDA
guidelines. Development and approval paths are expected to average approximately 24 months. The Company’s cash flow

projections for all products and technologies support recoverability for capitalized intangibles, and as such, no impairment
charges were deemed appropriate.

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

©

®

(8)

(h)

(M)
o

See Notes 10, 17 and {19 for detailed discussions relating to acquisition of these intangibles.’

Estimated future amottization of amortizable intangible assets with finite lives is as follows:

Represents th‘;e licensing rights for a patent-pending drug-delivery technology being developefd by a third party. This
technology will be applied to a variety of chemical compounds that would potentially result in con’nmercialized products.

Represents the right under a license agreement to commercialize an asthma therapy using low dose antifungals under
patents held by Mayo Foundation.

Represents exclusive worldwide rights licensed from Mayo Foundation for commerc1ahzat10n of therapy for chromc

rhinosinusitus; still in the FDA-approval process as of March 31, 2005. q
l

Represents excluswe U.S. rights for distribution of anti-emetic therapy for treatment of nausea and vomiting acquired from
a third party. 505(b)(2) application submitted to FDA in April 2005 by development partner, and FDA approval currently
expected in 2006. ‘
Represents exclusive U.S. distribution rights acquired from-a third party under a distribution }agreement. Product was
approved by FDA in June 2004, and amortization of acquired product cost is being recognized commencing in fiscal 2004.
This product achieved approval within 10 months of filing. |

Represents excluswe U.S. distribution rights acquired from third-party under a distribution agreement for nine products, of
which two product submissions have been filed with FDA, with approval expected early 2006. Four product submissions to
FDA are expected in July 2005, with expected approval mid-2006. The remaining two product submlss1ons are expected in
first quarter 2006, with expected approval in first quarter 2007. ?

Represents exclusive U.S. distribution rights acquired from a third party under a distribution agrzeement for one product,
with expected submission to FDA in first quarter 2006 and expected approval early in 2007. |

Represents distribution rights acquired from a third party. for a medical device that can be usedgin the administration of
multiple products. FDA submission was in February 2005, with expected clearance in mid-2005. j
The Mayo Clinic has approved patents supporting these products. ]1
Represents exciusive licensing and distribution rights from a third party under a licensing and distribution agreement for
one product, with expected SNDA submission to the FDA in the first quarter of 2006 and expecﬂed approval in the third
quarter of 2006.

J

Year ending September 30,

i
|
1
{
{
|
i
i
i
1
|
i

D006 ...eovvveesveeeeeeeeseeseeereeesseeeseseessseseens $ 1,940,266
2007 covoeeeeeereseeeeee e 1,595,168
2008 ... eese e 1,412,768 |
110 S 1,300,788 |
P13 ) 1,299,461 |
THETCATLET 1vvv.voroeeveee oo 11,938,653

$19.487,106

September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

i

Goodwill expected to be deductible for income tax reporting purposes aggregated $0.3 million, $0.3 million and $0 at
|
i

|
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

7. Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements

Fumiture, equipment and leasehold improvements consist of the following:

September 30,
2005 2004
FUITIIUTE oot e $§ 253,130 $ 378,389
Office and laboratory equipment .................. 2,737,291 2,629,882
Leasehold improvements ...........c.ccoervvnieinne. 791,687 551,085

3,782,108 3,559,356

Less: accumulated depreciation and
AMOTTIZALION .vveir et (2,006,289) (1,551,370)
$ 1,775819  § 2,007,986

8. Lines of credit
Lines of credit consists of the following:

September 30,
2005 2004

Promissory note, interest at 3%; matured November 2004; secured by stockholder

CETtIICAte OF AEPOSIL ....viviviievireeiieieetee ettt ettt b s e s s $ — § 250,000
Revolving credit agreement, interest at prime plus 1% (5.5% at September 30, 2004);

repaid 2005; secured by Company’s accounts receivable; personal guaranty of

MAJOr SEOCKNOIART ... et et — 2,999,500
Convertible secured revolving note due to Laurus Master Fund, Ltd., interest at prime

plus 2% (8.75% at September 30, 2005); matures April 2008; principal and accrued

interest convertible at fixed conversion price of $6.95 per share (See Note 9) ............... 3,767,221 —
Bridge note, interest at 4.25%, unsecured matures August 2007 or completion of a debt
or equity financing resulting in more than $35.0 million in net proceeds (a).........c........ 4,180,000
1011111 S OO OO USROS PSSO TT VSO TUPORURPUPROOPO — 23,087
$7,947,221 $3,272,587
LeSS CUITENE MATUTITIES ... cveiiveiieveiieiee it eeeete st esaessaesressesssesraessesssessassanssesasesssesssessasssassensns 3,767,221 3,272,587
$4,180,000 $ 0

(a) The Company borrowed an aggregate of $0.6 million in the form of a bridge loan from The Hopkins Capital Group II, LLC,
otherwise referred to as Hopkins II. This June 2005 bridge loan was evidenced by an unsecured interest-free promissory
note that was due on the earlier of August 31, 2005 or the closing of an initial public offering by the Company (imputed
interest was nominal). From July 1, 2005 through August 16, 2005, additional advances in the amount of $3.6 million were
made by Hopkins II under this loan to the Company.

On August 16, 2005, the Company entered into a new bridge loan agreement with Hopkins 11 that provides for aggregate
borrowing availability of up to $7.5 million in principal amount. In connection with this agreement, the $4.2 million
advanced under the previous Hopkins II bridge loan was converted into an obligation under the new bridge loan agreement.
The new bridge loan (including all accrued but unpaid interest) will become due upon the earlier of August 16, 2007 or the
completion by the Company of a debt or equity financing that results in proceeds of more than $35.0 million (net of
underwriting discounts, commissions, or placement agent fees). The Company may prepay the bridge loan at any time
without penalty or premium. Notwithstanding the foregoing, on the date on which the bridge loan becomes due or on which
the Company desires to prepay the loan, the Company must not be in default under its credit facility with Laurus Master
Fund, Ltd., and the remaining balance under the Laurus credit facility at such time must be $2.5 million or less. If both of
these conditions are not satisfied, then the bridge loan will not become due and cannot be paid until the first day on which
both of these conditions are satisfied.
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ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

!
|
l
|
1
[

|
|
8. Lines of credit (continued) I

Under the August 2005 bridge loan agreement with Hopkins II, the Company has the unconditional right to borrow up to
$5.0 million in the aggregate upon ten days’ prior written notice to Hopkins Ii, prov1ded that the Compﬁny s right to borrow
any amounts in excess of $5.0 million is conditioned upon the Company either being in default under 1ts credit facility with
Laurus or having less than $5.0 million cash on hand at the time of the advance. As of September 30, »2005 a total of $4.2
million had been borrowed under this bridge loan. The loan is unsecured and bears interest at a rate equal to 4.25% per
annum, simple interest. No payments of principal or interest are due until the maturity date of the loan. 1

Weighted average interest on all short-term borrowings aggregated 6.42% and 5.30% at September 30 2005 and 2004,
respectively. At September 30, 2005, the Company has an aggregate of $4.4 million available under its lines of credit.

9. Long-term debt
|

Long-term debt consists of the following: 1

SjEptember 30,
2005 | 2004
Related party: ;
Convertible term loan due to McKesson, a holder of shares of preferred stock and major |
supplier, payable at 10% contract rate plus 5% default rate; due upon closing of /
IPO@)(E) ............ bbbt $ 3,900,000 $ 3,900,000
Revolving line of credit, due to McKesson, interest payable monthly at 10% contract rate f
plus 5% default TALe (€) w...vvvrvrireriiii s 2,095,4:114 2,190,703
Interest 0N MCKESSOMN LOANS ...iuviiiiiiiciiereiiererie i aree e creeeeatessraeerbe b esateeetresrsneessnnessnesentaens — 1,306,189
Notes payable, former Biovest management, interest at 7%; due in June 2006; working ?
capital loans due in fiscal 2006; bridge financing due in fiscal year 2006; and other i
notes due in installments through 2006(C) .......c.cccvevrieiieivinririieries i sar v nsnens 4,439,328 4,538,000
Long-term accrued interest (<) ZS T O O OO PO ST 641917 427,017
11,076,659 12,361,909
€SS CUITENE TNALUTIEIES .......cvoeseoeeee e et en b e st ss st se s eessss e (7,414,742)  (12,361,909)
: $ 3,661917 § —
Other: i ‘
Convertible term note due to Laurus Master Fund, LTD., interest payable monthly at !
prime rate plus 4%; due April 2008(E) everieeeriirreie ettt § 8,193 ,{238 $ —

Note payable, Harbinger Mezzanine Partners, LP, (a holder of shares of our preferred |
stock), net of dis:count; secured by receivables, equipment, inventories and intangible f

assets of TEAMM; interest payable monthly at 13.5%; $7.0 million principal balance ‘

matures June 2006. The loan agreement contains covenants including fixed charge

i
I
coverage and minimum EBITDA; compliance with the covenants has been waived i

until December 31, 2005(D)(Z) . vvcvverrereriiieiie sttt 6,589,854 4,169,945
Legal settlement obligation. Repaid in 2005..........cvovvvvrirerrcereesrieiseriensesiereessersesseressirsenion |— 146,985
Notes payable, Bioyest bridge financing, due in 2006...........ccocooviiniiiiiiinc, 100,600 100,000
Notes payable, Bioyest 2000 bridge financing, interest at 10%, due in 2006(d) ................... 175t,469 300,000
Note payable, bank. Repaid in 2005. .......ccoooiiiiiiiniieiieesvene s nes 253,947
Other ......oevverranns et 119 050 138,150
Long term acCrUSdHIIETEST(C) ..voverirririrrire ettt sietrstesesterieseet e s see e st st esse et nbesasnens 31 l, 013 198,810

‘ 15,488,624 5,307,837

LeSS CUITENt MATUTIHES .....oo..cereeveecveseos oo seeesssssese s sesssnesss s (9,998,372) (26,893)
| $ 5490252 $ 5,280,944

|
!

Footnotes to long-term debt I
!

(a) The terms of this note, among other things, restrict additional borrowings by the Company and réquire the Company to
maintain certain minimum current ratios and funded debt to earnings before interest, taxes, deprematmn and amortization
(“EBITDA™) and funded debt to capital {evels, as defined. g

F-30




ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

9. Long-term debt (continued)

(b) Discounts on long-term debt include the value of warrants issued in conjunction with long-term debt and are accreted over
the life of the related debt.

(¢) No payment of interest due until maturity (2006-2007). Collateralized by certain assets of Biovest; convertible at the option
of the holder into Biovest common stock (at $0.50 per share) or Accentia common stock (at either discounts ranging from
zero to $1.60 of the $8 PO offering price. $5.0 million was subsequently converted to equity.

(d) Notes are convertible into shares of Biovest common stock at $1.00 per share and include warrants to purchase 50,000
shares of Biovest common stock at an exercise price of $1.25 per share, exercisable through September 2007.

{e) Subsequent to September 30, 2005, loan paid down to $0.8 million, which is due July 2006.

(fy Note is convertible into shares of common stock at $6.95 per share, exercisable through April 2008; however, conversion of
the term loan is contingent upon completion of an effective Registration Statement. See Laurus Master Funds, Ltd section
below per discussion of terms.

(g) On March25, 2005 the loan agreement was amended to provide for a guarantee from the parent, Accentia
Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. and a release of the first lien against the assets of TEAMM in order to provide a first lien to
Missouri State Bank, the provider of our revolving credit facility in addition to certain other concessions. Concurrent with
the March 2005 amendment, the Company also purchased the Stock Purchase Warrant from Harbinger for $2.0 million
through an increase in the note balance from $5.0 to $7.0 million. Subsequent to September 30, 2005, the loan was paid
down by $2.0 million.

Future maturities of long-term debt are as follows as of September 30, 2005:

Years ending September 30,

2006 c.vcoooeeveoeeeeeeesesese e seeeeesesesesesesseeseseesee s $ 9,998,372
2007 covvveeeeeeresr s eses s seeee s e 3,301,931
200 c.ecooeeeeee e eeseeees e eesee e ee e 2,188,321

$ 15,488,624

Laurus Master Funds, Ltd.

On April 29, 2005, the Company obtained an aggregate total of $10.0 million in debt financing from Laurus Master Funds, LTD
(“Laurus™). The term loan portion of the Laurus credit facility is evidenced by a secured convertible term note in the principal
amount of $5.0 million. The revolving loan portion of the credit facility is evidenced by a secured convertible minimum
borrowing note in the amount of $2.5 million and a secured revolving note of up to $5.0 million, provided that the aggregate
principal amount under both notes combined may not exceed $5.0 million.

In August 2005, the term loan portion of the Laurus credit facility was amended and restated secured convertible term note, dated
August 16, 2005, in the principal amount of $10.G million (an increase of $5.0 million).

The amended and restated secured convertible term note accrues interest at a rate of the greater of 10% per annum or prime rate
plus 4%. The secured convertible minimum borrowing note and secured revolving note accrue interest at a rate equal to the
greater of 7.75% per year or prime rate plus 2%.

Certain repayment terms were conditional based on timing of the initial public offering. As a result of completion of the offering,
the amended and restated secured convertible term note is payable over three years in equal monthly payments of principal and
interest of $0.3 million. The secured revolving note and secured convertible minimum borrowing note are due on the third
anniversary of the notes with all accrued but unpaid interest payable monthly.

In connection with the Laurus credit facility, we issued to Laurus a warrant to purchase a number of shares of our common stock
that is equal to $8.0 million divided by our per share initial public offering price (38.00) (1,000,000 warrants), and such warrant
has an exercise price equal to our per share initial public offering price ($8.00). The warrant will expire on the 5th anniversary of
the date of warrant issuance.

As a part of the August 2005 amendment to the Laurus credit facility, the Company granted Laurus an additional warrant to
purchase up to 277,778 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.001 per share. This additional warrant
is immediately exercisable and, except for the absence of a forced exercise provision, has substantially the same terms and
conditions as the other warrant granted to Laurus.
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i

9. Long-term debt!(continued) ‘
!

The principal and accrued but unpaid interest under each of the Laurus notes is convertible at the optron of Laurus into shares of
our common stock jat an initial conversion price of $6.95 per share, provided that from after the compJetron of our initial public
offering, the conversion price will be an amount equal to 85% of our per share initial public offering price or $6.80.

In connection with the company’s Laurus financing transactions, the Company applied the tenets of Emerging Issues Task Force
Consensus No. EITF 98-5, Accounting for Convertible Securities with Beneficial Conversion Features or Contingently
Adjustable Conversion Features The Company also considered the guidance of Accounting Prrncrp]es Board Opinion Number
14, Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants and EITF 00-27, Application of Issue
No. 98-5 to Certairi Convertible Instruments. It is Management’s opinion that these standards apply to the accounting for these

agreements. !
|

The allocation of proceeds between the convertible debt and warrants was made based upon the frelative fair value of the
instruments. The Black-Scholes Model was used to determine the fair value of the warrants using the following assumptions:

SHATE PTICE . eviririiiicreriararnsrcrernsesesasssssssressssasasasesoss $ 8.00
EXEICISE PIICES...evevreiiiriertirerarenerirrenrisresesesseresnssns $.001-$8.00
Expected 1ives ......cccoovvnvnniniicci e 270-365 days
Interestrate.........cooveiiniiiiini 3.54%
Expected vOlatility......cocovveerreiiircrcccnrcnenenene 50%

The beneficial conversion feature was calculated using that effective conversion rate, following the initial allocation described
above. The effective conversion rate is calculated by dividing the amount allocated to the debt by the number of common shares
into which the debt/is convertible. A beneficial conversion feature is present when the effective conversron rate 1s lower than the
value of the underlymg common stock.

Application of these accounting standards resulted in the following:

TOtAL PIOCEEAS ... vt leurvterereitcerteee s eses e bbb s et bbb s s s e se et sebs sttt s et ab et s ba bt en et e 5 .............. $.15,000,000
Discount associated with warrants, amortized using the effective interest method over the life of the debt ............. $ 1,268,069
Beneficial conversion feature associated with line of credit, amortized using the effective interest method

over the life of the o < o U OO U O USSP ; ........... . $ 1,267,820
Penny warrants, amortized using the effective interest method over the life of the debt...........c..cocveeee.. i .............. $ 1,398,350
Beneficial conversion feature associated with Contingently Convertible Term Loan, to be recorded upon

completion of initial public offering/registration statement effectiveness ..........ococecevirrieneciiiicninnonnan bvererernnene $ 2,664,802

10. Related party transactions
Related party transactions
In order to induce additional investment in the Company, two principal stockholders entered into the following agreements:

In connection with;the sale of 1,187,536 shares of Series E preferred stock, a party related to a principal stockholder of the
Company (the “Trust”) has pledged shares of a publicly traded company to secure obligations pursuant to a Put Call Agreement
(“PCA”). The PCA provides that, for a period of two years, the preferred stockholder has the rrght to require the Trust to
repurchase up to 1,187,536 shares of Series E preferred stock at $2.11 per share plus 5% per year. In addmon for a period of two
years, the Trust has \the right to repurchase 593,768 of said shares at $2.11 per share plus 5% per year; however in May 2005, the
Trust irrevocably walved this right. 5

In connection with equlty transactions in the first quarter of 2005, two principal stockholders a551gned an aggregate of 237,507

warrants to purchase shares of Series E preferred stock to a Series E preferred stockholder. These warrarits were then exercised.
|

Accounts receivablq, stockholder ‘

Accounts receivable stockholder at September 30, 2004 consists of amounts due from McKesson, a lLolder of preferred stock.
These amounts are due in accordance with customary trade terms in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment.

|
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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10. Related party transactions (continued)
Net sales, services

Net sales from services reflect $0.1 million in revenues eamed in our Biopharmaceutical Products and Services segment for
consulting work performed for PPD.

Due to employees

Due to employees as of September 30, 2005 and 2004 consists of an amount due to current employees (prior owners) of IMOR
pursuant to the purchase agreement.

Notes payable, stockholders

Notes payable, stockholders at September 30, 2004 are unsecured 6% convertible notes in an aggregate amount of $3.0 million.
Discounts on these notes aggregated $0.06 million at September 30, 2004. These discounts result from the issuance of 760,023
warrants to purchase Series A preferred stock associated with the extensions of maturity dates and are accreted over the life of the
debt. At September 30, 2004, $0.8 million was currently due and the balance was due December 2005. In 2005, $2.8 million of
this debt was converted to equity, resulting in a loss of $2.4 million on extinguishmen: of debt at September 30, 2005.

Related party license agreement
Background

On February 10, 2004, the Company entered into a license agreement with Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research
{“Mayo”) for the license of certain technology as it relates to development of therapeutic products for the treatment of chronic
rhinosinusitis (“CRS”). The license grants the Company a) an exclusive license under the patent rights to use, offer for sale, sell,
develop, manufacture, and have manufactured amphotericin-B and derivatives thereof as an FDA Product in the United States and
European Union; b) an exclusive license in the United States and European Union to use, offer for sale, sell, import and
manufacture, but not have manufactured, products, excluding FDA Products, for the treatment of CRS; and ¢) a nonexclusive
license to use the technical information and data provided by Mayo to the Company that relate to the treatment of CRS to
develop, manufacture, use and sell products and FDA products for the treatment of CRS. The agreement expires on the last to
expire claim within the patent rights covered under the agreement, some of which are pending at September 30, 2005 and
September 30, 2004,

In connection with the Mayo agreement, Accentia agreed to acquire or obtain all rights owned or licensed by BioDelivery
Sciences International, Inc. (“BDSI”) (a company related to the Company through partial common ownership and control) to
develop an FDA product under the Mayo license based on cochleated amphotericin-B without interference from BDSL

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Company’s agreement with Mayo was amended to provide for the following:

*  Expansion of territory to worldwide;

*  Reduction of minimum royalties;

»  Milestone royalties increased;

»  Licensing of and addition of asthma milestone royalties; and

+  Payment of 1,140,034 shares of Series E preferred stock as an up-front, non-refundable royalty.
Related party license agreement and sale of royalty rights

On April 12, 2004, the Company entered into a license agreement (as licensee) with BDSI relating to certain products. Accentia’s
responsibilities included paying the costs associated with any of the commercial aspects, in keeping with its business plan
(utilization of sales force, education of the public and prescribing population, etc.). In connection therewith, BDSI is entitled to
royalties of 12% for sales of all products covered under the Mayo agreement including but not limited to topical antifungal
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10. Related party transactions (continued) ;

products that do not require FDA approval and 14% of licensed products, which is expected to occur wi\thin 18 months to two

years. The royalty obligations shall continue for each product for the term of the last to expire of thelhcensed patent rights

covering the product. 4‘

Pharmaceutical Product Development, Inc. (“PPD”), a holder of our preferred stock, expressed an mterest in purchasing certain

royalty rights that BDSI possessed in connection with its April 12, 2004 arrangement with the Company, but PPD did not wish to

deal directly with BDSI since the original technology was licensed to the Company from Mayo. As a result the Company entered
into an agreement to acqulre 50% of the royalty rights back from BDSI for $2.5 million. E

Simultaneous with the BDSI transaction, the Company entered into an agreement whereby PPD purchased from the Company

50% of said royalty rights based on the sale of certain products. The royalty rights are defined as 6% of netlsales for all non-FDA
products and 7% of all FDA product sales, which is 50% of the initial royalty calculations, respectively. The sales price for these
royalty rights was $2.5 mﬂhon i
PPD acquired only the; royalty rights and did not assume any liability or obligation of the Company. Further, pursuant to the
agreement, the Compahy has agreed to make minimum royalty payments through December 2009 of $2.5 million. Failure to
make such minimum payments is deemed a material breach. In connection therewith, Accentia may make up such shortfall to
cure the breach. In addition, termination of the “enabling agreements” (BDSI and Mayo) constitutes a default as well as failure to
maintain market exclusivity and failure to enforce Mayo Patent Rights. In the event of termination, the Company is required to
refund the purchase price less the aggregate royalties paid prior to termination, except that if aggregate royalties exceed $2.5
million, the Company has no obligation to refund the purchase pnce As discussed in Note 1, the $2.5 million received from PPD
is recorded as “other liabilities, related party” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2005 and
2004. Further, as a result of the sale to PPD of the purchased future royalties from BDSI and the fact that} the Company has no
recourse against BDSI if these royalties do not materialize, the $2.5 million paid to BDSI in connection with the acquisition
thereof has been expensed as “other operating expense, related party” in the accompanying 2005 and 2004 cbnsolidated statement
of operations for the year ended September 30, 2004. If royalties do materialize, they must be paid to PPD, at which time revenue

from the sale of these rlghts to PPD would be recognized. ]

Distribution agreement wzth Arius ‘

On March 12, 2004, the) Company entered into a distribution agreement with Arius Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Arius”) which grants
the Company an exclusive perpetual license to market and sell a central nervous system product called Emezine ™ in the United
States. Pursuant to the distribution agreement, as consideration for the distribution rights, the Company is oblfxgated to pay: a) $0.1
million upon execution of the distribution agreement; b) $0.2 million upon the confirmation of NDA requlrements c) $1.0 million
upon the initiation of clinical studies; d) $0.3 million upon FDA filing and acceptance; €) $0.4 million upon NDA approval; and f)
perpetual royalties on net product sales, subject to annual minimum royalties of $2.0 million in year one éand $4.0 million for
every year thereafter, pro rated for any portion thereof, until the initial sale of a generic competitor to the product The agreement
expires at the terminatibn or expiration of Arius’s master license agreement with Reckitt Benckiser Healthcare (UK) Lid,,
(January 2014) unless terminated for causes as defined in the agreement. 1
An aggregate of $1.6 million in acquired product nghts were purchased from Arius (see a, b, ¢ and d above) $0.2 million and
$1.0 million of which 1s accrued and included in “product development obligations” in the accompanymg 2005 and 2004
consolidated balance sheet respectively.

l

Subsequent to the above referenced March transaction, Arius was acquired by BDSI and became a related pa:n‘ty through common
ownership and control. |
Biologics distribution agreement with McKesson !

In February 2004, the Company signed a biologics distribution agreement with McKesson Corporation to c{onvey to McKesson
exclusive rights to distribute all current and future biologic products developed or acquired by the Company in the United States,
Mexico and Canada. Pursuant to the agreement, McKesson remitted a $3.0 million non-interest bearing refundable deposit upon
execution of the agreement and, as of September 30, 2005 and 2004, has been included in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets as “deposits, related party”. The refundable deposit will be returned to McKesson upon termination of the agreement and
McKesson will then cease to have the exclusive distribution rights. The Company may repurchase the rlghts granted McKesson
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prior to FDA approval of the Company’s first biologic product upon payment of the greater of $6.0 million or 3% of the
shareholders’ equity of the Company at the time of termination. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company will pay a monthly
royalty on ali net revenues of all biologic products licensed by the Company and reimburse McKesson for all costs of distribution,
as defined in the agreement. The agreement shall continue until the first to occur of 1) mutual written termination, 2) written
notice of material breach, not cured, 3) 180 days after McKesson requests termination or 4) repurchase of the distribution rights
by Accentia prior to FDA approval. There were no biologics product sales subject to this agreement in 2005 and 2004.

Other related party transactions
See Note 8 and 9 for other related party debt.

The Company has entered into certain transactions with entities and individuals who own stock in the Company. The following is
a summary of the other significant related party transactions not discussed elsewhere for the years ended September 30, 2005,
2004 and 2003.

September 30,
2005 2004 2003
Clinical trials costs—vacCine @ .......c.occovvveviiiiriiieeieeeeseeeeienns $1,309,052 § 1,309,100 $ —
Drug purchases ® ........ccciervceiicrieenne et — 15,710,723 18,854,081
Business travel—aircraft expense @ ........cccccoviivicieiennirernncn 331,052 173,000 44,000
Related party accrued interest @ ..........ccoovevininicrccinninnn 147,983 376,481 210,396
Security interest in note payable @ .........cococovniiiiiiiin — 250,000 —
Fair value of warrants issued for loan guarantee @ .................... — 62,040 —

See footnotes on following page.

(a) On September 30, 2004 we entered into a Master Services Agreement and Project Addendum agreement with PPD
Development LP (hereinafter “PPD”). PPD, a Contract Research Organization and principal stockholder of Accentia, will
perform a side range of services in the conduct and data management of the ongoing Phase 111 clinical trial of BiovaxID,
Biovest’s personalized therapeutic vaccine for indolent follicular non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. This pivotal Phase III clinical
trial has been ongoing since 2000. The services to be performed by PPD include identification, recruitment and
qualification of additional clinical trail sites to accelerate the pace of the patient enrollment into the trial, facilitation of
patient enrollment, coordination of data and information management services, and regulatory compliance function, among
others. The agreement with PPD may be terminated by Biovest at any time upon 30 days notice. Expenses in this regard
approximated $1.5 million and $1.1 million for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 respectively.

(b) McKesson is a major supplier and preferred stockholder of the Company. Purchases were made during 2003 and 2004 as
indicated in the table above.

(¢) The Company pays travel costs for its executives for usage of an airplane partially-owned by the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer. Cost incurred and paid includes direct out-of-pocket costs, including per diem pilot costs and fuel. Total
costs incurred in the fiscal years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $.03 million, $0.2 million and $0.04
million, respectively. ‘

(d) These amounts represent accrued interest on shareholder notes and one month’s interest due to Harbinger at each of the
periods presented in this table, and are included in accrued expenses in the accompanying balance sheets.

(e) This amount represents the face value of the certificate of deposit pledged by a stockholder on the $0.3 million promissory
note discussed in Note 8. During the twelve months ended September 30, 2003, this promissory note was paid in full.

(f) The Company issued warrants to purchase 285,009 shares of common stock at $2.11 per share in consideration of a
guarantee and pledge of securities by a principal stockholder during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004.
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11. Income taxes

The Company’s deféned tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:

Deférred tax assets:
Accrued expenses deductible in future...........cooevevvniernrnieennns

1
1
|
|
{
I

i

September 30, ]

2005

$ 2,991,000

2004

$ 3,‘799,000

Allowance for doubtful acCounts ..........ccoeevevvviveevereeiiier s 45,000 : 58,000
Basis difference in SSELS ..oovveerivrirreeceeieeerereseee s e st eseeeseesses 359,000 {117,000
Inventory valuation allowance ........c.ccoecvvennneercneiiniencennnnenne 318,000 1117,000
Stock based COMPENSALON ........cvcvverriereirireenesseenesssses s sesens 755,000 1590,000
Intanglbles .................................................................................. 1,628,000 1,628,000
Net pperating loss carryforward..........cocoveeienniiinciccninnienen, 31,849,000 18,033,000
Valuation alloWance..........ccooeveriireeerricneniesee e sie e (35,668,000) (21,500,000)
2,277,000 21842,000
Deferred tax liabilities: |
INtAngIbles ....ovrieciirirniinisiti s ~(2,277,000) (21842,000)
| s 5
Income tax (expensé) benefit consists of the following: ‘
; Year ended Septémber 30,
! 2005 2004 | 2003
CUITENE ..o oo resesss e e — 3 — $ 180,000
DEfEITed ..ol e e 352,000 218,000 (3,627,000)
Benefit of net/operating 1088 CAITYOVET ....c.oovvvvrevriiiivciinceee e (13,816,000)  (8,253,000)  (6,325,000)
Increase in valuation allOWanCe .......c.veevevvvveviiiiiinre e e 14,168,000 8,035,000 9,952,000
; — 3 L $§ 180,000
Allocation between continuing and discontinued operations: 1
CONtiNUING OPETAtIONS ...vvvvivivereieirie i cveeeensetessssesesesessssseseresessssesssesens — 3 — $§ 180,000
Discontinued OPerations............wvrmrrevirneresissmnrcveesssssesssessnnsnne — L —
— 8 ~ $ 180,000

The expected income tax benefit at the statutory tax rate differed from income taxes in the accompanymg statements of operations

as follows: |
| 2005 |

SEALULOTY tAX TALE ..o.vvevvveveveseseereseseseesssesesesest s sest s ssstss et 34%,

State taxes .................................................................................................................. 4% ;
ACQUISTHON AAJUSHMENIS ...cvvviviei ettt ee et st e eseesaseebenbene —

OthET v 2%)
Change in valuation allOWanCe ..........ccocvviiiinineicr e s (36) |

_0%|

Effective tax rate in accompanying statement of operations...................

2004 2003
34%  34%
4% 4%
— (136
(38) _98
__0% _ 0%

Deferred tax assets'are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not (a
likelihood of more than 50 percent) that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The valuation
allowance should be sufficient to reduce the deferred tax asset to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. As a
result, the Company recorded a valuation allowance with respect to all the Company’s deferred tax assets

Under Section 382iand 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, if an ownership change occurs with respect to a “loss corporation”, as
defined, there are annual limitations on the amount of the net operating loss and other deductions, which are available to the
Company. Due to the acquisition transactions in which the Company has engaged in recent years, the Company believes that the
use of these net operating losses will be significantly limited. As a consequence of the initial public offering, the Company may
experience another such ownership change. Accordingly, our net operating loss carryforward arisirllg before such ownership

changes may be also limited to offset future federal taxable income.
‘ F-36
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11. Income taxes (continued)

The Company has a federal net operating loss carryover of approximately $83.9 million as of September 30, 2005, which expires
through 2023, and of which $30.0 million is subject to various Section 382 limitations. Of those losses subject to the limitations,
$11.3 million is expected to expire before the losses can be utilized. Of the remaining amounts, the limitation is approximately
$1.8 million per year through approximately the year ended September 30, 2012. After that, the annual limitation will decrease to
approximately $0.2 million through September 30, 2024.

Further, during the year ended September 30, 2003, Biovest, the Company’s 81%-owned subsidiary, waived approximately $29.0
million in net operating loss carryforwards. These losses were waived effective with the acquisition of Biovest by the Company
on July 1, 2003. The deferred tax asset and associated valuation allowance of $11.0 million were reduced accordingly.

12. Stockholders’ equity

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the following shares were issued:

Shares of common StOCK 1SSUEA FOT CASNL......cciiiiviiiiii et eb ettt ee st ere st b sb e e e ereeareeneeene 294,093
Shares of Series A preferred Stock fOr Cash ..o b 340,110
Shares of Series A preferred stock for extinguishment of debt...........cocooiiiiicin e 657,420

Total shares of Series A preferred 1SSUESA ........ccviiriiiiii e e e 997,530
Shares of Series B preferred stock fOr Cash ......oovieniiiiriiiii et e 60,498
Shares of Series D preferred Stock fOr Cashi ....o.oviiici e 56,031
Shares of Series E preferred stock for cash.......ooo oo 11,763,728
Shares of Series E preferred stock for extinguishment of debt ... 743,685
Shares of Series E preferred stock for 1icensing rights .......oceeeiiiiinr it e 1,140,034

Total Series E preferred shares 1SSUSA. ......cveviiiiiiiiii e e et 13,647,447
Total shares issued during the year ended September 30, 2005.........cooviicnioiiiiie e e 15,055,600

Common stock

The Company has one class of common stock with an aggregate authorization of three hundred million shares. Each share of
common stock carries equal voting rights, dividend preferences, and a par value of $.001 per share.

Preferred stock

The Company has an aggregate of one hundred twenty-five million authorized shares of convertible preferred stock designated in
five series (the “preferred stock™), each at a par value of $1.00 per share as follows:

Convertible Preferred Shares authorized:

Series A 10,000,000
Series B 30,000,000
Series C 10,000,000
Series D 15,000,000
Series E 60,000,000

125,000,000

Series E preferred stock was generally issued with Class A and Class B warrants. These warrants were exercisable for Series E
preferred stock at an exercise price of $2.11 per share. These warrants expire upon closing of the initial public offering. The
Company has recorded a constructive dividend of $4.9 million attributable to the fair value of warrants issued in connection
therewith. As noted below, the fair value of the Series E preferred stock at September 30, 2004 was determined to be $3.87 per
share based on a valuation performed. The constructive dividend was ascertained through a relative fair value determination.
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12. Stockholders’ equity (continued)

The holders of the otstanding shares of Series E preferred stock as a class shall have the right to a cumulative quarterly dividend
of an amount equal:to the greater of: a) 5% of TEAMM net revenue resulting from all current or }future products owned,
controlled or in which any commercialization rights are held or, b) 5% of Biovest net revenue from the sale in the United States
market of all current and future products owned, controlled or in which any commercialization rights are held At September 30,
2003, preferred d1v1dends declared but unpaid aggregated $0.6 million. \

Other ‘; ¥

In addition, the Company amended its Articles of Incorporation to provide for additional shares of Series ﬁi preferred stock and to
provide that any shares issuable to Laurus in connection with the Laurus transaction will not increase the amount of shares irto
which the Company’s Series E preferred stock is convertible under the antidilution protections afforded the Series E preferied
stock under the Company s Articles of Incorporation '

Fair value determmatzon of privately-held equity securities

The fair values of thei common and preferred stock as well as the common and preferred stock underlying options and warrants
granted as part of acquisition purchase prices or as compensation, issued during the period from April 2002 through September
2004 were originally estimated by the board of directors, with input from management. The Company did not obtain
contemporaneous valuations by an unrelated valuation specialist until September 30, 2004. Subsequently, the Company
reassessed the valuations of these securities during the respective periods. |

Determining the fair value of stock requires making complex and subjective judgments. The Company uses the income and
market approaches to estimate the value of the enterprise at each date on which securities are 1ssued/granted The income
approach involves applymg appropriate discount rates to estimated cash flows that are based on forecasts of revenue and costs.
Revenue forecasts are based on expected annual growth rates ranging from 9% to 177% based on managemcnt s estimates. There
is inherent uncertainty in these estimates. The assumptions underlying the estimates are consistent with the Company’s business
plan. The risks associated with achieving the forecasts were assessed in selecting the appropriate d1scoupt rates, which ranged
from 15% to 45%. If different discount rates had been used, the valuations would have been different. :

l ‘
The enterprise value wias then allocated to preferred and common shares taking into account the entexpriSt;a value available to all
stockholders and allocatmg that value among the various classes of stock based on the rights, privileges : and preferences of the
respective classes.
As disclosed more fully below, the Company granted stock options with exercise prices of $1.05 to $7. 62[ during the 12 months
ended September 30, 2004. The fair value of the various classes of stock for the various dates based on the valuations are as
follows: i

i
|

Date ' . Common Series A Series B SeriesC | Series D Series E
April 2002 $ 0% 0§85 002 8% 168 N/A N/A
Sept. 2002 $ 0 S 0% 0028 1.68‘1 N/A N/A
April 2003 $ 0% 00258% 0028 1898 0 N/A
Sept. 2003 $§ 213 % 211 $ 236 % 21118 211 N/A
Sept. 2004 $§ 1778 2118 253 8% 211{% 211 $ 387
December 2004 ... $ 3738 211 8 259§

21118 211 $ 583
|

The values noted above were based on retrospective valuations performed. The Company did not obtain contemporaneous
valuations by an unrelated valuation specialist at the time of the issuances of stock options as management’s efforts were focused
on research and development activities for the non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma vaccine in the Blophannaceutlcal segment as well as
new product development and product launches in the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment.

i
In addition, due to the magnitude of the 2003 acquisitions, management’s focus was integration of the new businesses into the

Company’s then existing business activities, including establishing operating policies, procedures and mtemal controls. Further,
financial resources werellimited due to the significant operating and cash flow deficits associated with these acqulred businesses.

|
\
I
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12. Stockholders’ equity (continued)

As noted in an analysis that follows, during the year ended September 30, 2004, the Company granted options and warrants with
grant date fair values ranging from $0.13 to $1.68. During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Company granted options and
warrants with grant date fair values ranging from $1.05 to $1.64. These grant date fair values were determined from either the
valuations (Series E preferred stock warrants issued with Series E preferred stock purchases) or calculations using the Black-
Scholes pricing model with share price assumptions based on the valuations.

The range of values is wide and somewhat varied by class of stock due to different distribution and liquidation preferences of
such classes of stock.

The most significant changes in values from 2003 to 2004 relate to the issuance of the new Series E preferred stock which has
significant antidilution provisions and other preferences. While the overall enterprise value of the Company increased, the
creation of this class of stock and issuance of these shares resulted in a decline in common value at September 30, 2004. The
increase in the value of common stock at September 30, 2005 resulted from an overall increase in the Company’s enterprise
value.

Based on the Company’s current business plan and subsequent equity activities, further fluctuations in fair values of the various
classes of stock can be anticipated. In addition, although it is reasonable to expect that the completion of the Company’s proposed
initial public offering will add value to the shares because they will have increased liquidity and marketability, the amount of
additional value can be measured with neither precision nor certainty.

Stock options and warrants

Stock options and warrants issued, redeemed and outstanding during the year ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are as
follows:

Average
Outstanding Options and Warrants to Acquire Exercise
rice
Common Preferred Preferred Preferred Preferred Preferred ppei
Stock Series A Series B Series C Series D Series E share
Options and warrants issued and
outstanding October 1, 2002 ......... 9,500 — — — — — 1.05
Warrants isSued.......ccooeveecivinveviiinnn 95,003 — — — 1,218,728 — 0.17
Options issued.........oooececviiininininiiinnn 689,401 — — 712,521 — — 1.14
Options issued as part of TEAMM
ACQUISIHION ..t — — — — 355,629 — 1.05
Options terminated/forfeited.............. (712) — — — (13,714) — 1.05
Options and warrants outstanding
September 30, 2003..........cccocenene 793,192 — — 712,521 1,560,643 — 0.72
Options issued.......cocvecrrrmrercnrrercennn. 811,179 950,029 — 30,194 — 2.11
Options terminated/forfeited .............. (71,914) — — — (18,378) — 1.77
Warrants issued in connection with
preferred Stock........cooveivrniinnnene — — — — — 9,642,789 2.11
Warrants issued in connection with
SETVICES .eveerrireanrerrariaeieesresreaeeaiens 401,387 760,023 — — 248,097 1,425,043 2.11
Options exercised........c..covvvevieiennnnnine (686) — — — (3,946) — 1.05
Options and warrants outstanding,
September 30, 2004..........cc.occ..... 1,933,158 760,023 950,029 712,521 1,816,610 11,067,832
Options and warrants outstanding
September 30, 2004 ....................... 1,933,158 760,023 950,029 712,521 1,816,610 11,067,832 1.89
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: Average
Outstanding Options and Warrants to Acquire | Exercise
! rice
Common Preferred Preferred Preferred Preferred ' Preferred pper
: Stock Series A Series B Series C Series D i Series E share
Activity for the year ended |
September 30, 2005: ‘
Warrants iSSUed....ivvveeriveiiiriinrreeereennns 1,375,854 —_ — — ] 3,874,903 3.15
Options issued........cccoeeemerrrnrrennnene. 71,737 — — — — | — 3.16
Options terminated/forfeited.............. (58,882) — — (712,589) (14,678) — 1.16
Warrants terminatéd........ccoceeeencennnnn — — — — (1,424,209)  (4,372,635) 1.62
Warrants exercised........cccocovevirieennn (292,921) (760,095) — — (42, 755)! (10,571,148) 2.10
Options exercised........cocoerevrivverinenns (1,201) — (60,498) — (13,279), — 2.33
Rounding differences resulting |
from reverse split ......coccevvrcncennnn 188 72 91 68 191} 1,048
Options and warrants outstanding, !
September 30, 2005..........ccccovvnene. 3,027,933 — 889,622 — 321,880 ‘ — 3.48

As noted above, securities were issued on dates other than the dates on which retrospective valuations were performed. With

regard to option and warrant issuances in the quarter ended December 31, 2003, management believes? that the value determined
for the underlying isecurities at September 30, 2003 approximates the December 2003 value. With regard to option and warrant
issuances in the three quarters ended September 30, 2004, management believes that the value determmed for the underlying
securities at September 30, 2004 approximates the values at those interim dates. With regard to opt1on and warrant issuances
during the year ended September 30, 2005, management believes that the incremental change of the mnderlylng stock from the
September 30, 2004 valuation is allocable on a pro rata basis.

The weighted average grant date fair values of stock options and warrants granted during the years ended September 30, 2005,
2004, and 2003 were as follows: ;
!
Weighted A\:’rerage
Grant Date Fair Value
Options  Warrants

Year ended September 30, 2005 ..........cconvviiriernceen $ 1.05 ‘JSl 2.69
Year ended September 30, 2004 ..........ccoornnnnnrnvinnerenenne s $ 013 $' 1.68

"Year ended September 30, 2003 .........ccocoeerviirieenrenneecee e $ 044 $ 147
|

The following table summarizes information for options and warrants outstanding and exercisable at Sef’)tember 30, 2005:

Options and Warrants Qutstanding Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average
Range of Exercise remaining exercise © exercise
Prices Number life price Number | price
$ 1.05 1,174,136 8.09 years $ 080 1,174,114 1 $ 080
$ 1.06-2.11 703,691 8.00 years 2.11 494,332 2.11
$ 212263 1,064,734 8.24 years 2.63 214,385 2.63
$ 1264-533 317,562 8.91 years 4.77 241,083 5.28
$ 5.33-8.169 979,312 4.88 years 8.17 979,312 8.17

: 4,239,435 3,103,226
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12. Stockholders’ equity (continued)

The following table summarizes information for options and warrants outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2004:

Options and Warrants Qutstanding Exercisable
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
Range of Exercise remaining exercise exercise
Prices Number life price Number price
$ 0.02-1.05 3,105,352 7.62 years $ 057 2,876,534 $§ 053
$ 1.06-2.11 12,845,730 2.77 years 2.11 12,253,063 2.11
$ 2.12-2.63 1,151,337 9.24 years 2.63 19,417 2.63
$ 2.64-7.62 137,754 9.73 years 6.93 116,378 7.62
17,240,173 4.13 years $ 1.89 15,265,392 $ 1.85

Stock-based compensation is included in the following line items in the accompanying financial statements:

September 30,

2005 2004 2003
Statement of operations:
Stock-based COMPENSAtION ......c.orvivrieiiiiriirtecrte et et e ebe e ee $ 434,583 $ 683,236 $ —
SELtIEMENt EXPEINSE ...vvvverirerene ettt rb e s bbb bbb bbb —_ — 781,650
Gain on sale of discontinued OPEratioNS .........ccccveriiernerire et eere s — 2,581,600 —
TNEETEST BXPEIISE. .c.oitiiiieiiiie ettt et e e e e e 1,771,321 — 20,054
Balance sheet:
Product TIGRLS ...c.ooviiii e e 200,000 18,179 —
Discount on notes payable (balance to be amortized into interest eXpense) .........c..cocovu. 3,183,404 830,054 461,244

13. Employee benefit plans

The Company maintains defined contribution benefit plans qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Any
employee who has met minimum service requirements may enroll. Participants may contribute a percentage of their compensation
within certain limits. Employer contributions are discretionary. The Company contributed approximately $0.04 million, $0.09
million, and $0.05 million, to the plan for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004, 2003, respectively. Participants are always
100% vested in their contributions and earnings. Employer contributions are fully vested after three years of service.

On February 1, 2005, the Company’s board of directors terminated the Company’s 2003 Stock Option Plan and adopted the
Accentia Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, under which an additional 3,000,000 shares of common stock are
reserved for issuance.

14. Segment information

We define our segment operating results as earnings (loss) before general and administrative costs, interest expense, interest
income, other income, discontinued operations and income taxes. Inter-segment sales of $1.6 million and $0.3 million for the
years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 respectively, representing the sale of services from the Biopharmaceutical Products
and Services segment to the Specialty Pharmaceuticals segment have been eliminated from segment sales. There were no inter-
segment sales in the year ended September 30, 2003.
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14. Segment information (continued)

Segment informatién for the year ended September 30, 2005 is as follows:

i
t

Biopharmaceutical |
Products Specialty
and Services Pharmaceuticals Total
Net sales: ‘ ’
Products ......c......... ot eteete e tt i ae i te b ente et et eererabeeabe et e ettaetbeetearbeetbenrbenrbertenns ) 3,956,467 §$ 1Q,692,804 $ 14,649,271
Services......ouen.. et et e e et ee e eeebeet—a et ettt e treetteasaeebeeertaeeateserbesrbeens 10,545,511 | — 10,545,511
Total Net SALES ..ovivivivviviniecirecie e 14,501,978 10,692,804 25,194,782
Cost of sales: : l
Products ................ et e et e eteeote e teibe sy bertete et n e et eeataeRt et e et e et e abeebe e beetbe et benseens 2,202,752 2:,276,643 4,479,395
Services.....cooveennns ettt eeeneeee o reeeieeeeaetbteeeeiieteaatbreeeatae et bneaeasaeeeetbaeseatbeas 3,753,930 : — 3,753,930
Total cost 0f SAES ....oviveririirrirrii 5,956,682 2,276,643 8,233,325
GTOSS TMATZIN . veveiueiererirseeeeeeeee st e s ste b et sesenebesmsenenesanseabeseesensenesenans 8,545,296 8,416,161 16,961,457
Sales and Marketing .......ccocvevervieeieiniiieeieci e 1,858,789 13,305,278 15,164,067
Research and development ..............c.o.cucoimiininininercrerssssicsisessessenenanns 10,907,862 . — 10,907,862
Total assets............ OSSP POO 22,493,935 13,048,669 35,542,604
Goodwill............... et et et e et e ey e et e e e e abe e be et e at e b e et be et b ete et e eresreeane 1,193,437 \ — 1,193,437
|
Segment information for the year ended September 30, 2004 is as follows: :
Biopharmaceutical 1
Products Spécialty
and Services Pharmaceuticals Total
Net sales: ‘ ‘,
Products ................ v ee ettt et e er e et ebe et ereeat et e eae e b ar b eteeeteateee st earseans $ 2,364,188 $ 11,939,080 $ 14,303,277
Services...ooverennni. e eseeeteee et s e eee et se et s b be s sttt enaee et reas 11,632,343 ( — 11,632,343
Total net sales ....... ettt ee e er s 13,996,531 11,939,089 25,935,620
Cost of sales: 1 z
Products ......c........ hr ettt e et et et e e et bt e b e e e e e ere e be b e ear e be e beetberts et e atserteans 1,513,510 2,339,370 3,852,880
SeIVICES . vvrrrrnans freveaernt e s aea s seas R ee s Rt e bR R e Eb et e ban e ba et rans 4,960,710 § —_ 4,960,710
TOtal COSt OF SALES wevoervvriecrieeeeesete ettt et eenis e 6,474,220 2,339,370 8,813,590
Gross margin......... et 7,522,311 9,599,719 17,122,030
Sales and MArketing ........ccooeveeeeiirininnnie et 1,479,461 10,535,583 12,015,044
Research and development .............ccoooveieveiiveveieeie e 5,519,158 i — 5,519,158
Total assets............ ‘ ...................................................................................... 14,375,796 1§,756,838 28,132,634
GoodWill ............. et eeeee e eeese s een s eesere e srerere st 1,193,437 b 1,193,437
{
|
|
|
|
|
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14. Segment information (continued)

Segment information for the year ended September 30, 2003 is as follows:

Biopharmaceutical
Products and Specialty
Services Pharmacenticals Total

Net sales:

PIOQUCLS .. .oeiiiiiiie ettt ettt e e e sttt e eetbe e st s e e esantbesacabaaennasaann $ 1,302,088 §$ 3,908,655 § 5,210,743
BIVICES ..t iateeee it e cie ettt et ee et e et e et e e as e s e eaaa e s earresnneeenrebeernreaenees 4,697,048 — 4,697,048
TOtal NEL SALES c.veevviii ettt ettt 5,999,136 3,908,655 9,907,791
Cost of sales:

PrOQUCLS ..ot e 739,660 592,818 1,332,478
S TVICES cuvvieiveieeie ettt e creertte et ee et et eeereesabeeenteabaseeshbesane e st s erreeabr e sresetbsenresaane 1,603,533 — 1,603,533
Total COSt OF SALES .viviiiiiiriiir ettt 2,343,193 592,818 2,936,011
GTOSS MATEIIN.....cveriitiiterieiiie e eiaeiietete st etestase st ebesteabesesrescabasasbesessasrsasensensens 3,655,943 3,315,837 6,971,780
Sales and MATKEtiNng ......covoeveiiiiieiriee et s 236,306 4,129,922 4,336,228
Research and development ... 6,111,952 — 6,111,952
TOLA] ASSELS...eivrieeiieiieeiieeiee sttt cste et e e eeetne e s stb e e e e e s tbesbbeeabesasbeeanaeinreas 12,699,714 10,687,049 23,386,763
GOOAWILL ...ttt et ste et st et erens 893,000 — 893,000

Domestic and foreign operations

As discussed in Note 3, during 2004, the Company made an insignificant acquisition of a foreign entity, IMOR. Total assets and
net losses of this operation were insignificant; however, total revenues aggregated approximately 16% of total revenues of the
Company since its acquisition. This entity, which is based in Germany, operates in the Biopharmaceutical Products and Services
Segment and its general segment data is included therein. Segment information on a geographic basis for the year ended
September 30, 2004 is as follows:

International
Domestic __(Europe) Total
INEE SAIES .o ivieiriiee et eer e cree e se e sbesae e b esabe e st b e sereerbaeserenneantnsans $ 22,584,668 $ 3,350,952 $ 25,935,620
NEEL0SS weorvvveeeereveeeeeeeee e eeeees s seseeeeseeses s oo es et esese s eeseseseessserene oo (22,765,858) (460,083) (23,225,941)
TOtAl ASSELS 1ovvvieiieiie ettt sttt e et e s a e e 25,577,634 2,555,000 28,132,634
GOOAWILL ..ottt ere et 893,000 300,437 1,193,437

Segment information on a geographic basis for the year ended September 30, 2005 is as follows:

International
Domestic __(Europe) Total
INEE SALES . veeeieiiceti ettt b e st a e e et et eee s $ 20,468,614 $ 4,726,168 $ 25,194,782
INELINCOME (10SS) . vvvvovveree v oseeseresessoeeeseesssesssesessseessasssssesssenesesn (39,834,970) 458,746 (39,376,224)
TOAL ASSELS c.evviieieeticieettect et ctreste et e et e ssesebeeaeereesbeesaesee et eaesaeennesrnes 33,039,912 2,502,692 35,542,604
GOOAWILL ..o et 893,000 300,437 1,193,437

1S. Impairment charges

In 2004, the Company recorded an impairment of goodwill of $0.4 million related to the acquisition of IMOR. The Company
identified an error in the recording of the net assets acquired from IMOR subsequent to the date of acquisition and was unable to
obtain a purchase price adjustment.

In 20035, the Company recorded an impairment of acquired product rights of $0.4 million related to the termination of the SRL
agreement

F-43



i
|
1
ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES f
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005, 2004 AND 2003 ;‘

|

16. Product rights and obligations

a) Product rights and obligations

The Company has emntered into certain product development and licensing agreements which provide§ for the acquisition of
product rights and performance payments based on achievement of milestones as it relates to product development. The
agreements also provide for the payment of royalties based on sales of products and in certain cases, minimum royalties.

|

Parties to these agreements are as follows: ‘

*  Mayo Foundatio@ for Medical Education and Research (“Mayo™) i
+ SRL Technologiqs, Inc. (“SRL”)

+  Arius Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Arius”)

+  Argent Developnient Group, LLC (“Argent”) J
»  Ryan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Ryan”)
*  Andrx Laboratories, Inc. (“Andrx”)

+  Respirics, Inc. (“Respirics”)

+  Acheron Develoﬁment Group, LLC (“Acheron™) ;
«  Mikart, Inc. (“Miw;kart”)

In connection with tﬂlese agreements, the Company has recorded an aggregate obligation of $0.5 million as of September 30,
2005. ; f

|

Future minimum payments under these agreements (recorded obligations and commitments for future mihimum annual royalties,
but exclusive of those dependent upon the third party milestones) are as follows: i

Year ending September 30,

2006 ......orveeeeseeeieess s ees sttt $1,399,996 !
2007 oot es ettt 399,996 1
2008 ....cveeriseres ettt s s s 399,996 |
2000......oooreereese s bbb 99,999
$2,299,987

b) Stanford

, {
In September 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with Stanford University providing for worldwide rights to use two
proprietary hybridomia cell lines that are used in the production of BiovaxID. These are the same cell|lines that been used by
researchers at Stanford and the National Cancer Institute to perform their studies of the hybridoma ijdiotype vaccine in non-
Hodgkins Lymphoma. This agreement gives the Company exclusivity to this cell line through 2019 in the fields of B-cell and T-
cell cancers, and it provides non-exclusive rights in such fields of use at all times thereafter. The agreement also gives the
Company the right 10 sublicense or transfer the licensed biological materials to collaborators in the licensed fields. Under the
agreement with Stanford, the Company is obligated to pay Stanford an up-front license fee of $15,000 within 30 days following
the execution of the agreement, and an annual maintenance fee of $10,000 thereafter. If BiovaxID is approved by the FDA, the
agreement provides for a $100,000 payment to Stanford upon approval, and following approval, Stanford will receive a royalty of
the greater of $50.00; per patient or 0.05% of the amount received by us for each BiovaxID patient treated using this cell line. This
running royalty will be creditable against the yearly maintenance fee. The agreement with Stanford o$ligates the Company to
diligently develop, manufacture, market, and sell BiovaxID and to provide progress reports to Stanford regarding these activities.
The Company can terminate this agreement at any time upon 30 days prior written notice, and Stanford can terminate the
agreement upon a breach of the agreement by the Company that remains uncured for 30 days after written notice of the breach
from Stanford. 1 |

|
¢
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16. Product rights and obligations (continued)
¢) Product manufacturing and supply agreements

In connection with the Ryan Agreement and Acheron Agreement, the Company has entered into Manufacturing and Supply
Agreements with Mikart (“Mikart Agreements”) providing for Mikart to be the exclusive manufacturer and supplier of Xodol and
an additional pain product. The Mikart Agreements are for five years each commencing on the day that Mikart is authorized to
begin manufacturing Xodol and after FDA approval of the pain product, with automatic one year renewal terms. The Mikart
Agreements may be cancelled by either party after the initial five year term by six months notice of intent to do so. The Mikart
Agreements call for minimum purchase requirements of Xodol and the pain product by the Company.

As of September 30, 2005, the Company has a minimum purchase commitment for Xodol effective as of June 2004, the date of
FDA approval. The Company does not yet have a minimum purchase requirement for the other pain products since the product
has not been approved by the FDA.

Under the Ryan Agreement, which the Company entered into in May 2003 and amended in October 2004, Ryan granted the
Company exclusive U.S. distribution rights to Xodol. The agreement provides for a running royalty to Ryan based on the
Company’s net sales of Xodol, subject to annual minimum royalties. Ryan was also granted a warrant to purchase 59,377 shares
of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $5.33 per share. The term of this agreement is perpetual, provided that
either party can terminate it if the other party becomes insolvent, enters bankruptcy or receivership, or materially breaches the
agreement and fails to cure the breach within 30 days of notice of breach.

d) Product development agreement

On January 24, 2003, TEAMM entered into a Product Development Agreement (“Respirics Development Agreement”) with
Respirics, Inc. (“Respirics”) for TEAMM to fund further development of the MD Turbo ™ inhale drug device (“MD Turbo”) in
order to enable its approval by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”). In exchange for this funding, Respirics entered
into an exclusive distribution arrangement (“Respirics Distribution Agreement”) with TEAMM for sales of MD Turbo in the
United States, which shall only become effective and binding upon Respiric’s successful completion of the 5 phase development
program.

e) Formulation agreement

On January 20, 2005, the Company executed an agreement with Emerson Pharma Services, Inc. for $0.3 million to develop
formulation, and to provide data to determine physical and chemical stability of a drug delivery system, and to produce a
prototype and final formulation for stability studies.

g) Master service agreement

On February 21, 2005, the Company executed a Master Services Agreement with Fulcrum Pharma Developments, Inc. to manage
activities related to the chemistry, manufacturing and controls involved in the development of certain products. The agreement
was amended on February 28, 2005 to include services related to an IND application. The aggregate total of fees under the
agreements, to be paid in monthly amounts through February 28, 2006 is approximately $0.1 million, plus certain pass-through
COsts.
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17. Commitments and|contingencies

a) Operating leases

The Company has operating leases for various facilities, automobiles, machinery, and equipment, which expire at various times
through 2009. The annual aggregate rental commitments under non-cancelable leases are as follows: ‘

Year ending September 30,

{
2006 ..o eeoeereeeveeseeeeererereeseseessereseseeesene e $ 3,723,344
D007 oovoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeseeesereseseeeesseesesseners 2,140,177 !
2008 oeeveveveeereeeeeresseseesessesessseessesereseseseees 1,488,941 ;
2009.....c.o oo eereeese e eesesessseenenenes 1,393,910 |
20101 voveeeeeeeeeecseeeseseseeseseeesereesseseeessenenns 607,905 |

$ 9.354,277 |
= |

The annual aggregate future rental income from sub-leases is as follows:

1
Year ending September 30, J
2006 .11 ieerriieir et e st $69,466 ;

Rent expense for all operatmg leases was approximately $2.5 million, $1.9 million, and $1.2 mllhom for the years ended
September 30, 2005, 2004, and 2003 respectively. Rental income from subleases aggregated $0.4 mllhon in each of the years
ended September 30, 2005 2004 and 2003, respectively, and has been included in loss from dlscontmued operations in the
accompanying statements of operations. ,

!
b) Cooperative research and development agreement “

In September 2001 Biovest entered into a definitive Cooperative Research and Development Agreemenf (“CRADA”) with the
National Cancer Institute (“NCI”) for the development and ultimate commercialization of patient- spemﬁc vaccines for the
treatment of non-Hodgkin’s low-grade follicular lymphoma. The terms of the CRADA, as amended, mcluded among other
things, a requirement to pay $0.5 million quarterly to NCI for expenses incurred in connection with the ongoing Phase 111 clinical
trials. Since the transfer to Biovest of the IND for development of this vaccine, which occurred in April 2004, these payments to
NCI were reduced to approximately $580,000 annually. Failure to remit these reduced payments will constitute the Company’s
unilateral termination wof the CRADA and Biovest will lose the rights to commercialize the results of itsjcollaborative research.
The Company has funded the continuing development costs as described above, including the renovation of our Worcester facility
to meet FDA requirements. Successful development of the vaccine, if approved by the FDA, from Phase I1 clinical trials through
commercialization will commit Biovest to several years of significant expenditures before revenues will be realized, if ever. The
agreement expires in September 2009, but may be unilaterally terminated by either party by giving thirty days written notice.

The terms of the CRADA provide for the Company to be granted an exclusive option to negotiate with the NCI for a license to
commercialize certain intellectual property resulting from the research conducted pursuant to the CRADA. There can be no
assurance that research under the CRADA will be successful or, if it is successful, that the Company w111 be able to negotiate a
license on favorable terms In addition, the Company may not be able to derive any revenue from a hcense[ for a number of years.
¢) Government regulation '

Government authorities in the United States at the federal, state, and local levels and foreign counﬁiés extensively regulate,
among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture, labeling, promotion, advertising,i distribution, sampling,
marketing, and import and export of pharmaceutical products, biologics, and medical devices. All of our products in development
will require regulatory approval by government agencies prior to commercialization. In particular, human therapeutic products are
subject to rigorous preclinical and clinical trials and other approval procedures of the FDA and similar regulatory authorities in
foreign countries. Various federal, state, local, and foreign statutes and regulations also govern testing; manufacturing, safety,
labeling, storage, andl record-keeping related to such products and their marketing. The process of obtaining these approvals and
the subsequent process of maintaining substantial compliance with appropriate federal, state, local, and foreign statutes and
regulations require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources. In addition, statutes, rules, regulanons and policies
may change and new legislation or regulations may be issued that could delay such approvals. f
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17. Commitments and contingencies (continued)
d) Product liability

The contract production services for the Company’s therapeutic products offered exposes the Company to an inherent risk of
liability as the proteins or other substances manufactured, at the request and to the specifications of customers, could potentially
cause adverse effects. The Company obtains agreements from contract production customers indemnifying and defending the
Company from any potential liability arising from such risk. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company will be
successful in obtaining such agreements in the future or that such indemnification agreements will adequately protect the
Company against potential claims relating to such contract production services. The Company may also be exposed to potential
product liability claims by users of its products. A successful partial or completely uninsured claim against the Company could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operations. Management believes that insurance coverage is adequate to cover
risks inherent in the business.

e) Litigation

In 2003, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with two former officers whereby the Company was obligated to pay
an aggregate of $0.8 million. In addition, the Company issued 712,521 options to acquire Accentia Series C preferred stock
{valued at $0.8 million pursuant to the Black-Scholes formula) for total settlement costs of $1.6 million, all of which have been
satisfied at September 30, 2005. There is a pending matter relating to the interpretation of certain terms of the settlement with
regard to expiration of the options granted at the date on which a registration statement is filed for an initial public offering and
expiration on that date of a put option for two hundred thousand shares, which currently is not effective until September 2006.
The Company believes the terms of the settlement are not ambiguous and that the options and put requirement expire upon filing
of a registration statement. The Company is vigorously defending this action.

In 2004, the landlord of APP filed an action, which alleged a fraudulent transfer in connection with Accentia’s acquisition of this
now discontinued operation, AccentRx. The plaintiff is seeking to annul the dissolution of APP, compel specific performance of
the lease and to provide for an escrow of sufficient funds to provide for satisfaction of underlying lease liability. The Company is
vigorously disputing this claim and continues to make monthly lease payments as they come due and will seek to enter into a
replacement sublease upon expiration of the existing sublease. The Company has received a settlement offer of $0.9 million
payable upon expiration of the sublease. The net present value of all expected future lease payments has been accrued pursuant to
the exit and discontinuance of the AccentRx activities.

In addition, in January 2005, a former employee of Biovest filed a claim alleging past compensation due and non-payment of one
hundred twenty thousand options as well as on an obligation to re-purchase 168,836 shares of Biovest stock at $2.00 per share based
on an alleged third-party beneficial arrangement under the Accentia/Biovest Investment agreement. The Company, through its
Biovest subsidiary, intends to defend this claim and has recorded all obligations that it considers to be due at September 30, 2005.

In October 2002, the Company’s subsidiary, Accent RX, Inc., acquired the assets and certain liabilities of American Prescription
Providers, Inc. and American Prescription Providers of New York, Inc., collectively referred to as APP, which at the time of
purchase operated a mail-order specialty pharmacy focused on filling prescriptions for AIDS patients and organ transplants.
Following the purchase of APP’s assets, Accent RX operated the mail-order business until it sold the assets of this business in
December 2003 to a third-party in an arm’s length transaction. After the sale of the APP assets, Accent RX ceased to engage in
business. APP learned in 2002 that the U.S. Department of Justice was conducting an industry-wide investigation under anti-
kickback laws and other laws and regulations relating to purchases and sales of Serostim, an AIDS-wasting drug manufactured by
Serono, Inc., from 1997 through 2000. As part of this investigation, in May 2002, APP received a subpoeha from the U.S.
Attorney’s Office for the District of Massachusetts, and in March 2004, it received a federal grand jury subpoena seeking records
related to Serostim prescriptions dispensed by APP, reimbursement claims submitted to Medicaid for Serostim, and APP’s
relationships with Serono. The Company is not aware of any investigation into the acts of Accent RX or the Company with regard
to the conduct of the mail-order pharmacy business following Accent RX’s purchase of APP’s assets.

In May 2005, the U.S. Attorney’s Office notified APP that it believes that APP has significant potential liability as a result of
allegedly unlawful rebates and discounts paid to them by Serono between 1997 and 2000. In August 2005, the U.S. Attorney’s
Office orally and informally indicated to our legal counsel that, as a result of these allegedly unlawful rebates and discounts, it
was considering instituting a civil action against Accent RX, our company, APP (which has since dissolved and been liquidated),
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17. Commitments and contingencies (continued)

and shareholders of APP who received APP assets as a part of the liquidation of APP. However, it is not| possible to predict the
outcome of this investigation and whether the government will formally commence any action challenging any of APP’s prior
programs and practices or APP’s liability or exposure as a result thereof. In the event of litigation, the Company believes that APP
will have defenses that will be vigorously asserted. However, the Company cannot predict whether Accent RX could be held
liable for the prior acts of APP as a result of Accent RX’s purchase of APP’s assets or whether the gove’rnment will commence
any actions against Accent RX. The Company believes that, because the Company has always been operated as a distinct legal
entity from Accent RX, it is unlikely that the Company will have material financial exposure in the event that Accent RX or APP
incurs a material penalty in connection with this matter. Similarly, the Company does not believe thzfit any adverse legal or
regulatory determinations regarding APP or Accent RX or any persons associated with APP or Accent RX would have any
material effect on the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to conduct their current or expected businiess operations.

Further, from time to time the Company is subject to various legal proceedings in the normal course of business some of which is
covered by insurance. Management believes that these proceedings will not have a material adversejeffect on the financial

statements. ‘ |
|
|
) Employment agreements j

The Company has employment agreements with certain officers and executives, which extend from ﬂ8 to 60 months. These

agreements provide for base levels of compensation and separation benefits. :
‘ [

Future minimum payments under these employment agreements are as follows: (
‘ |

Year ending September 30, |

l
|
i

20006 ...ttt $2,345,000
2007 i e 2,150,000
2008 2,289,000 !
2009, 2,130,000
2000 224,000 |

$9,138,000 ‘
|

g) Biovest Investment Agreement - j

The Company’s Investment Agreement with Biovest requires that Biovest file all necessary documents and take all necessary
actions to permit its outstandlng shares that are not subject to restriction on sale or transfer under the apghcable securities laws to
trade publicly. The' Company believes this agreement gives Biovest broad discretion in determining how to satisfy this
requirement. The agreement does not place any obligation or responsibility on us with regard to this requirement. Biovest believes
that it has filed all réquired documents and reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission and that most of its outstanding
stock, other than the Biovest shares held by us, can be freely traded without further action by Biovest.| Should it be determined
that Biovest should have filed additional documents or taken additional action to permit such trading!in its outstanding stock,
Biovest would be required under the Investment Agreement to make an offer to purchase shares of!its outstanding stock as
follows: 980,000 shares of Biovest common stock on the first anniversary of the investment, 1,960,000 shares at the second
anniversary of the investment, 2,940,000 shares at the third anniversary of the investment, and 3,920,000 shares at the fourth
anniversary of the investment, with each such repurchase being at a price of $2.00 per share. We do not [beheve that we are under
any obligation to fund or otherwise participate in any tender offer required of Biovest. 1

19. Quarterly financial data i
|

f Quarter 1 Quarter 2 _Quarter 3 j _Quarter 4
Net SAlES...ovvviererirriiiiirie et $ 4,517,119 $7,575192 $§ 5,608307 |$ 7,494,164
GrOSS PIOTIt ovvveeoeeeeeecveeeeeee e 2,302,788 5,402,034 3,664,055 5,592,580
Net income (10SS) ...cocvrrvrcerrnenrercrarna, (11,032,146) (7,649,767) (10,378,776): (10,315,535)
Net loss per share available to ;
common stockholders .......ocoo.covrerevenann, ($3.12) (8$1.53) (32.04) | (52.04)

i
|
!

!
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SCHEDULE OF VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Selected balance sheet accounts include the following:

Balance, Additions
Beginning of Charged to Balance, End
Period Expense Deductions of Period

Allowance for doubtful accounts:

2005 et e e $ 150,000 § 227,187 § 31,729 § 345458

2004 ... e et s 450,000 279,497 579,497 150,000

2003 . e e et e b anas 1,184,356 52,687 787,043 450,000
Amortization of intangibles:

2005 e e s $ 3324275 $2,448916 § 142,069 § 5,631,122

2004 ... e e b s s seresnaane 1,354,496 1,969,779 — 3,324,275

2003 e 280,250 1,074,246 — 1,354,496
Accumulated depreciation:

2008 e e et e e $ 1,551,370 § 705959 § 125,894 § 2,131,435

2004 ... e e e 1,171,065 593,256 212,951 1,551,370

2003 .. e e 1,262,236 310,800 401,971 1,171,065
Allowance for obsolescence:

2005 ettt b e e $ 300,000 $ — § — § 300,000

2004 ... e 300,000 — — 300,000

2003 e — 300,000 — 300,000




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. ;

ACCENTIA BIOPHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

i

By: /s/ Francis E. O’Donnell,; Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

!

By: /s/ Alan M. Pearce
Chief Financial Officer |
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Ofﬁcer)

!

Date: December 29, 2605 5
{
Pursuant to the requlrements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below bv the following persons
on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and as of the date indicated: :
Title Date
Chief Executive Officer; Chairman of ‘ December 29, 2005
the Board; Director (Principal |

t

Executive Officer) ‘

Signature
By: /s/ Francis E. O’Donnell, Jr., M.D.
Francis E. O’Donnell, Jr., M.D.

Chief Financial Officer; Director December 29, 2005

By: /s/ Alan M. Pearce
Alan M. Pearce | (Principal Financial Officer and
! Principal Accounting Officer)

Director; President and Chief December 29, 2005

By: /s/ Steven R. Arikian, M.D.
Steven R. Arikian, M.D. Operating Officer, Biopharmaceutical
Products and Services |

Director; President and Chief ‘ December 29, 2005

By: /s/ Martin G. Baum
Operating Officer, Specialty

Martin G. Baum

|
Pharmaceuticals ‘
By: /s/ Dennis L. Ryll Director | December 29, 2005
Dennis L. Ryll. ;
By: /s/ David M. Schubert Director | December 29, 2005
David M. Schubert |
f
By: /s/ John P. Dubinsky Director | December 29, 2005
John P. Dubinsky
Director December 29, 2005

By: /s/ Steven J. Sjrtogel
Steven J. Stogel




Registrar and Transfer Agent

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane

New York, New York 10038

{800) 937-5449

Stock Trading Symbol
Accentia’s shares trade on the The Nasdaqg Stock Market® under the symbol "ABP!"

Annual Meeting

Accentia's 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held on April 6, 2006, at 10:00
a.m. (local time). The meeting will be held at the St. Louis Club, 7701 Forsyth Blvd.,
Clayton, Missouri 63105.

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Aidman, Piser & Company
401 East Jackson St., Suite 3400
Tampa, Florida 33602

Corporate Headquarters

324 South Hyde Park Ave., Suite 350
Tampa, Florida 33606

(813) 864-2554

www.accentia.net

Investor Relations Firm

The Investor Relations Group
11 Stone St., 3rd Floor

New York, New York 10004
(212) 825-3210

Quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and the Form 10-K Annual Report filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission are available in the "Investor Relations" section of
Accentia's website at www.accentia.net and can be obtained by calling Accentia's
investor relations firm, The {nvestor Relations Group, at 212-825-3210.

Forward-Looking Statements

Stotements in this Annuol Report, including the letter from our CEO, that ore not strictly historicof in nature constitute
"forward-looking stotements.” Such stotements include, but are not fimited to, statements about our products, product
condidates, ond product development progroms. Such stotements may include, without flimitation, stotements with
respect to the Company's plans, objectives, expectations and intentions and other statements identified by words such as
"may,” "could,” "would," "should," "believes,” "expects,” “anticipates,” "estimates,” "intends,” "plans” or similar expressions.
Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause the
actual results of Accentia to be materially different from historical results or from any results expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to, risks and uncertainties related to the progress,
timing, cost, and results of clinical trials and product development programs; timing of product launches, difficulties or
delays in obtaining requlatory approval for product candidates; competition from other pharmaceutical or biotechnology
companies; and the additional risks discussed in filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. All forward looking
statements are qualified in their entirety by this coutionary statement, and Accentio undertakes no obligation to revise
or update this Annual Report to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof.
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